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·1· · · · · · · · · P R O C E E D I N G S

·2

·3· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Going on the

·4· record, please.

·5· · · · · · ·Good morning.· This is the time and place

·6· noticed for a hearing in the formal complaint under

·7· Schedule 38 of Clenera, LLC, on behalf 1.21 Gigawatt,

·8· LLC, against Rocky Mountain Power.· It's Docket

·9· No. 17-035-52.

10· · · · · · ·My name is Michael Hammer and I am the

11· Commission's designated presiding officer.· Let's go

12· ahead and take appearances, please.· We'll begin with

13· Rocky Mountain Power.

14· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Okay.· Good morning.· My name

15· is Yvonne Hogel.· Can you hear me?

16· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I can.

17· · · · · · ·THE CLERK:· You know what, Yvonne, we're

18· having issues with that mic.

19· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Okay.· Is that better?

20· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Much.

21· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Good morning.· I'm Yvonne

22· Hogle, and I'm here on behalf of Rocky Mountain

23· Power.· With me here today are Mr. Mark Tourangeau,

24· who is the director of Commercial Services.· And

25· Mr. Brian Fritz, who's the director of engineering.
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·1· · · · · · ·On the phone I believe we have Mr. Rick

·2· Bail, who is president of -- excuse me, vice

·3· president of transmission, and Mr. Kris Bremer, who

·4· is manager of Generation Interconnection.· Thank you.

·5· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· And the

·6· Complainant.

·7· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Jim Barkley, Baker Botts,

·8· representing Clenera Energy.· I have with me Jason

·9· Ellsworth and Justin Shively from the company.

10· · · · · · ·I want to let you know that I am licensed

11· in Texas, not in Utah, but have with me the

12· certificates of good standing that are required to

13· allow me to be present today and represent my client.

14· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you,

15· Mr. Barkley.

16· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· Good morning, I'm Justin

17· Jetter with the Utah Attorney General's Office, and

18· I'm here today representing the Utah Division of

19· Public Utilities.· And with me at counsel table is

20· Charles Peterson with the Division.

21· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Are there any

22· preliminary matters before we begin?

23· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Just one question.

24· Mr. Barkley, do you also have the admission pro hac

25· vice from the State of Utah to be here?
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·1· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· The new rules do not require

·2· the admission of pro hac vice for out-of-state

·3· attorneys; they simply require that you present the

·4· Commission with a certificate of good standing from

·5· the State Bar.

·6· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Okay.· Thank you.

·7· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· It is a new rule.· It's not

·8· even codified yet.· It became effective, I believe,

·9· in October.

10· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Thank you.

11· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· You're welcome.

12· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· With that we'll

13· go ahead and proceed.

14· · · · · · ·Mr. Barkley, are you prepared to call a

15· witness?

16· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· We are, Your Honor.· We

17· would be begin by calling Mr. Dustin Shively.

18· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· And does

19· counsel have any preferences whether witnesses take

20· the stand?· With this many it might be easier.

21· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I would be delighted for him

22· to take the stand.· Actually, I think it's probably

23· the simplest.

24· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Okay.· Please,

25· Mr. Shively.

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 8
·1· · · · · · ·Mr. Shively, do you swear to tell the

·2· truth?

·3· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

·4· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.· Go

·5· ahead, Mr. Barkley.

·6· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

·7· BY MR. BARKLEY:

·8· · · ·Q.· · Mr. Shively, by whom are you employed?

·9· · · ·A.· · Is this on?· Clenera, LLC.

10· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And what are your job

11· responsibilities and your job title at Clenera?

12· · · ·A.· · I am director of engineering, and I'm

13· responsible for all of the technical oversight for

14· our projects in development, construction, and

15· operations.

16· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And could you describe for the

17· Commission the projects that are at issue in this

18· case?

19· · · ·A.· · The projects that are at issue in this

20· case are 1480 megawatt AC project that is located in

21· Utah County, solar PV projects.

22· · · ·Q.· · And do the two -- do the two sets of

23· projects have names that are commonly used?

24· · · ·A.· · Yes.· The Faraday -- there's a group of

25· seven called the Faraday projects, and the other
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·1· group are called the Goshen Valley projects.

·2· · · ·Q.· · And when was the -- I would just like to

·3· walk through with you the timeline of events in the

·4· case.

·5· · · · · · ·When was the first request from Clenera to

·6· PacifiCorp for indicative pricing for the Faraday

·7· projects?

·8· · · ·A.· · The first request for the Faraday projects

·9· for indicative pricing was November 2nd, 2016.

10· · · ·Q.· · And when was the first request for

11· indicative pricing for the Goshen projects?

12· · · ·A.· · November 15th, 2016.

13· · · ·Q.· · Were there any subsequent changes to those

14· requests?

15· · · ·A.· · Yes.· We later -- in December we had -- we

16· had a larger batch of projects in the Faraday

17· projects that originally went in for pricing and we

18· withdrew seven of those because we had different

19· on-line dates, and we decided to not proceed with

20· those projects.· And on the Goshen Valley projects we

21· later changed the point of interconnection.· The site

22· remained the same, but there's multiple lines across

23· the property.· So we swapped from one line to the

24· other line and changed the points of interconnection.

25· · · ·Q.· · Did the changes that you made in December
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·1· of 2016 affect the deadline for the indicative

·2· pricing on the Faraday projects?

·3· · · ·A.· · Yes.· Those -- the original -- when we

·4· removed seven projects from the list, the other seven

·5· then were repriced, or sort of -- they maintained the

·6· queue position in the pricing queue, but the pricing

·7· was recalculated.

·8· · · ·Q.· · Did it affect the indicative pricing

·9· request for the Goshen projects?

10· · · ·A.· · No, those ones were still under the same

11· procedure.

12· · · ·Q.· · When did you first receive indicative

13· pricing for the Goshen projects?

14· · · ·A.· · The first -- and I believe we received the

15· first Goshen Valley pricing on December 22nd, 2016.

16· · · ·Q.· · And when did you receive the first

17· indicative pricing for the Faraday projects?

18· · · ·A.· · January 17th, 2017.

19· · · ·Q.· · Were those the final indicative prices for

20· both the Faraday and the Goshen projects?

21· · · ·A.· · For Faraday, yes.· For Goshen, no.

22· Because that change in the point of interconnection,

23· we received new pricing for Goshen later in 2017.

24· · · ·Q.· · When did you make that change to the

25· interconnection point for Goshen?
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·1· · · ·A.· · February 1st, 2017.

·2· · · ·Q.· · And how did that affect the timing on new

·3· indicative pricing for Goshen?

·4· · · ·A.· · That reset the 30-day clock for PacifiCorp

·5· to provide the pricing.

·6· · · ·Q.· · And did PacifiCorp indicate to you when

·7· you were likely to receive that indicative pricing?

·8· · · ·A.· · They did.· Just a correction.· After

·9· the -- or clarification, after the change in

10· interconnection?

11· · · ·Q.· · I'm sorry, after the change in

12· interconnect, yes.

13· · · ·A.· · That would be delivered to us in -- I mean

14· within the 30-day period in early March.

15· · · ·Q.· · When did you receive the revised

16· indicative pricing for Goshen?

17· · · ·A.· · On March 16th.

18· · · ·Q.· · Have you had an opportunity to review the

19· October 23rd response and motion to dismiss that was

20· filed by PacifiCorp?

21· · · ·A.· · Yes.

22· · · ·Q.· · And have you had a chance to review the

23· October 23rd response that was filed by the

24· Department of Public Utilities?

25· · · ·A.· · Yes.
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·1· · · ·Q.· · In the response filed -- or the response

·2· from the Department of Public Utilities on Page 3,

·3· there is a discussion of some of these dates involved

·4· with indicative pricing.

·5· · · · · · ·Do you find the dates in that discussion

·6· to be accurate?

·7· · · ·A.· · Yes.· A lot of the discrepancies, as far

·8· as we're talking one day here or a few days there,

·9· has to do with the fact of when the request was made

10· or when it was deemed complete.· But by and large,

11· yeah, all of the dates are consistent with our

12· timeline.· Just a few differences here or there on

13· when e-mails were, you know, exchanged, considering

14· when the request was made or when it was deemed

15· complete, those kind of things.

16· · · ·Q.· · Has Clenera made a request for form PPAs?

17· · · ·A.· · Yes.

18· · · ·Q.· · And when was the request for a form PPA

19· prepared for Faraday?

20· · · ·A.· · On March 13th of this year.

21· · · ·Q.· · And when was a request made for a form PPS

22· for Goshen?

23· · · ·A.· · On May 12th of this year.

24· · · ·Q.· · And is it your understanding that both of

25· those were made within the applicable deadlines?
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·1· · · ·A.· · Correct, yes.

·2· · · ·Q.· · Did you receive any confirmation from

·3· PacifiCorp as to the completeness of the PPA request

·4· for Faraday?

·5· · · ·A.· · Yes.· It was communicated from PacifiCorp

·6· that our request was complete.

·7· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· Have you received a similar

·8· confirmation regarding your request for a PPA for

·9· Goshen?

10· · · ·A.· · I would have to confirm because right

11· around that time is when the conversation was

12· continuing on Faraday.· For Goshen, the confirmation

13· sort of got lumped into the discussion on Faraday.

14· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And when you say the conversation

15· on Faraday was continuing, what are you referring to?

16· · · ·A.· · I'm referring to whether or not we needed

17· to provide a completed interconnection study to

18· receive a draft PPA.

19· · · ·Q.· · And did PacifiCorp indicate to you that

20· you needed a completed interconnection study in order

21· to get the form PPA for Faraday?

22· · · ·A.· · PacifiCorp communicated to us that we

23· needed a draft interconnection study through

24· communicating with them, but not in the tariff was

25· that communicated.
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·1· · · ·Q.· · When did they first communicate that to

·2· you?

·3· · · ·A.· · That was April of this year.· April 18th

·4· is the note I have when that was first communicated

·5· that we would need a completed interconnection study

·6· to receive a draft PPA.

·7· · · ·Q.· · And again, does your understanding of the

·8· dates on which requests were made for form PPAs match

·9· the discussion of those dates in the response that

10· was filed by DPU on October 23rd?

11· · · ·A.· · Yes.· More or less the dates for when we

12· requested PPAs are consistent, you know, minus any

13· day-here-or-day-there difference.

14· · · ·Q.· · Has Clenera requested an interconnection

15· study for Faraday?

16· · · ·A.· · Yes.

17· · · ·Q.· · Have you requested an interconnection

18· study for the Goshen projects?

19· · · ·A.· · Yes.

20· · · ·Q.· · When did you request those interconnection

21· studies?

22· · · ·A.· · The initial interconnection requests, or

23· the BNA interconnection requests, were November 29th

24· of 2016.

25· · · ·Q.· · And have you received any communication
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·1· from PacifiCorp deeming those requests complete?

·2· · · ·A.· · Yes.· Their requests were deemed complete.

·3· We exchanged -- you know, there was, of course, some

·4· back and forth on the technical aspects of the

·5· project.· We had a scoping meeting, which is the

·6· preliminary call before feasibility study agreement.

·7· We proceeded with the feasibility study agreement and

·8· executed it.

·9· · · ·Q.· · And when were the feasibility study

10· agreements executed?

11· · · ·A.· · On February 15th of this year.

12· · · ·Q.· · And was that for both Faraday and for

13· Goshen?

14· · · ·A.· · Yes, for both.

15· · · ·Q.· · How long have you -- have you yet received

16· an interconnection feasibility study from the

17· utility?

18· · · ·A.· · We have not received a feasibility study

19· yet.

20· · · ·Q.· · What is your understanding of the usual

21· timing for an interconnection feasibility study?

22· · · ·A.· · The usual timing is about a month.· The

23· FERC guidelines in the large generating

24· interconnection procedures is 45 days.

25· · · ·Q.· · Do you recall what the utility's tariff

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 16
·1· says will be the timeline?

·2· · · ·A.· · The tariff says it's a 45-day feasibility

·3· study.

·4· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· And I have no further

·5· questions for Mr. Shively, Your Honor.

·6· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

·7· We'll begin with Ms. Hogle on cross.

·8· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· It depends.· I would like to

·9· know if Mr. Ellsworth will be available as a witness?

10· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Mr. Ellsworth will also be

11· available as a witness.

12· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· I had intended to cross

13· Mr. Ellsworth, given that his name is on the

14· pleadings that were filed in the case.· I don't know

15· if that would be okay with you, or if we can ask your

16· current witness.

17· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· And I really am not trying

18· to be a obstructionist.· If there are questions about

19· dates, Mr. Shively is probably the better witness.

20· I'm happy to tell you now that Mr. Ellsworth -- that

21· the testimony that I will elicit from Mr. Ellsworth

22· is really going to involve timing of QF status, the

23· relief that's requested by the Company, and the basis

24· for that belief.

25· · · · · · ·So to the extent that the questions
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·1· involve those subjects, Mr. Ellsworth is absolutely

·2· the most appropriate of the two witnesses.· To the

·3· extent it involves dates and timelines, Mr. Shively

·4· is probably the better of the two, although

·5· Mr. Ellsworth is familiar with much of that

·6· information as well.

·7· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· If Mr. Shively

·8· plans to stay around, I would be happy to allow

·9· Ms. Hogle to call him when the Company puts on its

10· witnesses, if he'll be present.

11· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· And that's fine with us,

12· Your Honor.· I am happy to proceed however you would

13· like.· That was sort of to give you some background

14· on how at least we view the two witnesses and their

15· subject matter.

16· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Sure.· I guess I'm hesitating

17· a little bit because typically the witness on the

18· stand would adopt any pleadings that were filed by a

19· party.· And so I'm not sure if Mr. Ellsworth --

20· Mr. Ellsworth or Mr. Shively is adopting the

21· pleadings that were filed and signed by --

22· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· We'll have Mr. Ellsworth

23· adopt them.

24· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Okay.· Thank you.· Then I will

25· wait for cross-examination.
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·1· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

·2· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Thank you.

·3· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Mr. Jetter.

·4· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· And I have no questions.

·5· Thank you.

·6· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Sorry.

·7· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you,

·8· Mr. Shively.

·9· · · · · · ·Mr. Barkley.

10· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· And with that we'll call

11· Mr. Ellsworth.

12· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

13· · · · · · ·Mr. Ellsworth, do you swear to tell the

14· truth?

15· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

16· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

17· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

18· BY MR. BARKLEY:

19· · · ·Q.· · Mr. Ellsworth, can you state your full

20· name?

21· · · ·A.· · Jason Ellsworth.

22· · · ·Q.· · And by whom are you employed?

23· · · ·A.· · Clenera, LLC.

24· · · ·Q.· · What is your title at Clenera?

25· · · ·A.· · I am president and CEO.
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·1· · · ·Q.· · And what are your responsibilities there?

·2· · · ·A.· · I am responsible for the overall

·3· operations of the company.· The direction, in fact,

·4· involved in day to day.

·5· · · ·Q.· · Have you been involved in the preparation

·6· of the pleadings that have been filed in this case by

·7· Clenera?

·8· · · ·A.· · I have, yes.

·9· · · ·Q.· · Are you in a position to adopt those as

10· your own testimony?

11· · · ·A.· · Yes, I am.

12· · · ·Q.· · Have you had a chance to review

13· PacifiCorp's filings as well?

14· · · ·A.· · Yes, I have.

15· · · ·Q.· · And how do you respond to the criticism in

16· those claims that Clenera has not filed its Form 556

17· to obtain QF status?

18· · · ·A.· · It is typical for us and other developers

19· to file a 556 at a point that is closer to the actual

20· commercial operation date of the project.· In fact,

21· we completed a project in Southern Utah with

22· PacifiCorp recently where the 556 was filed just

23· shortly before our commercial operation date.

24· · · · · · ·The reason for that is the 556 identifies

25· certain structural ownership elements of the project
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·1· that may not be finalized and fully determined until

·2· late in the billing cycle.

·3· · · ·Q.· · Is it your understanding of utilities

·4· tariffs that Clenera would be required to have

·5· obtained that QF status at this stage of the

·6· interconnection process?

·7· · · ·A.· · No, that's not our understanding, and it's

·8· also not typical of tariffs generally in the world

·9· that we participate in in this utility scale solar

10· world.

11· · · ·Q.· · Do you have -- are you familiar with what

12· the Rocky Mountain Power tariff does in fact require

13· with regard to QF status?

14· · · ·A.· · Yes.· Yes, I am.

15· · · ·Q.· · And what is that?

16· · · ·A.· · So the requirement, as I understand it, is

17· that we -- we show that we are eligible, that we are

18· eligible as a QF.

19· · · · · · ·In fact, the interesting component of a

20· 556 is that it's a self certification anyway.· So

21· it's not something that we look to for their judgment

22· or rules.· Rather, we self certify at the time and

23· place that's best necessary.

24· · · ·Q.· · How do you respond to PacifiCorp's claim

25· that the delay in processing Clenera's
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·1· interconnection requests was justified by an increase

·2· in interconnection requests across the PacifiCorp

·3· system?

·4· · · ·A.· · I'm surprised by the assertion.· It is not

·5· consistent with the data that we have reviewed that

·6· is publicly available on the PacifiCorp Oasis system,

·7· their realtime system.

·8· · · · · · ·After seeing their assertion that that was

·9· a limitation on their side, we pulled up, at the time

10· of their motion to dismiss, the actual data on Oasis

11· and see that, in fact, there has been a relatively

12· consistent drop in the number of applications since

13· 2013 here in Utah to a very small number.· Relative

14· to other utilities, there's a very small number of

15· applications that are being processed and handled by

16· PacifiCorp for Utah.

17· · · · · · ·For PacifiCorp in total, because I think

18· they handle these applications, not on a

19· state-by-state basis but across their systems, the

20· applications rose in 2015 but been relatively

21· consistent thereafter, with a kind of small bump from

22· '15 to '16, but have been relatively consistent

23· thereafter.

24· · · ·Q.· · Did you present data on the volume of

25· interconnection requests in your October 24th
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·1· response to PacifiCorp's motion to dismiss?

·2· · · ·A.· · We did.· We presented that data.· We

·3· thought it was important to answer the assertion that

·4· that was a cause for the delay, with the data that is

·5· available on-line and direct from the company.· And

·6· that data does indeed show that there has not been a

·7· significant climb in applications.

·8· · · · · · ·Back in '15 to '16, there was about a

·9· 30 percent increase, and that -- and we have -- we

10· have struggled to see where -- how that ties to a

11· delay in terms of the study process, which is

12· scheduled for 45 days, to go from 45 days to the

13· approximate year right now that is anticipated by

14· PacifiCorp.

15· · · ·Q.· · Mr. Ellsworth, what relief does Clenera

16· seek in this proceeding?

17· · · ·A.· · So we are -- we are seeking for relief

18· under the tariff as it relates to the deadlines.· The

19· tariff allows for an extension in the case of the

20· company delays.· And we are looking at these company

21· delays and requesting that we receive a day-per-day

22· extension on developer deadlines associated with the

23· tariff as it relates to the company's delays.

24· · · · · · ·Right now the delays are -- we're

25· approaching a total of a year on a 45-day project, or
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·1· a 45-day study, and we -- based on the existing -- on

·2· our previous experience expect that those delays

·3· may -- may exceed that as it relates to further

·4· activities with the company.

·5· · · ·Q.· · What are the specific deadlines for which

·6· the company is seeking relief?

·7· · · ·A.· · So specifically to call out two deadlines

·8· that are important to us, is the first -- first

·9· deadline in which we already have a PPA executed

10· between developer and the company within the six

11· months following the receipt of indicative pricing.

12· In addition to that we are -- we are looking for

13· overall extension and delay as it relates to our

14· on-line date.

15· · · · · · ·As the -- as Your Honor may be aware, the

16· tariff calls for a 30-month limitation in terms of

17· when we file for pricing, we must indicate that our

18· on-line dates are to be within 30 months of the

19· timeline allowed for a PPA.

20· · · · · · ·So -- so at the time of our -- our filing

21· for the pricing, we could not -- we could date these

22· projects no later than the end of 2019.· That

23· timeline limitation has made it very difficult as we

24· have seen and have now seen a year of our processing

25· time disappear.
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·1· · · · · · ·So that's 365 days on the first study

·2· versus what is in the tariff, which is 45 days,

·3· making it very difficult for us to perform in that

·4· timeline.· Therefore, we're asking for an extension,

·5· an overall extension, to those -- to those dates as

·6· well, to those on-line dates.

·7· · · ·Q.· · Mr. Ellsworth, you're familiar with the

·8· Department of Public Utilities response that was

·9· filed on October 23rd, yes?

10· · · ·A.· · I am, yes.

11· · · ·Q.· · And you have seen the concerns that they

12· express regarding the extension of the operation

13· date?

14· · · ·A.· · Yes.

15· · · ·Q.· · Would you address those concerns?

16· · · ·A.· · Yeah, I think the -- overall the -- if you

17· review the -- I think the overall concern was -- was

18· pricing and relevance of pricing if those dates are

19· extended.· The -- the challenge is -- is trying to

20· draw -- I think the challenge that's been highlighted

21· is whether or not those prices are -- are relevant in

22· an extended situation.

23· · · · · · ·The reality for us, and based on the

24· numbers that we have received and our review of the

25· IRP, is the forecast for PacifiCorp is rising prices
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·1· over time.· So the further extension -- the further

·2· extension of -- of our timelines, had we been given

·3· time to -- greater than the 30 months, in light of

·4· the time that the PacifiCorp takes on their sites,

·5· those -- those prices on those PPAs would have been

·6· higher.· Right now those prices are, in fact, at a

·7· very competitive level.

·8· · · · · · ·We believe that, in fact, we -- we are in

·9· a position to hold to those, despite the ups and

10· downs in the markets and the difficulties in

11· delivering, but have spent a great deal of time and

12· energy as a company at the conclusion of other

13· opportunities that we could have pursued, to pursue

14· these projects for the benefit of ratepayers.

15· · · · · · ·We believe that the avoided cost

16· calculations are an accurate way of identifying what

17· the impact is to the ratepayers, and that these

18· projects are, in fact, beneficial to ratepayers.

19· · · · · · ·I think that PacifiCorp can identify -- or

20· I'm not sure what's appropriate in this -- this

21· environment to identify these prices, but they're

22· very, very competitive prices and in the context of

23· energy in general, not just solar.

24· · · ·Q.· · How does the timing of PacifiCorp's

25· handling of these interconnection requests compare to
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·1· the handling of interconnection requests that you

·2· have seen in other projects done with PacifiCorp and

·3· other utilities?

·4· · · ·A.· · So our experience with PacifiCorp is

·5· limited.· We have one -- we have project that is

·6· operating, 80 megawatts, the size of one of these

·7· typical projects, in -- in Southern Utah.· And then

·8· have run a number -- quite a number of other projects

·9· through the process here with PacifiCorp, identifying

10· across their system where -- where there was

11· opportunity, where there was interconnection

12· capacity, and where it made sense from a

13· load-proximity basis to deliver -- to deliver power.

14· · · · · · ·We in that process have -- have identified

15· what appears to be, I think historically, a process

16· that's been -- that's been relatively responsive, but

17· of late one that is -- is significantly delayed

18· without a necessary commensurate sort of set of

19· applications to justify that.

20· · · · · · ·With that said, our review with them on

21· the reasons for those delays has resulted in

22· explanations that this is -- they are pursuing a

23· serial process, which means as -- as they review each

24· project, one drops out, they have to -- they have to

25· go back and review all of the projects again.· That
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·1· is the most inefficient and slowest of all the

·2· processes that we deal with in the utility scale

·3· world.

·4· · · · · · ·What is typical in the case where there

·5· are a significant number of applications, is that

·6· those applications will be handled in a cluster

·7· process and studied together, and then -- and then

·8· there is -- there is often in that case an ability to

·9· deliver -- in fact, typically an ability to deliver

10· in roughly the 45-day timeline.

11· · · · · · ·Whereas, here on the PacifiCorp side,

12· the -- some decision, the decision has been made to

13· pursue -- continue to pursue a serial process, and

14· that -- that serial process has resulted in delays

15· beyond anything that we have experienced elsewhere

16· across the United States.

17· · · · · · ·We -- we also see that in general the

18· number of applications that PacifiCorp has seen is a

19· very -- it's de minimis, as compared to the number of

20· applications other utilities have seen in California

21· and elsewhere.· And those -- those processes in other

22· applications have continued to operate within a

23· reasonable range of that 45-day period, whereas here

24· with PacifiCorp it's not -- it's not a minor

25· extension from 45 days to a few -- you know, maybe
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·1· 60 days, it's 45 -- it's going to 365 days.· And

·2· that's been an unusual experience for us and one that

·3· we think is markedly different from the market in the

·4· rest of the industry.

·5· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I have nothing further for

·6· Mr. Ellsworth, Your Honor.

·7· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

·8· · · · · · ·Ms. Hogle?

·9· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Thank you.· I guess I'll

10· start.

11· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

12· BY MS. HOGLE:

13· · · ·Q.· · I guess I'll start with what you just

14· mentioned as being the typical process that you're

15· used to.

16· · · · · · ·Can you provide the basis for that

17· testimony?

18· · · ·A.· · Yes.· So we have -- we -- we as a company

19· and individuals have been in the development space

20· and working with interconnection and projects for the

21· better part of a decade, and in that process have

22· made hundreds, and if not thousands, of

23· interconnection applications and worked through that

24· process with various utilities, mostly in the west

25· but also in the southeastern United States.
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·1· · · · · · ·So with that I would say the number of

·2· utilities that we have worked with exceeds -- exceeds

·3· 40.· And so the sample size is relatively large, both

·4· in terms of applications and running through that

·5· process, as well as -- as actual utilities that we

·6· have interfaced with.

·7· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · · ·I want to take you to the reply that you

·9· filed on behalf of Clenera.· Do -- do you have it

10· with you?

11· · · ·A.· · I don't have it in front of me, no.

12· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· So if I were to ask you questions

13· in that reply, would you -- could I jog your memory

14· for you to be able to respond to my questions?

15· · · ·A.· · I'll do the best I can.

16· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· Thank you.

17· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Ms. Hogle, are we referring

18· to the October 24 reply?

19· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· We are.· We are referring to

20· Clenera's reply to Rocky Mountain Power's response.

21· · · ·Q.· · BY MS. HOGLE:· So in the first page of

22· that reply, I believe you stated, given that you

23· signed the pleading, "PacifiCorp gives no reason for

24· their last-minute change in position."· And I believe

25· that you were talking about the extension that we're
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·1· talking about here.· Is that correct?

·2· · · ·A.· · Yes.· In fact, I think the -- the reply is

·3· in the context of PacifiCorp originally was very

·4· clear about supporting our -- our effort to extend.

·5· In fact, noting that they had made a decision

·6· internally to extend.· And due to delay -- their own

·7· delay as the company, that was the subject of

·8· conversations with -- with Kyle Moore at PacifiCorp.

·9· · · · · · ·Later on Kyle Moore came back and

10· indicated that on discussion with the Department of

11· Public Utilities and the -- and the consumer

12· services, that -- that they -- they were advised that

13· they could not do that, and that the company,

14· therefore, had taken -- had -- had determined that

15· that was not -- not possible.· But had it been, they

16· were still in support of, and -- and yet they were

17· unable to -- unable to proceed because of limitations

18· with these other agencies.

19· · · · · · ·So when I said that the company had

20· changed their position, that is -- so the motion to

21· dismiss was -- was a very different tact than them

22· supporting our effort to -- to make an extension.· In

23· fact, in that motion to dismiss, they referenced

24· another docket that was filed before the Commission

25· with sPower, in fact, where they -- they cited these
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·1· very -- these very delays as delays which were

·2· recently these kind of delays, of delays for which it

·3· was a reason for them to extend the process, extend

·4· the deadlines.

·5· · · · · · ·So taking that different tact with us and

·6· opposing that, I -- I view that as without

·7· explanation and without -- without -- without context

·8· in terms of the communication.

·9· · · ·Q.· · Thank you.

10· · · · · · ·I'm also going to reference your complaint

11· that you also signed.· And in that complaint, on the

12· last page you state, ". . .approximately two weeks

13· after the meeting and discussion of PacifiCorp's

14· proposed solution, Developer received the following

15· communication from PacifiCorp."· And I quote, "after

16· further review and discussions with the staff of both

17· the Division of Public Utilities and the Office of

18· Consumer Services, the position of Rocky Mountain

19· Power is that delays caused by PacifiCorp

20· Transmission are not contemplated as RMP delays and

21· should not extend the timeline in the Schedule 38

22· tariff."

23· · · · · · ·Isn't that a reason that you stated in

24· your complaint?

25· · · ·A.· · So that's consistent with -- with the
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·1· facts I just -- I just referred to, in that

·2· PacifiCorp had turned to the DPU and consumer

·3· services and -- and indicated that their -- their --

·4· their lack of support for this and their opposition

·5· it was -- was a cause for them as a company to

·6· change -- change directions.

·7· · · · · · ·And -- and so the -- that is -- that's

·8· consistent in terms of the direction, inconsistent in

·9· terms of the sentiment that was expressed by

10· PacifiCorp.

11· · · ·Q.· · And so given that PacifiCorp and you

12· yourself quoted the A reason, or a change in

13· position, that is not consistent, is it, with what

14· you said in your reply when you said, PacifiCorp

15· gives no reason for their last-minute change?

16· · · ·A.· · When I -- when I noted their last-minute

17· change, I wasn't -- I wasn't noting that -- that they

18· were -- that they were looking to different reasons.

19· I was noting that PacifiCorp was changing their

20· sentiment, in fact saying that their -- their

21· perspective was that this was not something that they

22· had supported at all, which in fact was not true.

23· · · · · · ·From -- from the beginning PacifiCorp was

24· in support of an extension.· Their history has been

25· to support extensions in the case that delays were
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·1· caused by the company.· And so this -- the -- the

·2· sentiment had changed.

·3· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· But unlike or contrary to what you

·4· said in the reply that PacifiCorp gave no reason for

·5· this last-minute change on the sentiment of the

·6· extension, in fact in the -- in your complaint you

·7· actually quoted PacifiCorp's reason.· So there was a

·8· reason that you yourself quoted in your complaint.

·9· And so that would be inconsistent with your reply

10· that there was no reason, correct?

11· · · ·A.· · I disagree.· I think you're speaking to

12· rational for the reasons for making a decision.· I'm

13· speaking to the sentiment behind the decision.

14· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· Thank you.

15· · · · · · ·Going back to the reply that you filed and

16· your claim that PacifiCorp's behavior in this matter

17· results in economic harm to stakeholders.· Do you --

18· do you recall that?

19· · · ·A.· · Yes.· Yes.

20· · · ·Q.· · Are you aware of the approved term for a

21· power-purchase agreement in Utah?

22· · · ·A.· · I am very aware of the approved terms for

23· a power-purchase agreement in Utah.

24· · · ·Q.· · And -- and what is that?

25· · · ·A.· · Right now for projects of this size, it's
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·1· 15 years.

·2· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· Are you aware of the fact that

·3· PacifiCorp passes through its energy costs to its

·4· customers in the State of Utah?

·5· · · ·A.· · Yes.· I'm aware that this is -- this --

·6· this is rate based.

·7· · · ·Q.· · And that's 100 percent?· Are you aware of

·8· that subject?· Would you agree that it's 100 percent

·9· passed through, meaning customers ultimately pay for

10· the avoided-cost pricing that are provided?

11· · · ·A.· · Correct.· I'm aware that avoided cost

12· is -- is supported by customers.

13· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And so Clenera is seeking a

14· power-purchase agreement for a term of 15 years; is

15· that right?

16· · · ·A.· · That is correct.

17· · · ·Q.· · And isn't it true that the commercial

18· operation date has an impact on avoided-cost pricing?

19· · · ·A.· · It does.· As that explained the commercial

20· date, the further that it's pushed out is

21· typically -- is typically the higher.· So it does

22· have -- it does have an impact on pricing.

23· · · ·Q.· · And so if PacifiCorp doesn't know whether

24· Clenera can meet that commercial operation date, the

25· avoided-cost pricing may not be accurate, correct?
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·1· · · ·A.· · If the -- it is correct that if the -- if

·2· the timing changes, the pricing calculation would be

·3· different at the point of calculating that pricing,

·4· yes.

·5· · · ·Q.· · And so isn't it reasonable for the company

·6· to require that information prior to that

·7· information, meaning the commercial-operation date,

·8· prior to providing a power-purchase agreement with

·9· avoided-cost pricing that would be locked in for

10· 15 years?

11· · · ·A.· · It's entirely reasonable.· In fact, it's

12· something -- it's a similar process that's pursued in

13· many other utilities.· Those -- those timelines are

14· important to both the utility and the developer.

15· · · ·Q.· · And so whether the prices are high or low

16· is really not relevant, it's -- what's relevant is

17· that they be accurate; would you agree with that?

18· · · ·A.· · I think that the -- when you're talking

19· pricing and timing, both are very important and both

20· parties need to be able to rely on timing.· Timing is

21· critical to these -- these projects?

22· · · · · · ·So, in fact, we are entirely subject to

23· and reliant on the timing that's provided in the

24· tariff, on the timing by way of commitments that are

25· made by PacifiCorp.
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·1· · · · · · ·So as the company -- as the -- as the

·2· company delays, we -- we have -- we have no other

·3· recourse than under the tariff to look for

·4· extensions.

·5· · · · · · ·But, yes, the timing -- timing is

·6· important.

·7· · · ·Q.· · And the pricing?· The accuracy of the

·8· pricing is important, correct?

·9· · · ·A.· · Pricing and timing are tied, absolutely.

10· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· All right.

11· · · · · · ·And so if the company locks in a PPA with

12· a QF for 15 years and the pricing is not accurate,

13· that would be an economic harm to its customers,

14· wouldn't it?

15· · · ·A.· · I think you just made an intellectual leap

16· between accuracy and economic harm.· Economic harm

17· would presume that the pricing were, in fact, higher

18· than it would otherwise have been.· I think that had

19· there been at that time a clear understanding that

20· PacifiCorp was not going to perform within the

21· timeline that was provided, that in fact we could

22· have gone to a later date to accommodate the

23· PacifiCorp timing.· I think, in fact, the pricing

24· would have been higher.

25· · · · · · ·So -- so that's -- and that's consistent
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·1· with the pricing that was received.· We got pricing

·2· for a 2018 project, we got pricing for 2019.· 2019

·3· pricing was higher, and that's consistent with the

·4· IRP.· Which leads me to the conclusions, if we are to

·5· make conclusions, then in fact, this would have been

·6· an economic benefit to ratepayers to take a later

·7· date versus the original date.

·8· · · · · · ·And -- and judging this process based on

·9· current timelines that have been imposed and created

10· by PacifiCorp's lack of -- lack of performance is

11· a -- is a mismatch with what is originally and most

12· importantly a process whereby we are -- we are given

13· pricing based on the timing and the -- and the

14· conditions at the outset of a project.

15· · · ·Q.· · And economic harm can result not only when

16· prices when higher but also if prices are lower than

17· they should be, correct?

18· · · · · · ·Because if -- if you lock in something --

19· if you lock in a contract that is lowering prices,

20· for example, then economically it might not make

21· sense because, you know, for 15 years those prices

22· are locked.· And given the length of the contract,

23· the point is that the pricing should be accurate, not

24· lower, not higher, but accurate.

25· · · ·A.· · So I think the discussion about economic

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 38
·1· harm for higher -- or for lower prices, in the

·2· context of rate base, is -- doesn't tie to my

·3· experience in -- in mathematics and economics.· The

·4· lower the price, the more the rate base that the

·5· consumer benefits.

·6· · · · · · ·Whether or not we as a company are able to

·7· deliver at that price is our responsibility.· The

·8· tariff doesn't speak to that.· The tariff speaks to

·9· pricing and timing and the process whereby the

10· company and we as a developer are -- are tied

11· together in a process to deliver a product at a given

12· price.· And that price, if it is lower for -- for the

13· consumer, that's ideal, and that's something that we

14· strive for as a company.

15· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· I have no further questions.

16· Thank you.

17· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

18· · · · · · ·Mr. Jetter.

19· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

20· BY MR. JETTER:

21· · · ·Q.· · Good morning.· I do have a few questions.

22· · · · · · ·I would just like to sort of clarify a

23· little bit with something that you had stated in your

24· cross-examination and I believe also today in your

25· direct testimony.
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·1· · · · · · ·Is it accurate to -- to kind of rephrase

·2· what you said a few minutes ago, that your basis for

·3· understanding that a later interconnection date would

·4· potentially have a higher price was due to a

·5· repricing that changed the on-line date early in the

·6· project and that gave you a slightly higher price?

·7· · · ·A.· · No, it's not due to the repricing.· So we

·8· originally submitted for both 2018 and 2019 prices,

·9· and on the repricing pushed -- pushed our 2018 back

10· to 2019.

11· · · · · · ·To the point of with respect to economics,

12· we determined the economics were -- were not

13· favorable, were not -- not attractive, for the 2018

14· time frame.· We also determined at that time that

15· that 2018 was not -- was not a workable time frame

16· within the process that -- that is allowed here.

17· · · · · · ·But those -- those prices came -- came out

18· showing -- showing, in fact, a rise in price to 2019,

19· which, in fact, does tie to the IRP and -- and would

20· be expected in -- in the aurora modeling that takes

21· place behind this.

22· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· So are you aware of any direct

23· connection between the IRP process and avoided-cost

24· pricing?

25· · · ·A.· · So we're -- we're -- all we know is that
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·1· this -- this utilizes aurora in it's -- I think

·2· that's my understanding that the aurora pricing

·3· modeling tools are used to reach the avoided costs

·4· here.

·5· · · · · · ·The inputs and information are -- are the

·6· same inputs and information, or should be the same

·7· inputs and information, used in the IRP process.

·8· They're both -- they're both represented to the state

·9· and to all -- all stakeholders that are involved

10· in -- in looking at the pricing of energy and in the

11· long-term equation for the utility and for those that

12· participate with the utility.

13· · · ·Q.· · Would it be surprising for you to learn,

14· or would you, subject to check, that IRP pricing

15· forecasts have consistently been higher than QF

16· pricing contracts?

17· · · ·A.· · It would be -- no, it's not surprising, in

18· terms of the -- the quantum, correct, that that is --

19· I think that is correct.

20· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And I assume in your capacity in

21· your employment that you follow wholesale market

22· prices during solar hours?

23· · · ·A.· · We do, yes.

24· · · ·Q.· · And what would you describe the trend of

25· those over the past five years?
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·1· · · ·A.· · So the wholesale pricing is -- well, in

·2· what market?

·3· · · ·Q.· · Any of the western hubs that are

·4· interconnected into that system, of course.

·5· · · ·A.· · So the western hubs are -- we could spend

·6· a lot of time talking about the western hubs and

·7· what's been happening in pricing.· But it's --

·8· · · ·Q.· · Just use kind of a Palo Verde.

·9· · · ·A.· · Yeah.· So Palo Verde and others have been

10· impacted by very low natural gas rates.· Those

11· natural gas rates have hovered near -- have dropped

12· to historic lows.· But that -- and that follows some

13· cyclical patterns associated with -- associated with

14· gas, also advances in technology and other things on

15· the gas side.

16· · · · · · ·The other impact that's been a push type,

17· so say Palo Verde, on the renewable side where we and

18· others have been successful at driving -- driving

19· costs down and continuing to drive costs down.

20· · · · · · ·So generating depends on the time of the

21· day, but certain times of the day are actually quite

22· expensive for power, and others are -- are not, based

23· on the generation mix of any given utility.

24· · · ·Q.· · And so following up on that, would you --

25· would it be accurate to say over the past five years,
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·1· for example, the prices during those hours have been

·2· trending down?

·3· · · ·A.· · During the last five years, yes.

·4· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And would it be fair to say that a

·5· one-year extension or comparison that you received

·6· during your indicative-pricing request comparison may

·7· not be an accurate reflection in other changes in

·8· on-line dates, like the consecutive year pushing this

·9· out?

10· · · ·A.· · I think that the reality is that all

11· future pricing is based on forecasting at the time,

12· and forecasting based on what limited information one

13· might have.

14· · · · · · ·As I understand it, PacifiCorp, like many

15· of us, has -- has affiliates that also participate

16· in -- with -- with avoided cost, and that avoided

17· cost is said in a similar process, using -- you know,

18· locking in on rates based on forecast, based on

19· avoided cost, and a profile that uses the best

20· information that PacifiCorp and others have -- the

21· Commission and others have in setting those rates.

22· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And so just to kind of tie this

23· down a little bit.· You don't know, do you, whether

24· extending the on-line date would have resulted in a

25· higher or lower price for another year, for example?
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·1· · · ·A.· · So had we -- had we at the time that we

·2· filed been able to insert a later date than the

·3· 30-month limitation provides, we having not done it

·4· and not having been able to do it, we don't have

·5· specific information about it.· All we can say is

·6· that the underlying information and the profile for

·7· those -- those projects in fact shows an increase.

·8· · · · · · ·And I will -- I'll revise my statement

·9· slightly and say that under -- under PacifiCorp's

10· tariff, we can take a -- and PacifiCorp allows us to

11· take an average price, weighted price, over that

12· period of time or -- or a variable price based on

13· their forecast.· Those variable prices showed prices

14· increasing over time.

15· · · · · · ·So, in fact, in a much more detailed way

16· we can see a profile coming out of that pricing,

17· whether it was 2018 or 2019 that showed a consistent

18· increase in pricing over time.· And even today we see

19· that in the pricing that has been provided by

20· PacifiCorp.

21· · · · · · ·So -- so I would say that definitively we

22· can say that if -- if that same data were used,

23· absolutely we would have had a higher price for --

24· for a later date.· Did we -- did we actually get a

25· later date with -- with another price?· No, because
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·1· it's not allowed in the process.· And it wasn't

·2· anticipated it would be needed.

·3· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· Just to clarify, you said you can't

·4· definitively say or that you can definitively say

·5· that it would have been higher?

·6· · · ·A.· · No, I can say that it would have been

·7· higher based on the information that was provided to

·8· us, yes.

·9· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· So they provided information for

10· the value of the 16th year?

11· · · ·A.· · So they did provide information for the

12· value of -- they did not provide information for the

13· value of the 16th year, but they had the trajectory

14· for the full 15 years.

15· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· So you're saying that you can

16· definitely confirm today what would have been in the

17· 16th year?

18· · · ·A.· · I have not, no.

19· · · ·Q.· · Thank you.

20· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· Those all the questions that

21· I have.

22· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Any recross?

23· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Just a couple, Your Honor.

24· ///

25· ///
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

·2· BY MR. BARKLEY:

·3· · · ·Q.· · Mr. Ellsworth, there was some discussion

·4· earlier regarding a reference in PacifiCorp's motion

·5· to dismiss to another docket.· I'm looking at Page 3

·6· of that motion to dismiss, where PacifiCorp says, "As

·7· the Company previously stated in Docket

·8· No. 17-035-13, PacifiCorp Transmission has

·9· experienced an unprecedented surge in interconnection

10· applications, primarily from developers in Utah and

11· Wyoming."

12· · · · · · ·Is that the docket to which you were

13· referring?· I ask that just to see if that's the

14· right docket number reference.

15· · · ·A.· · Yes, that's correct.· That's the correct

16· docket.

17· · · ·Q.· · There was also some discussion about

18· whether or not PacifiCorp had given a reason for

19· their change in position.· Do you remember that back

20· and forth?

21· · · ·A.· · That's -- that's right.

22· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· When PacifiCorp informed you that

23· they were changing their position based on meetings

24· with the Department of Public Utilities and the

25· Office of Consumer Services, what actions did you
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·1· take in follow-up to that?

·2· · · ·A.· · So we -- we asked for contact information

·3· as it related to those agencies and -- and so that we

·4· could follow up and confirm.· It took us multiple

·5· contacts and then a follow-up in-person meeting

·6· before PacifiCorp provided us that contact

·7· information.

·8· · · · · · ·We then with that contact information in

·9· hand reached out to and made direct contact with both

10· agencies.· The first consumer services said that, in

11· fact, they did not -- to paraphrase, did not have

12· anything to do with this and -- and were not -- would

13· not be involved in or have an opinion associated with

14· this process.

15· · · · · · ·And then on our contact with the

16· Department of Public Utilities, they indicated they

17· did not recall ever having this conversation with

18· PacifiCorp, but, in fact, had been a part of this

19· recent docket that was referenced by PacifiCorp in

20· their response -- I'm sorry, in their -- their motion

21· and -- and had been successful in extending dates,

22· and that they would generally be -- be supportive if

23· there was a similar fact part pattern from the

24· standpoint of delays by the company.

25· · · ·Q.· · Other than the concern expressed in DPU's
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·1· response regarding the on-line date, has either DPU

·2· or the Office of Consumer Services expressed to you

·3· any concern with your request of extension, for

·4· example, the six-month deadline for executing a PPA

·5· following indicative pricing?

·6· · · ·A.· · No, they have not.· And I think on the

·7· note of extension, and I think we understand the

·8· concern on timeline and pricing.· Not knowing what

·9· the 16th year pricing would be, we as a company would

10· be very open to -- to an update on that 16th year,

11· whatever that 16th year update would be, but

12· otherwise holding to the pricing that -- and

13· methodology for the remaining -- remaining years that

14· were provided to us.

15· · · ·Q.· · So based on your follow-up actions, your

16· follow-up conversations, with DPU and the Office of

17· Consumer Services, did you conclude that PacifiCorp

18· had provided any compelling rational for its change

19· in position?

20· · · ·A.· · No.· In terms of the compelling rational,

21· we concluded that, in fact, neither of these agencies

22· showed any sign of having any meaningful dialogue

23· with PacifiCorp, and it was surprising to us that

24· that was used as the rational for a change in

25· position, when neither agency really could -- had
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·1· enough -- enough of a dialogue to even recall having

·2· had the dialogue, one.· And, two, one -- one of the

·3· agencies was totally disengaged, not involved, and

·4· had little concern for this, and the other agency was

·5· supportive of our -- our effort to extend.

·6· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I have no further questions,

·7· Your Honor.

·8· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

·9· · · · · · ·And just one follow-up from me.· And this

10· is really a legal question, so I'll invite your

11· counsel to answer if he deems it appropriate.

12· · · · · · ·But you have referenced a couple of times

13· this 45-day expectation of a turnaround time with

14· respect to the feasibility study.· Of course,

15· Schedule 38 references the OATT.· I didn't see a

16· portion of the OATT quoted so I went and read it, and

17· I think what you're referring to is in Section 41.3.

18· Can you confirm if that's the case?

19· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I believe that's right.· If

20· you'll give me just a moment, I do have it.

21· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Sure.

22· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Yes, Your Honor, I'm on

23· Page 143 of the Open Access Transmission Tariff for a

24· Collective Transmission Tariff Volume No. 11 for

25· PacifiCorp.· And it is Section 41.3, which says
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·1· Transmission provider shall use reasonable efforts to

·2· complete the interconnection feasibility study no

·3· later than 45 calendar days after transmission

·4· provider receives a fully executed interconnection

·5· feasibility study agreement.

·6· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

·7· That's helpful.

·8· · · · · · ·You're excused, Mr. Ellsworth.

·9· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Your Honor, that's all we

10· have.

11· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Okay.

12· · · · · · ·Ms. Hogle.

13· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Thank you.· The Company calls

14· Mr. Mark Tourangeau.

15· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· And before I

16· swear you in, would you mind spelling your last name?

17· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Certainly.· Last name is

18· T-O-U-R-A-N-G-E-A-U.

19· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Mr. Tourangeau,

20· do you swear to tell the truth?

21· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· You got it.

22· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Do you swear to

23· tell the truth, sir?

24· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I do.

25· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

·2· BY MS. HOGLE:

·3· · · ·Q.· · Good morning, Mr. Tourangeau.· Once again,

·4· maybe for the reporter benefit, can you state and

·5· spell your name for the record.

·6· · · ·A.· · Yes.· Mark Tourangeau,

·7· T-O-U-R-A-N-G-E-A-U.

·8· · · ·Q.· · And by whom are you employed and in what

·9· capacity?

10· · · ·A.· · I'm employed by Rocky Mountain Power as a

11· director of commercial services, where I oversee our

12· negotiations and relationships with our large

13· industrial customers that we have special contracts

14· with.· I also work with customers who are looking to

15· purchase renewables through our green tariffs.· And

16· then I also oversee our qualifying-facility process

17· under PERPA for the Rocky Mountain Power territory.

18· · · ·Q.· · And is this the first time that you have

19· testified in the State of Utah?

20· · · ·A.· · It is.

21· · · ·Q.· · So given that, can you please provide a

22· brief background of your service.

23· · · ·A.· · Certainly.· So I have over 20 years of

24· experience in the energy industry.· Previous to Rocky

25· Mountain Power, I joined Rocky Mountain Power just
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·1· about a year ago.· Previous to that I worked for

·2· eight years for NextEra Energy out of Florida, which

·3· is the largest renewable zone in North America.  I

·4· also worked for Morgan Stanley Commodities and for

·5· Duke Energy.

·6· · · ·Q.· · Thank you.

·7· · · · · · ·And are you familiar with the complaint

·8· that was filed by Clenera on September 22nd, 2017?

·9· · · ·A.· · I am.

10· · · ·Q.· · Are you familiar with Rocky Mountain

11· Power's response to that complaint October 24th,

12· 2017?

13· · · ·A.· · Yes.

14· · · ·Q.· · Did you assist in the preparation of that

15· response?

16· · · ·A.· · I did, yes.

17· · · ·Q.· · And so you're comfortable adopting that

18· response as your own testimony today?

19· · · ·A.· · Yes, I am.

20· · · ·Q.· · And responding to the questions about that

21· response?

22· · · ·A.· · Correct.

23· · · ·Q.· · Okay.

24· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Could we just -- could we

25· clarify the date on that?· Was it 24 or 23?
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·1· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· I believe that was

·2· October 23rd, 2017.

·3· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· That's the date I have.

·4· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Thank you.

·5· · · ·Q.· · BY MS. HOGLE:· Do you have any changes

·6· that you would like to make to that response?

·7· · · ·A.· · No, I do not.

·8· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· If it pleases the Commission

·9· at this time, I would like to enter into the record

10· as Mr. Tourangeau's testimony the Company's response

11· filed October 23rd, 2017.

12· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Hearing no

13· objection, it's admitted.

14· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· And I would like that to be

15· marked Rocky Mountain Power Exhibit 1.

16· · · · · · · ·(Whereupon, Rocky Mountain Power

17· · · · · · · ·Exhibit 1 was marked for

18· · · · · · · ·identification.)

19· · · ·Q.· · BY MS. HOGLE:· Mr. Tourangeau, are you

20· also familiar with the reply that was filed by

21· Clenera October 24th, 2017?

22· · · ·A.· · Yes, I am.

23· · · ·Q.· · Did you prepare a summary of your response

24· to the complaint and the reply to the Company's

25· response that you would like to share today?
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·1· · · ·A.· · I did, yes.

·2· · · ·Q.· · Please proceed.

·3· · · ·A.· · Thank you.· I really just want to make

·4· three points.· The first one is our tariff and

·5· procedures in Schedule 38 are very clear, that the

·6· interconnection process and the PPA indicative

·7· pricing and negotiation process are two very separate

·8· processes.· It's mentioned a couple times in

·9· Schedule 38.

10· · · · · · ·Schedule 38 also provides a directive to

11· QF developers that they should start the

12· interconnection process as soon as possible because

13· it can be a lengthy and time consuming process.· And

14· PacifiCorp Transmission Services is the part of the

15· company that runs that.· PacifiCorp Merchant, of

16· which I'm apart, is running the PPA contracting

17· process.· We, in fact, cannot have communication with

18· the core transmission services due to fair code of

19· conduct rules, unless we're granted a waiver provided

20· by the QF developer.

21· · · · · · ·In any case, those processes are very

22· different, very separate, and the tariff is very

23· clear that our customer or our developer is

24· developing the QF, should initiate that

25· interconnection process as soon as possible and well
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·1· before the PPA negotiation process, in which this

·2· situation that really didn't happen.· They were

·3· really done contemporaneously or, actually, after the

·4· interconnection specifications were corrected by

·5· Clenera for Faraday and Goshen, it happened after

·6· they had requested indicative pricing.

·7· · · · · · ·So that is the first point.

·8· · · · · · ·My second point is, you know, due to the

·9· tariff, we are unable to start negotiation on a PPA

10· until we have a series of information, series of

11· facts, from the QF developer, including, as

12· Schedule 38 says, their status on their

13· interconnection process.· We take that to mean that

14· they need to establish an interconnection date

15· through a feasibility and system impact study done

16· with the support of Transmission Services to be able

17· to prove out that they can interconnect to our system

18· at or about the same time that they anticipate

19· bringing the project to commercial operations.

20· · · · · · ·In Clenera's case -- Clenera, excuse me,

21· we are of a mind that given the challenges of taking

22· 1120 QF megawatts and integrating those onto our

23· system using the approved methodology that PacifiCorp

24· Transmission Services has under our OATT to study

25· that, we cannot in good faith under Schedule 38
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·1· negotiate a PPA with them or keep them in our pricing

·2· queue until those studies are completed and they can

·3· prove that their stated TOD date coincides with their

·4· actual interconnection date under those studies.

·5· · · · · · ·The third point is more just goes towards

·6· equity overall with respect to all of our customers

·7· and stakeholders.· And, you know, counsel mentioned

·8· it in terms of making sure that the pricing is

·9· representative of the COD date when the QF facility

10· is going to come on-line.

11· · · · · · ·I am totally indifferent as to the level

12· of that pricing.· It just needs to be right in terms

13· of when that pricing starts, when our indicative

14· pricing starts, has to be associated with the date

15· that that site goes commercial.· Otherwise, there's a

16· total mismatch there and it is not fair to our

17· customers, in that the avoided cost pricing is not

18· representative of when the site will actually become

19· commercial and operate for the 15 years it's under

20· contract.· It's not fair to other developers who are

21· held to this standard, and it's not fair to the --

22· all of our other stakeholders as well.

23· · · · · · ·So we strive to main equity from that

24· perspective, and we feel that the action we have

25· taken, which were very deliberative, we took a lot of
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·1· time, and I'm first to admit that, and it could have

·2· gone more quickly in terms of our response.· But we

·3· had a very deliberative process after the

·4· conversations with the DPU, which unfortunately they

·5· don't recall it was done in a general sense, it

·6· wasn't done with respect to the Clenera situation

·7· specifically.

·8· · · · · · ·Our representative Kyle Moore

·9· distinctively remembers having the conversations, and

10· unfortunately the representative from the Commission

11· and Consumer Services don't.

12· · · · · · ·But given that feedback and then a very

13· in-depth analysis that we did over the next few

14· weeks, we feel justified in following our process and

15· upon notice of Schedule 38 and taking the actions of

16· the tariff.

17· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· I don't have any further

18· questions.· Thank you.

19· · · ·Q.· · BY MS. HOGLE:· Or do you have any final

20· comments, Mr. Tourangeau?

21· · · ·A.· · Yeah.· I mean, I just -- I struggle

22· sometimes when we talk about, you know, the

23· economics.· And I don't think we're here to debate

24· the economics of the QF facility and whether it's

25· good or bad for ratepayers.· We could have that
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·1· debate and it could last for hours and hours.

·2· · · · · · ·These -- this is unprecedented for us to

·3· have 14 different QF facilities of 80 megawatts each.

·4· Basically it's one solar development coming onto our

·5· system in one location.· The impacts on the

·6· transmission system are large, and I think our

·7· representative from Pat (phonetic) Transmission will

·8· speak to that.

·9· · · · · · ·But the impacts are great.· And so you

10· can't really talk about the economic impact just in

11· terms of rates because there are broad economic

12· impacts across the entire states that we serve

13· associated with it.

14· · · · · · ·So we want to make sure we're have been

15· deliberative, very fair with respect to this huge

16· project that is coming on-line as 14 separate 80

17· megawatt QF facilities that I'm sure are probably a

18· mile apart.· And we want to make sure that we are

19· following our procedures to a T, because this size of

20· project will have massive implications for our

21· customers for fairness and for our system.· So we

22· want to make sure that we're being thoughtful for all

23· of our customers and stakeholders.

24· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Mr. Tourangeau is available

25· for questions.· Thank you.
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·1· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Mr. Barkley.

·2· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I do have some questions,

·3· Your Honor.

·4· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

·5· BY MR. BARKLEY:

·6· · · ·Q.· · Good morning, Mr. Tourangeau.

·7· · · ·A.· · Good morning, sir.

·8· · · ·Q.· · Is it your testimony that Rocky Mountain

·9· Power has historically required a completed facility

10· study before tendering a form of PPA and beginning

11· negotiations?

12· · · ·A.· · My understanding is that we have to have

13· proof that a facilities study has been done that

14· proves that the interconnection can be made at or

15· around the stated C.O.D.· Now, I've been here for a

16· year, so I'm not sure if that is always what we

17· followed in the past.· But based on our read of the

18· tariff, that's what we're looking at.

19· · · ·Q.· · Is it your understanding that the tariff

20· requires demonstration that an interconnection study

21· has been completed before you can -- before you can

22· provide the form of PPA?

23· · · ·A.· · And let me pull up the tariff here real

24· quickly so I can speak to that.

25· · · · · · ·The tariff says there's evidence that any
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·1· necessary interconnection studies that are underway

·2· and that the necessary interconnection arrangements

·3· can timely be completed in accordance with Part 2

·4· sufficient for the projects to reach amortization by

·5· the proposed on-line date.· Our interpretation of

·6· that is that until the study is done, there is no way

·7· for us to have determined, based on this core

·8· transmission services analysis, whether it can meet

·9· it's proposed service date or not.

10· · · ·Q.· · Specifically, which study are you speaking

11· about?· Are you speaking of the feasibility study,

12· the impact study, or the final study?

13· · · ·A.· · Typically the feasibility -- typically the

14· feasibility study.

15· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And is it your testimony, then,

16· that it has been the historical practice of Rocky

17· Mountain Power to require a completed feasibility

18· study before it will tender a form of PPA for

19· negotiation?

20· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Objection, asked and answered.

21· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Overruled.  I

22· think he reformulated the question.

23· · · · · · ·You can answer, sir.

24· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm not able to answer for

25· certain historically whether that's been required.
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·1· · · ·Q.· · BY MR. BARKLEY:· Okay.· I believe one of

·2· the second points you made was a point of equity, and

·3· you spoke about fairness to other developers.

·4· · · · · · ·You do understand, Mr. Tourangeau, don't

·5· you, that all developers are depending upon the

·6· process that's laid out in the company's tariffs in

·7· making their investment decision on these very

·8· expensive projects?

·9· · · ·A.· · Yes.

10· · · ·Q.· · And do you believe that it is the

11· company's obligation to adhere to that process?

12· · · ·A.· · I do, yes.

13· · · ·Q.· · And you understand that the process that

14· is laid out in PacifiCorp's open access transmission

15· tariff calls for reasonable efforts to get a

16· feasibility study done within 45 days, correct?

17· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Excuse me, objection.· Or

18· maybe not just a clarification.· I wonder if that

19· question is not better answered by Mr. Fritz, who

20· will be on the stand shortly.

21· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I'll defer to

22· Mr. Barkley whether you want to reassert the

23· question.

24· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Your Honor, I would like to

25· Mr. Tourangeau to answer that because he did opine
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·1· about fairness to developers and developers

·2· reasonable expectations.

·3· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· If you know the

·4· answer to the question, Mr. Tourangeau, you may

·5· answer.

·6· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Please restate the question.

·7· · · ·Q.· · BY MR. BARKLEY:· Sure.· Is it your

·8· understanding that the company's OATT, Open Access

·9· Transmission Tariff, requires that the company use

10· reasonable efforts to complete a facility study

11· within 45 days?

12· · · ·A.· · I'm not familiar with the specific term.

13· I believe you read it.· So --

14· · · ·Q.· · Are you familiar with the depth -- with

15· the timelines with the remaining two studies, the

16· system impact study and the final study?

17· · · ·A.· · I am not because I don't work in

18· PacifiCorp Transmissions Services.

19· · · ·Q.· · You mentioned at one point the company had

20· a very deliberative process.· To be clear, the

21· company is still in that very deliberative process,

22· correct?

23· · · ·A.· · We have made our decision and communicated

24· it through our response.

25· · · ·Q.· · When you say your decision, when you
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·1· refer -- maybe I didn't understand your testimony.

·2· · · · · · ·When you refer to the deliberative

·3· process, were you referring to the interconnection

·4· study process?

·5· · · ·A.· · No, not at all.· I was referring to the

·6· situation at hand here where we were analyzing our

·7· decision as to whether or not to continue keeping the

·8· clean air projects in the pricing queue or not.· That

·9· is a process I'm referring to that we were

10· deliberating on over time and came to our decision,

11· which we then communicated to Clenera.

12· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Your Honor, I have no

13· further questions.

14· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

15· · · · · · ·Mr. Jetter.

16· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· I do have just a few brief

17· questions.

18· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

19· BY MR. JETTER:

20· · · ·Q.· · So I'm going to pick one of the timelines

21· out of Schedule 38 here.· So I'm looking at sub --

22· it's Roman numeral I B 4, indicative pricing.

23· · · · · · ·And it says, Within 30 days following the

24· dated QF project was added to the QF pricing queue

25· under Section I B 3, the company shall provide the QF
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·1· developer with indicative pricing, et cetera.

·2· · · · · · ·Would it be reasonable for the company in

·3· that case if the timeline was 30 days to come back a

·4· year later?

·5· · · ·A.· · No, it would not.

·6· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· Okay.· That's my only

·7· question.· Thank you.

·8· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Mr. Trudeau --

·9· did I get your name correct?

10· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Tourangeau.

11· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFER HAMMER:· I apologize for

12· that.

13· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· That's okay.

14· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I just have one

15· question.· I'm going to read a couple of sentences

16· from the Complainant's initial complaint, and I

17· wonder if you could lend any context to them.

18· · · · · · ·It states, On March 13th, 2017, developer

19· made a timely request for a proposed PPA.· On

20· March 21sts, 2017, the Company responded, quote, we

21· have reviewed your request for a proposed PPA, and we

22· find it to be complete, end quote.· Nevertheless,

23· nearly a month later on the April 18, 2017, the

24· Company requested an additional update on the

25· interconnection studies, asserting it needed to have

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 64
·1· the study results prior to issuing a proposed PPA.

·2· And I'll end there.

·3· · · · · · ·Are those statements true?

·4· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· That is accurate.

·5· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Can you explain

·6· why the Company represented that the application was

·7· complete or that it had all the required information

·8· it needed and later changed its position?

·9· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I think that may have just

10· been a case of not having gotten -- looking at it

11· again and looking at the response with respect to the

12· interconnection study, the feasibility study, and not

13· seeing there and responding that we need to see that

14· as well.

15· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I have nothing

16· else.· Thank you, sir.

17· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.· Thank you, Your

18· Honor.

19· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Your Honor, I wonder if I can

20· ask a couple clarifying questions, because I think

21· it's a little bit unclear now based on what he's

22· testified about, okay?

23· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I have no

24· objection.

25· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Okay.
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

·2· BY MS. HOGLE:

·3· · · ·Q.· · Mr. Tourangeau, can you testify when the

·4· first time it was that Clenera sought indicative

·5· pricing or reached out to the commercial unit of

·6· PacifiCorp?

·7· · · ·A.· · I believe they sought indicative pricing

·8· in November, and I believe Mr. Shively spoke about

·9· that.· And then there was a change to the

10· interconnection point.· And so that kind of restarted

11· the process.

12· · · · · · ·So on December 14th of 2016, they

13· requested indicative pricing for the Faraday 780

14· megawatt Farady projects.· And then on February 1st

15· of 2017 they sought the indicative pricing for the

16· 780 megawatt Goshen Valley projects.

17· · · ·Q.· · Is it your understanding that Clenera

18· sought indicative pricing before reaching out to

19· PacifiCorp Transmission regarding the transmission

20· queue and the transmission services for this project?

21· · · ·A.· · My understanding of the timeline for the

22· transmission services, you know, starting in late

23· November, they requested -- or they applied for a

24· queue number, and then later on in early January they

25· changed that from just a generally large generation
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·1· interconnect agreement request to a specific

·2· qualifying facility request, which would require a

·3· network resource application.

·4· · · ·Q.· · Do you have Schedule 38 in front of you?

·5· · · ·A.· · I do, yes.

·6· · · ·Q.· · Can you please turn to Paragraph 3 in the

·7· first page?

·8· · · ·A.· · I'm there.

·9· · · ·Q.· · Can you read for me, beginning the

10· generation interconnection process, all the way to

11· the end?

12· · · ·A.· · The generation interconnection process are

13· a critical and lengthy process that typically must be

14· well underway before a power purchase agreement

15· should be requested.· QF developers are strongly

16· encouraged to gain a clear understanding of the

17· transmission interconnection process and associated

18· costs and timelines before requesting indicative

19· pricing or a power-purchase agreement under this

20· schedule.· The interconnection process is described

21· in Section 2 dot B of this.

22· · · ·Q.· · Is it your understanding that Clenera

23· followed this directive?

24· · · ·A.· · I think you could question whether they

25· followed that directive.
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·1· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Thank you.· I have no further

·2· questions.

·3· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I'll allow

·4· Mr. Barkley to ask some follow-up questions that he

·5· may have.

·6· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I have no further questions,

·7· Your Honor.

·8· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

·9· · · · · · ·Mr. Jetter, any follow-up?

10· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· No, I don't have any

11· follow-up.· Thank you.

12· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you, Your Honor.

13· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.· You

14· are excused.

15· · · · · · ·Ms. Hogle.

16· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· I'm going to call Mr. Brian

17· Fritz.

18· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Mr. Fritz, do

19· you swear to tell the truth?

20· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

21· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

22· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

23· BY MS. HOGLE:

24· · · ·Q.· · Good morning, Mr. Fritz.

25· · · ·A.· · Good morning.
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·1· · · ·Q.· · Can you please and spell your name for the

·2· record?

·3· · · ·A.· · Brian Fritz, F-R-I-T-Z.

·4· · · ·Q.· · And by whom are you employed and in what

·5· capacity?

·6· · · ·A.· · PacifiCorp as director of Transmission

·7· Services and Transmission Development.

·8· · · ·Q.· · And is this the first time that you have

·9· testified in Utah?

10· · · ·A.· · Yes.

11· · · ·Q.· · Given that, can you please provide a brief

12· background of your experience?

13· · · ·A.· · Sure.· I currently have over 30 years

14· experience in the energy industry, with Portland

15· General Electric, Enron, and PacifiCorp.· My current

16· responsibilities in PacifiCorp include general

17· oversight of the generation interconnection process.

18· · · ·Q.· · Are you familiar with the complaint that

19· was filed by Clenera?

20· · · ·A.· · Yes.

21· · · ·Q.· · Are you familiar with Rocky Mountain

22· Power's response to that complaint filed

23· October 23rd, 2017?

24· · · ·A.· · Yes.

25· · · ·Q.· · Are you familiar with the issues related
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·1· to the transmission queue that arose in that

·2· complaint?

·3· · · ·A.· · Yes.

·4· · · ·Q.· · So you're comfortable responding to

·5· questions related to those issues here today?

·6· · · ·A.· · Yes.

·7· · · ·Q.· · Are you also familiar with a reply to the

·8· Company's response filed by Clenera October 24th,

·9· 2017?

10· · · ·A.· · Yes.

11· · · ·Q.· · Are you prepared to respond to some of the

12· allegations made in that reply?

13· · · ·A.· · Yes.

14· · · ·Q.· · Do you have any exhibits that support your

15· response to Clenera's reply today?

16· · · ·A.· · Yes.

17· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Your Honor, may I approach to

18· provide an exhibit that Rocky Mountain Power would

19· like marked as Rocky Mountain Power Exhibit 2 to the

20· bench and the parties at this time before I continue

21· my direct examination?

22· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Of course.

23· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Thank you.

24· / / /

25· / / /

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 70
·1· · · · · · · ·(Whereupon, Rocky Mountain Power

·2· · · · · · · ·Exhibit 2 was marked for

·3· · · · · · · ·identification.)

·4· · · ·Q.· · BY MS. HOGLE:· Mr. Fritz, can you briefly

·5· describe what I just passed out as Rocky Mountain

·6· Power Exhibit 2?

·7· · · ·A.· · Yes.· What this shows in the top graph is

·8· requests that have come into the interconnection

·9· queue by size.· Well, what you can see is between

10· 2015 and '17, we have seen a large increase of the

11· projects that have been requested in the queue.· The

12· bottom graph shows specific to Utah the same

13· information.· Again, you can see a very large uptick

14· in 2016.

15· · · ·Q.· · And, Mr. Fritz, just to describe it a

16· little more, how do you compare this graph with what

17· Clenera included in its graphs in its reply to the

18· Company's response?

19· · · ·A.· · What they provided was just the number of

20· requests, which is just part of the story.· What we

21· have here is an additional piece of the story, which

22· has a big impact on the interconnection queue study

23· process.

24· · · ·Q.· · Thank you.

25· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Would it please the Commission
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·1· at this time, we would that RMP Exhibit 2 be entered

·2· into the record and admitted into evidence.

·3· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Any objection?

·4· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· No objection, Your Honor.

·5· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· No objection.

·6· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· It's admitted.

·7· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Thank you.

·8· · · ·Q.· · BY MS. HOGLE:· Mr. Fritz, did you prepare

·9· a summary of Rocky Mountain Power's response to the

10· interconnection queue issues that you would like to

11· address at this time?

12· · · ·A.· · Yes, I did.

13· · · ·Q.· · Please proceed.

14· · · ·A.· · Today I'll address the interconnection

15· study process and how the influx of large number of

16· higher megawatt projects in 2016 and '17 have

17· increased the complexity of the process and the time

18· to complete the studies.· I'll also address the

19· limited value of bringing on third-party analysts to

20· complete studies.

21· · · · · · ·As have been stated today, PacifiCorp

22· follows the FERC open transmission tariff.· The FERC

23· regulatory commission, they govern the

24· interconnection process, including studies on a

25· nondiscriminatory basis.
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·1· · · · · · ·For QF interconnections in Utah, the

·2· company's Schedule 38 states that we follow the

·3· tariff.

·4· · · · · · ·We do -- as I said today, we do follow the

·5· sequential order study process, which is allowed

·6· under the tariff, with higher queued requests studied

·7· first.· This allows the company to determine the

·8· system impacts for each generator and associated

·9· mitigation, if any.· And that's required to ensure

10· that we safely and reliably interconnect each

11· generator, and it's necessary to properly identify

12· the project that is triggering any system

13· improvements and to incorporate those improvements

14· into the study results for that project and any lower

15· queued projects.

16· · · · · · ·Contrary to Clenera's claim, the time

17· required to study generator interconnections is not

18· simply a function of how many are in the queue.

19· That's a small piece of it.

20· · · · · · ·One of the important factors include the

21· size, where the interconnections are proposed, if

22· they're on transmission or distribution, and the

23· activity in the higher queued projects.· And what I

24· mean by that is if projects at higher queue are

25· removed from the queue.
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·1· · · · · · ·So what we see in Exhibit 2 is it

·2· demonstrates that in recent years we have seen a

·3· large increase in the size of the projects.· Had they

·4· been on the transmission system and not the

·5· distribution system, as is Clenera's request, there's

·6· a significant difference between studying a project

·7· such as a 3-megawatt project on distribution, versus

·8· a thousand fifty megawatt project such as Clenera's

·9· on the transmission system.

10· · · · · · ·And these factors will increase the

11· complexity of the study and the timeline required to

12· do those things.

13· · · · · · ·Another complexity is in the process,

14· since we use a sequential process, if a higher queued

15· project removes from the queue, we're required to

16· then go back and restudy lower-queued projects to

17· look at the impacts that were identified with the

18· higher queued and how -- and do they apply to the

19· lower-queued projects.· And then we would apply those

20· to the lower-queued projects.

21· · · · · · ·So right now the Company is experiencing

22· an unprecedented spike in interconnection requests of

23· large megawatts.· You can see -- again you can see

24· the spike in Exhibit 2.· We currently have more

25· megawatts in our interconnection queue than we have

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 74
·1· existing generation today.· And it is approximately a

·2· 200 percent increase in excess of current PacifiCorp

·3· east network load.

·4· · · · · · ·As an example, this single thousand fifty

·5· megawatt project that Clenera is proposing, equals

·6· approximately one-tenth of PacifiCorp's existing

·7· generation fleet.

·8· · · · · · ·The interconnection study process is --

·9· uses a complex powerful model to determine impacts to

10· the system and upgrades required to maintain

11· reliability of the system.· As proposed generation

12· increases at a pace faster than load, which we are

13· currently experiencing, the analysis becomes

14· increasingly complex.

15· · · · · · ·With a request of this size, a thousand

16· fifty megawatts connected at the same point, the

17· impacts are likely to be identified across a very

18· wide footprint of PacifiCorp's transmission system.

19· This also increases the complexity.

20· · · · · · ·The value of independent third-party

21· interconnection study is limited at best.· An

22· independent party only has access to publicly

23· available information, and not all interconnection

24· studies are public.· There's also information about

25· PacifiCorp's transmission system that is not publicly
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·1· available.

·2· · · · · · ·Therefore, the independent third-party

·3· analyst does not have sufficient information to

·4· complete an appropriate interconnection study.

·5· Simply focusing on one project does not provide the

·6· information required and could jeopardy reliability

·7· of the system.

·8· · · · · · ·So in summary, the process schedules

·9· impacted by the size, location, its proposed

10· interconnect to transmission or distribution, and the

11· action of those projects that are higher in the

12· queue.

13· · · · · · ·The use of third-party analysis does not

14· provide the full picture and cannot be used

15· effectively picking one request to the queue and

16· performing an analysis without the full information

17· of all higher-queued projects.

18· · · ·Q.· · Mr. Fritz, just one -- maybe one or two

19· questions.

20· · · · · · ·Is PacifiCorp Transmission processing

21· interconnection request applications as quickly as

22· possible, given the sequential process it uses and

23· the complexity of the process, including as well the

24· number and the size of the projects that are seeking

25· requests?
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·1· · · ·A.· · Yes.· We're using all reasonable efforts,

·2· as is stated in the tariff, to complete these studies

·3· in a timely manner.

·4· · · ·Q.· · Thank you.

·5· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Mr. Fritz is available for

·6· questions.

·7· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Mr. Barkley?

·8· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Thank you, Your Honor.

·9· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

10· BY MR. BARKLEY:

11· · · ·Q.· · Good morning, Mr. Fritz.

12· · · ·A.· · Good morning.

13· · · ·Q.· · Is it the historic practice -- excuse me.

14· Is it the historic practice of Rocky Mountain Power

15· or PacifiCorp to require a completed feasibility

16· study before tendering a form of PPA for negotiation?

17· · · ·A.· · I can't answer that.· I am not part of the

18· marketing function.· I don't deal with PPAs.· What I

19· can say and what I heard earlier is that is the case.

20· · · ·Q.· · You are not personally able to provide us

21· today an example of an instance in which either Rocky

22· Mountain Power or PacifiCorp has required a completed

23· feasibility study before tendering a PPA; is that

24· correct?

25· · · ·A.· · That is correct.
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·1· · · ·Q.· · Regarding the chart that you supplied,

·2· what was the source of the data for this chart?

·3· · · ·A.· · It's the data that is in our

·4· interconnection queue.

·5· · · ·Q.· · Is that data from your OASIS system?

·6· · · ·A.· · I would have to go look at OASIS and see

·7· if we actually provide the megawatt information in

·8· the queue -- the queue information that we provide.

·9· · · ·Q.· · If that's not provided, would that likely

10· be because of confidentiality concerns?

11· · · ·A.· · Yes.

12· · · ·Q.· · Would you expect this information to be

13· otherwise consistent with the data that's in the

14· OASIS system?

15· · · ·A.· · Yes, if it's provided.

16· · · ·Q.· · I believe you stated that you were

17· familiar with the October 23rd response that was

18· filed by PacifiCorp, correct?

19· · · ·A.· · Correct.

20· · · ·Q.· · Is it your recollection that in discussing

21· the work load facing PacifiCorp that that

22· October 23rd response focused on the number of

23· interconnection requests or on the magnitude of those

24· requests?

25· · · ·A.· · Reading the document, it focused on the
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·1· number, which as I've stated, really doesn't provide

·2· the whole picture.

·3· · · ·Q.· · Now, one of the difficulties that you

·4· discussed was the difficulty of having to deal with

·5· changes ahead of an applicant in the queue?

·6· · · ·A.· · Yes.

·7· · · ·Q.· · Did I word that well enough for you to

·8· understand?

·9· · · ·A.· · Yes.· You're talking about a higher queued

10· project that would remove itself or get removed from

11· the queue.

12· · · ·Q.· · And that's a significant problem?

13· · · ·A.· · It's a consistent problem.· We recently

14· have seen two very large projects removed from the

15· queue in Southern Utah, which will have impact on the

16· other projects in the queue.

17· · · ·Q.· · Is that more likely to be a problem when

18· there are two applicants or when there are 20

19· applicants?

20· · · ·A.· · It's more likely to be an issue based on

21· all factors, not just the number.· Again, we see

22· people remove themselves from the queue for various

23· reasons.· I think a consistent reason is with these

24· larger projects, the cost to integrate them to the

25· system is sometimes very large, and I would assume
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·1· that that then drives their economics the wrong way

·2· and they remove themselves from the queue.

·3· · · · · · ·So I would say it's probably more a

·4· function -- it's not just a function of number, it's

·5· a function of number and size and location.

·6· · · ·Q.· · But to be clear, if there are three

·7· requests in the queue and I'm No. 3, there are only

·8· two people ahead of me who might change their minds

·9· and affect my timing, correct?

10· · · ·A.· · No.· It's not just that there's two people

11· ahead of you, it's how many are ahead of you that may

12· or do remove themselves from the queue that then have

13· an impact on you.· And so that project could be in

14· Southern Utah, Northern Utah, Idaho.· If it has an

15· impact on those queue positions below it, then those

16· queue positions have to be restudied to evaluate the

17· impacts and the upgrades associated with that removed

18· project, and those get applied down into the queue.

19· · · ·Q.· · Maybe my question wasn't clear, because

20· I'm not sure your answer was inconsistent with what I

21· was suggesting.· So let me try again.

22· · · · · · ·If there are only three applicants in the

23· queue and I'm last, I'm No. 3, there are two

24· applicants in front of me, and if either of those two

25· applicants decides to withdraw from the queue or
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·1· change the parameters of their application, that

·2· could affect me, right?

·3· · · ·A.· · Yes.· In theory if there were only three

·4· customers in the queue in the same general location

·5· or in a location that would impact you, if they

·6· remove themselves, yes.

·7· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And if there are 40 applications in

·8· the queue, and again, I have the misfortune of being

·9· last, I'm No. 40, there are 39 applications in the

10· queue ahead of me, any one of which could change,

11· either withdraw from the queue or change its

12· parameters, and require a restudy that would affect

13· me, right?

14· · · ·A.· · That is possible, yes.

15· · · ·Q.· · And is it reasonable to suggest that if

16· there are 40 applications in the queue, it's more

17· likely that some of them are in the same area or

18· region as I am and some of them may be on the same

19· transmission lines I am?

20· · · ·A.· · It's possible.

21· · · ·Q.· · Is it your position today that the Rocky

22· Mountain Power tariffs and/or the PacifiCorp tariffs

23· do not allow for a cluster study of the sort that was

24· described by Mr. Ellsworth?

25· · · ·A.· · No.· A cluster study or sequential studies
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·1· are both allowed in the Open Access Transmission

·2· Tariff.

·3· · · ·Q.· · One last topic, Mr. Fritz.

·4· · · · · · ·In the company's October 23rd response

·5· there was a reference made to Docket No. 17-35-13, in

·6· which PacifiCorp Transmission had experienced an

·7· unprecedented surge in interconnection applications.

·8· · · · · · ·Are you familiar with that reference?

·9· · · ·A.· · Yes.

10· · · ·Q.· · It is correct, isn't it, that in that

11· docket PacifiCorp cited its workload as support for a

12· request to extend deadlines?

13· · · ·A.· · Yes.

14· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Thank you.· I have no

15· further questions.

16· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Mr. Jetter?

17· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· I do have a few questions.

18· Good morning.

19· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Good morning.

20· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

21· BY MR. JETTER:

22· · · ·Q.· · I guess let's start out with, when -- when

23· did the Pac Trans unit realize that it was seeing a

24· sufficient volume of applications coming in that it

25· was no longer able to keep to the 45-day turnaround
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·1· on those?

·2· · · ·A.· · I don't have exact dates in front of me,

·3· but it would have been in, I believe, late 2015,

·4· early 2016.

·5· · · ·Q.· · And do you notify QF applications

·6· immediately upon their application to you for a

·7· interconnection study that this is the case?

·8· · · ·A.· · No.· Not immediately.

·9· · · ·Q.· · At what point in the process do you

10· typically notify them?

11· · · ·A.· · When we get an application in, there's

12· many steps we go through.· But when we get a deemed

13· complete application, then we hold a scoping meeting.

14· When we have the scoping meeting, that's where we

15· would provide information on the study process.

16· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And so would it be fair to say that

17· there's really no way for a QF to know what the

18· timeline would be before they get to that point?

19· · · ·A.· · Again, I would have to go back and look

20· and see what information we have on OASIS.· I'm

21· trying to remember if the dates are included there or

22· not.· But that could be a way for them to see that.

23· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· In this case do you know when that

24· scoping meeting happened?

25· · · ·A.· · The scoping meeting was January 3rd, 2017.
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·1· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And do you know how soon after that

·2· you had informed the applicant for these QF's that

·3· that study would be delayed?

·4· · · ·A.· · That would have been 3-14, 2017.

·5· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· Thank you.

·6· · · · · · ·Since the influx of these QF applications

·7· in 2015, has the staff that do the calculations and

·8· studies on this increase at Pac Trans?

·9· · · ·A.· · First I would like to clarify that it's

10· not just an increase in QF's.· We don't treat the QF

11· request any different than we do a PERC

12· jurisdictional request.· They enter the same queue

13· and they're studied in the same manner.

14· · · · · · ·We have added a consultant to help with

15· the studies during this timeframe.

16· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And when you say a consultant, is

17· that a consulting firm or is that an individual

18· person?

19· · · ·A.· · It's a consulting firm.

20· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· Has that significantly reduced the

21· time to turn around these applications?

22· · · ·A.· · Initially, yes, it did.· With the

23· additional influx with the size, it hasn't gone as

24· fast.· When we first brought them in, we were dealing

25· more with small generation.· And so it's -- I would
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·1· say it's helped, but it's slowed down a little bit.

·2· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And is it -- is it accurate to say

·3· that a new application today, if we hypothetically

·4· created an 80-megawatt new QF at the bottom of the

·5· queue in the same location in Southern Utah, that

·6· they would be reasonable to expect a one-year-plus

·7· timeframe?

·8· · · ·A.· · Yes.

·9· · · ·Q.· · Are you doing anything actively now to

10· reduce those times?

11· · · ·A.· · Not beyond what we have done.· We have

12· looked at options.· We have not found an option.

13· · · ·Q.· · I guess maybe to follow-up on that, could

14· you briefly describe what options you have

15· considered?

16· · · ·A.· · We have looked at options of breaking the

17· system up.· In other words, looking at studies

18· associated with Southern Utah, Eastern Wyoming.· What

19· we have found is that with the increase in the

20· megawatt size that that doesn't work.· We have looked

21· to see if there's additional contractors out there

22· that could help.· And we have looked at adding

23· resources, although we've only looked at that.· We

24· haven't done any real analysis or decided to do it.

25· · · ·Q.· · And in terms of these studies, if you were
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·1· to increase your staff doing the studies, would that

·2· speed up the process?

·3· · · ·A.· · No.

·4· · · ·Q.· · And why is that?

·5· · · ·A.· · Because we use the sequential method.· So

·6· the higher-queued project has to be studied first.

·7· And so throwing bodies at the queue doesn't

·8· necessarily mean that you speed the process up.

·9· · · ·Q.· · So in that sequential study, is it

10· computer calculation time?· What is taking so long

11· that increasing adding another team of other analysts

12· would not speed that up?

13· · · ·A.· · Generally it's the complexity of the

14· analysis.· And so when we see this, you know,

15· increase in size and megawatts in the requests, it

16· involves a larger footprint of the transmission

17· system that has to be analyzed.

18· · · · · · ·And so with the power-flow analysis, what

19· we're really trying to do is at the end of the day

20· balance generation with load.· So as your generation

21· increases beyond what your load increases, then it

22· becomes more and more complex.· It takes more time to

23· do the study.

24· · · · · · ·We use a term in the power-flow analysis

25· that we say the analysis has to solve.· And that
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·1· means that we have figured out what additions need to

·2· be made, what are the impacts, what are the solutions

·3· to those impacts, that we maintain a safe, reliable

·4· system for all customers.

·5· · · ·Q.· · And in so doing that you're using, I

·6· assume, a model of your current grid of transmission

·7· lines --

·8· · · ·A.· · Yes.

·9· · · ·Q.· · -- in the distribution system; is that

10· right?

11· · · ·A.· · Yes.

12· · · ·Q.· · And the calculations done on the power

13· flow across any given line, are those generated

14· through a computer model?· Are you doing some type of

15· a manual input calculation?

16· · · ·A.· · It's a computer model, but there's

17· human -- a lot of human interface when it starts

18· coming to the time of the model didn't solve, now how

19· do we fix it so it does solve.· So that requires, you

20· know, a pretty good knowledge of our system to be

21· able to do that.

22· · · · · · ·And what I mean by that is, if it doesn't

23· solve, then what the engineering planner does is

24· says, Okay, what if -- what if we install X, and that

25· could be a new transformer.· It could be a finish
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·1· shifter.· It could be a new transmission line.· And

·2· does that solve the case.· And, of course, when they

·3· do that, then that has more impacts on the rest of

·4· the system, so they have to look at it again.

·5· · · ·Q.· · And you just do one test solution at a

·6· time to see if it works and then go on to the next

·7· one?

·8· · · ·A.· · Yes.· I believe so, although I'm not a

·9· planner.

10· · · ·Q.· · And I guess ultimately my question is, you

11· know, as a regulator from the State of Utah what

12· we're seeing is potentially putting customers at risk

13· of delaying good projects or potentially causing good

14· projects to be terminated simply by a delay in the

15· calculations or the analysis from Pac Trans, and

16· frankly that's kind of why we're here today.

17· · · · · · ·Is it -- is it accurate to say that your

18· testimony is that there's nothing you can do to speed

19· this up?

20· · · ·A.· · No.· We continue to look for ways to speed

21· the process up.· And that does include, you know, the

22· possibility of moving to a cluster-type study.· But

23· these are things that, sorry to say, can't happen

24· overnight.

25· · · ·Q.· · Okay.
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·1· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· I think that's all of my

·2· questions.· Thank you.

·3· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

·4· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I have a

·5· couple.· Do you want to wait or go ahead and do

·6· yours?

·7· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· I apologize.· I will leave

·8· that up to you, whatever you want me to do.· If you

·9· want me to go before or after.

10· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Go ahead.

11· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Okay, thank you.

12· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

13· BY MS. HOGLE:

14· · · ·Q.· · Mr. Fritz, to your knowledge, does the

15· OATT allow for reasonable delays in the processing of

16· interconnection application requests to accommodate

17· spikes, such as spikes in the requests, such as the

18· surge and the spike that PacifiCorp transmission is

19· experiencing and has been experiencing for over a

20· year now?

21· · · ·A.· · Yes.

22· · · ·Q.· · You were also asked earlier about the

23· cluster process and whether that is allowed under

24· PacifiCorp's OATT.· Do you recall that question?

25· · · ·A.· · Yes, I do.
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·1· · · ·Q.· · Is it your understanding whether this

·2· hearing is to debate our process?· Or is it to find

·3· out whether PacifiCorp is following its Schedule 38

·4· in order to run through the applications pursuant to

·5· Schedule 38?

·6· · · ·A.· · It's my understanding that this hearing is

·7· about how PacifiCorp is following Schedule 38.

·8· · · ·Q.· · Could one of the reasons or a factor that

·9· is driving the surge in the applications of

10· interconnection requests be the upcoming expirations

11· of the PTC's, is that a factor, perhaps, that is

12· driving the significant surge that PacifiCorp

13· Transmission is seeing with its interconnection

14· requests?

15· · · ·A.· · Yes.· Actually, that's a phenomena that we

16· see every year that we get close to, you know, that

17· date.· And it has happened in various times in past

18· history.· And when that -- you know, we start getting

19· close to that date, we see an uptick.

20· · · ·Q.· · Does PacifiCorp Transmission have control

21· over the number and the size of interconnection

22· requests it receives?

23· · · ·A.· · No.

24· · · ·Q.· · You were also asked about whether you

25· understood that as regulators these delays that are
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·1· caused by the significant number and the volume of

·2· requests that PacifiCorp Transmission is getting

·3· could potentially be harmful to customers.

·4· · · · · · ·Is it your understanding that as a

·5· regulator also running through these applications

·6· without the sequential process that is used by

·7· PacifiCorp and without following Schedule 38 could

·8· also potentially be harmful to customers?

·9· · · ·A.· · Yes.· By not following our process, if we

10· were to pull a customer out of that process and study

11· them outside the process, then that would harm

12· everybody with a higher-queued project.· Or I should

13· say has the potential to.

14· · · ·Q.· · Is Clenera the -- to your knowledge, the

15· only QF that is experiencing these conditions in the

16· current environment of ever increasing requests as a

17· result of the PTC's expirations?

18· · · ·A.· · No.· I would say that that's -- that's an

19· issue with every applicant in the queue.· It's not

20· specific to QF's or for jurisdictional, it's the

21· timeline in the queue today, and it impacts everybody

22· in the queue.

23· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· I have no further questions,

24· thank you.

25· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Your Honor, can I be
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·1· permitted just a couple quick follow-ups to that?

·2· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Of course.

·3· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

·4· BY MR. BARKLEY:

·5· · · ·Q.· · I want to talk specifically about your

·6· statement that utility, by which I assume you mean

·7· Pac Tran, has no control over the number of

·8· applications.

·9· · · · · · ·In looking at your chart, what was the

10· date, by the way, of this data?

11· · · ·A.· · Yesterday.

12· · · ·Q.· · Yesterday.· Okay.

13· · · · · · ·Has Rocky Mountain Power recently issued

14· an RFP for proposed projects?

15· · · ·A.· · Yes.· I believe they have actually issued

16· two.

17· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· And so that is an invitation for

18· people to propose new projects that will have to be

19· studied, correct?

20· · · ·A.· · I'm not privy to the details of the RFP.

21· But I believe it's my understanding that a developer

22· has to be in the queue before they can submit a

23· project in the RFP.

24· · · ·Q.· · So if I want to submit -- if I want to

25· respond to the RFP, I've got to get in the queue
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·1· before I can do so?

·2· · · ·A.· · I believe that's correct, although maybe

·3· Mark has a different take on that.

·4· · · ·Q.· · You also said that it was your

·5· understanding that the OATT allows for reasonable

·6· delays due to spikes in applications.· Are you able

·7· here today to point us to the language in that OATT

·8· or that general area where we would find that?

·9· · · ·A.· · You pointed it out earlier when you quoted

10· the 45 days.· It says, reasonable effort.

11· · · ·Q.· · Okay.· Perfect.

12· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Thank you.· That's all I

13· have.

14· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.· And

15· just a couple questions from me, Mr. Fritz.

16· · · · · · ·I believe you testified earlier that your

17· understanding is that the OATT allows Pac Trans

18· discretion as to whether to employ what we have

19· referred to today as a serial method or a cluster

20· method; is that right?

21· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Correct.

22· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Whichever

23· option Pac Trans selects, whether cluster or serial,

24· does the OATT require to apply that -- require Pac

25· Trans to apply that method to all applicants?
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·1· · · ·A.· · I would say that the tariff is not clear

·2· on that.· The tariff allows you to use either

·3· process.· I don't believe it's clear on exactly how

·4· you apply the process and if you can split it up.

·5· · · ·Q.· · So you don't know the answer to the

·6· question as to whether if this Commission issued an

·7· order finding that Pac Trans ought to use the cluster

·8· method, that Pac Trans would be in violation of its

·9· OATT if it did employ that method in FERC

10· jurisdictional applications?

11· · · ·A.· · I don't think I have an answer to that.

12· We're allowed to use cluster studies, per the tariff.

13· So I don't think I can answer that if we were

14· directed.

15· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· No, that's

16· fine.· I don't know is a perfectly acceptable answer.

17· I'm just wondering.

18· · · · · · ·Have you testified in other administrative

19· proceedings, whether before a state commission or

20· before FERC that related to Pac Trans's processing of

21· interconnection applications or the studies related

22· to them, and specifically the timeliness of that

23· processing?

24· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· No.

25· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I have nothing
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·1· else.· Thank you.

·2· · · · · · ·Ms. Hogle.

·3· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· The Company rests its case.

·4· Thank you.

·5· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

·6· · · · · · ·It has been -- well, I was going to point

·7· out it's been a little over two hours and if the

·8· parties might desire a break.· But it looked as

·9· though Mr. Barkley wanted to say something.

10· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I wanted to be sure that

11· whoever gets my certificate of good standing gets it,

12· it's looks really pretty.· But other than that, we're

13· fine.

14· · · · · · ·RESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I assume

15· Mr. Jetter wants to put on some evidence; is that

16· right?

17· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· Yes.

18· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Would the

19· parties like to take a break or press on?

20· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I'm fine with pressing on.

21· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· I need a break.

22· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· We're going to

23· request for a break.· We'll be back at 11:20, 10

24· minutes.· We're in recess.· Thank you.

25· · · · · · · ·(Whereupon, a recess was taken at
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·1· · · · · · · ·11:07 a.m. to 11:21 a.m.)

·2· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Let's go back

·3· on the record, please.

·4· · · · · · ·Mr. Jetter.

·5· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· Thank you.· The Division

·6· would like to call Charles Peterson.

·7· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Mr. Peterson,

·8· do you swear to tell the truth?

·9· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.

10· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you.

11· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

12· BY MR. JETTER:

13· · · ·Q.· · Mr. Peterson, would you please state your

14· name and occupation for the record.

15· · · ·A.· · Charles E. Peterson.· Spelled with an

16· S-O-N.

17· · · ·Q.· · Thank you.

18· · · ·A.· · And my occupation, I'm sorry.· I'm a

19· utility technical consultant with the Division of

20· Public Utilities.

21· · · ·Q.· · Thank you.

22· · · · · · ·And in the course of your employment, did

23· you have the opportunity to review the filings in

24· this docket?

25· · · ·A.· · Yes.
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·1· · · ·Q.· · And did you create and cause to be filed

·2· with the Commission an action request response dated

·3· October 23rd, 2017?

·4· · · ·A.· · Yes.

·5· · · ·Q.· · Do you have any corrections or changes

·6· that you would like to make to anything you have put

·7· in that?

·8· · · ·A.· · None that I'm aware of.

·9· · · ·Q.· · And rather than going through all of that

10· today, would you be -- would you adopt that as your

11· testimony?

12· · · ·A.· · Yes.

13· · · ·Q.· · Thank you.

14· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· I guess I would like to move

15· at this point to enter the action request response of

16· October 23rd, 2017, into the record.

17· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· It's admitted.

18· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· Thank you.

19· · · ·Q.· · BY MR. JETTER:· Just a couple of brief

20· maybe follow-up questions from things that have been

21· discussed this morning.· Would you tell me your

22· thoughts on the use of the -- I'm not remembering the

23· correct term.· The group-study method rather than

24· sequential method.

25· · · · · · ·Do you think that -- to be more specific,
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·1· do you think a wholesale switch to that type of

·2· method would be possibly more appropriate after a

·3· broader docket to evaluate whether that's the

·4· appropriate method for the Commission to order?

·5· · · ·A.· · I think in a regulatory process that would

·6· be the proper procedure, to have a separate docket

·7· that would study the pros and cons of each method and

·8· allow different parties to weigh in from an

·9· engineering standpoint or technical standpoint, as

10· opposed to someone like me, an economist, to opine

11· about.

12· · · ·Q.· · Thank you.

13· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· I have no further questions

14· with that.· Mr. Peterson is available for cross from

15· the parties or the Commission.

16· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Mr. Barkley?

17· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I have no questions.· Thank

18· you, Mr. Peterson.

19· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Ms. Hogle?

20· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· I have no questions.· Thank

21· you.

22· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I suppose -- I

23· just have one.

24· · · · · · ·If you could summarize the Division's

25· recommendation as to what the Commission ought to do

http://www.litigationservices.com


Page 98
·1· with respect to any ordering issues in this

·2· proceeding, that would be helpful.

·3· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Well, I think the Division's

·4· position is outlined in the memorandum or action

·5· request response that we supplied.

·6· · · · · · ·But basically the Division believes that

·7· delays in the timeline created by the company, which

·8· would also include Pac Tran, are a basis for

·9· extending or suspending the timeline in a given

10· case-by-case situation.· It appears to me that

11· Clenera was operating under the assumption that

12· PacifiCorp was going to be able to function at or

13· near its tariff timelines when it began the process.

14· By the end of March it appears -- it appears that by

15· the end of March Clenera clearly understood that --

16· March of 2017, to be more clear -- the Company was

17· not going to be able to process its interconnection

18· requests for almost another year.

19· · · · · · ·The Division leaves open the question

20· whether the Company is acting reasonably in

21· processing its interconnection request.· But we know

22· that this has become a problem and was part of the

23· subject of a previous docket before the Commission.

24· · · · · · ·So the Division thinks it's reasonable,

25· believes it's reasonable, and recommends that the
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·1· Commission give essentially a day-by-day extension

·2· until such time as the Company provides an

·3· interconnection study to Clenera, at which time the

·4· clock could be restarted.

·5· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Perhaps I

·6· should have been more specific.

·7· · · · · · ·Does the Division also concur that the

·8· Commission should grant that day-per-day extension

·9· with respect to the commercial operation date?

10· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· No.· The Division does not

11· go that far.

12· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· All right.  I

13· have nothing else.· Thank you, Mr. Peterson.

14· · · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Thank you.

15· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· If any counsel

16· wishes to make any closing statement or argument, I'm

17· happy to hear it.

18· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Your Honor, if I could take

19· care of one housekeeping matter?

20· · · · · · ·I should probably offer Clenera's

21· Complaint as Exhibit 1 and their October 24th

22· response to the motion to dismiss as Exhibit 2.

23· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Hearing no

24· objection, they're admitted.

25· · · · · · ·Are you interested in making a closing
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·1· statement or argument?

·2· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· I'll make a very brief one,

·3· Your Honor.· And thank you the opportunity.

·4· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· I'm sorry,

·5· Mr. Peterson, you can take a seat.

·6· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Thank you, Mr. Peterson.

·7· · · · · · ·Clenera's position is they should not only

·8· be expected to be familiar with the utilities,

·9· procedures, and processes as they are laid out in the

10· company's tariffs, but they should also be able to

11· rely upon them.· The Company is way outside the

12· deadlines that are stated in those tariffs, and an

13· initial step, which was to take 45 days, is currently

14· taking, by anybody's reckoning, over 200, and we are

15· still months away from the projected target for that

16· initial step.· There are two steps after that

17· traditionally take 90 days, adding another 180 to

18· that.

19· · · · · · ·And the Company's feedback to Clenera on

20· the adequacy of the information provided has been

21· inconsistent.· As I think you noted, there have been

22· times that they had been told everything that they

23· needed to do, only to be told subsequently that,

24· well, it turns out that's not really not enough, we

25· need something else.
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·1· · · · · · ·Certainly the Company is allowed delay,

·2· but it is required to make reasonable efforts.· And I

·3· think as we listened to the testimony today, it's

·4· pretty clear that there have not been reasonable

·5· efforts.

·6· · · · · · ·In fact, the testimony today from company

·7· witnesses was that they can anticipate spikes any

·8· time the PTC is up for renewal.· So this was, by

·9· their testimony, something they could have

10· anticipated.· The testimony was that they have no

11· control over applications, but in fact, they issue --

12· they and their affiliates issue RFP's that do, in

13· fact, have an impact on the level of applications,

14· and they should have some insight to when and how

15· that's going to happen.

16· · · · · · ·And, lastly, I just say that the extension

17· of the operational date deadline is critical.· There

18· is a limit on how far out an applicant is allowed to

19· push that deadline or that operational date in their

20· initial application.· And given that limitation at

21· the outside, if the Company is allowed to delay its

22· studies this long, they have the -- they have the

23· ability to effectively kill a project.· And

24· developers should not be in a position where they're

25· caught in that pincher.
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·1· · · · · · ·But they need to request PPAs early enough

·2· that they can get through the negotiation and get it

·3· executed in time to then meet their operation date,

·4· because if the operation date comes more than three

·5· months too early, they could be kicked out of the

·6· queue and lose their pricing.

·7· · · · · · ·On the other hand, if they're subject to

·8· these kind of delays, they get pinched in the other

·9· direction.· So they're put in something of an

10· untenable position.

11· · · · · · ·I think, as Mr. Ellsworth indicated, I

12· think the Company would be open to some sort of

13· modification, if it involves redoing the study for

14· year 2016.· I think, frankly, if it involved

15· shortening the term of the PPA by -- by a year in

16· order to account for those delays, those are all

17· things that they would be open to and that would

18· leave consumers, frankly, in no worse position than

19· they would have been in, but preserves the investment

20· decisions that were reasonably made by Clenera.

21· · · · · · ·Thank you, Your Honor, for your time.

22· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Thank you, sir.

23· · · · · · ·Ms. Hogle.

24· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Thank you, Your Honor.

25· · · · · · ·Rocky Mountain Power, PacifiCorp, its goal
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·1· is not to kill any projects.· It has nothing against

·2· Clenera's QF's.· However, I do think that the

·3· evidence today has shown, contrary to what has been

·4· testified by Clenera and its witnesses, that Rocky

·5· Mountain Power is facing an unprecedented --

·6· unprecedented number of interconnection requests.

·7· One of the factors that is driving that is the PTC

·8· expiration, upcoming expiration.

·9· · · · · · ·Unfortunately, the decision of Clenera to

10· reach out to PacifiCorp merchant, or our commercial

11· unit, to seek indicative pricing before going to

12· PacifiCorp's transmission unit to familiarize itself

13· and educate itself about the transmission queue and

14· transmission process at that time, I think is the

15· reason why we are here.

16· · · · · · ·I think a couple of key points that need

17· to be made again here, and that is that the QF

18· pricing queue is managed by PacifiCorp's commercial

19· unit merchant.· It's independent and separate from

20· the interconnection transmission queue and service

21· maintained by PacifiCorp's transmission unit in

22· accordance with the OATT, which has been generally

23· adopted by this Commission.

24· · · · · · ·The interconnection queue-in process and

25· critical and lengthy and should be well underway
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·1· before seeking indicative pricing and the power

·2· purchase agreement with PacifiCorp's commercial unit.

·3· That is one of the very first things that is included

·4· in Schedule 38, Paragraph 3, under the preface

·5· section.· Developers are strongly encouraged to gain

·6· a clear understanding of that process before reaching

·7· out to PacifiCorp's commercial unit for indicative

·8· pricing.· That did not happen in this case.

·9· · · · · · ·This is particularly important in the

10· situation that we're in currently with the

11· significant surge in applications that we have been

12· seeing, Your Honor.· Again, the company has nothing

13· against Clenera.

14· · · · · · ·If the Commission, in its discretion,

15· believes that extenuating circumstances exist for it

16· to allow Clenera to stay in the queue, PacifiCorp is

17· ready to accept that.· However, we also want to

18· remind the Commission and for it be to be mindful

19· that there are situations that this is not a unique

20· situation.· This -- this situation is similar for

21· QF's.· Other QF's are facing similar situations.

22· · · · · · ·And so whatever decision it makes in this

23· particular case, although would not apply to other

24· QF's, it certainly informs the company and the way

25· that it handles future QF's.
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·1· · · · · · ·And the decision that the Commission makes

·2· will affect its customers, will affect PacifiCorp's

·3· customers, retail customers in particular.

·4· · · · · · ·There was also some discussion about the

·5· cluster process, using the cluster process, as

·6· opposed to the current process that PacifiCorp has

·7· been using.· And I believe that Your even Honor asked

·8· a question regarding that.

·9· · · · · · ·I guess in closing, PacifiCorp I would

10· submit to you that that is not a decision that can be

11· made independent in a vacuum from the processes that

12· are used by PacifiCorp.· I believe that's even going

13· into FERC jurisdictional law.· That has to be

14· studied.· It will impact the reliability of the

15· system.

16· · · · · · ·PacifiCorp has been using its current

17· method for a long time, and something of that, a

18· decision to use the cluster method, requires that

19· issue to be taken, in PacifiCorp's mind or

20· PacifiCorp's position, that that is something that

21· needs to be taken up in a broader scale and studied

22· so that there are no unintended consequences.

23· · · · · · ·Thank you.

24· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· Of course.

25· · · · · · ·I'll iterate to clarify and perhaps
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·1· alleviate any anxiety.· My question wasn't intended

·2· to suggest that this would be an appropriate

·3· proceeding in which to make such an order.· I'm

·4· wondering if even basing a finding in this case that

·5· assumes such an order would be appropriate in the

·6· future would -- would be a legitimate basis for a

·7· finding in this case.

·8· · · · · · ·In other words, we have heard testimony

·9· that the cluster method would be more efficient, but

10· if that's not an option for this Commission to order

11· at any time in the future, then it's difficult for me

12· to understand how it would be relevant to consider in

13· this case.

14· · · · · · ·Mr. Jetter.

15· · · · · · ·MR. JETTER:· Thank you.· I'll keep our

16· comments brief.

17· · · · · · ·I wanted to clarify a few things that --

18· particularly about the Division's position on the

19· delay of the on-line commercial on-line date.

20· · · · · · ·The Division has fairly consistently

21· throughout the history of the QF process, and we've

22· gone through a number of dockets to hopefully fix

23· some problems in the pricing, and we've been often

24· concerned about scale pricing and on-line dates that

25· are far off into the future would result in putting
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·1· customers at risk in those scenarios.

·2· · · · · · ·In this case the Division is not

·3· recommending a day-per-day extension of the

·4· commercial on-line date, but I wanted to clarify that

·5· the Division is not opposed to some deviation of the

·6· commercial on-line date.· I think, at least at this

·7· point, we're not sure how much additional time or if

·8· additional time is actually necessary, depending on

·9· how the next set of studies go and how this project

10· goes through the PPA negotiation process and what

11· comes forth after this.

12· · · · · · ·And so I suppose our recommendation might

13· be something along the lines of that we wouldn't

14· oppose an extension or the possibility of an

15· extension to be determined.· What we would be

16· concerned about is the potential for a day-per-day

17· extension that ends up extending that commercial

18· on-line date six months past where it needed to be to

19· have the completed project done and on-line.· And so

20· ultimately our goal would be if these go forward that

21· we match the commercial on-line date as nearly as

22· practically possible with the dates that the

23· avoided-cost calculation were performed.

24· · · · · · ·I hope that gives a little bit of clarity

25· to where our opinions or our recommendations would be
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·1· on that.

·2· · · · · · ·And I think we have covered most of the

·3· other comments from the Division and the comments by

·4· Mr. Peterson.· So I think that would wrap up my

·5· closing statement.

·6· · · · · · ·PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:· All right.  I

·7· thank the parties for their participation.· Happy

·8· holidays.

·9· · · · · · ·MR. BARKLEY:· Thank you, Your Honor.

10· · · · · · ·MS. HOGLE:· Thank you.

11· · · · · · · ·(Whereupon, Clenera Exhibits 1

12· · · · · · · ·and 2 were marked for

13· · · · · · · ·identification.)

14· · · · · · · ·(Thereupon, the proceedings

15· · · · · · · ·concluded at 11:44 a.m.)
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Clenera Exhibit 1


September 22, 2017


From: 1.21 GW LLC
c/o Clenera, LLC 


800 W. Main St. 
Suite 900
Boise, ID 83702


To: Public Service Commission of Utah 
Herber M. Wells Building, 4th Floor 


160 East 300 South 
Salt Lake City, UT 84114


Attention: Gary Widerburg
Commission Secretary


RE: Notice and Request for Extension of Deadlines Related to Schedule 38, Removal from QF 
Pricing Queue due to delays by Company. Sections I.B.5.(f), I.B.9, and I.B.10.


Clenera, LLC ("Clinera"), in its capacity as manager of 1.21 GW LLC {“Developer"), seeks an extension of 
deadlines under the tariff of PacifiCorp, d.b.a. Rocky Mountain Power (MPaclfiCorpM or the “Company"), 
Electric Service Schedule 38, Qualifying Facility Procedures, Section III (P.S.C.U. No. 50, effective August 8, 
2015) ["Schedule 38").


Developer, on behalf of its investors, is developing the Faraday and Goshen Valley solar PV projects in 
Utah and has initiated the Qualifying Facility Procedures with the Company pursuant to Schedule 38. 


Developer hereby requests from the Public Service Commission of Utah [“Commission") an extension of 
two deadlines related to the requirement for parties to execute timely a power purchase agreement 
("PPA") unless a delay caused by the Company has occurred.


Schedule 38 limits the timeline to^xecute a PPA. Section I.B.9 states that if Company and Developer have 
not executed a PPA within six (6) months after the Company has provided indicative pricing to Developer, 


then the indicative pricing previously provided shall be recalculated by the Company, but without a 
change in Developer's pricing queue priority, and except to the extent delays are caused by Company 
actions or inactions (the “Indicative Pricing Deadline"). Company provided indicative pricing to Developer 


on January 17, 2017.


Further, pursuant to Schedule 38, Section I.B. 10(e), if the Company and Developer have not executed a 
PPA within five (5) months after the Company has provided a proposed PPA to Developer, then the 
Company shall remove Developer's projects from the pricing queue and invalidate any associated 
indicative prices, except to the extent delays are caused by Company actions or Inactions (the "Pricing 
Queue Deadline"). Company has never provided Developer with a proposed PPA, despite a March 31, 
2017, request from Developer that Company do so.


Still, Schedule 38 allows for an extension of the timeline in the case of Company delays and extenuating 
circumstances. Preface Paragraph 4 provides:


QF Developer deadlines will be extended to reflect Company delays 
beyond Company deadlines specified herein. Under extenuating







circumstances, the Company ora QF Developer may request an extension 
of any deadlines from the Commission.


In the case of Developer's Faraday and Goshen Valley projects, a delay by the Company has occurred due 
to i) Company's unusual delay in completing necessary interconnection studies, and ii) Company's refusal 
to provide a proposed PPA due to its delays in interconnection studies. Developer is requesting an 
extension of the Indicative Pricing Deadline and the Pricing Queue Deadline. The Company has not 


provided a proposed PPA, making it impossible for Developer to review, negotiate, and execute a PPA 
within six (6) months of receiving indicative pricing in January 2017 (to meet the Indicative Pricing 
Deadline) or within five (5) months of receiving proposed PPAs (to meet the Pricing Queue Deadline).


On March 13, 2017, Developer made a timely request for a proposed PPA. On March 21, 2017, the 
Company responded, "We have reviewed your request for a proposed PPA and we find it to be complete." 
Nevertheless, nearly a month later on April 18,2017, the Company requested an additional update on the 
interconnection studies for Developer's projects, asserting a need "to see at least one of the study results 
prior to issuing a proposed PPA so we can have some idea of the feasibility of the proposed COD." After 
further discussion, PacifiCorp indicated they were unable to provide any PPA opining that Developer has 


not met the requirements of Schedule 38, Section I.B.5(f) by not providing the interconnection study 
results:


If a QF Developer desires to proceed forward with the project it must, 
within sixty (60) days of its receipt of indicative pricing, request that the 
Company prepare and submit for the Developer's review a proposed 
power purchase agreement. ... In connection with its request for a 
power purchase agreement, the Developer must provide the Company 
with the following additional project information:... (f) evidence that 
any necessary interconnection studies are underway and that the 
necessary interconnection arrangements can timely be completed in 
accordance with Part II sufficient for the project to reach energization by 
the proposed on-line date;-----


At the outset of work on the Faraday and Goshen Valley projects, Developer was concerned about the 
possibility of delays associated with interconnection studies within the state of Utah. Accordingly, prior 
to submitting an application for interconnection, Developer consulted PacifiCorp on anticipated timelines 
given the geographic location and voltage level for Developer's projects. PacifiCorp indicated that the 
interconnection studies for Developer's projects would be handled by a different group within the 
Company and PacifiCorp's standard timeline of 45 days would be achievable. Developer applied for 
interconnection based on the information provided by the Company. After the 45-day study period, 
Developer requested an update on timing for the study and was told that the Company was now handling 
the interconnection study for the projects differently and that the timeline would be extended beyond 
what was originally communicated. The study has been underway for approximately 284 days and 
PacifiCorp most recently communicated that the estimated delivery of the Initial study will be a total of 
approximately 450 days from the date of application.


Given the long delays now anticipated in the Company's interconnection study timeline, Developer 
consulted the third party that engineered and constructed the transmission line to which the projects 
Interconnect. The third party provided an analysis and timeline indicating that Developer's projects could







achieve their proposed on-line date. Setting aside that the Company had already deemed Developer's 
PPA request complete, this new information satisfied the remaining requirement (if any existed) of 
Section I.B.5.(f).


In May 2017, PacifiCorp and Developer met to discuss the Company's delays in completing the 
interconnection studies and in providing the requested proposed PPAs. In that meeting, PacifiCorp 


outlined their decision and internal agreement that a delay by PacifiCorp transmission is a delay by 


the Company and that the pricing Developer received in January 2017 would remain valid until the 


Company completed its studies, at which point the Schedule 38 procedures would continue on a day- 


for-day extension based on the interconnection study delay beyond 45 days. Developer agrees with 


PacifiCorp's approach and supports this solution.


However, approximately two weeks after the meeting and discussion of PacifiCorp's proposed 


solution, Developer received the following communication from PacifiCorp:


"...after further tariff review and discussions with the staff of both the 


Division of Public Utilities and the Office of Consumer Services, the 


position of Rocky Mountain Power is that delays caused by PacifiCorp 


Transmission are not contemplated as RMP delays and should not 


extend the timelines in the Schedule 38 tariff."


Based on this notification, PacifiCorp is no longer willing to stand by its prior position due to the 


opinion of the two listed state agencies. PacifiCorp's position—that the two state agencies are 


opposed to the extension of the Schedule 38 deadlines due to the delay in the interconnection study 


timeline—was also communicated in a subsequent in-person meeting between Developer and 


PacifiCorp.


Developer has consulted with both state agencies described above and neither opposes an extension 


of the Schedule 38 timelines due to these circumstances. Therefore, Developer hereby petitions the 


Commission to approve an extension of the Schedule 38 timelines on a day-for-day basis until the 


Company completes the interconnection studies.


Respectfully submitted,


Clenera, LLC, on behalf of


1.21 GW LLC








Clenera Exhibit 2


October 24, 2017


From: 1.21 GW LLC
c/o Clenera, LLC 


800 W. Main St. 
Suite 900
Boise, ID 83702


To: Public Service Commission of Utah 
Herber M. Wells Building, 4th Floor 


160 East 300 South 
Salt Lake City, UT 84114


Attention: Gary Widerburg
Commission Secretary


RE: UT PSC Docket ft 17-035-52. Clenera Response to PacifiCorp Motion to Dismiss


Clenera, LLC ("Clenera"), in its capacity as manager of 1.21 GW LLC ("Developer"), has reviewed the 


Motion to Dismiss filed on October 23, 2017 by PacifiCorp, d.b.a. Rocky Mountain Power ("PacifiCorp" or 


the "Company") in the above referenced docket.


1. PacifiCorp's Motion to Dismiss was submitted after the Division of Public Utilities ("DPU") 


submitted their recommendation to the Commission that the delay experienced by Clenera in the 


interconnection process is a delay by PacifiCorp and therefore they support a day for day extension 


of the Schedule 38 timelines. Based on PacifiCorp's previous communication by email and reinforced 


on phone calls and in meetings with Clenera, PacifiCorp clearly supported the extension based on the 


Company's delay and the guidelines under Schedule 38. PacifiCorp gives no reason for their last- 


minute change in position. It might be inferred that the Company has been disingenuous in their 


communication and all the while intended to delay or dismiss these projects for reasons only known 


to PacifiCorp. We believe that the Company holds a position of authority and trust as provided by 


regulation and law, and as such should be held to a high standard. It does not seem appropriate for 


the Company to mislead generators, the public, or regulators with respect to its actions and 


intentions. Such behavior results in significant economic harm to stakeholders, including rate payers, 


and erodes the trust and principles of fair dealing underpinning the successful operation of a 


regulated utility. We respectfully request that the Commission discourage this behavior, real or







perceived, by denying PacifiCorp's Motion to Dismiss and taking such actions as were recommended 


by the DPU after due inquiry into the matter.


2. As a basis for their Motion, PacifiCorp claims that the interconnection process has been 


delayed due to a large number of requests submitted, not its own action or inaction. The company 


asserts that delays are due to a rise in applications but does not provide any supporting data. A 


simple analysis of the publicly available information on interconnection applications available on 


PacifiCorp's OASIS tells a very different story. Below are two figures showing the number of 


applications submitted historically to PacifiCorp in all states and in Utah specifically.


Number of Interconnection Requests 
All PacifiCorp territory


Number of Interconnection Requests 
Utah only


140


120


100


80







Contrary to PacifiCorp's claims, the number of applications in Utah has followed a downward trend 


in recent years, dropping from 73 in 2013 to 53 in 2016, and 22 so far in 2017. During the same 


timeframe the number of total applications for all states has increased from 92 in 2013 to 


approximately 120 in both 2016 and 2017, hardly a massive increase and representing only a 32% 


rise. Nov;, four years into a rising period of total applications and a falling period for Utah 


applications, PacifiCorp has extended study timelines far beyond the 32% increase seen across all 


states since 2013 to something greater than 1,000% of the tariff requirements (from 45 days as per 


the tariff requirements to greater than 500 days). It is very difficult to imagine what kind of diligent 


management effort would result in these types of delays other than an effort to slow the process and 


starve the related Company teams of resources necessary to accomplish the Company's obligations 


under the Tariff. The Company's rational for dismissing the motion is factually incorrect and most 


likely reflects a broader effort to slow and cease efforts by generators to interconnect through 


PacifiCorp. We respectfully request that the Commission discourage this kind of deleterious behavior 


by denying PacifiCorp's Motion to Dismiss and taking such actions as were recommended by the DPU 


after due inquiry into the matter.


3. It is important to note that the economic impact on the company due to an increase in 


applications and study activity is born by the applicants. Study expenses are paid fully by the 


applicants. There is no economic excuse for delay in the study process, and no excuse at all beyond 


the few months that would be required to hire, train or outsource as necessary. PacifiCorp is fully 


responsible for the study process and management of its duties in respect to that process. While 


minor delays to the study times might be excusable as the Company adjusts to changes, processing 


times that are greater than 1,000% the established timeline are not defensible. The Company has 


had ample opportunity since 2013 to adjust their process, add resources, or outsource activities but 


has not made the necessary changes. In all cases the responsibility for these delays lies with 


PacifiCorp. Only the Company is in a position to hire, outsource, change processes or otherwise 


effectively manage their responsibilities to meet the requirements of the tariff. Their behavior in this 


respect has been irresponsible and has likely caused significant economic harm to all stakeholders, 


particularly generators relying on the tariff guidelines and the fair dealing of the Company. It is 


difficult to perfectly determine why the Company has elected not to act in good faith with respect to 


its duties but it appears that, given their changing position on this subject, the Company may intend







to delay and slow the study process by refusing to add resources or adjust the process to 


accommodate the flow of applications since 2013. We request that the Commission deny PacifiCorp's 


Motion to Dismiss and further ask that the Commission consider a separate inquiry be initiated with 


respect to PacifiCorp's business practices as it relates to completing studies in a timeline that reflects 


prudent industry standards. On a side note, neighboring utilities have successfully adjusted their 


staffing and processes to address far more significant application increases and engaged in 


stakeholder processes that are transparent and respectful of the various interests in the transaction. 


PacifiCorp has not.


4. In PacifiCorp's Motion to Dismiss the company criticizes Genera's development processes, 


making inaccurate statements and assumptions regarding what information and analysis Clenera had 


available to inform risk evaluation and development decisions. Their comments are misplaced and, 


like other elements of the Motion to Dismiss, last-minute and inaccurate insertions into the dialogue. 


Clenera is an experienced and successful utility-scale solar developer, who has already successfully 


navigated the PacifiCorp system on an 80MW AC project it built in Southern Utah in 2016 (not to 


mention many other projects outside of Utah). Clenera is aware of the project development 


requirements and independently investigated the land and geography, interconnection 


infrastructure, solar resource, project schedule, economic model, and technical viability of the 


projects in advance of submitting any request for pricing or interconnection to PacifiCorp. More 


importantly, Clenera has also been careful to follow the published process under Schedule 38 and 


abide by those guidelines. The DPU confirmed in their review of the facts and circumstances that 


Clenera followed the Schedule 38 process. The Company's comments regarding the Clenera 


development process are both inaccurate and immaterial. We respectfully request that the 


Commission look past the distraction intended by the Company regarding process and development 


decisions by quickly denying PacifiCorp's Motion to Dismiss and taking such actions as were 


recommended by the DPU after due inquiry into the matter.


PacifiCorp's Motion to Dismiss provides further reason for the Commission to implement the 


recommendations of the DPU. The contention that its delay is due to increased applications is not 


fact based and cannot be reasonably supported. The Company's criticisms of Clenera are meant to 


distract from the real issues. Taken together, the messages imbedded in PacifiCorp’s Motion to 


Dismiss reveal an effort to mislead, delay and distract. We suggest that the Commission conduct







additional inquiry into the Company's plans to address deficiencies in its staffing and management of 


the transmission study group and process, and hope that the Company will make efforts to be more 


transparent and truthful in its future communication.


Clenera is highly encouraged by the work and recommendations of the DPU and the transparent 


process being followed by the Commission. The projects under development are expected to lower 


costs for ratepayers and provide clean energy benefits that improve the quality of life in Utah. As a 


company local to the intermountain west with a commitment to Utah we are each personally 


invested in these projects. We are also excited about the related job creation and are cooperating 


with economic development groups within the state to assist in using these projects to attract 


business and manufacturing from out of state that is looking for locations to invest where green- 


energy is available to power new operations. Ideally the Commission, local governments, PacifiCorp, 


Industry, and Clenera can cooperate to make these projects a huge success for all and a working 


example showcasing Utah successes when the Solar Industry gathers to exhibit in Salt Lake City, Utah 


at the Solar Power International conference in 2019.


Based on these comments and evidence provided previously, Clenera respectfully requests that the 


Commission accept the recommendation of the DPU and extend the Schedule 38 timeline consistent 


with the delays by PacifiCorp.


Respectfully submitted,








ROCKY MOUNTAIN Daniel E. Solander 
Senior Attorney
1407 West North Temple, Suite 320 
Salt Lake City, UTH4II6 
HO1-220-4014 Office 
daniel.solanderittpacifteorp.com


October 23, 2017


VIA ELECTRONIC FILING


Public Service Commission of Utah 
Hebcr M. Wells Building, 4th floor 
160 East 300 South 
Salt Lake City, UT 84114


Attention: Gary Widerburg
Co mm issi on Secrcta ry


RE: In the Matter of Formal Complaint under Schedule 38, Jason Ellsworth/Clenera, LLC
against Rocky Mountain Power-Docket No. 17-035-52


Dear Mr. Widerburg:


Rocky Mountain Power (“Company”) hereby submits for filing its Response and Motion to 
Dismiss in the above referenced matter.


The Company respectfully requests that all formal correspondence and requests for additional 
information regarding this filing be addressed to the following:


By E-mail (preferred): datareqfr/paci (icorp.com
iana.sahaft/ pacificorn.com


By regular mail: Data Request Response Center 
PaciliCorp
825 NE Multnomah, Suite 2000 
Portland, OR 97232


Informal inquiries may be directed to Jana Saba at (801) 220-2823.


Sincerely,


Senior Attorney


Enclosure







Daniel E. Solander(l 1467)
Rocky Mountain Power 
1407 West North Temple, Suite 320 
Salt Lake City, Utah 84116 
Telephone: (801) 220-4014 
daniel.solandcrffllDacificorp.com


Attorney for Rocky Mountain Power


BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH


In the Matter of Formal Complaint under 
Schedule 38, Jason Ellsworth/Clenera, LLC 
against Rocky Mountain Power * I.


Docket No. 17-035-52


ROCKY MOUNTAIN POWER’S 
RESPONSE TO THE FORMAL 
COMPLAINT OF CLENERA, LLC AND 
MOTION TO DISMISS


Rocky Mountain Power, a division of PacifiCorp (the “Company”), under Utah Code Ann. 


§§ 630-4-204(1) and Utah Admin. Code R746-1-201 and 206, provides its Response and Motion 


to Dismiss to the Formal Complaint under Schedule 38 filed by Jason Ellsworth/Clenera, LLC 


(“Complaint”).


I. PRELIMINARY MATTERS


Communications regarding this docket should be addressed to:


By e-mail (preferred): datarequestfc/),pacilicorp.com
i an a. sabafflj pac i f i eorp. co m 
danicl.solanderfflipaeificorp.com


By mail: Data Request Response Center
Rocky Mountain Power
825 NE Multnomah St., Suite 800
Portland, OR 97232







Jana Saba
Rocky Mountain Power 
1407 West North Temple 
Salt Lake City, UT 84116 
Telephone: (801)220-2823


Daniel Solander 
Rocky Mountain Power 
1407 West North Temple 
Salt Lake City, UT 84116 
Telephone: (801) 220-4014


II. BACKGROUND


1. On September 22, 2017, Genera, LLC (“Genera”) filed a formal complaint in its 


capacity as manager of 1.21 gigawatt LLC seeking an extension of deadlines under Electric Service 


Schedule 38, Qualifying Facility Procedures. The complaint is specific to Genera’s fourteen 


80 megawatt solar projects proposed in Tooele and Utah counties, totaling over 1,100 megawatts 


(“MW”) of solar capacity.1 These 14 projects1 2 are proposed to share common points of 


interconnection and are each proposed to interconnect to the Company’s 345 kilovolt Mona 


Oquirrh transmission line.


2. In the complaint, Genera alleges that it is entitled to an extension of the “Indicative 


Pricing” and “Pricing Queue” deadlines provided in Part I.B.9 and Part LB. 10(e) of Schedule 38, 


respectively,3 for its Faraday and Goshen Valley projects due to delays caused by PacifiCorp. The


specific delays alleged by Genera are “i) Company’s unusual delay in completing necessary


1 These proposed projects are identified by Genera to the Company as Faraday Solar II, Faraday Solar IV, Faraday 
Solar VI. Faraday Solar VIII, Faraday Solar X, Faraday Solar XII, Faraday Solar XIV. Goshen Valley I, Goshen 
Valley II, Goshen Valley III, Goshen Valley IV, Goshen Valley V, Goshen Valley VI and Goshen Valley VII.


2 Importantly, to the Company's knowledge. Genera has not yet qualified its projects as qualifying facilities ("Ql s") 
by filing forms 556 for each facility with the Federal Energy Regulator)' Commission (“FERC”); thus, it appears that 
Clenera is attempting to benefit from the Schedule 38 process in this docket even though it is not yet a qualifying 
facility. See 148 FERC «j 61,146, Docket No. EL 14-56-000, Order Dismissing Petition for Enforcement of the Public 
Utility Regulatory Policies Act (August 29, 2014), where FERC ruled that an entity could not file a petition for 
enforcement with FERC without first obtaining QF status.


1 For convenience, the Company has adopted the terms used by Clenera in its Formal Complaint, at p. 1.
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interconnection studies, and ii) Company’s refusal to provide a proposed power purchase 


agreement (“PPA”) due to its delays in interconnection studies.”4


3. As explained in more detail below, the Company does not believe that Clencra is 


entitled to relief from cither the “Indicative Pricing Deadline” or “Pricing Queue Deadline.”


4. While the Company agrees that Schedule 38 recognizes that a qualifying facility 


(“QF”) developer may be entitled to relief from the deadlines stated in Schedule 38, such relief is 


contemplated for situations in which the Company is the sole cause of the delays. In these 


circumstances, the cause of the delays are not due to action or inaction of the Company, but rather 


due primarily to the extraordinary level of interconnection requests in Utah.


5. As the Company previously stated in Docket No. 17-035-13, PacifiCorp 


Transmission has experienced an unprecedented surge in interconnection applications, primarily 


from developers in Utah and Wyoming. From May 2016 to November 2, 2016 alone, before the 


receipt of initial (non-QF) interconnection applications from Genera,5 PacifiCorp Transmission 


received 31 requests for over 4,000 MW of proposed generation projects that all flow through the 


same portions of PacifiCorp’s transmission system and therefore must be included together during 


the analysis of the requests. PacifiCorp Transmission studies each individual project in the order 


in which it is received. System improvements are identified for each project and assumed to be 


completed as the next project in line is studied. This analysis takes significant time to perform due 


to the large number and magnitude of the requests. In addition, if any of the proposed projects is 


withdrawn, PacifiCorp Transmission must determine the impact of the withdrawal on all projects 


lower down the queue, which may require restudies of multiple projects. This has occurred several


4 Formal Complaint, p. 2.


* In January 2017, Genera informed PacifiCorp Transmission that it would revise its initial interconnection application 
to allow the projects to be studied as QFs. The first updated interconnection application was received January 17, 2017.
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times and has resulted in significant delays in providing studies for some customers, including 


Clenera.


6. Clenera’s projects are behind a significant number of interconnection requests that 


must be studied by PacifiCorp Transmission before Clenera’s request to ensure accurate results. 


PacifiCorp Transmission received the initial feasibility study agreement for the Faraday and 


Goshen Valley projects, associated deposit, and required technical specifications necessary to 


begin the initial feasibility study on March 9, 2017. As soon as delays in completion of the 


feasibility study were identified, PacifiCorp Transmission notified Clenera. PacifiCorp 


Transmission sent this notice March 21,2017, less than two weeks after PacifiCorp Transmission 


had the information from Clenera necessary to initiate the study. There is nothing in these facts 


that would appear to warrant providing the relief'afforded to QF developers under Schedule 38.


7. PacifiCorp Transmission has always been candid with Clenera about delays in 


completing the interconnection studies for these projects, and the Company disagrees that this 


delay (caused by circumstances outside the Company’s control) affords Clenera relief under the 


“extenuating circumstances” standards provided in Schedule 38. Paragraph 4 of the Preface to 


Schedule 38 provides continues:


The Company must use its reasonable commercial efforts to meet all 
Company deadlines specified herein, and shall attempt to make up any 
Company delays in meeting subsequent deadlines. QF developer deadlines 
will be extended to reflect Company delays beyond Company deadlines 
specified herein. Under extenuating circumstances, the Company or a QF 
developer may request an extension of any deadlines from the Commission. 
[Emphasis added|


8. In this situation, it is important to note that Clenera sought indicative pricing for its 


Faraday and Goshen Valley projects before submitting the QF interconnection requests with 


PacifiCorp Transmission. After receiving the indicative avoided cost pricing prepared by the
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Company, which is calculated based on, among other things, the proposed in-service date for the 


projects represented by the developer, Clencra promptly requested to begin negotiation of PPAs. 


This initial request to negotiate PPAs for the Faraday and Goshen Valley projects came before 


Clenera had received a single interconnection study from PacifiCorp Transmission indicating 


whether Genera's proposed in-service date was achievable. In fact, this request came just days 


after Clenera had provided the technical data to PacifiCorp Transmission that would allow it to 


even commence the initial interconnection studies (i.e., the feasibility study), and before Clenera 


had even taken the simple step of self-certifying its projects as QFs by filing FERC Form 556s for 


the projects.


9. The Schedule 38 Preface is clear that the interconnection process is both lengthy


and separate from the Schedule 38 timelines. Paragraph 3 of the Preface states:


The generation interconnection process is a critical and lengthy process that 
typically must be well underway before a power purchase agreement should 
be requested. QF Developers are strongly encouraged to gain a clear 
understanding of the transmission interconnection process and associated 
costs and timelines before requesting indicative pricing or a power purchase 
agreement under this schedule. [Emphasis added. |


10. The Company did not begin PPA negotiations because it was following the clear 


requirements of Schedule 38. In connection with a request to begin negotiating a PPA, the QF 


developer must submit a variety of information as detailed in subsections I.B.5(a)-(h). If this 


information is not timely provided by the QF developer, Section I.B.5 provides that “the project 


will be removed from the QF pricing queue and the indicative pricing will no longer be valid.” 


Among these requirements set forth in Schedule 38, Section 1.13.5(1) requires the QF developer to 


present “evidence that... the necessary interconnection arrangements can timely be completed ... 


sufficient for the project to reach energization by the proposed on-line date.” This is particularly 


important information in transmission-constrained areas. Below is the status of the interconnection
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arrangements for each of the Clenera projects, in comparison to the commercial operation dates 


proposed by Clenera that informed the indicative avoided cost pricing provided by the Company:


Clenera Project Status of Interconnection 
Arrangements


Proposed In-Service Date 
Provided by Clenera in QF 


Pricing Request


Faraday 11-XIV No Study Completed 1/1/2019


Goshen Valley I - VII No Study Completed 12/1/2019


11. The requirements and deadlines set forth in Schedule 38 are a means for the 


Company and the Public Service Commission of Utah (“Commission”) to ensure that that 


Company’s other retail customers do not bear the risks of an inappropriately calculated, fixed, 


long-term “avoided cost” PPA prices. Clenera, not the Company, elected to seek indicative 


avoided cost pricing for its Faraday and Goshen Valley QF projects before receiving an initial 


feasibility study (the first step in a multi-step process leading to a large generator interconnection 


agreement). By submitting its request for indicative avoided cost pricing before an initial study 


was completed, the Company is left developing an indicative avoided cost price that is calculated 


in part based solely on the representations of the QF developer regarding proposed commercial 


operation dates for its QF projects. While Schedule 38 allows Clenera to request indicative avoided 


cost pricing at that early phase in the development of its projects, Schedule 38 also includes 


deadlines, requirements, and disclaimers that are intended to ensure that the next phase 


(PPA negotiations) is limited to those projects that can demonstrate an ability to come on-line at 


the time the developer represented in its indicative pricing request.


12. Schedule 38 was administered exactly how it was intended. Clenera has not timely 


demonstrated that its Faraday and Goshen Valley projects can begin commercial operations within 


the timelines the developer provided to the Company that informed the indicative avoided cost
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pricing. The Company has done nothing in the processing of Clenera’s request that would warrant 


granting Clenera relief under Schedule 38. For those reasons, Genera’s Faraday and Goshen 


Valley projects have been removed from the avoided cost pricing queue.


13. The Company has not been the cause of the delays complained of by Clenera. 


Schedule 38 is clear that qualifying facilities developers must gain a clear understanding of the 


costs and timelines associated with the interconnection process before engaging in the negotiation 


of a PPA. Clenera failed to do this.


14. Because Genera has not met the requirements set forth in Schedule 38, Section 


I.B.5(f), requiring Clenera to present evidence that “the necessary interconnection arrangements 


can timely be completed in accordance with Part II sufficient for the project to reach energization 


by the proposed on-line date,” the Company (1) cannot begin negotiation of PPAs for its fourteen 


80 MW projects, and (2) must remove Genera’s Faraday and Goshen Valley projects from the 


pricing queue, consistent with Schedule 38.


111. CONCLUSION


Based on the foregoing, the Company respectfully requests that the Commission dismiss 


the Complaint.


Dated this 23rd day of October 2017.


Respectfully submitted


Attorney for Rocky Mountain Power


1







CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE


Docket No. 17-035-52


I hereby certify that on October 23, 2017, a true and correct copy of the foregoing was 
served by electronic mail to the following:


Utah Office of Consumer Services
mbeck@utah.uovMichele Beck


Division of Public Utilities
Erika Tedder


Assistant Attorney General
Patricia Schmid


Justin Jetter
Robert Moore
Steven Snarr


Clenera, LLC
Jason Ellsworth
Dustin Shively


Rocky Mountain Power
Jana Saba
Yvonne IIogle
Daniel E. Solander


Megan McKay
Eric I loljc


Autumn Braithwaite
Data Request Response Center


eledder@utah.gov


pschmid@amitali.gov 


iielter@agiitah.gov 
rm oo r e (a !a gutah.gov 
stevensnarr@auulah.gov


iason@clcnera.com
dustin.shivelv@clenera.com


iana.saba@pacificorp.com
vvonne.houle@nacilicorp.com
dan iel.solandcr@pacilicorp.com
i negan. nick av@pacilicorp.com


eric.holie@pacilicorp.com
an tumn.hrait I i wai t e@paci licorp.com
dataieciuest@nacilicorp.com


Jennifer An 
Supervisor,



mailto:mbeck@utah.uov

mailto:eledder@utah.gov

mailto:pschmid@amitali.gov

mailto:iielter@agiitah.gov

mailto:stevensnarr@auulah.gov

mailto:iason@clcnera.com

mailto:ustin.shivelv@clenera.com

mailto:iana.saba@pacificorp.com

mailto:e.houle@nacilicorp.com

mailto:r@pacilicorp.com

mailto:dataieciuest@nacilicorp.com






Summary of generation interconnection applications received by PacifiCorp


All PacifiCorp - Total Size of Applications Received (MW)


16,000


14.000


12.000 


10,000


8,000


6,000


4.000


2.000 


0
2010 2011


■ All PacifiCorp Sum of Size (MW)


7.000


6.000


5.000


4.000


3.000


2.000 


1,000


0


Utah - Total Size of Applications Received (MW)


EXHIBIT


J2


/






0001

 1       BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH

 2  _____________________________________________________

 3  In the Matter of the Application of Rocky Mountain

    Power for Approval of Rocky Mountain Power for

 4  Approval of Formal Complaint under Schedule 38,

    Clenera, LLC on behalf of 1.21 GW LLC against Rocky

 5  Mountain Power

    _____________________________________________________

 6

 7

                     HEARING PROCEEDINGS

 8

    _____________________________________________________

 9  DOCKET NO. 17-035-52

10  TAKEN AT:     Public Service Commission

                  160 East 300 South, Room 403

11                Salt Lake City, Utah

    DATE:         Thursday, December 21, 2017

12  TIME:         9:00 a.m.

    REPORTER:     Robert D. Stanley, R.P.R.

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25  JOB NO.: 436964

0002

 1                    APPEARANCES

 2  PRESIDING OFFICER:

      Michael Hammer

 3

 4  FOR THE DIVISION OF PUBLIC UTILITIES

      Justin Jetter

 5    ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

      160 East 300 South, Fifth Floor

 6    Salt Lake City, Utah 84114

 7

    FOR ROCKY MOUNTAIN POWER:

 8    Yvonne R. Hogle

      Rocky Mountain Power

 9    1407 West North Temple, Suite 320

      Salt Lake City, UT 84116

10

11  FOR THE COMPLAINANT:

      James H. Barkley

12    Baker Botts, LLP

      One Shell Plaza

13    910 Louisiana Street

      Houston, Texas  77002-4995

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

0003

 1                   INDEX OF EXAMINATION

 2  FOR THE COMPLAINANT:

 3  WITNESS                                         PAGE

 4  DUSTIN SHIVELY

    Examination by Mr. Barkley                       9

 5

    JASON ELLSWORTH

 6  Examination by Mr. Barkley                      19

    Examination by Ms. Hogle                        29

 7  Examination by Mr. Jetter                       39

    Examination by Mr. Barkley                      46

 8

    FOR ROCKY MOUNTAIN POWER:

 9

    MARK TOURANGEAU

10  Examination by Ms. Hogle                        51

    Examination by Mr. Barkley                      59

11  Examination by Mr. Jetter                       63

    Examination by Ms. Hogle                        66

12

    BRIAN FRITZ

13  Examination by Ms. Hogle                        68

    Examination by Mr. Barkley                      77

14  Examination by Mr. Jetter                       82

    Examination by Ms. Hogle                        89

15  Examination by Mr. Barkley                      92

16  FOR THE DIVISION OF PUBLIC UTILITIES:

17  CHARLES E. PETERSON

    Examination by Mr. Jetter                       96

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

0004

 1                     INDEX OF EXHIBITS

 2  EXHIBITS        DESCRIPTION                   MARKED

 3  FOR ROCKY MOUNTAIN POWER

 4    EXHIBIT 1   October 23, 2017 Daniel E.          53

                  Solander letter, with Rocky

 5                Mountain Power's Response to the

                  formal Complaint of Clenera,

 6                LLC, and motion to dismiss

                                                      71

 7    EXHIBIT 2   Summary of generation

                  interconnection applications

 8                received by PacifiCorp

 9

    EXHIBITS        DESCRIPTION                   MARKED

10

    FOR CLENERA, LLC

11

      EXHIBIT 1   September 22, 2017, RE: Notice     109

12                and Request for Extension of

                  Deadlines Related to Schedule

13                38, Removal from QF Pricing

                  Queue due to delays by Company.

14                Sections I.B.5(f), I.B.9, and

                  I.B.10

15

      EXHIBIT 2   October 24, 2017, RE:  UT PSC      109

16                Docket # 17-035-52, Clenera

                  Response to PacifiCorp Motion to

17                Dismiss

18

                        ---oooOooo---

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

0005

 1                  P R O C E E D I N G S

 2

 3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Going on the

 4  record, please.

 5             Good morning.  This is the time and place

 6  noticed for a hearing in the formal complaint under

 7  Schedule 38 of Clenera, LLC, on behalf 1.21 Gigawatt,

 8  LLC, against Rocky Mountain Power.  It's Docket

 9  No. 17-035-52.

10             My name is Michael Hammer and I am the

11  Commission's designated presiding officer.  Let's go

12  ahead and take appearances, please.  We'll begin with

13  Rocky Mountain Power.

14             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.  Good morning.  My name

15  is Yvonne Hogel.  Can you hear me?

16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I can.

17             THE CLERK:  You know what, Yvonne, we're

18  having issues with that mic.

19             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.  Is that better?

20             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Much.

21             MS. HOGLE:  Good morning.  I'm Yvonne

22  Hogle, and I'm here on behalf of Rocky Mountain

23  Power.  With me here today are Mr. Mark Tourangeau,

24  who is the director of Commercial Services.  And

25  Mr. Brian Fritz, who's the director of engineering.
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 1             On the phone I believe we have Mr. Rick

 2  Bail, who is president of -- excuse me, vice

 3  president of transmission, and Mr. Kris Bremer, who

 4  is manager of Generation Interconnection.  Thank you.

 5             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  And the

 6  Complainant.

 7             MS. HOGLE:  Jim Barkley, Baker Botts,

 8  representing Clenera Energy.  I have with me Jason

 9  Ellsworth and Justin Shively from the company.

10             I want to let you know that I am licensed

11  in Texas, not in Utah, but have with me the

12  certificates of good standing that are required to

13  allow me to be present today and represent my client.

14             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you,

15  Mr. Barkley.

16             MR. JETTER:  Good morning, I'm Justin

17  Jetter with the Utah Attorney General's Office, and

18  I'm here today representing the Utah Division of

19  Public Utilities.  And with me at counsel table is

20  Charles Peterson with the Division.

21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Are there any

22  preliminary matters before we begin?

23             MS. HOGLE:  Just one question.

24  Mr. Barkley, do you also have the admission pro hac

25  vice from the State of Utah to be here?
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 1             MR. BARKLEY:  The new rules do not require

 2  the admission of pro hac vice for out-of-state

 3  attorneys; they simply require that you present the

 4  Commission with a certificate of good standing from

 5  the State Bar.

 6             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

 7             MR. BARKLEY:  It is a new rule.  It's not

 8  even codified yet.  It became effective, I believe,

 9  in October.

10             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.

11             MR. BARKLEY:  You're welcome.

12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  With that we'll

13  go ahead and proceed.

14             Mr. Barkley, are you prepared to call a

15  witness?

16             MR. BARKLEY:  We are, Your Honor.  We

17  would be begin by calling Mr. Dustin Shively.

18             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  And does

19  counsel have any preferences whether witnesses take

20  the stand?  With this many it might be easier.

21             MR. BARKLEY:  I would be delighted for him

22  to take the stand.  Actually, I think it's probably

23  the simplest.

24             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Okay.  Please,

25  Mr. Shively.
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 1             Mr. Shively, do you swear to tell the

 2  truth?

 3             THE WITNESS:  Yes.

 4             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.  Go

 5  ahead, Mr. Barkley.

 6                        EXAMINATION

 7  BY MR. BARKLEY:

 8       Q.    Mr. Shively, by whom are you employed?

 9       A.    Is this on?  Clenera, LLC.

10       Q.    Okay.  And what are your job

11  responsibilities and your job title at Clenera?

12       A.    I am director of engineering, and I'm

13  responsible for all of the technical oversight for

14  our projects in development, construction, and

15  operations.

16       Q.    Okay.  And could you describe for the

17  Commission the projects that are at issue in this

18  case?

19       A.    The projects that are at issue in this

20  case are 1480 megawatt AC project that is located in

21  Utah County, solar PV projects.

22       Q.    And do the two -- do the two sets of

23  projects have names that are commonly used?

24       A.    Yes.  The Faraday -- there's a group of

25  seven called the Faraday projects, and the other
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 1  group are called the Goshen Valley projects.

 2       Q.    And when was the -- I would just like to

 3  walk through with you the timeline of events in the

 4  case.

 5             When was the first request from Clenera to

 6  PacifiCorp for indicative pricing for the Faraday

 7  projects?

 8       A.    The first request for the Faraday projects

 9  for indicative pricing was November 2nd, 2016.

10       Q.    And when was the first request for

11  indicative pricing for the Goshen projects?

12       A.    November 15th, 2016.

13       Q.    Were there any subsequent changes to those

14  requests?

15       A.    Yes.  We later -- in December we had -- we

16  had a larger batch of projects in the Faraday

17  projects that originally went in for pricing and we

18  withdrew seven of those because we had different

19  on-line dates, and we decided to not proceed with

20  those projects.  And on the Goshen Valley projects we

21  later changed the point of interconnection.  The site

22  remained the same, but there's multiple lines across

23  the property.  So we swapped from one line to the

24  other line and changed the points of interconnection.

25       Q.    Did the changes that you made in December
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 1  of 2016 affect the deadline for the indicative

 2  pricing on the Faraday projects?

 3       A.    Yes.  Those -- the original -- when we

 4  removed seven projects from the list, the other seven

 5  then were repriced, or sort of -- they maintained the

 6  queue position in the pricing queue, but the pricing

 7  was recalculated.

 8       Q.    Did it affect the indicative pricing

 9  request for the Goshen projects?

10       A.    No, those ones were still under the same

11  procedure.

12       Q.    When did you first receive indicative

13  pricing for the Goshen projects?

14       A.    The first -- and I believe we received the

15  first Goshen Valley pricing on December 22nd, 2016.

16       Q.    And when did you receive the first

17  indicative pricing for the Faraday projects?

18       A.    January 17th, 2017.

19       Q.    Were those the final indicative prices for

20  both the Faraday and the Goshen projects?

21       A.    For Faraday, yes.  For Goshen, no.

22  Because that change in the point of interconnection,

23  we received new pricing for Goshen later in 2017.

24       Q.    When did you make that change to the

25  interconnection point for Goshen?

0011

 1       A.    February 1st, 2017.

 2       Q.    And how did that affect the timing on new

 3  indicative pricing for Goshen?

 4       A.    That reset the 30-day clock for PacifiCorp

 5  to provide the pricing.

 6       Q.    And did PacifiCorp indicate to you when

 7  you were likely to receive that indicative pricing?

 8       A.    They did.  Just a correction.  After

 9  the -- or clarification, after the change in

10  interconnection?

11       Q.    I'm sorry, after the change in

12  interconnect, yes.

13       A.    That would be delivered to us in -- I mean

14  within the 30-day period in early March.

15       Q.    When did you receive the revised

16  indicative pricing for Goshen?

17       A.    On March 16th.

18       Q.    Have you had an opportunity to review the

19  October 23rd response and motion to dismiss that was

20  filed by PacifiCorp?

21       A.    Yes.

22       Q.    And have you had a chance to review the

23  October 23rd response that was filed by the

24  Department of Public Utilities?

25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    In the response filed -- or the response

 2  from the Department of Public Utilities on Page 3,

 3  there is a discussion of some of these dates involved

 4  with indicative pricing.

 5             Do you find the dates in that discussion

 6  to be accurate?

 7       A.    Yes.  A lot of the discrepancies, as far

 8  as we're talking one day here or a few days there,

 9  has to do with the fact of when the request was made

10  or when it was deemed complete.  But by and large,

11  yeah, all of the dates are consistent with our

12  timeline.  Just a few differences here or there on

13  when e-mails were, you know, exchanged, considering

14  when the request was made or when it was deemed

15  complete, those kind of things.

16       Q.    Has Clenera made a request for form PPAs?

17       A.    Yes.

18       Q.    And when was the request for a form PPA

19  prepared for Faraday?

20       A.    On March 13th of this year.

21       Q.    And when was a request made for a form PPS

22  for Goshen?

23       A.    On May 12th of this year.

24       Q.    And is it your understanding that both of

25  those were made within the applicable deadlines?
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 1       A.    Correct, yes.

 2       Q.    Did you receive any confirmation from

 3  PacifiCorp as to the completeness of the PPA request

 4  for Faraday?

 5       A.    Yes.  It was communicated from PacifiCorp

 6  that our request was complete.

 7       Q.    Okay.  Have you received a similar

 8  confirmation regarding your request for a PPA for

 9  Goshen?

10       A.    I would have to confirm because right

11  around that time is when the conversation was

12  continuing on Faraday.  For Goshen, the confirmation

13  sort of got lumped into the discussion on Faraday.

14       Q.    Okay.  And when you say the conversation

15  on Faraday was continuing, what are you referring to?

16       A.    I'm referring to whether or not we needed

17  to provide a completed interconnection study to

18  receive a draft PPA.

19       Q.    And did PacifiCorp indicate to you that

20  you needed a completed interconnection study in order

21  to get the form PPA for Faraday?

22       A.    PacifiCorp communicated to us that we

23  needed a draft interconnection study through

24  communicating with them, but not in the tariff was

25  that communicated.
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 1       Q.    When did they first communicate that to

 2  you?

 3       A.    That was April of this year.  April 18th

 4  is the note I have when that was first communicated

 5  that we would need a completed interconnection study

 6  to receive a draft PPA.

 7       Q.    And again, does your understanding of the

 8  dates on which requests were made for form PPAs match

 9  the discussion of those dates in the response that

10  was filed by DPU on October 23rd?

11       A.    Yes.  More or less the dates for when we

12  requested PPAs are consistent, you know, minus any

13  day-here-or-day-there difference.

14       Q.    Has Clenera requested an interconnection

15  study for Faraday?

16       A.    Yes.

17       Q.    Have you requested an interconnection

18  study for the Goshen projects?

19       A.    Yes.

20       Q.    When did you request those interconnection

21  studies?

22       A.    The initial interconnection requests, or

23  the BNA interconnection requests, were November 29th

24  of 2016.

25       Q.    And have you received any communication

0015

 1  from PacifiCorp deeming those requests complete?

 2       A.    Yes.  Their requests were deemed complete.

 3  We exchanged -- you know, there was, of course, some

 4  back and forth on the technical aspects of the

 5  project.  We had a scoping meeting, which is the

 6  preliminary call before feasibility study agreement.

 7  We proceeded with the feasibility study agreement and

 8  executed it.

 9       Q.    And when were the feasibility study

10  agreements executed?

11       A.    On February 15th of this year.

12       Q.    And was that for both Faraday and for

13  Goshen?

14       A.    Yes, for both.

15       Q.    How long have you -- have you yet received

16  an interconnection feasibility study from the

17  utility?

18       A.    We have not received a feasibility study

19  yet.

20       Q.    What is your understanding of the usual

21  timing for an interconnection feasibility study?

22       A.    The usual timing is about a month.  The

23  FERC guidelines in the large generating

24  interconnection procedures is 45 days.

25       Q.    Do you recall what the utility's tariff
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 1  says will be the timeline?

 2       A.    The tariff says it's a 45-day feasibility

 3  study.

 4             MR. BARKLEY:  And I have no further

 5  questions for Mr. Shively, Your Honor.

 6             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

 7  We'll begin with Ms. Hogle on cross.

 8             MS. HOGLE:  It depends.  I would like to

 9  know if Mr. Ellsworth will be available as a witness?

10             MR. BARKLEY:  Mr. Ellsworth will also be

11  available as a witness.

12             MS. HOGLE:  I had intended to cross

13  Mr. Ellsworth, given that his name is on the

14  pleadings that were filed in the case.  I don't know

15  if that would be okay with you, or if we can ask your

16  current witness.

17             MR. BARKLEY:  And I really am not trying

18  to be a obstructionist.  If there are questions about

19  dates, Mr. Shively is probably the better witness.

20  I'm happy to tell you now that Mr. Ellsworth -- that

21  the testimony that I will elicit from Mr. Ellsworth

22  is really going to involve timing of QF status, the

23  relief that's requested by the Company, and the basis

24  for that belief.

25             So to the extent that the questions
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 1  involve those subjects, Mr. Ellsworth is absolutely

 2  the most appropriate of the two witnesses.  To the

 3  extent it involves dates and timelines, Mr. Shively

 4  is probably the better of the two, although

 5  Mr. Ellsworth is familiar with much of that

 6  information as well.

 7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  If Mr. Shively

 8  plans to stay around, I would be happy to allow

 9  Ms. Hogle to call him when the Company puts on its

10  witnesses, if he'll be present.

11             MR. BARKLEY:  And that's fine with us,

12  Your Honor.  I am happy to proceed however you would

13  like.  That was sort of to give you some background

14  on how at least we view the two witnesses and their

15  subject matter.

16             MS. HOGLE:  Sure.  I guess I'm hesitating

17  a little bit because typically the witness on the

18  stand would adopt any pleadings that were filed by a

19  party.  And so I'm not sure if Mr. Ellsworth --

20  Mr. Ellsworth or Mr. Shively is adopting the

21  pleadings that were filed and signed by --

22             MR. BARKLEY:  We'll have Mr. Ellsworth

23  adopt them.

24             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then I will

25  wait for cross-examination.
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 1             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

 2             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.

 3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Jetter.

 4             MR. JETTER:  And I have no questions.

 5  Thank you.

 6             THE WITNESS:  Sorry.

 7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you,

 8  Mr. Shively.

 9             Mr. Barkley.

10             MR. BARKLEY:  And with that we'll call

11  Mr. Ellsworth.

12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

13             Mr. Ellsworth, do you swear to tell the

14  truth?

15             THE WITNESS:  Yes.

16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

17                        EXAMINATION

18  BY MR. BARKLEY:

19       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, can you state your full

20  name?

21       A.    Jason Ellsworth.

22       Q.    And by whom are you employed?

23       A.    Clenera, LLC.

24       Q.    What is your title at Clenera?

25       A.    I am president and CEO.
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 1       Q.    And what are your responsibilities there?

 2       A.    I am responsible for the overall

 3  operations of the company.  The direction, in fact,

 4  involved in day to day.

 5       Q.    Have you been involved in the preparation

 6  of the pleadings that have been filed in this case by

 7  Clenera?

 8       A.    I have, yes.

 9       Q.    Are you in a position to adopt those as

10  your own testimony?

11       A.    Yes, I am.

12       Q.    Have you had a chance to review

13  PacifiCorp's filings as well?

14       A.    Yes, I have.

15       Q.    And how do you respond to the criticism in

16  those claims that Clenera has not filed its Form 556

17  to obtain QF status?

18       A.    It is typical for us and other developers

19  to file a 556 at a point that is closer to the actual

20  commercial operation date of the project.  In fact,

21  we completed a project in Southern Utah with

22  PacifiCorp recently where the 556 was filed just

23  shortly before our commercial operation date.

24             The reason for that is the 556 identifies

25  certain structural ownership elements of the project
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 1  that may not be finalized and fully determined until

 2  late in the billing cycle.

 3       Q.    Is it your understanding of utilities

 4  tariffs that Clenera would be required to have

 5  obtained that QF status at this stage of the

 6  interconnection process?

 7       A.    No, that's not our understanding, and it's

 8  also not typical of tariffs generally in the world

 9  that we participate in in this utility scale solar

10  world.

11       Q.    Do you have -- are you familiar with what

12  the Rocky Mountain Power tariff does in fact require

13  with regard to QF status?

14       A.    Yes.  Yes, I am.

15       Q.    And what is that?

16       A.    So the requirement, as I understand it, is

17  that we -- we show that we are eligible, that we are

18  eligible as a QF.

19             In fact, the interesting component of a

20  556 is that it's a self certification anyway.  So

21  it's not something that we look to for their judgment

22  or rules.  Rather, we self certify at the time and

23  place that's best necessary.

24       Q.    How do you respond to PacifiCorp's claim

25  that the delay in processing Clenera's
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 1  interconnection requests was justified by an increase

 2  in interconnection requests across the PacifiCorp

 3  system?

 4       A.    I'm surprised by the assertion.  It is not

 5  consistent with the data that we have reviewed that

 6  is publicly available on the PacifiCorp Oasis system,

 7  their realtime system.

 8             After seeing their assertion that that was

 9  a limitation on their side, we pulled up, at the time

10  of their motion to dismiss, the actual data on Oasis

11  and see that, in fact, there has been a relatively

12  consistent drop in the number of applications since

13  2013 here in Utah to a very small number.  Relative

14  to other utilities, there's a very small number of

15  applications that are being processed and handled by

16  PacifiCorp for Utah.

17             For PacifiCorp in total, because I think

18  they handle these applications, not on a

19  state-by-state basis but across their systems, the

20  applications rose in 2015 but been relatively

21  consistent thereafter, with a kind of small bump from

22  '15 to '16, but have been relatively consistent

23  thereafter.

24       Q.    Did you present data on the volume of

25  interconnection requests in your October 24th

0022

 1  response to PacifiCorp's motion to dismiss?

 2       A.    We did.  We presented that data.  We

 3  thought it was important to answer the assertion that

 4  that was a cause for the delay, with the data that is

 5  available on-line and direct from the company.  And

 6  that data does indeed show that there has not been a

 7  significant climb in applications.

 8             Back in '15 to '16, there was about a

 9  30 percent increase, and that -- and we have -- we

10  have struggled to see where -- how that ties to a

11  delay in terms of the study process, which is

12  scheduled for 45 days, to go from 45 days to the

13  approximate year right now that is anticipated by

14  PacifiCorp.

15       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, what relief does Clenera

16  seek in this proceeding?

17       A.    So we are -- we are seeking for relief

18  under the tariff as it relates to the deadlines.  The

19  tariff allows for an extension in the case of the

20  company delays.  And we are looking at these company

21  delays and requesting that we receive a day-per-day

22  extension on developer deadlines associated with the

23  tariff as it relates to the company's delays.

24             Right now the delays are -- we're

25  approaching a total of a year on a 45-day project, or
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 1  a 45-day study, and we -- based on the existing -- on

 2  our previous experience expect that those delays

 3  may -- may exceed that as it relates to further

 4  activities with the company.

 5       Q.    What are the specific deadlines for which

 6  the company is seeking relief?

 7       A.    So specifically to call out two deadlines

 8  that are important to us, is the first -- first

 9  deadline in which we already have a PPA executed

10  between developer and the company within the six

11  months following the receipt of indicative pricing.

12  In addition to that we are -- we are looking for

13  overall extension and delay as it relates to our

14  on-line date.

15             As the -- as Your Honor may be aware, the

16  tariff calls for a 30-month limitation in terms of

17  when we file for pricing, we must indicate that our

18  on-line dates are to be within 30 months of the

19  timeline allowed for a PPA.

20             So -- so at the time of our -- our filing

21  for the pricing, we could not -- we could date these

22  projects no later than the end of 2019.  That

23  timeline limitation has made it very difficult as we

24  have seen and have now seen a year of our processing

25  time disappear.
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 1             So that's 365 days on the first study

 2  versus what is in the tariff, which is 45 days,

 3  making it very difficult for us to perform in that

 4  timeline.  Therefore, we're asking for an extension,

 5  an overall extension, to those -- to those dates as

 6  well, to those on-line dates.

 7       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, you're familiar with the

 8  Department of Public Utilities response that was

 9  filed on October 23rd, yes?

10       A.    I am, yes.

11       Q.    And you have seen the concerns that they

12  express regarding the extension of the operation

13  date?

14       A.    Yes.

15       Q.    Would you address those concerns?

16       A.    Yeah, I think the -- overall the -- if you

17  review the -- I think the overall concern was -- was

18  pricing and relevance of pricing if those dates are

19  extended.  The -- the challenge is -- is trying to

20  draw -- I think the challenge that's been highlighted

21  is whether or not those prices are -- are relevant in

22  an extended situation.

23             The reality for us, and based on the

24  numbers that we have received and our review of the

25  IRP, is the forecast for PacifiCorp is rising prices
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 1  over time.  So the further extension -- the further

 2  extension of -- of our timelines, had we been given

 3  time to -- greater than the 30 months, in light of

 4  the time that the PacifiCorp takes on their sites,

 5  those -- those prices on those PPAs would have been

 6  higher.  Right now those prices are, in fact, at a

 7  very competitive level.

 8             We believe that, in fact, we -- we are in

 9  a position to hold to those, despite the ups and

10  downs in the markets and the difficulties in

11  delivering, but have spent a great deal of time and

12  energy as a company at the conclusion of other

13  opportunities that we could have pursued, to pursue

14  these projects for the benefit of ratepayers.

15             We believe that the avoided cost

16  calculations are an accurate way of identifying what

17  the impact is to the ratepayers, and that these

18  projects are, in fact, beneficial to ratepayers.

19             I think that PacifiCorp can identify -- or

20  I'm not sure what's appropriate in this -- this

21  environment to identify these prices, but they're

22  very, very competitive prices and in the context of

23  energy in general, not just solar.

24       Q.    How does the timing of PacifiCorp's

25  handling of these interconnection requests compare to
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 1  the handling of interconnection requests that you

 2  have seen in other projects done with PacifiCorp and

 3  other utilities?

 4       A.    So our experience with PacifiCorp is

 5  limited.  We have one -- we have project that is

 6  operating, 80 megawatts, the size of one of these

 7  typical projects, in -- in Southern Utah.  And then

 8  have run a number -- quite a number of other projects

 9  through the process here with PacifiCorp, identifying

10  across their system where -- where there was

11  opportunity, where there was interconnection

12  capacity, and where it made sense from a

13  load-proximity basis to deliver -- to deliver power.

14             We in that process have -- have identified

15  what appears to be, I think historically, a process

16  that's been -- that's been relatively responsive, but

17  of late one that is -- is significantly delayed

18  without a necessary commensurate sort of set of

19  applications to justify that.

20             With that said, our review with them on

21  the reasons for those delays has resulted in

22  explanations that this is -- they are pursuing a

23  serial process, which means as -- as they review each

24  project, one drops out, they have to -- they have to

25  go back and review all of the projects again.  That
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 1  is the most inefficient and slowest of all the

 2  processes that we deal with in the utility scale

 3  world.

 4             What is typical in the case where there

 5  are a significant number of applications, is that

 6  those applications will be handled in a cluster

 7  process and studied together, and then -- and then

 8  there is -- there is often in that case an ability to

 9  deliver -- in fact, typically an ability to deliver

10  in roughly the 45-day timeline.

11             Whereas, here on the PacifiCorp side,

12  the -- some decision, the decision has been made to

13  pursue -- continue to pursue a serial process, and

14  that -- that serial process has resulted in delays

15  beyond anything that we have experienced elsewhere

16  across the United States.

17             We -- we also see that in general the

18  number of applications that PacifiCorp has seen is a

19  very -- it's de minimis, as compared to the number of

20  applications other utilities have seen in California

21  and elsewhere.  And those -- those processes in other

22  applications have continued to operate within a

23  reasonable range of that 45-day period, whereas here

24  with PacifiCorp it's not -- it's not a minor

25  extension from 45 days to a few -- you know, maybe
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 1  60 days, it's 45 -- it's going to 365 days.  And

 2  that's been an unusual experience for us and one that

 3  we think is markedly different from the market in the

 4  rest of the industry.

 5             MR. BARKLEY:  I have nothing further for

 6  Mr. Ellsworth, Your Honor.

 7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

 8             Ms. Hogle?

 9             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.  I guess I'll

10  start.

11                        EXAMINATION

12  BY MS. HOGLE:

13       Q.    I guess I'll start with what you just

14  mentioned as being the typical process that you're

15  used to.

16             Can you provide the basis for that

17  testimony?

18       A.    Yes.  So we have -- we -- we as a company

19  and individuals have been in the development space

20  and working with interconnection and projects for the

21  better part of a decade, and in that process have

22  made hundreds, and if not thousands, of

23  interconnection applications and worked through that

24  process with various utilities, mostly in the west

25  but also in the southeastern United States.

0029

 1             So with that I would say the number of

 2  utilities that we have worked with exceeds -- exceeds

 3  40.  And so the sample size is relatively large, both

 4  in terms of applications and running through that

 5  process, as well as -- as actual utilities that we

 6  have interfaced with.

 7       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.

 8             I want to take you to the reply that you

 9  filed on behalf of Clenera.  Do -- do you have it

10  with you?

11       A.    I don't have it in front of me, no.

12       Q.    Okay.  So if I were to ask you questions

13  in that reply, would you -- could I jog your memory

14  for you to be able to respond to my questions?

15       A.    I'll do the best I can.

16       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.

17             MR. BARKLEY:  Ms. Hogle, are we referring

18  to the October 24 reply?

19             MS. HOGLE:  We are.  We are referring to

20  Clenera's reply to Rocky Mountain Power's response.

21       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  So in the first page of

22  that reply, I believe you stated, given that you

23  signed the pleading, "PacifiCorp gives no reason for

24  their last-minute change in position."  And I believe

25  that you were talking about the extension that we're
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 1  talking about here.  Is that correct?

 2       A.    Yes.  In fact, I think the -- the reply is

 3  in the context of PacifiCorp originally was very

 4  clear about supporting our -- our effort to extend.

 5  In fact, noting that they had made a decision

 6  internally to extend.  And due to delay -- their own

 7  delay as the company, that was the subject of

 8  conversations with -- with Kyle Moore at PacifiCorp.

 9             Later on Kyle Moore came back and

10  indicated that on discussion with the Department of

11  Public Utilities and the -- and the consumer

12  services, that -- that they -- they were advised that

13  they could not do that, and that the company,

14  therefore, had taken -- had -- had determined that

15  that was not -- not possible.  But had it been, they

16  were still in support of, and -- and yet they were

17  unable to -- unable to proceed because of limitations

18  with these other agencies.

19             So when I said that the company had

20  changed their position, that is -- so the motion to

21  dismiss was -- was a very different tact than them

22  supporting our effort to -- to make an extension.  In

23  fact, in that motion to dismiss, they referenced

24  another docket that was filed before the Commission

25  with sPower, in fact, where they -- they cited these
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 1  very -- these very delays as delays which were

 2  recently these kind of delays, of delays for which it

 3  was a reason for them to extend the process, extend

 4  the deadlines.

 5             So taking that different tact with us and

 6  opposing that, I -- I view that as without

 7  explanation and without -- without -- without context

 8  in terms of the communication.

 9       Q.    Thank you.

10             I'm also going to reference your complaint

11  that you also signed.  And in that complaint, on the

12  last page you state, ". . .approximately two weeks

13  after the meeting and discussion of PacifiCorp's

14  proposed solution, Developer received the following

15  communication from PacifiCorp."  And I quote, "after

16  further review and discussions with the staff of both

17  the Division of Public Utilities and the Office of

18  Consumer Services, the position of Rocky Mountain

19  Power is that delays caused by PacifiCorp

20  Transmission are not contemplated as RMP delays and

21  should not extend the timeline in the Schedule 38

22  tariff."

23             Isn't that a reason that you stated in

24  your complaint?

25       A.    So that's consistent with -- with the
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 1  facts I just -- I just referred to, in that

 2  PacifiCorp had turned to the DPU and consumer

 3  services and -- and indicated that their -- their --

 4  their lack of support for this and their opposition

 5  it was -- was a cause for them as a company to

 6  change -- change directions.

 7             And -- and so the -- that is -- that's

 8  consistent in terms of the direction, inconsistent in

 9  terms of the sentiment that was expressed by

10  PacifiCorp.

11       Q.    And so given that PacifiCorp and you

12  yourself quoted the A reason, or a change in

13  position, that is not consistent, is it, with what

14  you said in your reply when you said, PacifiCorp

15  gives no reason for their last-minute change?

16       A.    When I -- when I noted their last-minute

17  change, I wasn't -- I wasn't noting that -- that they

18  were -- that they were looking to different reasons.

19  I was noting that PacifiCorp was changing their

20  sentiment, in fact saying that their -- their

21  perspective was that this was not something that they

22  had supported at all, which in fact was not true.

23             From -- from the beginning PacifiCorp was

24  in support of an extension.  Their history has been

25  to support extensions in the case that delays were
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 1  caused by the company.  And so this -- the -- the

 2  sentiment had changed.

 3       Q.    Okay.  But unlike or contrary to what you

 4  said in the reply that PacifiCorp gave no reason for

 5  this last-minute change on the sentiment of the

 6  extension, in fact in the -- in your complaint you

 7  actually quoted PacifiCorp's reason.  So there was a

 8  reason that you yourself quoted in your complaint.

 9  And so that would be inconsistent with your reply

10  that there was no reason, correct?

11       A.    I disagree.  I think you're speaking to

12  rational for the reasons for making a decision.  I'm

13  speaking to the sentiment behind the decision.

14       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.

15             Going back to the reply that you filed and

16  your claim that PacifiCorp's behavior in this matter

17  results in economic harm to stakeholders.  Do you --

18  do you recall that?

19       A.    Yes.  Yes.

20       Q.    Are you aware of the approved term for a

21  power-purchase agreement in Utah?

22       A.    I am very aware of the approved terms for

23  a power-purchase agreement in Utah.

24       Q.    And -- and what is that?

25       A.    Right now for projects of this size, it's
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 1  15 years.

 2       Q.    Okay.  Are you aware of the fact that

 3  PacifiCorp passes through its energy costs to its

 4  customers in the State of Utah?

 5       A.    Yes.  I'm aware that this is -- this --

 6  this is rate based.

 7       Q.    And that's 100 percent?  Are you aware of

 8  that subject?  Would you agree that it's 100 percent

 9  passed through, meaning customers ultimately pay for

10  the avoided-cost pricing that are provided?

11       A.    Correct.  I'm aware that avoided cost

12  is -- is supported by customers.

13       Q.    Okay.  And so Clenera is seeking a

14  power-purchase agreement for a term of 15 years; is

15  that right?

16       A.    That is correct.

17       Q.    And isn't it true that the commercial

18  operation date has an impact on avoided-cost pricing?

19       A.    It does.  As that explained the commercial

20  date, the further that it's pushed out is

21  typically -- is typically the higher.  So it does

22  have -- it does have an impact on pricing.

23       Q.    And so if PacifiCorp doesn't know whether

24  Clenera can meet that commercial operation date, the

25  avoided-cost pricing may not be accurate, correct?
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 1       A.    If the -- it is correct that if the -- if

 2  the timing changes, the pricing calculation would be

 3  different at the point of calculating that pricing,

 4  yes.

 5       Q.    And so isn't it reasonable for the company

 6  to require that information prior to that

 7  information, meaning the commercial-operation date,

 8  prior to providing a power-purchase agreement with

 9  avoided-cost pricing that would be locked in for

10  15 years?

11       A.    It's entirely reasonable.  In fact, it's

12  something -- it's a similar process that's pursued in

13  many other utilities.  Those -- those timelines are

14  important to both the utility and the developer.

15       Q.    And so whether the prices are high or low

16  is really not relevant, it's -- what's relevant is

17  that they be accurate; would you agree with that?

18       A.    I think that the -- when you're talking

19  pricing and timing, both are very important and both

20  parties need to be able to rely on timing.  Timing is

21  critical to these -- these projects?

22             So, in fact, we are entirely subject to

23  and reliant on the timing that's provided in the

24  tariff, on the timing by way of commitments that are

25  made by PacifiCorp.
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 1             So as the company -- as the -- as the

 2  company delays, we -- we have -- we have no other

 3  recourse than under the tariff to look for

 4  extensions.

 5             But, yes, the timing -- timing is

 6  important.

 7       Q.    And the pricing?  The accuracy of the

 8  pricing is important, correct?

 9       A.    Pricing and timing are tied, absolutely.

10       Q.    Okay.  All right.

11             And so if the company locks in a PPA with

12  a QF for 15 years and the pricing is not accurate,

13  that would be an economic harm to its customers,

14  wouldn't it?

15       A.    I think you just made an intellectual leap

16  between accuracy and economic harm.  Economic harm

17  would presume that the pricing were, in fact, higher

18  than it would otherwise have been.  I think that had

19  there been at that time a clear understanding that

20  PacifiCorp was not going to perform within the

21  timeline that was provided, that in fact we could

22  have gone to a later date to accommodate the

23  PacifiCorp timing.  I think, in fact, the pricing

24  would have been higher.

25             So -- so that's -- and that's consistent
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 1  with the pricing that was received.  We got pricing

 2  for a 2018 project, we got pricing for 2019.  2019

 3  pricing was higher, and that's consistent with the

 4  IRP.  Which leads me to the conclusions, if we are to

 5  make conclusions, then in fact, this would have been

 6  an economic benefit to ratepayers to take a later

 7  date versus the original date.

 8             And -- and judging this process based on

 9  current timelines that have been imposed and created

10  by PacifiCorp's lack of -- lack of performance is

11  a -- is a mismatch with what is originally and most

12  importantly a process whereby we are -- we are given

13  pricing based on the timing and the -- and the

14  conditions at the outset of a project.

15       Q.    And economic harm can result not only when

16  prices when higher but also if prices are lower than

17  they should be, correct?

18             Because if -- if you lock in something --

19  if you lock in a contract that is lowering prices,

20  for example, then economically it might not make

21  sense because, you know, for 15 years those prices

22  are locked.  And given the length of the contract,

23  the point is that the pricing should be accurate, not

24  lower, not higher, but accurate.

25       A.    So I think the discussion about economic
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 1  harm for higher -- or for lower prices, in the

 2  context of rate base, is -- doesn't tie to my

 3  experience in -- in mathematics and economics.  The

 4  lower the price, the more the rate base that the

 5  consumer benefits.

 6             Whether or not we as a company are able to

 7  deliver at that price is our responsibility.  The

 8  tariff doesn't speak to that.  The tariff speaks to

 9  pricing and timing and the process whereby the

10  company and we as a developer are -- are tied

11  together in a process to deliver a product at a given

12  price.  And that price, if it is lower for -- for the

13  consumer, that's ideal, and that's something that we

14  strive for as a company.

15             MS. HOGLE:  I have no further questions.

16  Thank you.

17             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

18             Mr. Jetter.

19                        EXAMINATION

20  BY MR. JETTER:

21       Q.    Good morning.  I do have a few questions.

22             I would just like to sort of clarify a

23  little bit with something that you had stated in your

24  cross-examination and I believe also today in your

25  direct testimony.
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 1             Is it accurate to -- to kind of rephrase

 2  what you said a few minutes ago, that your basis for

 3  understanding that a later interconnection date would

 4  potentially have a higher price was due to a

 5  repricing that changed the on-line date early in the

 6  project and that gave you a slightly higher price?

 7       A.    No, it's not due to the repricing.  So we

 8  originally submitted for both 2018 and 2019 prices,

 9  and on the repricing pushed -- pushed our 2018 back

10  to 2019.

11             To the point of with respect to economics,

12  we determined the economics were -- were not

13  favorable, were not -- not attractive, for the 2018

14  time frame.  We also determined at that time that

15  that 2018 was not -- was not a workable time frame

16  within the process that -- that is allowed here.

17             But those -- those prices came -- came out

18  showing -- showing, in fact, a rise in price to 2019,

19  which, in fact, does tie to the IRP and -- and would

20  be expected in -- in the aurora modeling that takes

21  place behind this.

22       Q.    Okay.  So are you aware of any direct

23  connection between the IRP process and avoided-cost

24  pricing?

25       A.    So we're -- we're -- all we know is that
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 1  this -- this utilizes aurora in it's -- I think

 2  that's my understanding that the aurora pricing

 3  modeling tools are used to reach the avoided costs

 4  here.

 5             The inputs and information are -- are the

 6  same inputs and information, or should be the same

 7  inputs and information, used in the IRP process.

 8  They're both -- they're both represented to the state

 9  and to all -- all stakeholders that are involved

10  in -- in looking at the pricing of energy and in the

11  long-term equation for the utility and for those that

12  participate with the utility.

13       Q.    Would it be surprising for you to learn,

14  or would you, subject to check, that IRP pricing

15  forecasts have consistently been higher than QF

16  pricing contracts?

17       A.    It would be -- no, it's not surprising, in

18  terms of the -- the quantum, correct, that that is --

19  I think that is correct.

20       Q.    Okay.  And I assume in your capacity in

21  your employment that you follow wholesale market

22  prices during solar hours?

23       A.    We do, yes.

24       Q.    And what would you describe the trend of

25  those over the past five years?
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 1       A.    So the wholesale pricing is -- well, in

 2  what market?

 3       Q.    Any of the western hubs that are

 4  interconnected into that system, of course.

 5       A.    So the western hubs are -- we could spend

 6  a lot of time talking about the western hubs and

 7  what's been happening in pricing.  But it's --

 8       Q.    Just use kind of a Palo Verde.

 9       A.    Yeah.  So Palo Verde and others have been

10  impacted by very low natural gas rates.  Those

11  natural gas rates have hovered near -- have dropped

12  to historic lows.  But that -- and that follows some

13  cyclical patterns associated with -- associated with

14  gas, also advances in technology and other things on

15  the gas side.

16             The other impact that's been a push type,

17  so say Palo Verde, on the renewable side where we and

18  others have been successful at driving -- driving

19  costs down and continuing to drive costs down.

20             So generating depends on the time of the

21  day, but certain times of the day are actually quite

22  expensive for power, and others are -- are not, based

23  on the generation mix of any given utility.

24       Q.    And so following up on that, would you --

25  would it be accurate to say over the past five years,
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 1  for example, the prices during those hours have been

 2  trending down?

 3       A.    During the last five years, yes.

 4       Q.    Okay.  And would it be fair to say that a

 5  one-year extension or comparison that you received

 6  during your indicative-pricing request comparison may

 7  not be an accurate reflection in other changes in

 8  on-line dates, like the consecutive year pushing this

 9  out?

10       A.    I think that the reality is that all

11  future pricing is based on forecasting at the time,

12  and forecasting based on what limited information one

13  might have.

14             As I understand it, PacifiCorp, like many

15  of us, has -- has affiliates that also participate

16  in -- with -- with avoided cost, and that avoided

17  cost is said in a similar process, using -- you know,

18  locking in on rates based on forecast, based on

19  avoided cost, and a profile that uses the best

20  information that PacifiCorp and others have -- the

21  Commission and others have in setting those rates.

22       Q.    Okay.  And so just to kind of tie this

23  down a little bit.  You don't know, do you, whether

24  extending the on-line date would have resulted in a

25  higher or lower price for another year, for example?
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 1       A.    So had we -- had we at the time that we

 2  filed been able to insert a later date than the

 3  30-month limitation provides, we having not done it

 4  and not having been able to do it, we don't have

 5  specific information about it.  All we can say is

 6  that the underlying information and the profile for

 7  those -- those projects in fact shows an increase.

 8             And I will -- I'll revise my statement

 9  slightly and say that under -- under PacifiCorp's

10  tariff, we can take a -- and PacifiCorp allows us to

11  take an average price, weighted price, over that

12  period of time or -- or a variable price based on

13  their forecast.  Those variable prices showed prices

14  increasing over time.

15             So, in fact, in a much more detailed way

16  we can see a profile coming out of that pricing,

17  whether it was 2018 or 2019 that showed a consistent

18  increase in pricing over time.  And even today we see

19  that in the pricing that has been provided by

20  PacifiCorp.

21             So -- so I would say that definitively we

22  can say that if -- if that same data were used,

23  absolutely we would have had a higher price for --

24  for a later date.  Did we -- did we actually get a

25  later date with -- with another price?  No, because
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 1  it's not allowed in the process.  And it wasn't

 2  anticipated it would be needed.

 3       Q.    Okay.  Just to clarify, you said you can't

 4  definitively say or that you can definitively say

 5  that it would have been higher?

 6       A.    No, I can say that it would have been

 7  higher based on the information that was provided to

 8  us, yes.

 9       Q.    Okay.  So they provided information for

10  the value of the 16th year?

11       A.    So they did provide information for the

12  value of -- they did not provide information for the

13  value of the 16th year, but they had the trajectory

14  for the full 15 years.

15       Q.    Okay.  So you're saying that you can

16  definitely confirm today what would have been in the

17  16th year?

18       A.    I have not, no.

19       Q.    Thank you.

20             MR. JETTER:  Those all the questions that

21  I have.

22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Any recross?

23             MR. BARKLEY:  Just a couple, Your Honor.

24  ///

25  ///
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 1                        EXAMINATION

 2  BY MR. BARKLEY:

 3       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, there was some discussion

 4  earlier regarding a reference in PacifiCorp's motion

 5  to dismiss to another docket.  I'm looking at Page 3

 6  of that motion to dismiss, where PacifiCorp says, "As

 7  the Company previously stated in Docket

 8  No. 17-035-13, PacifiCorp Transmission has

 9  experienced an unprecedented surge in interconnection

10  applications, primarily from developers in Utah and

11  Wyoming."

12             Is that the docket to which you were

13  referring?  I ask that just to see if that's the

14  right docket number reference.

15       A.    Yes, that's correct.  That's the correct

16  docket.

17       Q.    There was also some discussion about

18  whether or not PacifiCorp had given a reason for

19  their change in position.  Do you remember that back

20  and forth?

21       A.    That's -- that's right.

22       Q.    Okay.  When PacifiCorp informed you that

23  they were changing their position based on meetings

24  with the Department of Public Utilities and the

25  Office of Consumer Services, what actions did you
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 1  take in follow-up to that?

 2       A.    So we -- we asked for contact information

 3  as it related to those agencies and -- and so that we

 4  could follow up and confirm.  It took us multiple

 5  contacts and then a follow-up in-person meeting

 6  before PacifiCorp provided us that contact

 7  information.

 8             We then with that contact information in

 9  hand reached out to and made direct contact with both

10  agencies.  The first consumer services said that, in

11  fact, they did not -- to paraphrase, did not have

12  anything to do with this and -- and were not -- would

13  not be involved in or have an opinion associated with

14  this process.

15             And then on our contact with the

16  Department of Public Utilities, they indicated they

17  did not recall ever having this conversation with

18  PacifiCorp, but, in fact, had been a part of this

19  recent docket that was referenced by PacifiCorp in

20  their response -- I'm sorry, in their -- their motion

21  and -- and had been successful in extending dates,

22  and that they would generally be -- be supportive if

23  there was a similar fact part pattern from the

24  standpoint of delays by the company.

25       Q.    Other than the concern expressed in DPU's
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 1  response regarding the on-line date, has either DPU

 2  or the Office of Consumer Services expressed to you

 3  any concern with your request of extension, for

 4  example, the six-month deadline for executing a PPA

 5  following indicative pricing?

 6       A.    No, they have not.  And I think on the

 7  note of extension, and I think we understand the

 8  concern on timeline and pricing.  Not knowing what

 9  the 16th year pricing would be, we as a company would

10  be very open to -- to an update on that 16th year,

11  whatever that 16th year update would be, but

12  otherwise holding to the pricing that -- and

13  methodology for the remaining -- remaining years that

14  were provided to us.

15       Q.    So based on your follow-up actions, your

16  follow-up conversations, with DPU and the Office of

17  Consumer Services, did you conclude that PacifiCorp

18  had provided any compelling rational for its change

19  in position?

20       A.    No.  In terms of the compelling rational,

21  we concluded that, in fact, neither of these agencies

22  showed any sign of having any meaningful dialogue

23  with PacifiCorp, and it was surprising to us that

24  that was used as the rational for a change in

25  position, when neither agency really could -- had
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 1  enough -- enough of a dialogue to even recall having

 2  had the dialogue, one.  And, two, one -- one of the

 3  agencies was totally disengaged, not involved, and

 4  had little concern for this, and the other agency was

 5  supportive of our -- our effort to extend.

 6             MR. BARKLEY:  I have no further questions,

 7  Your Honor.

 8             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

 9             And just one follow-up from me.  And this

10  is really a legal question, so I'll invite your

11  counsel to answer if he deems it appropriate.

12             But you have referenced a couple of times

13  this 45-day expectation of a turnaround time with

14  respect to the feasibility study.  Of course,

15  Schedule 38 references the OATT.  I didn't see a

16  portion of the OATT quoted so I went and read it, and

17  I think what you're referring to is in Section 41.3.

18  Can you confirm if that's the case?

19             MR. BARKLEY:  I believe that's right.  If

20  you'll give me just a moment, I do have it.

21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Sure.

22             MR. BARKLEY:  Yes, Your Honor, I'm on

23  Page 143 of the Open Access Transmission Tariff for a

24  Collective Transmission Tariff Volume No. 11 for

25  PacifiCorp.  And it is Section 41.3, which says
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 1  Transmission provider shall use reasonable efforts to

 2  complete the interconnection feasibility study no

 3  later than 45 calendar days after transmission

 4  provider receives a fully executed interconnection

 5  feasibility study agreement.

 6             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

 7  That's helpful.

 8             You're excused, Mr. Ellsworth.

 9             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, that's all we

10  have.

11             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Okay.

12             Ms. Hogle.

13             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.  The Company calls

14  Mr. Mark Tourangeau.

15             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  And before I

16  swear you in, would you mind spelling your last name?

17             THE WITNESS:  Certainly.  Last name is

18  T-O-U-R-A-N-G-E-A-U.

19             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Tourangeau,

20  do you swear to tell the truth?

21             THE WITNESS:  You got it.

22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Do you swear to

23  tell the truth, sir?

24             THE WITNESS:  I do.

25             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

0050

 1                        EXAMINATION

 2  BY MS. HOGLE:

 3       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Tourangeau.  Once again,

 4  maybe for the reporter benefit, can you state and

 5  spell your name for the record.

 6       A.    Yes.  Mark Tourangeau,

 7  T-O-U-R-A-N-G-E-A-U.

 8       Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what

 9  capacity?

10       A.    I'm employed by Rocky Mountain Power as a

11  director of commercial services, where I oversee our

12  negotiations and relationships with our large

13  industrial customers that we have special contracts

14  with.  I also work with customers who are looking to

15  purchase renewables through our green tariffs.  And

16  then I also oversee our qualifying-facility process

17  under PERPA for the Rocky Mountain Power territory.

18       Q.    And is this the first time that you have

19  testified in the State of Utah?

20       A.    It is.

21       Q.    So given that, can you please provide a

22  brief background of your service.

23       A.    Certainly.  So I have over 20 years of

24  experience in the energy industry.  Previous to Rocky

25  Mountain Power, I joined Rocky Mountain Power just
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 1  about a year ago.  Previous to that I worked for

 2  eight years for NextEra Energy out of Florida, which

 3  is the largest renewable zone in North America.  I

 4  also worked for Morgan Stanley Commodities and for

 5  Duke Energy.

 6       Q.    Thank you.

 7             And are you familiar with the complaint

 8  that was filed by Clenera on September 22nd, 2017?

 9       A.    I am.

10       Q.    Are you familiar with Rocky Mountain

11  Power's response to that complaint October 24th,

12  2017?

13       A.    Yes.

14       Q.    Did you assist in the preparation of that

15  response?

16       A.    I did, yes.

17       Q.    And so you're comfortable adopting that

18  response as your own testimony today?

19       A.    Yes, I am.

20       Q.    And responding to the questions about that

21  response?

22       A.    Correct.

23       Q.    Okay.

24             MR. BARKLEY:  Could we just -- could we

25  clarify the date on that?  Was it 24 or 23?
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 1             MS. HOGLE:  I believe that was

 2  October 23rd, 2017.

 3             THE WITNESS:  That's the date I have.

 4             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you.

 5       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Do you have any changes

 6  that you would like to make to that response?

 7       A.    No, I do not.

 8             MS. HOGLE:  If it pleases the Commission

 9  at this time, I would like to enter into the record

10  as Mr. Tourangeau's testimony the Company's response

11  filed October 23rd, 2017.

12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Hearing no

13  objection, it's admitted.

14             MS. HOGLE:  And I would like that to be

15  marked Rocky Mountain Power Exhibit 1.

16               (Whereupon, Rocky Mountain Power

17               Exhibit 1 was marked for

18               identification.)

19       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Tourangeau, are you

20  also familiar with the reply that was filed by

21  Clenera October 24th, 2017?

22       A.    Yes, I am.

23       Q.    Did you prepare a summary of your response

24  to the complaint and the reply to the Company's

25  response that you would like to share today?
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 1       A.    I did, yes.

 2       Q.    Please proceed.

 3       A.    Thank you.  I really just want to make

 4  three points.  The first one is our tariff and

 5  procedures in Schedule 38 are very clear, that the

 6  interconnection process and the PPA indicative

 7  pricing and negotiation process are two very separate

 8  processes.  It's mentioned a couple times in

 9  Schedule 38.

10             Schedule 38 also provides a directive to

11  QF developers that they should start the

12  interconnection process as soon as possible because

13  it can be a lengthy and time consuming process.  And

14  PacifiCorp Transmission Services is the part of the

15  company that runs that.  PacifiCorp Merchant, of

16  which I'm apart, is running the PPA contracting

17  process.  We, in fact, cannot have communication with

18  the core transmission services due to fair code of

19  conduct rules, unless we're granted a waiver provided

20  by the QF developer.

21             In any case, those processes are very

22  different, very separate, and the tariff is very

23  clear that our customer or our developer is

24  developing the QF, should initiate that

25  interconnection process as soon as possible and well
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 1  before the PPA negotiation process, in which this

 2  situation that really didn't happen.  They were

 3  really done contemporaneously or, actually, after the

 4  interconnection specifications were corrected by

 5  Clenera for Faraday and Goshen, it happened after

 6  they had requested indicative pricing.

 7             So that is the first point.

 8             My second point is, you know, due to the

 9  tariff, we are unable to start negotiation on a PPA

10  until we have a series of information, series of

11  facts, from the QF developer, including, as

12  Schedule 38 says, their status on their

13  interconnection process.  We take that to mean that

14  they need to establish an interconnection date

15  through a feasibility and system impact study done

16  with the support of Transmission Services to be able

17  to prove out that they can interconnect to our system

18  at or about the same time that they anticipate

19  bringing the project to commercial operations.

20             In Clenera's case -- Clenera, excuse me,

21  we are of a mind that given the challenges of taking

22  1120 QF megawatts and integrating those onto our

23  system using the approved methodology that PacifiCorp

24  Transmission Services has under our OATT to study

25  that, we cannot in good faith under Schedule 38
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 1  negotiate a PPA with them or keep them in our pricing

 2  queue until those studies are completed and they can

 3  prove that their stated TOD date coincides with their

 4  actual interconnection date under those studies.

 5             The third point is more just goes towards

 6  equity overall with respect to all of our customers

 7  and stakeholders.  And, you know, counsel mentioned

 8  it in terms of making sure that the pricing is

 9  representative of the COD date when the QF facility

10  is going to come on-line.

11             I am totally indifferent as to the level

12  of that pricing.  It just needs to be right in terms

13  of when that pricing starts, when our indicative

14  pricing starts, has to be associated with the date

15  that that site goes commercial.  Otherwise, there's a

16  total mismatch there and it is not fair to our

17  customers, in that the avoided cost pricing is not

18  representative of when the site will actually become

19  commercial and operate for the 15 years it's under

20  contract.  It's not fair to other developers who are

21  held to this standard, and it's not fair to the --

22  all of our other stakeholders as well.

23             So we strive to main equity from that

24  perspective, and we feel that the action we have

25  taken, which were very deliberative, we took a lot of
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 1  time, and I'm first to admit that, and it could have

 2  gone more quickly in terms of our response.  But we

 3  had a very deliberative process after the

 4  conversations with the DPU, which unfortunately they

 5  don't recall it was done in a general sense, it

 6  wasn't done with respect to the Clenera situation

 7  specifically.

 8             Our representative Kyle Moore

 9  distinctively remembers having the conversations, and

10  unfortunately the representative from the Commission

11  and Consumer Services don't.

12             But given that feedback and then a very

13  in-depth analysis that we did over the next few

14  weeks, we feel justified in following our process and

15  upon notice of Schedule 38 and taking the actions of

16  the tariff.

17             MS. HOGLE:  I don't have any further

18  questions.  Thank you.

19       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Or do you have any final

20  comments, Mr. Tourangeau?

21       A.    Yeah.  I mean, I just -- I struggle

22  sometimes when we talk about, you know, the

23  economics.  And I don't think we're here to debate

24  the economics of the QF facility and whether it's

25  good or bad for ratepayers.  We could have that
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 1  debate and it could last for hours and hours.

 2             These -- this is unprecedented for us to

 3  have 14 different QF facilities of 80 megawatts each.

 4  Basically it's one solar development coming onto our

 5  system in one location.  The impacts on the

 6  transmission system are large, and I think our

 7  representative from Pat (phonetic) Transmission will

 8  speak to that.

 9             But the impacts are great.  And so you

10  can't really talk about the economic impact just in

11  terms of rates because there are broad economic

12  impacts across the entire states that we serve

13  associated with it.

14             So we want to make sure we're have been

15  deliberative, very fair with respect to this huge

16  project that is coming on-line as 14 separate 80

17  megawatt QF facilities that I'm sure are probably a

18  mile apart.  And we want to make sure that we are

19  following our procedures to a T, because this size of

20  project will have massive implications for our

21  customers for fairness and for our system.  So we

22  want to make sure that we're being thoughtful for all

23  of our customers and stakeholders.

24             MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Tourangeau is available

25  for questions.  Thank you.
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 1             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Barkley.

 2             MR. BARKLEY:  I do have some questions,

 3  Your Honor.

 4                        EXAMINATION

 5  BY MR. BARKLEY:

 6       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Tourangeau.

 7       A.    Good morning, sir.

 8       Q.    Is it your testimony that Rocky Mountain

 9  Power has historically required a completed facility

10  study before tendering a form of PPA and beginning

11  negotiations?

12       A.    My understanding is that we have to have

13  proof that a facilities study has been done that

14  proves that the interconnection can be made at or

15  around the stated C.O.D.  Now, I've been here for a

16  year, so I'm not sure if that is always what we

17  followed in the past.  But based on our read of the

18  tariff, that's what we're looking at.

19       Q.    Is it your understanding that the tariff

20  requires demonstration that an interconnection study

21  has been completed before you can -- before you can

22  provide the form of PPA?

23       A.    And let me pull up the tariff here real

24  quickly so I can speak to that.

25             The tariff says there's evidence that any

0059

 1  necessary interconnection studies that are underway

 2  and that the necessary interconnection arrangements

 3  can timely be completed in accordance with Part 2

 4  sufficient for the projects to reach amortization by

 5  the proposed on-line date.  Our interpretation of

 6  that is that until the study is done, there is no way

 7  for us to have determined, based on this core

 8  transmission services analysis, whether it can meet

 9  it's proposed service date or not.

10       Q.    Specifically, which study are you speaking

11  about?  Are you speaking of the feasibility study,

12  the impact study, or the final study?

13       A.    Typically the feasibility -- typically the

14  feasibility study.

15       Q.    Okay.  And is it your testimony, then,

16  that it has been the historical practice of Rocky

17  Mountain Power to require a completed feasibility

18  study before it will tender a form of PPA for

19  negotiation?

20             MS. HOGLE:  Objection, asked and answered.

21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Overruled.  I

22  think he reformulated the question.

23             You can answer, sir.

24             THE WITNESS:  I'm not able to answer for

25  certain historically whether that's been required.
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 1       Q.    BY MR. BARKLEY:  Okay.  I believe one of

 2  the second points you made was a point of equity, and

 3  you spoke about fairness to other developers.

 4             You do understand, Mr. Tourangeau, don't

 5  you, that all developers are depending upon the

 6  process that's laid out in the company's tariffs in

 7  making their investment decision on these very

 8  expensive projects?

 9       A.    Yes.

10       Q.    And do you believe that it is the

11  company's obligation to adhere to that process?

12       A.    I do, yes.

13       Q.    And you understand that the process that

14  is laid out in PacifiCorp's open access transmission

15  tariff calls for reasonable efforts to get a

16  feasibility study done within 45 days, correct?

17             MS. HOGLE:  Excuse me, objection.  Or

18  maybe not just a clarification.  I wonder if that

19  question is not better answered by Mr. Fritz, who

20  will be on the stand shortly.

21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I'll defer to

22  Mr. Barkley whether you want to reassert the

23  question.

24             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, I would like to

25  Mr. Tourangeau to answer that because he did opine
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 1  about fairness to developers and developers

 2  reasonable expectations.

 3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  If you know the

 4  answer to the question, Mr. Tourangeau, you may

 5  answer.

 6             THE WITNESS:  Please restate the question.

 7       Q.    BY MR. BARKLEY:  Sure.  Is it your

 8  understanding that the company's OATT, Open Access

 9  Transmission Tariff, requires that the company use

10  reasonable efforts to complete a facility study

11  within 45 days?

12       A.    I'm not familiar with the specific term.

13  I believe you read it.  So --

14       Q.    Are you familiar with the depth -- with

15  the timelines with the remaining two studies, the

16  system impact study and the final study?

17       A.    I am not because I don't work in

18  PacifiCorp Transmissions Services.

19       Q.    You mentioned at one point the company had

20  a very deliberative process.  To be clear, the

21  company is still in that very deliberative process,

22  correct?

23       A.    We have made our decision and communicated

24  it through our response.

25       Q.    When you say your decision, when you
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 1  refer -- maybe I didn't understand your testimony.

 2             When you refer to the deliberative

 3  process, were you referring to the interconnection

 4  study process?

 5       A.    No, not at all.  I was referring to the

 6  situation at hand here where we were analyzing our

 7  decision as to whether or not to continue keeping the

 8  clean air projects in the pricing queue or not.  That

 9  is a process I'm referring to that we were

10  deliberating on over time and came to our decision,

11  which we then communicated to Clenera.

12             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, I have no

13  further questions.

14             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

15             Mr. Jetter.

16             MR. JETTER:  I do have just a few brief

17  questions.

18                        EXAMINATION

19  BY MR. JETTER:

20       Q.    So I'm going to pick one of the timelines

21  out of Schedule 38 here.  So I'm looking at sub --

22  it's Roman numeral I B 4, indicative pricing.

23             And it says, Within 30 days following the

24  dated QF project was added to the QF pricing queue

25  under Section I B 3, the company shall provide the QF
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 1  developer with indicative pricing, et cetera.

 2             Would it be reasonable for the company in

 3  that case if the timeline was 30 days to come back a

 4  year later?

 5       A.    No, it would not.

 6             MR. JETTER:  Okay.  That's my only

 7  question.  Thank you.

 8             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Trudeau --

 9  did I get your name correct?

10             THE WITNESS:  Tourangeau.

11             PRESIDING OFFER HAMMER:  I apologize for

12  that.

13             THE WITNESS:  That's okay.

14             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I just have one

15  question.  I'm going to read a couple of sentences

16  from the Complainant's initial complaint, and I

17  wonder if you could lend any context to them.

18             It states, On March 13th, 2017, developer

19  made a timely request for a proposed PPA.  On

20  March 21sts, 2017, the Company responded, quote, we

21  have reviewed your request for a proposed PPA, and we

22  find it to be complete, end quote.  Nevertheless,

23  nearly a month later on the April 18, 2017, the

24  Company requested an additional update on the

25  interconnection studies, asserting it needed to have
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 1  the study results prior to issuing a proposed PPA.

 2  And I'll end there.

 3             Are those statements true?

 4             THE WITNESS:  That is accurate.

 5             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Can you explain

 6  why the Company represented that the application was

 7  complete or that it had all the required information

 8  it needed and later changed its position?

 9             THE WITNESS:  I think that may have just

10  been a case of not having gotten -- looking at it

11  again and looking at the response with respect to the

12  interconnection study, the feasibility study, and not

13  seeing there and responding that we need to see that

14  as well.

15             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have nothing

16  else.  Thank you, sir.

17             THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  Thank you, Your

18  Honor.

19             MS. HOGLE:  Your Honor, I wonder if I can

20  ask a couple clarifying questions, because I think

21  it's a little bit unclear now based on what he's

22  testified about, okay?

23             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have no

24  objection.

25             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.
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 1                        EXAMINATION

 2  BY MS. HOGLE:

 3       Q.    Mr. Tourangeau, can you testify when the

 4  first time it was that Clenera sought indicative

 5  pricing or reached out to the commercial unit of

 6  PacifiCorp?

 7       A.    I believe they sought indicative pricing

 8  in November, and I believe Mr. Shively spoke about

 9  that.  And then there was a change to the

10  interconnection point.  And so that kind of restarted

11  the process.

12             So on December 14th of 2016, they

13  requested indicative pricing for the Faraday 780

14  megawatt Farady projects.  And then on February 1st

15  of 2017 they sought the indicative pricing for the

16  780 megawatt Goshen Valley projects.

17       Q.    Is it your understanding that Clenera

18  sought indicative pricing before reaching out to

19  PacifiCorp Transmission regarding the transmission

20  queue and the transmission services for this project?

21       A.    My understanding of the timeline for the

22  transmission services, you know, starting in late

23  November, they requested -- or they applied for a

24  queue number, and then later on in early January they

25  changed that from just a generally large generation
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 1  interconnect agreement request to a specific

 2  qualifying facility request, which would require a

 3  network resource application.

 4       Q.    Do you have Schedule 38 in front of you?

 5       A.    I do, yes.

 6       Q.    Can you please turn to Paragraph 3 in the

 7  first page?

 8       A.    I'm there.

 9       Q.    Can you read for me, beginning the

10  generation interconnection process, all the way to

11  the end?

12       A.    The generation interconnection process are

13  a critical and lengthy process that typically must be

14  well underway before a power purchase agreement

15  should be requested.  QF developers are strongly

16  encouraged to gain a clear understanding of the

17  transmission interconnection process and associated

18  costs and timelines before requesting indicative

19  pricing or a power-purchase agreement under this

20  schedule.  The interconnection process is described

21  in Section 2 dot B of this.

22       Q.    Is it your understanding that Clenera

23  followed this directive?

24       A.    I think you could question whether they

25  followed that directive.
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 1             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.  I have no further

 2  questions.

 3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I'll allow

 4  Mr. Barkley to ask some follow-up questions that he

 5  may have.

 6             MR. BARKLEY:  I have no further questions,

 7  Your Honor.

 8             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

 9             Mr. Jetter, any follow-up?

10             MR. JETTER:  No, I don't have any

11  follow-up.  Thank you.

12             THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

13             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.  You

14  are excused.

15             Ms. Hogle.

16             MS. HOGLE:  I'm going to call Mr. Brian

17  Fritz.

18             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Fritz, do

19  you swear to tell the truth?

20             THE WITNESS:  Yes.

21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

22                        EXAMINATION

23  BY MS. HOGLE:

24       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Fritz.

25       A.    Good morning.

0068

 1       Q.    Can you please and spell your name for the

 2  record?

 3       A.    Brian Fritz, F-R-I-T-Z.

 4       Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what

 5  capacity?

 6       A.    PacifiCorp as director of Transmission

 7  Services and Transmission Development.

 8       Q.    And is this the first time that you have

 9  testified in Utah?

10       A.    Yes.

11       Q.    Given that, can you please provide a brief

12  background of your experience?

13       A.    Sure.  I currently have over 30 years

14  experience in the energy industry, with Portland

15  General Electric, Enron, and PacifiCorp.  My current

16  responsibilities in PacifiCorp include general

17  oversight of the generation interconnection process.

18       Q.    Are you familiar with the complaint that

19  was filed by Clenera?

20       A.    Yes.

21       Q.    Are you familiar with Rocky Mountain

22  Power's response to that complaint filed

23  October 23rd, 2017?

24       A.    Yes.

25       Q.    Are you familiar with the issues related
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 1  to the transmission queue that arose in that

 2  complaint?

 3       A.    Yes.

 4       Q.    So you're comfortable responding to

 5  questions related to those issues here today?

 6       A.    Yes.

 7       Q.    Are you also familiar with a reply to the

 8  Company's response filed by Clenera October 24th,

 9  2017?

10       A.    Yes.

11       Q.    Are you prepared to respond to some of the

12  allegations made in that reply?

13       A.    Yes.

14       Q.    Do you have any exhibits that support your

15  response to Clenera's reply today?

16       A.    Yes.

17             MS. HOGLE:  Your Honor, may I approach to

18  provide an exhibit that Rocky Mountain Power would

19  like marked as Rocky Mountain Power Exhibit 2 to the

20  bench and the parties at this time before I continue

21  my direct examination?

22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Of course.

23             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.

24  / / /

25  / / /
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 1               (Whereupon, Rocky Mountain Power

 2               Exhibit 2 was marked for

 3               identification.)

 4       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Fritz, can you briefly

 5  describe what I just passed out as Rocky Mountain

 6  Power Exhibit 2?

 7       A.    Yes.  What this shows in the top graph is

 8  requests that have come into the interconnection

 9  queue by size.  Well, what you can see is between

10  2015 and '17, we have seen a large increase of the

11  projects that have been requested in the queue.  The

12  bottom graph shows specific to Utah the same

13  information.  Again, you can see a very large uptick

14  in 2016.

15       Q.    And, Mr. Fritz, just to describe it a

16  little more, how do you compare this graph with what

17  Clenera included in its graphs in its reply to the

18  Company's response?

19       A.    What they provided was just the number of

20  requests, which is just part of the story.  What we

21  have here is an additional piece of the story, which

22  has a big impact on the interconnection queue study

23  process.

24       Q.    Thank you.

25             MS. HOGLE:  Would it please the Commission
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 1  at this time, we would that RMP Exhibit 2 be entered

 2  into the record and admitted into evidence.

 3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Any objection?

 4             MR. BARKLEY:  No objection, Your Honor.

 5             MR. JETTER:  No objection.

 6             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  It's admitted.

 7             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.

 8       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Fritz, did you prepare

 9  a summary of Rocky Mountain Power's response to the

10  interconnection queue issues that you would like to

11  address at this time?

12       A.    Yes, I did.

13       Q.    Please proceed.

14       A.    Today I'll address the interconnection

15  study process and how the influx of large number of

16  higher megawatt projects in 2016 and '17 have

17  increased the complexity of the process and the time

18  to complete the studies.  I'll also address the

19  limited value of bringing on third-party analysts to

20  complete studies.

21             As have been stated today, PacifiCorp

22  follows the FERC open transmission tariff.  The FERC

23  regulatory commission, they govern the

24  interconnection process, including studies on a

25  nondiscriminatory basis.
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 1             For QF interconnections in Utah, the

 2  company's Schedule 38 states that we follow the

 3  tariff.

 4             We do -- as I said today, we do follow the

 5  sequential order study process, which is allowed

 6  under the tariff, with higher queued requests studied

 7  first.  This allows the company to determine the

 8  system impacts for each generator and associated

 9  mitigation, if any.  And that's required to ensure

10  that we safely and reliably interconnect each

11  generator, and it's necessary to properly identify

12  the project that is triggering any system

13  improvements and to incorporate those improvements

14  into the study results for that project and any lower

15  queued projects.

16             Contrary to Clenera's claim, the time

17  required to study generator interconnections is not

18  simply a function of how many are in the queue.

19  That's a small piece of it.

20             One of the important factors include the

21  size, where the interconnections are proposed, if

22  they're on transmission or distribution, and the

23  activity in the higher queued projects.  And what I

24  mean by that is if projects at higher queue are

25  removed from the queue.
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 1             So what we see in Exhibit 2 is it

 2  demonstrates that in recent years we have seen a

 3  large increase in the size of the projects.  Had they

 4  been on the transmission system and not the

 5  distribution system, as is Clenera's request, there's

 6  a significant difference between studying a project

 7  such as a 3-megawatt project on distribution, versus

 8  a thousand fifty megawatt project such as Clenera's

 9  on the transmission system.

10             And these factors will increase the

11  complexity of the study and the timeline required to

12  do those things.

13             Another complexity is in the process,

14  since we use a sequential process, if a higher queued

15  project removes from the queue, we're required to

16  then go back and restudy lower-queued projects to

17  look at the impacts that were identified with the

18  higher queued and how -- and do they apply to the

19  lower-queued projects.  And then we would apply those

20  to the lower-queued projects.

21             So right now the Company is experiencing

22  an unprecedented spike in interconnection requests of

23  large megawatts.  You can see -- again you can see

24  the spike in Exhibit 2.  We currently have more

25  megawatts in our interconnection queue than we have
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 1  existing generation today.  And it is approximately a

 2  200 percent increase in excess of current PacifiCorp

 3  east network load.

 4             As an example, this single thousand fifty

 5  megawatt project that Clenera is proposing, equals

 6  approximately one-tenth of PacifiCorp's existing

 7  generation fleet.

 8             The interconnection study process is --

 9  uses a complex powerful model to determine impacts to

10  the system and upgrades required to maintain

11  reliability of the system.  As proposed generation

12  increases at a pace faster than load, which we are

13  currently experiencing, the analysis becomes

14  increasingly complex.

15             With a request of this size, a thousand

16  fifty megawatts connected at the same point, the

17  impacts are likely to be identified across a very

18  wide footprint of PacifiCorp's transmission system.

19  This also increases the complexity.

20             The value of independent third-party

21  interconnection study is limited at best.  An

22  independent party only has access to publicly

23  available information, and not all interconnection

24  studies are public.  There's also information about

25  PacifiCorp's transmission system that is not publicly
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 1  available.

 2             Therefore, the independent third-party

 3  analyst does not have sufficient information to

 4  complete an appropriate interconnection study.

 5  Simply focusing on one project does not provide the

 6  information required and could jeopardy reliability

 7  of the system.

 8             So in summary, the process schedules

 9  impacted by the size, location, its proposed

10  interconnect to transmission or distribution, and the

11  action of those projects that are higher in the

12  queue.

13             The use of third-party analysis does not

14  provide the full picture and cannot be used

15  effectively picking one request to the queue and

16  performing an analysis without the full information

17  of all higher-queued projects.

18       Q.    Mr. Fritz, just one -- maybe one or two

19  questions.

20             Is PacifiCorp Transmission processing

21  interconnection request applications as quickly as

22  possible, given the sequential process it uses and

23  the complexity of the process, including as well the

24  number and the size of the projects that are seeking

25  requests?
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 1       A.    Yes.  We're using all reasonable efforts,

 2  as is stated in the tariff, to complete these studies

 3  in a timely manner.

 4       Q.    Thank you.

 5             MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Fritz is available for

 6  questions.

 7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Barkley?

 8             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 9                        EXAMINATION

10  BY MR. BARKLEY:

11       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Fritz.

12       A.    Good morning.

13       Q.    Is it the historic practice -- excuse me.

14  Is it the historic practice of Rocky Mountain Power

15  or PacifiCorp to require a completed feasibility

16  study before tendering a form of PPA for negotiation?

17       A.    I can't answer that.  I am not part of the

18  marketing function.  I don't deal with PPAs.  What I

19  can say and what I heard earlier is that is the case.

20       Q.    You are not personally able to provide us

21  today an example of an instance in which either Rocky

22  Mountain Power or PacifiCorp has required a completed

23  feasibility study before tendering a PPA; is that

24  correct?

25       A.    That is correct.
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 1       Q.    Regarding the chart that you supplied,

 2  what was the source of the data for this chart?

 3       A.    It's the data that is in our

 4  interconnection queue.

 5       Q.    Is that data from your OASIS system?

 6       A.    I would have to go look at OASIS and see

 7  if we actually provide the megawatt information in

 8  the queue -- the queue information that we provide.

 9       Q.    If that's not provided, would that likely

10  be because of confidentiality concerns?

11       A.    Yes.

12       Q.    Would you expect this information to be

13  otherwise consistent with the data that's in the

14  OASIS system?

15       A.    Yes, if it's provided.

16       Q.    I believe you stated that you were

17  familiar with the October 23rd response that was

18  filed by PacifiCorp, correct?

19       A.    Correct.

20       Q.    Is it your recollection that in discussing

21  the work load facing PacifiCorp that that

22  October 23rd response focused on the number of

23  interconnection requests or on the magnitude of those

24  requests?

25       A.    Reading the document, it focused on the
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 1  number, which as I've stated, really doesn't provide

 2  the whole picture.

 3       Q.    Now, one of the difficulties that you

 4  discussed was the difficulty of having to deal with

 5  changes ahead of an applicant in the queue?

 6       A.    Yes.

 7       Q.    Did I word that well enough for you to

 8  understand?

 9       A.    Yes.  You're talking about a higher queued

10  project that would remove itself or get removed from

11  the queue.

12       Q.    And that's a significant problem?

13       A.    It's a consistent problem.  We recently

14  have seen two very large projects removed from the

15  queue in Southern Utah, which will have impact on the

16  other projects in the queue.

17       Q.    Is that more likely to be a problem when

18  there are two applicants or when there are 20

19  applicants?

20       A.    It's more likely to be an issue based on

21  all factors, not just the number.  Again, we see

22  people remove themselves from the queue for various

23  reasons.  I think a consistent reason is with these

24  larger projects, the cost to integrate them to the

25  system is sometimes very large, and I would assume
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 1  that that then drives their economics the wrong way

 2  and they remove themselves from the queue.

 3             So I would say it's probably more a

 4  function -- it's not just a function of number, it's

 5  a function of number and size and location.

 6       Q.    But to be clear, if there are three

 7  requests in the queue and I'm No. 3, there are only

 8  two people ahead of me who might change their minds

 9  and affect my timing, correct?

10       A.    No.  It's not just that there's two people

11  ahead of you, it's how many are ahead of you that may

12  or do remove themselves from the queue that then have

13  an impact on you.  And so that project could be in

14  Southern Utah, Northern Utah, Idaho.  If it has an

15  impact on those queue positions below it, then those

16  queue positions have to be restudied to evaluate the

17  impacts and the upgrades associated with that removed

18  project, and those get applied down into the queue.

19       Q.    Maybe my question wasn't clear, because

20  I'm not sure your answer was inconsistent with what I

21  was suggesting.  So let me try again.

22             If there are only three applicants in the

23  queue and I'm last, I'm No. 3, there are two

24  applicants in front of me, and if either of those two

25  applicants decides to withdraw from the queue or
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 1  change the parameters of their application, that

 2  could affect me, right?

 3       A.    Yes.  In theory if there were only three

 4  customers in the queue in the same general location

 5  or in a location that would impact you, if they

 6  remove themselves, yes.

 7       Q.    Okay.  And if there are 40 applications in

 8  the queue, and again, I have the misfortune of being

 9  last, I'm No. 40, there are 39 applications in the

10  queue ahead of me, any one of which could change,

11  either withdraw from the queue or change its

12  parameters, and require a restudy that would affect

13  me, right?

14       A.    That is possible, yes.

15       Q.    And is it reasonable to suggest that if

16  there are 40 applications in the queue, it's more

17  likely that some of them are in the same area or

18  region as I am and some of them may be on the same

19  transmission lines I am?

20       A.    It's possible.

21       Q.    Is it your position today that the Rocky

22  Mountain Power tariffs and/or the PacifiCorp tariffs

23  do not allow for a cluster study of the sort that was

24  described by Mr. Ellsworth?

25       A.    No.  A cluster study or sequential studies
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 1  are both allowed in the Open Access Transmission

 2  Tariff.

 3       Q.    One last topic, Mr. Fritz.

 4             In the company's October 23rd response

 5  there was a reference made to Docket No. 17-35-13, in

 6  which PacifiCorp Transmission had experienced an

 7  unprecedented surge in interconnection applications.

 8             Are you familiar with that reference?

 9       A.    Yes.

10       Q.    It is correct, isn't it, that in that

11  docket PacifiCorp cited its workload as support for a

12  request to extend deadlines?

13       A.    Yes.

14             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you.  I have no

15  further questions.

16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Jetter?

17             MR. JETTER:  I do have a few questions.

18  Good morning.

19             THE WITNESS:  Good morning.

20                        EXAMINATION

21  BY MR. JETTER:

22       Q.    I guess let's start out with, when -- when

23  did the Pac Trans unit realize that it was seeing a

24  sufficient volume of applications coming in that it

25  was no longer able to keep to the 45-day turnaround
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 1  on those?

 2       A.    I don't have exact dates in front of me,

 3  but it would have been in, I believe, late 2015,

 4  early 2016.

 5       Q.    And do you notify QF applications

 6  immediately upon their application to you for a

 7  interconnection study that this is the case?

 8       A.    No.  Not immediately.

 9       Q.    At what point in the process do you

10  typically notify them?

11       A.    When we get an application in, there's

12  many steps we go through.  But when we get a deemed

13  complete application, then we hold a scoping meeting.

14  When we have the scoping meeting, that's where we

15  would provide information on the study process.

16       Q.    Okay.  And so would it be fair to say that

17  there's really no way for a QF to know what the

18  timeline would be before they get to that point?

19       A.    Again, I would have to go back and look

20  and see what information we have on OASIS.  I'm

21  trying to remember if the dates are included there or

22  not.  But that could be a way for them to see that.

23       Q.    Okay.  In this case do you know when that

24  scoping meeting happened?

25       A.    The scoping meeting was January 3rd, 2017.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  And do you know how soon after that

 2  you had informed the applicant for these QF's that

 3  that study would be delayed?

 4       A.    That would have been 3-14, 2017.

 5       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.

 6             Since the influx of these QF applications

 7  in 2015, has the staff that do the calculations and

 8  studies on this increase at Pac Trans?

 9       A.    First I would like to clarify that it's

10  not just an increase in QF's.  We don't treat the QF

11  request any different than we do a PERC

12  jurisdictional request.  They enter the same queue

13  and they're studied in the same manner.

14             We have added a consultant to help with

15  the studies during this timeframe.

16       Q.    Okay.  And when you say a consultant, is

17  that a consulting firm or is that an individual

18  person?

19       A.    It's a consulting firm.

20       Q.    Okay.  Has that significantly reduced the

21  time to turn around these applications?

22       A.    Initially, yes, it did.  With the

23  additional influx with the size, it hasn't gone as

24  fast.  When we first brought them in, we were dealing

25  more with small generation.  And so it's -- I would
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 1  say it's helped, but it's slowed down a little bit.

 2       Q.    Okay.  And is it -- is it accurate to say

 3  that a new application today, if we hypothetically

 4  created an 80-megawatt new QF at the bottom of the

 5  queue in the same location in Southern Utah, that

 6  they would be reasonable to expect a one-year-plus

 7  timeframe?

 8       A.    Yes.

 9       Q.    Are you doing anything actively now to

10  reduce those times?

11       A.    Not beyond what we have done.  We have

12  looked at options.  We have not found an option.

13       Q.    I guess maybe to follow-up on that, could

14  you briefly describe what options you have

15  considered?

16       A.    We have looked at options of breaking the

17  system up.  In other words, looking at studies

18  associated with Southern Utah, Eastern Wyoming.  What

19  we have found is that with the increase in the

20  megawatt size that that doesn't work.  We have looked

21  to see if there's additional contractors out there

22  that could help.  And we have looked at adding

23  resources, although we've only looked at that.  We

24  haven't done any real analysis or decided to do it.

25       Q.    And in terms of these studies, if you were
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 1  to increase your staff doing the studies, would that

 2  speed up the process?

 3       A.    No.

 4       Q.    And why is that?

 5       A.    Because we use the sequential method.  So

 6  the higher-queued project has to be studied first.

 7  And so throwing bodies at the queue doesn't

 8  necessarily mean that you speed the process up.

 9       Q.    So in that sequential study, is it

10  computer calculation time?  What is taking so long

11  that increasing adding another team of other analysts

12  would not speed that up?

13       A.    Generally it's the complexity of the

14  analysis.  And so when we see this, you know,

15  increase in size and megawatts in the requests, it

16  involves a larger footprint of the transmission

17  system that has to be analyzed.

18             And so with the power-flow analysis, what

19  we're really trying to do is at the end of the day

20  balance generation with load.  So as your generation

21  increases beyond what your load increases, then it

22  becomes more and more complex.  It takes more time to

23  do the study.

24             We use a term in the power-flow analysis

25  that we say the analysis has to solve.  And that
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 1  means that we have figured out what additions need to

 2  be made, what are the impacts, what are the solutions

 3  to those impacts, that we maintain a safe, reliable

 4  system for all customers.

 5       Q.    And in so doing that you're using, I

 6  assume, a model of your current grid of transmission

 7  lines --

 8       A.    Yes.

 9       Q.    -- in the distribution system; is that

10  right?

11       A.    Yes.

12       Q.    And the calculations done on the power

13  flow across any given line, are those generated

14  through a computer model?  Are you doing some type of

15  a manual input calculation?

16       A.    It's a computer model, but there's

17  human -- a lot of human interface when it starts

18  coming to the time of the model didn't solve, now how

19  do we fix it so it does solve.  So that requires, you

20  know, a pretty good knowledge of our system to be

21  able to do that.

22             And what I mean by that is, if it doesn't

23  solve, then what the engineering planner does is

24  says, Okay, what if -- what if we install X, and that

25  could be a new transformer.  It could be a finish
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 1  shifter.  It could be a new transmission line.  And

 2  does that solve the case.  And, of course, when they

 3  do that, then that has more impacts on the rest of

 4  the system, so they have to look at it again.

 5       Q.    And you just do one test solution at a

 6  time to see if it works and then go on to the next

 7  one?

 8       A.    Yes.  I believe so, although I'm not a

 9  planner.

10       Q.    And I guess ultimately my question is, you

11  know, as a regulator from the State of Utah what

12  we're seeing is potentially putting customers at risk

13  of delaying good projects or potentially causing good

14  projects to be terminated simply by a delay in the

15  calculations or the analysis from Pac Trans, and

16  frankly that's kind of why we're here today.

17             Is it -- is it accurate to say that your

18  testimony is that there's nothing you can do to speed

19  this up?

20       A.    No.  We continue to look for ways to speed

21  the process up.  And that does include, you know, the

22  possibility of moving to a cluster-type study.  But

23  these are things that, sorry to say, can't happen

24  overnight.

25       Q.    Okay.
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 1             MR. JETTER:  I think that's all of my

 2  questions.  Thank you.

 3             THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

 4             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have a

 5  couple.  Do you want to wait or go ahead and do

 6  yours?

 7             MS. HOGLE:  I apologize.  I will leave

 8  that up to you, whatever you want me to do.  If you

 9  want me to go before or after.

10             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Go ahead.

11             MS. HOGLE:  Okay, thank you.

12                        EXAMINATION

13  BY MS. HOGLE:

14       Q.    Mr. Fritz, to your knowledge, does the

15  OATT allow for reasonable delays in the processing of

16  interconnection application requests to accommodate

17  spikes, such as spikes in the requests, such as the

18  surge and the spike that PacifiCorp transmission is

19  experiencing and has been experiencing for over a

20  year now?

21       A.    Yes.

22       Q.    You were also asked earlier about the

23  cluster process and whether that is allowed under

24  PacifiCorp's OATT.  Do you recall that question?

25       A.    Yes, I do.
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 1       Q.    Is it your understanding whether this

 2  hearing is to debate our process?  Or is it to find

 3  out whether PacifiCorp is following its Schedule 38

 4  in order to run through the applications pursuant to

 5  Schedule 38?

 6       A.    It's my understanding that this hearing is

 7  about how PacifiCorp is following Schedule 38.

 8       Q.    Could one of the reasons or a factor that

 9  is driving the surge in the applications of

10  interconnection requests be the upcoming expirations

11  of the PTC's, is that a factor, perhaps, that is

12  driving the significant surge that PacifiCorp

13  Transmission is seeing with its interconnection

14  requests?

15       A.    Yes.  Actually, that's a phenomena that we

16  see every year that we get close to, you know, that

17  date.  And it has happened in various times in past

18  history.  And when that -- you know, we start getting

19  close to that date, we see an uptick.

20       Q.    Does PacifiCorp Transmission have control

21  over the number and the size of interconnection

22  requests it receives?

23       A.    No.

24       Q.    You were also asked about whether you

25  understood that as regulators these delays that are
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 1  caused by the significant number and the volume of

 2  requests that PacifiCorp Transmission is getting

 3  could potentially be harmful to customers.

 4             Is it your understanding that as a

 5  regulator also running through these applications

 6  without the sequential process that is used by

 7  PacifiCorp and without following Schedule 38 could

 8  also potentially be harmful to customers?

 9       A.    Yes.  By not following our process, if we

10  were to pull a customer out of that process and study

11  them outside the process, then that would harm

12  everybody with a higher-queued project.  Or I should

13  say has the potential to.

14       Q.    Is Clenera the -- to your knowledge, the

15  only QF that is experiencing these conditions in the

16  current environment of ever increasing requests as a

17  result of the PTC's expirations?

18       A.    No.  I would say that that's -- that's an

19  issue with every applicant in the queue.  It's not

20  specific to QF's or for jurisdictional, it's the

21  timeline in the queue today, and it impacts everybody

22  in the queue.

23             MS. HOGLE:  I have no further questions,

24  thank you.

25             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, can I be
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 1  permitted just a couple quick follow-ups to that?

 2             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Of course.

 3                        EXAMINATION

 4  BY MR. BARKLEY:

 5       Q.    I want to talk specifically about your

 6  statement that utility, by which I assume you mean

 7  Pac Tran, has no control over the number of

 8  applications.

 9             In looking at your chart, what was the

10  date, by the way, of this data?

11       A.    Yesterday.

12       Q.    Yesterday.  Okay.

13             Has Rocky Mountain Power recently issued

14  an RFP for proposed projects?

15       A.    Yes.  I believe they have actually issued

16  two.

17       Q.    Okay.  And so that is an invitation for

18  people to propose new projects that will have to be

19  studied, correct?

20       A.    I'm not privy to the details of the RFP.

21  But I believe it's my understanding that a developer

22  has to be in the queue before they can submit a

23  project in the RFP.

24       Q.    So if I want to submit -- if I want to

25  respond to the RFP, I've got to get in the queue
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 1  before I can do so?

 2       A.    I believe that's correct, although maybe

 3  Mark has a different take on that.

 4       Q.    You also said that it was your

 5  understanding that the OATT allows for reasonable

 6  delays due to spikes in applications.  Are you able

 7  here today to point us to the language in that OATT

 8  or that general area where we would find that?

 9       A.    You pointed it out earlier when you quoted

10  the 45 days.  It says, reasonable effort.

11       Q.    Okay.  Perfect.

12             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you.  That's all I

13  have.

14             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.  And

15  just a couple questions from me, Mr. Fritz.

16             I believe you testified earlier that your

17  understanding is that the OATT allows Pac Trans

18  discretion as to whether to employ what we have

19  referred to today as a serial method or a cluster

20  method; is that right?

21             THE WITNESS:  Correct.

22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Whichever

23  option Pac Trans selects, whether cluster or serial,

24  does the OATT require to apply that -- require Pac

25  Trans to apply that method to all applicants?
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 1       A.    I would say that the tariff is not clear

 2  on that.  The tariff allows you to use either

 3  process.  I don't believe it's clear on exactly how

 4  you apply the process and if you can split it up.

 5       Q.    So you don't know the answer to the

 6  question as to whether if this Commission issued an

 7  order finding that Pac Trans ought to use the cluster

 8  method, that Pac Trans would be in violation of its

 9  OATT if it did employ that method in FERC

10  jurisdictional applications?

11       A.    I don't think I have an answer to that.

12  We're allowed to use cluster studies, per the tariff.

13  So I don't think I can answer that if we were

14  directed.

15             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  No, that's

16  fine.  I don't know is a perfectly acceptable answer.

17  I'm just wondering.

18             Have you testified in other administrative

19  proceedings, whether before a state commission or

20  before FERC that related to Pac Trans's processing of

21  interconnection applications or the studies related

22  to them, and specifically the timeliness of that

23  processing?

24             THE WITNESS:  No.

25             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have nothing
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 1  else.  Thank you.

 2             Ms. Hogle.

 3             MS. HOGLE:  The Company rests its case.

 4  Thank you.

 5             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

 6             It has been -- well, I was going to point

 7  out it's been a little over two hours and if the

 8  parties might desire a break.  But it looked as

 9  though Mr. Barkley wanted to say something.

10             MR. BARKLEY:  I wanted to be sure that

11  whoever gets my certificate of good standing gets it,

12  it's looks really pretty.  But other than that, we're

13  fine.

14             RESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I assume

15  Mr. Jetter wants to put on some evidence; is that

16  right?

17             MR. JETTER:  Yes.

18             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Would the

19  parties like to take a break or press on?

20             MR. BARKLEY:  I'm fine with pressing on.

21             MR. JETTER:  I need a break.

22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  We're going to

23  request for a break.  We'll be back at 11:20, 10

24  minutes.  We're in recess.  Thank you.

25               (Whereupon, a recess was taken at

0095

 1               11:07 a.m. to 11:21 a.m.)

 2             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Let's go back

 3  on the record, please.

 4             Mr. Jetter.

 5             MR. JETTER:  Thank you.  The Division

 6  would like to call Charles Peterson.

 7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Peterson,

 8  do you swear to tell the truth?

 9             THE WITNESS:  Yes.

10             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.

11                        EXAMINATION

12  BY MR. JETTER:

13       Q.    Mr. Peterson, would you please state your

14  name and occupation for the record.

15       A.    Charles E. Peterson.  Spelled with an

16  S-O-N.

17       Q.    Thank you.

18       A.    And my occupation, I'm sorry.  I'm a

19  utility technical consultant with the Division of

20  Public Utilities.

21       Q.    Thank you.

22             And in the course of your employment, did

23  you have the opportunity to review the filings in

24  this docket?

25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    And did you create and cause to be filed

 2  with the Commission an action request response dated

 3  October 23rd, 2017?

 4       A.    Yes.

 5       Q.    Do you have any corrections or changes

 6  that you would like to make to anything you have put

 7  in that?

 8       A.    None that I'm aware of.

 9       Q.    And rather than going through all of that

10  today, would you be -- would you adopt that as your

11  testimony?

12       A.    Yes.

13       Q.    Thank you.

14             MR. JETTER:  I guess I would like to move

15  at this point to enter the action request response of

16  October 23rd, 2017, into the record.

17             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  It's admitted.

18             MR. JETTER:  Thank you.

19       Q.    BY MR. JETTER:  Just a couple of brief

20  maybe follow-up questions from things that have been

21  discussed this morning.  Would you tell me your

22  thoughts on the use of the -- I'm not remembering the

23  correct term.  The group-study method rather than

24  sequential method.

25             Do you think that -- to be more specific,
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 1  do you think a wholesale switch to that type of

 2  method would be possibly more appropriate after a

 3  broader docket to evaluate whether that's the

 4  appropriate method for the Commission to order?

 5       A.    I think in a regulatory process that would

 6  be the proper procedure, to have a separate docket

 7  that would study the pros and cons of each method and

 8  allow different parties to weigh in from an

 9  engineering standpoint or technical standpoint, as

10  opposed to someone like me, an economist, to opine

11  about.

12       Q.    Thank you.

13             MR. JETTER:  I have no further questions

14  with that.  Mr. Peterson is available for cross from

15  the parties or the Commission.

16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Barkley?

17             MR. BARKLEY:  I have no questions.  Thank

18  you, Mr. Peterson.

19             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Ms. Hogle?

20             MS. HOGLE:  I have no questions.  Thank

21  you.

22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I suppose -- I

23  just have one.

24             If you could summarize the Division's

25  recommendation as to what the Commission ought to do
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 1  with respect to any ordering issues in this

 2  proceeding, that would be helpful.

 3             THE WITNESS:  Well, I think the Division's

 4  position is outlined in the memorandum or action

 5  request response that we supplied.

 6             But basically the Division believes that

 7  delays in the timeline created by the company, which

 8  would also include Pac Tran, are a basis for

 9  extending or suspending the timeline in a given

10  case-by-case situation.  It appears to me that

11  Clenera was operating under the assumption that

12  PacifiCorp was going to be able to function at or

13  near its tariff timelines when it began the process.

14  By the end of March it appears -- it appears that by

15  the end of March Clenera clearly understood that --

16  March of 2017, to be more clear -- the Company was

17  not going to be able to process its interconnection

18  requests for almost another year.

19             The Division leaves open the question

20  whether the Company is acting reasonably in

21  processing its interconnection request.  But we know

22  that this has become a problem and was part of the

23  subject of a previous docket before the Commission.

24             So the Division thinks it's reasonable,

25  believes it's reasonable, and recommends that the
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 1  Commission give essentially a day-by-day extension

 2  until such time as the Company provides an

 3  interconnection study to Clenera, at which time the

 4  clock could be restarted.

 5             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Perhaps I

 6  should have been more specific.

 7             Does the Division also concur that the

 8  Commission should grant that day-per-day extension

 9  with respect to the commercial operation date?

10             THE WITNESS:  No.  The Division does not

11  go that far.

12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  All right.  I

13  have nothing else.  Thank you, Mr. Peterson.

14             THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

15             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  If any counsel

16  wishes to make any closing statement or argument, I'm

17  happy to hear it.

18             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, if I could take

19  care of one housekeeping matter?

20             I should probably offer Clenera's

21  Complaint as Exhibit 1 and their October 24th

22  response to the motion to dismiss as Exhibit 2.

23             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Hearing no

24  objection, they're admitted.

25             Are you interested in making a closing
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 1  statement or argument?

 2             MR. BARKLEY:  I'll make a very brief one,

 3  Your Honor.  And thank you the opportunity.

 4             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I'm sorry,

 5  Mr. Peterson, you can take a seat.

 6             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Peterson.

 7             Clenera's position is they should not only

 8  be expected to be familiar with the utilities,

 9  procedures, and processes as they are laid out in the

10  company's tariffs, but they should also be able to

11  rely upon them.  The Company is way outside the

12  deadlines that are stated in those tariffs, and an

13  initial step, which was to take 45 days, is currently

14  taking, by anybody's reckoning, over 200, and we are

15  still months away from the projected target for that

16  initial step.  There are two steps after that

17  traditionally take 90 days, adding another 180 to

18  that.

19             And the Company's feedback to Clenera on

20  the adequacy of the information provided has been

21  inconsistent.  As I think you noted, there have been

22  times that they had been told everything that they

23  needed to do, only to be told subsequently that,

24  well, it turns out that's not really not enough, we

25  need something else.
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 1             Certainly the Company is allowed delay,

 2  but it is required to make reasonable efforts.  And I

 3  think as we listened to the testimony today, it's

 4  pretty clear that there have not been reasonable

 5  efforts.

 6             In fact, the testimony today from company

 7  witnesses was that they can anticipate spikes any

 8  time the PTC is up for renewal.  So this was, by

 9  their testimony, something they could have

10  anticipated.  The testimony was that they have no

11  control over applications, but in fact, they issue --

12  they and their affiliates issue RFP's that do, in

13  fact, have an impact on the level of applications,

14  and they should have some insight to when and how

15  that's going to happen.

16             And, lastly, I just say that the extension

17  of the operational date deadline is critical.  There

18  is a limit on how far out an applicant is allowed to

19  push that deadline or that operational date in their

20  initial application.  And given that limitation at

21  the outside, if the Company is allowed to delay its

22  studies this long, they have the -- they have the

23  ability to effectively kill a project.  And

24  developers should not be in a position where they're

25  caught in that pincher.
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 1             But they need to request PPAs early enough

 2  that they can get through the negotiation and get it

 3  executed in time to then meet their operation date,

 4  because if the operation date comes more than three

 5  months too early, they could be kicked out of the

 6  queue and lose their pricing.

 7             On the other hand, if they're subject to

 8  these kind of delays, they get pinched in the other

 9  direction.  So they're put in something of an

10  untenable position.

11             I think, as Mr. Ellsworth indicated, I

12  think the Company would be open to some sort of

13  modification, if it involves redoing the study for

14  year 2016.  I think, frankly, if it involved

15  shortening the term of the PPA by -- by a year in

16  order to account for those delays, those are all

17  things that they would be open to and that would

18  leave consumers, frankly, in no worse position than

19  they would have been in, but preserves the investment

20  decisions that were reasonably made by Clenera.

21             Thank you, Your Honor, for your time.

22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you, sir.

23             Ms. Hogle.

24             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

25             Rocky Mountain Power, PacifiCorp, its goal
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 1  is not to kill any projects.  It has nothing against

 2  Clenera's QF's.  However, I do think that the

 3  evidence today has shown, contrary to what has been

 4  testified by Clenera and its witnesses, that Rocky

 5  Mountain Power is facing an unprecedented --

 6  unprecedented number of interconnection requests.

 7  One of the factors that is driving that is the PTC

 8  expiration, upcoming expiration.

 9             Unfortunately, the decision of Clenera to

10  reach out to PacifiCorp merchant, or our commercial

11  unit, to seek indicative pricing before going to

12  PacifiCorp's transmission unit to familiarize itself

13  and educate itself about the transmission queue and

14  transmission process at that time, I think is the

15  reason why we are here.

16             I think a couple of key points that need

17  to be made again here, and that is that the QF

18  pricing queue is managed by PacifiCorp's commercial

19  unit merchant.  It's independent and separate from

20  the interconnection transmission queue and service

21  maintained by PacifiCorp's transmission unit in

22  accordance with the OATT, which has been generally

23  adopted by this Commission.

24             The interconnection queue-in process and

25  critical and lengthy and should be well underway
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 1  before seeking indicative pricing and the power

 2  purchase agreement with PacifiCorp's commercial unit.

 3  That is one of the very first things that is included

 4  in Schedule 38, Paragraph 3, under the preface

 5  section.  Developers are strongly encouraged to gain

 6  a clear understanding of that process before reaching

 7  out to PacifiCorp's commercial unit for indicative

 8  pricing.  That did not happen in this case.

 9             This is particularly important in the

10  situation that we're in currently with the

11  significant surge in applications that we have been

12  seeing, Your Honor.  Again, the company has nothing

13  against Clenera.

14             If the Commission, in its discretion,

15  believes that extenuating circumstances exist for it

16  to allow Clenera to stay in the queue, PacifiCorp is

17  ready to accept that.  However, we also want to

18  remind the Commission and for it be to be mindful

19  that there are situations that this is not a unique

20  situation.  This -- this situation is similar for

21  QF's.  Other QF's are facing similar situations.

22             And so whatever decision it makes in this

23  particular case, although would not apply to other

24  QF's, it certainly informs the company and the way

25  that it handles future QF's.

0105

 1             And the decision that the Commission makes

 2  will affect its customers, will affect PacifiCorp's

 3  customers, retail customers in particular.

 4             There was also some discussion about the

 5  cluster process, using the cluster process, as

 6  opposed to the current process that PacifiCorp has

 7  been using.  And I believe that Your even Honor asked

 8  a question regarding that.

 9             I guess in closing, PacifiCorp I would

10  submit to you that that is not a decision that can be

11  made independent in a vacuum from the processes that

12  are used by PacifiCorp.  I believe that's even going

13  into FERC jurisdictional law.  That has to be

14  studied.  It will impact the reliability of the

15  system.

16             PacifiCorp has been using its current

17  method for a long time, and something of that, a

18  decision to use the cluster method, requires that

19  issue to be taken, in PacifiCorp's mind or

20  PacifiCorp's position, that that is something that

21  needs to be taken up in a broader scale and studied

22  so that there are no unintended consequences.

23             Thank you.

24             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Of course.

25             I'll iterate to clarify and perhaps
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 1  alleviate any anxiety.  My question wasn't intended

 2  to suggest that this would be an appropriate

 3  proceeding in which to make such an order.  I'm

 4  wondering if even basing a finding in this case that

 5  assumes such an order would be appropriate in the

 6  future would -- would be a legitimate basis for a

 7  finding in this case.

 8             In other words, we have heard testimony

 9  that the cluster method would be more efficient, but

10  if that's not an option for this Commission to order

11  at any time in the future, then it's difficult for me

12  to understand how it would be relevant to consider in

13  this case.

14             Mr. Jetter.

15             MR. JETTER:  Thank you.  I'll keep our

16  comments brief.

17             I wanted to clarify a few things that --

18  particularly about the Division's position on the

19  delay of the on-line commercial on-line date.

20             The Division has fairly consistently

21  throughout the history of the QF process, and we've

22  gone through a number of dockets to hopefully fix

23  some problems in the pricing, and we've been often

24  concerned about scale pricing and on-line dates that

25  are far off into the future would result in putting

0107

 1  customers at risk in those scenarios.

 2             In this case the Division is not

 3  recommending a day-per-day extension of the

 4  commercial on-line date, but I wanted to clarify that

 5  the Division is not opposed to some deviation of the

 6  commercial on-line date.  I think, at least at this

 7  point, we're not sure how much additional time or if

 8  additional time is actually necessary, depending on

 9  how the next set of studies go and how this project

10  goes through the PPA negotiation process and what

11  comes forth after this.

12             And so I suppose our recommendation might

13  be something along the lines of that we wouldn't

14  oppose an extension or the possibility of an

15  extension to be determined.  What we would be

16  concerned about is the potential for a day-per-day

17  extension that ends up extending that commercial

18  on-line date six months past where it needed to be to

19  have the completed project done and on-line.  And so

20  ultimately our goal would be if these go forward that

21  we match the commercial on-line date as nearly as

22  practically possible with the dates that the

23  avoided-cost calculation were performed.

24             I hope that gives a little bit of clarity

25  to where our opinions or our recommendations would be
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 1  on that.

 2             And I think we have covered most of the

 3  other comments from the Division and the comments by

 4  Mr. Peterson.  So I think that would wrap up my

 5  closing statement.

 6             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  All right.  I

 7  thank the parties for their participation.  Happy

 8  holidays.

 9             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.

10             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.

11               (Whereupon, Clenera Exhibits 1

12               and 2 were marked for

13               identification.)

14               (Thereupon, the proceedings

15               concluded at 11:44 a.m.)
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		321						LN		11		18		false		          18       Q.    Have you had an opportunity to review the				false

		322						LN		11		19		false		          19  October 23rd response and motion to dismiss that was				false

		323						LN		11		20		false		          20  filed by PacifiCorp?				false

		324						LN		11		21		false		          21       A.    Yes.				false

		325						LN		11		22		false		          22       Q.    And have you had a chance to review the				false

		326						LN		11		23		false		          23  October 23rd response that was filed by the				false

		327						LN		11		24		false		          24  Department of Public Utilities?				false

		328						LN		11		25		false		          25       A.    Yes.				false

		329						PG		12		0		false		page 12				false

		330						LN		12		1		false		           1       Q.    In the response filed -- or the response				false

		331						LN		12		2		false		           2  from the Department of Public Utilities on Page 3,				false

		332						LN		12		3		false		           3  there is a discussion of some of these dates involved				false

		333						LN		12		4		false		           4  with indicative pricing.				false

		334						LN		12		5		false		           5             Do you find the dates in that discussion				false

		335						LN		12		6		false		           6  to be accurate?				false

		336						LN		12		7		false		           7       A.    Yes.  A lot of the discrepancies, as far				false

		337						LN		12		8		false		           8  as we're talking one day here or a few days there,				false

		338						LN		12		9		false		           9  has to do with the fact of when the request was made				false

		339						LN		12		10		false		          10  or when it was deemed complete.  But by and large,				false

		340						LN		12		11		false		          11  yeah, all of the dates are consistent with our				false

		341						LN		12		12		false		          12  timeline.  Just a few differences here or there on				false

		342						LN		12		13		false		          13  when e-mails were, you know, exchanged, considering				false

		343						LN		12		14		false		          14  when the request was made or when it was deemed				false

		344						LN		12		15		false		          15  complete, those kind of things.				false

		345						LN		12		16		false		          16       Q.    Has Clenera made a request for form PPAs?				false

		346						LN		12		17		false		          17       A.    Yes.				false

		347						LN		12		18		false		          18       Q.    And when was the request for a form PPA				false

		348						LN		12		19		false		          19  prepared for Faraday?				false

		349						LN		12		20		false		          20       A.    On March 13th of this year.				false

		350						LN		12		21		false		          21       Q.    And when was a request made for a form PPS				false

		351						LN		12		22		false		          22  for Goshen?				false

		352						LN		12		23		false		          23       A.    On May 12th of this year.				false

		353						LN		12		24		false		          24       Q.    And is it your understanding that both of				false

		354						LN		12		25		false		          25  those were made within the applicable deadlines?				false

		355						PG		13		0		false		page 13				false

		356						LN		13		1		false		           1       A.    Correct, yes.				false

		357						LN		13		2		false		           2       Q.    Did you receive any confirmation from				false

		358						LN		13		3		false		           3  PacifiCorp as to the completeness of the PPA request				false

		359						LN		13		4		false		           4  for Faraday?				false

		360						LN		13		5		false		           5       A.    Yes.  It was communicated from PacifiCorp				false

		361						LN		13		6		false		           6  that our request was complete.				false

		362						LN		13		7		false		           7       Q.    Okay.  Have you received a similar				false

		363						LN		13		8		false		           8  confirmation regarding your request for a PPA for				false

		364						LN		13		9		false		           9  Goshen?				false

		365						LN		13		10		false		          10       A.    I would have to confirm because right				false

		366						LN		13		11		false		          11  around that time is when the conversation was				false

		367						LN		13		12		false		          12  continuing on Faraday.  For Goshen, the confirmation				false

		368						LN		13		13		false		          13  sort of got lumped into the discussion on Faraday.				false

		369						LN		13		14		false		          14       Q.    Okay.  And when you say the conversation				false

		370						LN		13		15		false		          15  on Faraday was continuing, what are you referring to?				false

		371						LN		13		16		false		          16       A.    I'm referring to whether or not we needed				false

		372						LN		13		17		false		          17  to provide a completed interconnection study to				false

		373						LN		13		18		false		          18  receive a draft PPA.				false

		374						LN		13		19		false		          19       Q.    And did PacifiCorp indicate to you that				false

		375						LN		13		20		false		          20  you needed a completed interconnection study in order				false

		376						LN		13		21		false		          21  to get the form PPA for Faraday?				false

		377						LN		13		22		false		          22       A.    PacifiCorp communicated to us that we				false

		378						LN		13		23		false		          23  needed a draft interconnection study through				false

		379						LN		13		24		false		          24  communicating with them, but not in the tariff was				false

		380						LN		13		25		false		          25  that communicated.				false

		381						PG		14		0		false		page 14				false

		382						LN		14		1		false		           1       Q.    When did they first communicate that to				false

		383						LN		14		2		false		           2  you?				false

		384						LN		14		3		false		           3       A.    That was April of this year.  April 18th				false

		385						LN		14		4		false		           4  is the note I have when that was first communicated				false

		386						LN		14		5		false		           5  that we would need a completed interconnection study				false

		387						LN		14		6		false		           6  to receive a draft PPA.				false

		388						LN		14		7		false		           7       Q.    And again, does your understanding of the				false

		389						LN		14		8		false		           8  dates on which requests were made for form PPAs match				false

		390						LN		14		9		false		           9  the discussion of those dates in the response that				false

		391						LN		14		10		false		          10  was filed by DPU on October 23rd?				false

		392						LN		14		11		false		          11       A.    Yes.  More or less the dates for when we				false

		393						LN		14		12		false		          12  requested PPAs are consistent, you know, minus any				false

		394						LN		14		13		false		          13  day-here-or-day-there difference.				false

		395						LN		14		14		false		          14       Q.    Has Clenera requested an interconnection				false

		396						LN		14		15		false		          15  study for Faraday?				false

		397						LN		14		16		false		          16       A.    Yes.				false

		398						LN		14		17		false		          17       Q.    Have you requested an interconnection				false

		399						LN		14		18		false		          18  study for the Goshen projects?				false

		400						LN		14		19		false		          19       A.    Yes.				false

		401						LN		14		20		false		          20       Q.    When did you request those interconnection				false

		402						LN		14		21		false		          21  studies?				false

		403						LN		14		22		false		          22       A.    The initial interconnection requests, or				false

		404						LN		14		23		false		          23  the BNA interconnection requests, were November 29th				false

		405						LN		14		24		false		          24  of 2016.				false

		406						LN		14		25		false		          25       Q.    And have you received any communication				false

		407						PG		15		0		false		page 15				false

		408						LN		15		1		false		           1  from PacifiCorp deeming those requests complete?				false

		409						LN		15		2		false		           2       A.    Yes.  Their requests were deemed complete.				false

		410						LN		15		3		false		           3  We exchanged -- you know, there was, of course, some				false

		411						LN		15		4		false		           4  back and forth on the technical aspects of the				false

		412						LN		15		5		false		           5  project.  We had a scoping meeting, which is the				false

		413						LN		15		6		false		           6  preliminary call before feasibility study agreement.				false

		414						LN		15		7		false		           7  We proceeded with the feasibility study agreement and				false

		415						LN		15		8		false		           8  executed it.				false

		416						LN		15		9		false		           9       Q.    And when were the feasibility study				false

		417						LN		15		10		false		          10  agreements executed?				false

		418						LN		15		11		false		          11       A.    On February 15th of this year.				false

		419						LN		15		12		false		          12       Q.    And was that for both Faraday and for				false

		420						LN		15		13		false		          13  Goshen?				false

		421						LN		15		14		false		          14       A.    Yes, for both.				false

		422						LN		15		15		false		          15       Q.    How long have you -- have you yet received				false

		423						LN		15		16		false		          16  an interconnection feasibility study from the				false

		424						LN		15		17		false		          17  utility?				false

		425						LN		15		18		false		          18       A.    We have not received a feasibility study				false

		426						LN		15		19		false		          19  yet.				false

		427						LN		15		20		false		          20       Q.    What is your understanding of the usual				false

		428						LN		15		21		false		          21  timing for an interconnection feasibility study?				false

		429						LN		15		22		false		          22       A.    The usual timing is about a month.  The				false

		430						LN		15		23		false		          23  FERC guidelines in the large generating				false

		431						LN		15		24		false		          24  interconnection procedures is 45 days.				false

		432						LN		15		25		false		          25       Q.    Do you recall what the utility's tariff				false

		433						PG		16		0		false		page 16				false

		434						LN		16		1		false		           1  says will be the timeline?				false

		435						LN		16		2		false		           2       A.    The tariff says it's a 45-day feasibility				false

		436						LN		16		3		false		           3  study.				false

		437						LN		16		4		false		           4             MR. BARKLEY:  And I have no further				false

		438						LN		16		5		false		           5  questions for Mr. Shively, Your Honor.				false

		439						LN		16		6		false		           6             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.				false

		440						LN		16		7		false		           7  We'll begin with Ms. Hogle on cross.				false

		441						LN		16		8		false		           8             MS. HOGLE:  It depends.  I would like to				false

		442						LN		16		9		false		           9  know if Mr. Ellsworth will be available as a witness?				false

		443						LN		16		10		false		          10             MR. BARKLEY:  Mr. Ellsworth will also be				false

		444						LN		16		11		false		          11  available as a witness.				false

		445						LN		16		12		false		          12             MS. HOGLE:  I had intended to cross				false

		446						LN		16		13		false		          13  Mr. Ellsworth, given that his name is on the				false

		447						LN		16		14		false		          14  pleadings that were filed in the case.  I don't know				false

		448						LN		16		15		false		          15  if that would be okay with you, or if we can ask your				false

		449						LN		16		16		false		          16  current witness.				false

		450						LN		16		17		false		          17             MR. BARKLEY:  And I really am not trying				false

		451						LN		16		18		false		          18  to be a obstructionist.  If there are questions about				false

		452						LN		16		19		false		          19  dates, Mr. Shively is probably the better witness.				false

		453						LN		16		20		false		          20  I'm happy to tell you now that Mr. Ellsworth -- that				false

		454						LN		16		21		false		          21  the testimony that I will elicit from Mr. Ellsworth				false

		455						LN		16		22		false		          22  is really going to involve timing of QF status, the				false

		456						LN		16		23		false		          23  relief that's requested by the Company, and the basis				false

		457						LN		16		24		false		          24  for that belief.				false

		458						LN		16		25		false		          25             So to the extent that the questions				false

		459						PG		17		0		false		page 17				false

		460						LN		17		1		false		           1  involve those subjects, Mr. Ellsworth is absolutely				false

		461						LN		17		2		false		           2  the most appropriate of the two witnesses.  To the				false

		462						LN		17		3		false		           3  extent it involves dates and timelines, Mr. Shively				false

		463						LN		17		4		false		           4  is probably the better of the two, although				false

		464						LN		17		5		false		           5  Mr. Ellsworth is familiar with much of that				false

		465						LN		17		6		false		           6  information as well.				false

		466						LN		17		7		false		           7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  If Mr. Shively				false

		467						LN		17		8		false		           8  plans to stay around, I would be happy to allow				false

		468						LN		17		9		false		           9  Ms. Hogle to call him when the Company puts on its				false

		469						LN		17		10		false		          10  witnesses, if he'll be present.				false

		470						LN		17		11		false		          11             MR. BARKLEY:  And that's fine with us,				false

		471						LN		17		12		false		          12  Your Honor.  I am happy to proceed however you would				false

		472						LN		17		13		false		          13  like.  That was sort of to give you some background				false

		473						LN		17		14		false		          14  on how at least we view the two witnesses and their				false

		474						LN		17		15		false		          15  subject matter.				false

		475						LN		17		16		false		          16             MS. HOGLE:  Sure.  I guess I'm hesitating				false

		476						LN		17		17		false		          17  a little bit because typically the witness on the				false

		477						LN		17		18		false		          18  stand would adopt any pleadings that were filed by a				false

		478						LN		17		19		false		          19  party.  And so I'm not sure if Mr. Ellsworth --				false

		479						LN		17		20		false		          20  Mr. Ellsworth or Mr. Shively is adopting the				false

		480						LN		17		21		false		          21  pleadings that were filed and signed by --				false

		481						LN		17		22		false		          22             MR. BARKLEY:  We'll have Mr. Ellsworth				false

		482						LN		17		23		false		          23  adopt them.				false

		483						LN		17		24		false		          24             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then I will				false

		484						LN		17		25		false		          25  wait for cross-examination.				false

		485						PG		18		0		false		page 18				false

		486						LN		18		1		false		           1             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.				false

		487						LN		18		2		false		           2             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.				false

		488						LN		18		3		false		           3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Jetter.				false

		489						LN		18		4		false		           4             MR. JETTER:  And I have no questions.				false

		490						LN		18		5		false		           5  Thank you.				false

		491						LN		18		6		false		           6             THE WITNESS:  Sorry.				false

		492						LN		18		7		false		           7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you,				false

		493						LN		18		8		false		           8  Mr. Shively.				false

		494						LN		18		9		false		           9             Mr. Barkley.				false

		495						LN		18		10		false		          10             MR. BARKLEY:  And with that we'll call				false

		496						LN		18		11		false		          11  Mr. Ellsworth.				false

		497						LN		18		12		false		          12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.				false

		498						LN		18		13		false		          13             Mr. Ellsworth, do you swear to tell the				false

		499						LN		18		14		false		          14  truth?				false

		500						LN		18		15		false		          15             THE WITNESS:  Yes.				false

		501						LN		18		16		false		          16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.				false

		502						LN		18		17		false		          17                        EXAMINATION				false

		503						LN		18		18		false		          18  BY MR. BARKLEY:				false

		504						LN		18		19		false		          19       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, can you state your full				false

		505						LN		18		20		false		          20  name?				false

		506						LN		18		21		false		          21       A.    Jason Ellsworth.				false

		507						LN		18		22		false		          22       Q.    And by whom are you employed?				false

		508						LN		18		23		false		          23       A.    Clenera, LLC.				false

		509						LN		18		24		false		          24       Q.    What is your title at Clenera?				false

		510						LN		18		25		false		          25       A.    I am president and CEO.				false

		511						PG		19		0		false		page 19				false

		512						LN		19		1		false		           1       Q.    And what are your responsibilities there?				false

		513						LN		19		2		false		           2       A.    I am responsible for the overall				false

		514						LN		19		3		false		           3  operations of the company.  The direction, in fact,				false

		515						LN		19		4		false		           4  involved in day to day.				false

		516						LN		19		5		false		           5       Q.    Have you been involved in the preparation				false

		517						LN		19		6		false		           6  of the pleadings that have been filed in this case by				false

		518						LN		19		7		false		           7  Clenera?				false

		519						LN		19		8		false		           8       A.    I have, yes.				false

		520						LN		19		9		false		           9       Q.    Are you in a position to adopt those as				false

		521						LN		19		10		false		          10  your own testimony?				false

		522						LN		19		11		false		          11       A.    Yes, I am.				false

		523						LN		19		12		false		          12       Q.    Have you had a chance to review				false

		524						LN		19		13		false		          13  PacifiCorp's filings as well?				false

		525						LN		19		14		false		          14       A.    Yes, I have.				false

		526						LN		19		15		false		          15       Q.    And how do you respond to the criticism in				false

		527						LN		19		16		false		          16  those claims that Clenera has not filed its Form 556				false

		528						LN		19		17		false		          17  to obtain QF status?				false

		529						LN		19		18		false		          18       A.    It is typical for us and other developers				false

		530						LN		19		19		false		          19  to file a 556 at a point that is closer to the actual				false

		531						LN		19		20		false		          20  commercial operation date of the project.  In fact,				false

		532						LN		19		21		false		          21  we completed a project in Southern Utah with				false

		533						LN		19		22		false		          22  PacifiCorp recently where the 556 was filed just				false

		534						LN		19		23		false		          23  shortly before our commercial operation date.				false

		535						LN		19		24		false		          24             The reason for that is the 556 identifies				false

		536						LN		19		25		false		          25  certain structural ownership elements of the project				false

		537						PG		20		0		false		page 20				false

		538						LN		20		1		false		           1  that may not be finalized and fully determined until				false

		539						LN		20		2		false		           2  late in the billing cycle.				false

		540						LN		20		3		false		           3       Q.    Is it your understanding of utilities				false

		541						LN		20		4		false		           4  tariffs that Clenera would be required to have				false

		542						LN		20		5		false		           5  obtained that QF status at this stage of the				false

		543						LN		20		6		false		           6  interconnection process?				false

		544						LN		20		7		false		           7       A.    No, that's not our understanding, and it's				false

		545						LN		20		8		false		           8  also not typical of tariffs generally in the world				false

		546						LN		20		9		false		           9  that we participate in in this utility scale solar				false

		547						LN		20		10		false		          10  world.				false

		548						LN		20		11		false		          11       Q.    Do you have -- are you familiar with what				false

		549						LN		20		12		false		          12  the Rocky Mountain Power tariff does in fact require				false

		550						LN		20		13		false		          13  with regard to QF status?				false

		551						LN		20		14		false		          14       A.    Yes.  Yes, I am.				false

		552						LN		20		15		false		          15       Q.    And what is that?				false

		553						LN		20		16		false		          16       A.    So the requirement, as I understand it, is				false

		554						LN		20		17		false		          17  that we -- we show that we are eligible, that we are				false

		555						LN		20		18		false		          18  eligible as a QF.				false

		556						LN		20		19		false		          19             In fact, the interesting component of a				false

		557						LN		20		20		false		          20  556 is that it's a self certification anyway.  So				false

		558						LN		20		21		false		          21  it's not something that we look to for their judgment				false

		559						LN		20		22		false		          22  or rules.  Rather, we self certify at the time and				false

		560						LN		20		23		false		          23  place that's best necessary.				false

		561						LN		20		24		false		          24       Q.    How do you respond to PacifiCorp's claim				false

		562						LN		20		25		false		          25  that the delay in processing Clenera's				false

		563						PG		21		0		false		page 21				false

		564						LN		21		1		false		           1  interconnection requests was justified by an increase				false

		565						LN		21		2		false		           2  in interconnection requests across the PacifiCorp				false

		566						LN		21		3		false		           3  system?				false

		567						LN		21		4		false		           4       A.    I'm surprised by the assertion.  It is not				false

		568						LN		21		5		false		           5  consistent with the data that we have reviewed that				false

		569						LN		21		6		false		           6  is publicly available on the PacifiCorp Oasis system,				false

		570						LN		21		7		false		           7  their realtime system.				false

		571						LN		21		8		false		           8             After seeing their assertion that that was				false

		572						LN		21		9		false		           9  a limitation on their side, we pulled up, at the time				false

		573						LN		21		10		false		          10  of their motion to dismiss, the actual data on Oasis				false

		574						LN		21		11		false		          11  and see that, in fact, there has been a relatively				false

		575						LN		21		12		false		          12  consistent drop in the number of applications since				false

		576						LN		21		13		false		          13  2013 here in Utah to a very small number.  Relative				false

		577						LN		21		14		false		          14  to other utilities, there's a very small number of				false

		578						LN		21		15		false		          15  applications that are being processed and handled by				false

		579						LN		21		16		false		          16  PacifiCorp for Utah.				false

		580						LN		21		17		false		          17             For PacifiCorp in total, because I think				false

		581						LN		21		18		false		          18  they handle these applications, not on a				false

		582						LN		21		19		false		          19  state-by-state basis but across their systems, the				false

		583						LN		21		20		false		          20  applications rose in 2015 but been relatively				false

		584						LN		21		21		false		          21  consistent thereafter, with a kind of small bump from				false

		585						LN		21		22		false		          22  '15 to '16, but have been relatively consistent				false

		586						LN		21		23		false		          23  thereafter.				false

		587						LN		21		24		false		          24       Q.    Did you present data on the volume of				false

		588						LN		21		25		false		          25  interconnection requests in your October 24th				false
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		590						LN		22		1		false		           1  response to PacifiCorp's motion to dismiss?				false

		591						LN		22		2		false		           2       A.    We did.  We presented that data.  We				false

		592						LN		22		3		false		           3  thought it was important to answer the assertion that				false

		593						LN		22		4		false		           4  that was a cause for the delay, with the data that is				false

		594						LN		22		5		false		           5  available on-line and direct from the company.  And				false

		595						LN		22		6		false		           6  that data does indeed show that there has not been a				false

		596						LN		22		7		false		           7  significant climb in applications.				false

		597						LN		22		8		false		           8             Back in '15 to '16, there was about a				false

		598						LN		22		9		false		           9  30 percent increase, and that -- and we have -- we				false

		599						LN		22		10		false		          10  have struggled to see where -- how that ties to a				false

		600						LN		22		11		false		          11  delay in terms of the study process, which is				false

		601						LN		22		12		false		          12  scheduled for 45 days, to go from 45 days to the				false

		602						LN		22		13		false		          13  approximate year right now that is anticipated by				false

		603						LN		22		14		false		          14  PacifiCorp.				false

		604						LN		22		15		false		          15       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, what relief does Clenera				false

		605						LN		22		16		false		          16  seek in this proceeding?				false

		606						LN		22		17		false		          17       A.    So we are -- we are seeking for relief				false

		607						LN		22		18		false		          18  under the tariff as it relates to the deadlines.  The				false

		608						LN		22		19		false		          19  tariff allows for an extension in the case of the				false

		609						LN		22		20		false		          20  company delays.  And we are looking at these company				false

		610						LN		22		21		false		          21  delays and requesting that we receive a day-per-day				false

		611						LN		22		22		false		          22  extension on developer deadlines associated with the				false

		612						LN		22		23		false		          23  tariff as it relates to the company's delays.				false

		613						LN		22		24		false		          24             Right now the delays are -- we're				false

		614						LN		22		25		false		          25  approaching a total of a year on a 45-day project, or				false

		615						PG		23		0		false		page 23				false

		616						LN		23		1		false		           1  a 45-day study, and we -- based on the existing -- on				false

		617						LN		23		2		false		           2  our previous experience expect that those delays				false

		618						LN		23		3		false		           3  may -- may exceed that as it relates to further				false

		619						LN		23		4		false		           4  activities with the company.				false

		620						LN		23		5		false		           5       Q.    What are the specific deadlines for which				false

		621						LN		23		6		false		           6  the company is seeking relief?				false

		622						LN		23		7		false		           7       A.    So specifically to call out two deadlines				false

		623						LN		23		8		false		           8  that are important to us, is the first -- first				false

		624						LN		23		9		false		           9  deadline in which we already have a PPA executed				false

		625						LN		23		10		false		          10  between developer and the company within the six				false

		626						LN		23		11		false		          11  months following the receipt of indicative pricing.				false

		627						LN		23		12		false		          12  In addition to that we are -- we are looking for				false

		628						LN		23		13		false		          13  overall extension and delay as it relates to our				false

		629						LN		23		14		false		          14  on-line date.				false

		630						LN		23		15		false		          15             As the -- as Your Honor may be aware, the				false

		631						LN		23		16		false		          16  tariff calls for a 30-month limitation in terms of				false

		632						LN		23		17		false		          17  when we file for pricing, we must indicate that our				false

		633						LN		23		18		false		          18  on-line dates are to be within 30 months of the				false

		634						LN		23		19		false		          19  timeline allowed for a PPA.				false

		635						LN		23		20		false		          20             So -- so at the time of our -- our filing				false

		636						LN		23		21		false		          21  for the pricing, we could not -- we could date these				false

		637						LN		23		22		false		          22  projects no later than the end of 2019.  That				false

		638						LN		23		23		false		          23  timeline limitation has made it very difficult as we				false

		639						LN		23		24		false		          24  have seen and have now seen a year of our processing				false

		640						LN		23		25		false		          25  time disappear.				false
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		642						LN		24		1		false		           1             So that's 365 days on the first study				false

		643						LN		24		2		false		           2  versus what is in the tariff, which is 45 days,				false

		644						LN		24		3		false		           3  making it very difficult for us to perform in that				false

		645						LN		24		4		false		           4  timeline.  Therefore, we're asking for an extension,				false

		646						LN		24		5		false		           5  an overall extension, to those -- to those dates as				false

		647						LN		24		6		false		           6  well, to those on-line dates.				false

		648						LN		24		7		false		           7       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, you're familiar with the				false

		649						LN		24		8		false		           8  Department of Public Utilities response that was				false

		650						LN		24		9		false		           9  filed on October 23rd, yes?				false

		651						LN		24		10		false		          10       A.    I am, yes.				false

		652						LN		24		11		false		          11       Q.    And you have seen the concerns that they				false

		653						LN		24		12		false		          12  express regarding the extension of the operation				false

		654						LN		24		13		false		          13  date?				false

		655						LN		24		14		false		          14       A.    Yes.				false

		656						LN		24		15		false		          15       Q.    Would you address those concerns?				false

		657						LN		24		16		false		          16       A.    Yeah, I think the -- overall the -- if you				false

		658						LN		24		17		false		          17  review the -- I think the overall concern was -- was				false

		659						LN		24		18		false		          18  pricing and relevance of pricing if those dates are				false

		660						LN		24		19		false		          19  extended.  The -- the challenge is -- is trying to				false

		661						LN		24		20		false		          20  draw -- I think the challenge that's been highlighted				false

		662						LN		24		21		false		          21  is whether or not those prices are -- are relevant in				false

		663						LN		24		22		false		          22  an extended situation.				false

		664						LN		24		23		false		          23             The reality for us, and based on the				false

		665						LN		24		24		false		          24  numbers that we have received and our review of the				false

		666						LN		24		25		false		          25  IRP, is the forecast for PacifiCorp is rising prices				false
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		668						LN		25		1		false		           1  over time.  So the further extension -- the further				false

		669						LN		25		2		false		           2  extension of -- of our timelines, had we been given				false

		670						LN		25		3		false		           3  time to -- greater than the 30 months, in light of				false

		671						LN		25		4		false		           4  the time that the PacifiCorp takes on their sites,				false

		672						LN		25		5		false		           5  those -- those prices on those PPAs would have been				false

		673						LN		25		6		false		           6  higher.  Right now those prices are, in fact, at a				false

		674						LN		25		7		false		           7  very competitive level.				false

		675						LN		25		8		false		           8             We believe that, in fact, we -- we are in				false

		676						LN		25		9		false		           9  a position to hold to those, despite the ups and				false

		677						LN		25		10		false		          10  downs in the markets and the difficulties in				false

		678						LN		25		11		false		          11  delivering, but have spent a great deal of time and				false

		679						LN		25		12		false		          12  energy as a company at the conclusion of other				false

		680						LN		25		13		false		          13  opportunities that we could have pursued, to pursue				false

		681						LN		25		14		false		          14  these projects for the benefit of ratepayers.				false

		682						LN		25		15		false		          15             We believe that the avoided cost				false

		683						LN		25		16		false		          16  calculations are an accurate way of identifying what				false

		684						LN		25		17		false		          17  the impact is to the ratepayers, and that these				false

		685						LN		25		18		false		          18  projects are, in fact, beneficial to ratepayers.				false

		686						LN		25		19		false		          19             I think that PacifiCorp can identify -- or				false

		687						LN		25		20		false		          20  I'm not sure what's appropriate in this -- this				false

		688						LN		25		21		false		          21  environment to identify these prices, but they're				false

		689						LN		25		22		false		          22  very, very competitive prices and in the context of				false

		690						LN		25		23		false		          23  energy in general, not just solar.				false

		691						LN		25		24		false		          24       Q.    How does the timing of PacifiCorp's				false

		692						LN		25		25		false		          25  handling of these interconnection requests compare to				false
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		694						LN		26		1		false		           1  the handling of interconnection requests that you				false

		695						LN		26		2		false		           2  have seen in other projects done with PacifiCorp and				false

		696						LN		26		3		false		           3  other utilities?				false

		697						LN		26		4		false		           4       A.    So our experience with PacifiCorp is				false

		698						LN		26		5		false		           5  limited.  We have one -- we have project that is				false

		699						LN		26		6		false		           6  operating, 80 megawatts, the size of one of these				false

		700						LN		26		7		false		           7  typical projects, in -- in Southern Utah.  And then				false

		701						LN		26		8		false		           8  have run a number -- quite a number of other projects				false

		702						LN		26		9		false		           9  through the process here with PacifiCorp, identifying				false

		703						LN		26		10		false		          10  across their system where -- where there was				false

		704						LN		26		11		false		          11  opportunity, where there was interconnection				false

		705						LN		26		12		false		          12  capacity, and where it made sense from a				false

		706						LN		26		13		false		          13  load-proximity basis to deliver -- to deliver power.				false

		707						LN		26		14		false		          14             We in that process have -- have identified				false

		708						LN		26		15		false		          15  what appears to be, I think historically, a process				false

		709						LN		26		16		false		          16  that's been -- that's been relatively responsive, but				false

		710						LN		26		17		false		          17  of late one that is -- is significantly delayed				false

		711						LN		26		18		false		          18  without a necessary commensurate sort of set of				false

		712						LN		26		19		false		          19  applications to justify that.				false

		713						LN		26		20		false		          20             With that said, our review with them on				false

		714						LN		26		21		false		          21  the reasons for those delays has resulted in				false

		715						LN		26		22		false		          22  explanations that this is -- they are pursuing a				false

		716						LN		26		23		false		          23  serial process, which means as -- as they review each				false

		717						LN		26		24		false		          24  project, one drops out, they have to -- they have to				false

		718						LN		26		25		false		          25  go back and review all of the projects again.  That				false
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		720						LN		27		1		false		           1  is the most inefficient and slowest of all the				false

		721						LN		27		2		false		           2  processes that we deal with in the utility scale				false

		722						LN		27		3		false		           3  world.				false

		723						LN		27		4		false		           4             What is typical in the case where there				false

		724						LN		27		5		false		           5  are a significant number of applications, is that				false

		725						LN		27		6		false		           6  those applications will be handled in a cluster				false

		726						LN		27		7		false		           7  process and studied together, and then -- and then				false

		727						LN		27		8		false		           8  there is -- there is often in that case an ability to				false

		728						LN		27		9		false		           9  deliver -- in fact, typically an ability to deliver				false

		729						LN		27		10		false		          10  in roughly the 45-day timeline.				false

		730						LN		27		11		false		          11             Whereas, here on the PacifiCorp side,				false

		731						LN		27		12		false		          12  the -- some decision, the decision has been made to				false

		732						LN		27		13		false		          13  pursue -- continue to pursue a serial process, and				false

		733						LN		27		14		false		          14  that -- that serial process has resulted in delays				false

		734						LN		27		15		false		          15  beyond anything that we have experienced elsewhere				false

		735						LN		27		16		false		          16  across the United States.				false

		736						LN		27		17		false		          17             We -- we also see that in general the				false

		737						LN		27		18		false		          18  number of applications that PacifiCorp has seen is a				false

		738						LN		27		19		false		          19  very -- it's de minimis, as compared to the number of				false

		739						LN		27		20		false		          20  applications other utilities have seen in California				false

		740						LN		27		21		false		          21  and elsewhere.  And those -- those processes in other				false

		741						LN		27		22		false		          22  applications have continued to operate within a				false

		742						LN		27		23		false		          23  reasonable range of that 45-day period, whereas here				false
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		747						LN		28		2		false		           2  that's been an unusual experience for us and one that				false

		748						LN		28		3		false		           3  we think is markedly different from the market in the				false

		749						LN		28		4		false		           4  rest of the industry.				false

		750						LN		28		5		false		           5             MR. BARKLEY:  I have nothing further for				false

		751						LN		28		6		false		           6  Mr. Ellsworth, Your Honor.				false

		752						LN		28		7		false		           7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.				false
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		759						LN		28		14		false		          14  mentioned as being the typical process that you're				false
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		761						LN		28		16		false		          16             Can you provide the basis for that				false
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		763						LN		28		18		false		          18       A.    Yes.  So we have -- we -- we as a company				false

		764						LN		28		19		false		          19  and individuals have been in the development space				false

		765						LN		28		20		false		          20  and working with interconnection and projects for the				false

		766						LN		28		21		false		          21  better part of a decade, and in that process have				false

		767						LN		28		22		false		          22  made hundreds, and if not thousands, of				false

		768						LN		28		23		false		          23  interconnection applications and worked through that				false

		769						LN		28		24		false		          24  process with various utilities, mostly in the west				false
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		772						LN		29		1		false		           1             So with that I would say the number of				false

		773						LN		29		2		false		           2  utilities that we have worked with exceeds -- exceeds				false

		774						LN		29		3		false		           3  40.  And so the sample size is relatively large, both				false

		775						LN		29		4		false		           4  in terms of applications and running through that				false

		776						LN		29		5		false		           5  process, as well as -- as actual utilities that we				false

		777						LN		29		6		false		           6  have interfaced with.				false

		778						LN		29		7		false		           7       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.				false

		779						LN		29		8		false		           8             I want to take you to the reply that you				false

		780						LN		29		9		false		           9  filed on behalf of Clenera.  Do -- do you have it				false

		781						LN		29		10		false		          10  with you?				false

		782						LN		29		11		false		          11       A.    I don't have it in front of me, no.				false

		783						LN		29		12		false		          12       Q.    Okay.  So if I were to ask you questions				false

		784						LN		29		13		false		          13  in that reply, would you -- could I jog your memory				false

		785						LN		29		14		false		          14  for you to be able to respond to my questions?				false

		786						LN		29		15		false		          15       A.    I'll do the best I can.				false

		787						LN		29		16		false		          16       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.				false

		788						LN		29		17		false		          17             MR. BARKLEY:  Ms. Hogle, are we referring				false

		789						LN		29		18		false		          18  to the October 24 reply?				false

		790						LN		29		19		false		          19             MS. HOGLE:  We are.  We are referring to				false

		791						LN		29		20		false		          20  Clenera's reply to Rocky Mountain Power's response.				false

		792						LN		29		21		false		          21       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  So in the first page of				false

		793						LN		29		22		false		          22  that reply, I believe you stated, given that you				false

		794						LN		29		23		false		          23  signed the pleading, "PacifiCorp gives no reason for				false

		795						LN		29		24		false		          24  their last-minute change in position."  And I believe				false

		796						LN		29		25		false		          25  that you were talking about the extension that we're				false
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		801						LN		30		4		false		           4  clear about supporting our -- our effort to extend.				false

		802						LN		30		5		false		           5  In fact, noting that they had made a decision				false

		803						LN		30		6		false		           6  internally to extend.  And due to delay -- their own				false

		804						LN		30		7		false		           7  delay as the company, that was the subject of				false

		805						LN		30		8		false		           8  conversations with -- with Kyle Moore at PacifiCorp.				false

		806						LN		30		9		false		           9             Later on Kyle Moore came back and				false

		807						LN		30		10		false		          10  indicated that on discussion with the Department of				false

		808						LN		30		11		false		          11  Public Utilities and the -- and the consumer				false

		809						LN		30		12		false		          12  services, that -- that they -- they were advised that				false

		810						LN		30		13		false		          13  they could not do that, and that the company,				false

		811						LN		30		14		false		          14  therefore, had taken -- had -- had determined that				false

		812						LN		30		15		false		          15  that was not -- not possible.  But had it been, they				false

		813						LN		30		16		false		          16  were still in support of, and -- and yet they were				false

		814						LN		30		17		false		          17  unable to -- unable to proceed because of limitations				false

		815						LN		30		18		false		          18  with these other agencies.				false

		816						LN		30		19		false		          19             So when I said that the company had				false

		817						LN		30		20		false		          20  changed their position, that is -- so the motion to				false

		818						LN		30		21		false		          21  dismiss was -- was a very different tact than them				false

		819						LN		30		22		false		          22  supporting our effort to -- to make an extension.  In				false

		820						LN		30		23		false		          23  fact, in that motion to dismiss, they referenced				false

		821						LN		30		24		false		          24  another docket that was filed before the Commission				false

		822						LN		30		25		false		          25  with sPower, in fact, where they -- they cited these				false
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		825						LN		31		2		false		           2  recently these kind of delays, of delays for which it				false

		826						LN		31		3		false		           3  was a reason for them to extend the process, extend				false

		827						LN		31		4		false		           4  the deadlines.				false

		828						LN		31		5		false		           5             So taking that different tact with us and				false

		829						LN		31		6		false		           6  opposing that, I -- I view that as without				false

		830						LN		31		7		false		           7  explanation and without -- without -- without context				false

		831						LN		31		8		false		           8  in terms of the communication.				false

		832						LN		31		9		false		           9       Q.    Thank you.				false

		833						LN		31		10		false		          10             I'm also going to reference your complaint				false

		834						LN		31		11		false		          11  that you also signed.  And in that complaint, on the				false

		835						LN		31		12		false		          12  last page you state, ". . .approximately two weeks				false

		836						LN		31		13		false		          13  after the meeting and discussion of PacifiCorp's				false

		837						LN		31		14		false		          14  proposed solution, Developer received the following				false

		838						LN		31		15		false		          15  communication from PacifiCorp."  And I quote, "after				false

		839						LN		31		16		false		          16  further review and discussions with the staff of both				false

		840						LN		31		17		false		          17  the Division of Public Utilities and the Office of				false

		841						LN		31		18		false		          18  Consumer Services, the position of Rocky Mountain				false

		842						LN		31		19		false		          19  Power is that delays caused by PacifiCorp				false

		843						LN		31		20		false		          20  Transmission are not contemplated as RMP delays and				false

		844						LN		31		21		false		          21  should not extend the timeline in the Schedule 38				false

		845						LN		31		22		false		          22  tariff."				false

		846						LN		31		23		false		          23             Isn't that a reason that you stated in				false

		847						LN		31		24		false		          24  your complaint?				false

		848						LN		31		25		false		          25       A.    So that's consistent with -- with the				false

		849						PG		32		0		false		page 32				false

		850						LN		32		1		false		           1  facts I just -- I just referred to, in that				false

		851						LN		32		2		false		           2  PacifiCorp had turned to the DPU and consumer				false

		852						LN		32		3		false		           3  services and -- and indicated that their -- their --				false

		853						LN		32		4		false		           4  their lack of support for this and their opposition				false

		854						LN		32		5		false		           5  it was -- was a cause for them as a company to				false

		855						LN		32		6		false		           6  change -- change directions.				false

		856						LN		32		7		false		           7             And -- and so the -- that is -- that's				false

		857						LN		32		8		false		           8  consistent in terms of the direction, inconsistent in				false

		858						LN		32		9		false		           9  terms of the sentiment that was expressed by				false

		859						LN		32		10		false		          10  PacifiCorp.				false

		860						LN		32		11		false		          11       Q.    And so given that PacifiCorp and you				false

		861						LN		32		12		false		          12  yourself quoted the A reason, or a change in				false

		862						LN		32		13		false		          13  position, that is not consistent, is it, with what				false

		863						LN		32		14		false		          14  you said in your reply when you said, PacifiCorp				false

		864						LN		32		15		false		          15  gives no reason for their last-minute change?				false

		865						LN		32		16		false		          16       A.    When I -- when I noted their last-minute				false

		866						LN		32		17		false		          17  change, I wasn't -- I wasn't noting that -- that they				false

		867						LN		32		18		false		          18  were -- that they were looking to different reasons.				false

		868						LN		32		19		false		          19  I was noting that PacifiCorp was changing their				false

		869						LN		32		20		false		          20  sentiment, in fact saying that their -- their				false

		870						LN		32		21		false		          21  perspective was that this was not something that they				false

		871						LN		32		22		false		          22  had supported at all, which in fact was not true.				false

		872						LN		32		23		false		          23             From -- from the beginning PacifiCorp was				false

		873						LN		32		24		false		          24  in support of an extension.  Their history has been				false

		874						LN		32		25		false		          25  to support extensions in the case that delays were				false

		875						PG		33		0		false		page 33				false

		876						LN		33		1		false		           1  caused by the company.  And so this -- the -- the				false

		877						LN		33		2		false		           2  sentiment had changed.				false

		878						LN		33		3		false		           3       Q.    Okay.  But unlike or contrary to what you				false

		879						LN		33		4		false		           4  said in the reply that PacifiCorp gave no reason for				false

		880						LN		33		5		false		           5  this last-minute change on the sentiment of the				false

		881						LN		33		6		false		           6  extension, in fact in the -- in your complaint you				false

		882						LN		33		7		false		           7  actually quoted PacifiCorp's reason.  So there was a				false

		883						LN		33		8		false		           8  reason that you yourself quoted in your complaint.				false

		884						LN		33		9		false		           9  And so that would be inconsistent with your reply				false

		885						LN		33		10		false		          10  that there was no reason, correct?				false

		886						LN		33		11		false		          11       A.    I disagree.  I think you're speaking to				false

		887						LN		33		12		false		          12  rational for the reasons for making a decision.  I'm				false

		888						LN		33		13		false		          13  speaking to the sentiment behind the decision.				false

		889						LN		33		14		false		          14       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.				false

		890						LN		33		15		false		          15             Going back to the reply that you filed and				false

		891						LN		33		16		false		          16  your claim that PacifiCorp's behavior in this matter				false

		892						LN		33		17		false		          17  results in economic harm to stakeholders.  Do you --				false

		893						LN		33		18		false		          18  do you recall that?				false

		894						LN		33		19		false		          19       A.    Yes.  Yes.				false

		895						LN		33		20		false		          20       Q.    Are you aware of the approved term for a				false

		896						LN		33		21		false		          21  power-purchase agreement in Utah?				false

		897						LN		33		22		false		          22       A.    I am very aware of the approved terms for				false

		898						LN		33		23		false		          23  a power-purchase agreement in Utah.				false

		899						LN		33		24		false		          24       Q.    And -- and what is that?				false

		900						LN		33		25		false		          25       A.    Right now for projects of this size, it's				false

		901						PG		34		0		false		page 34				false

		902						LN		34		1		false		           1  15 years.				false

		903						LN		34		2		false		           2       Q.    Okay.  Are you aware of the fact that				false

		904						LN		34		3		false		           3  PacifiCorp passes through its energy costs to its				false

		905						LN		34		4		false		           4  customers in the State of Utah?				false

		906						LN		34		5		false		           5       A.    Yes.  I'm aware that this is -- this --				false

		907						LN		34		6		false		           6  this is rate based.				false

		908						LN		34		7		false		           7       Q.    And that's 100 percent?  Are you aware of				false

		909						LN		34		8		false		           8  that subject?  Would you agree that it's 100 percent				false

		910						LN		34		9		false		           9  passed through, meaning customers ultimately pay for				false

		911						LN		34		10		false		          10  the avoided-cost pricing that are provided?				false

		912						LN		34		11		false		          11       A.    Correct.  I'm aware that avoided cost				false

		913						LN		34		12		false		          12  is -- is supported by customers.				false

		914						LN		34		13		false		          13       Q.    Okay.  And so Clenera is seeking a				false

		915						LN		34		14		false		          14  power-purchase agreement for a term of 15 years; is				false

		916						LN		34		15		false		          15  that right?				false

		917						LN		34		16		false		          16       A.    That is correct.				false

		918						LN		34		17		false		          17       Q.    And isn't it true that the commercial				false

		919						LN		34		18		false		          18  operation date has an impact on avoided-cost pricing?				false

		920						LN		34		19		false		          19       A.    It does.  As that explained the commercial				false

		921						LN		34		20		false		          20  date, the further that it's pushed out is				false

		922						LN		34		21		false		          21  typically -- is typically the higher.  So it does				false

		923						LN		34		22		false		          22  have -- it does have an impact on pricing.				false

		924						LN		34		23		false		          23       Q.    And so if PacifiCorp doesn't know whether				false

		925						LN		34		24		false		          24  Clenera can meet that commercial operation date, the				false

		926						LN		34		25		false		          25  avoided-cost pricing may not be accurate, correct?				false

		927						PG		35		0		false		page 35				false

		928						LN		35		1		false		           1       A.    If the -- it is correct that if the -- if				false

		929						LN		35		2		false		           2  the timing changes, the pricing calculation would be				false

		930						LN		35		3		false		           3  different at the point of calculating that pricing,				false

		931						LN		35		4		false		           4  yes.				false

		932						LN		35		5		false		           5       Q.    And so isn't it reasonable for the company				false

		933						LN		35		6		false		           6  to require that information prior to that				false

		934						LN		35		7		false		           7  information, meaning the commercial-operation date,				false

		935						LN		35		8		false		           8  prior to providing a power-purchase agreement with				false

		936						LN		35		9		false		           9  avoided-cost pricing that would be locked in for				false

		937						LN		35		10		false		          10  15 years?				false

		938						LN		35		11		false		          11       A.    It's entirely reasonable.  In fact, it's				false

		939						LN		35		12		false		          12  something -- it's a similar process that's pursued in				false

		940						LN		35		13		false		          13  many other utilities.  Those -- those timelines are				false

		941						LN		35		14		false		          14  important to both the utility and the developer.				false

		942						LN		35		15		false		          15       Q.    And so whether the prices are high or low				false

		943						LN		35		16		false		          16  is really not relevant, it's -- what's relevant is				false

		944						LN		35		17		false		          17  that they be accurate; would you agree with that?				false

		945						LN		35		18		false		          18       A.    I think that the -- when you're talking				false

		946						LN		35		19		false		          19  pricing and timing, both are very important and both				false

		947						LN		35		20		false		          20  parties need to be able to rely on timing.  Timing is				false

		948						LN		35		21		false		          21  critical to these -- these projects?				false

		949						LN		35		22		false		          22             So, in fact, we are entirely subject to				false

		950						LN		35		23		false		          23  and reliant on the timing that's provided in the				false

		951						LN		35		24		false		          24  tariff, on the timing by way of commitments that are				false

		952						LN		35		25		false		          25  made by PacifiCorp.				false

		953						PG		36		0		false		page 36				false

		954						LN		36		1		false		           1             So as the company -- as the -- as the				false

		955						LN		36		2		false		           2  company delays, we -- we have -- we have no other				false

		956						LN		36		3		false		           3  recourse than under the tariff to look for				false

		957						LN		36		4		false		           4  extensions.				false

		958						LN		36		5		false		           5             But, yes, the timing -- timing is				false

		959						LN		36		6		false		           6  important.				false

		960						LN		36		7		false		           7       Q.    And the pricing?  The accuracy of the				false

		961						LN		36		8		false		           8  pricing is important, correct?				false

		962						LN		36		9		false		           9       A.    Pricing and timing are tied, absolutely.				false

		963						LN		36		10		false		          10       Q.    Okay.  All right.				false

		964						LN		36		11		false		          11             And so if the company locks in a PPA with				false

		965						LN		36		12		false		          12  a QF for 15 years and the pricing is not accurate,				false

		966						LN		36		13		false		          13  that would be an economic harm to its customers,				false

		967						LN		36		14		false		          14  wouldn't it?				false

		968						LN		36		15		false		          15       A.    I think you just made an intellectual leap				false

		969						LN		36		16		false		          16  between accuracy and economic harm.  Economic harm				false

		970						LN		36		17		false		          17  would presume that the pricing were, in fact, higher				false

		971						LN		36		18		false		          18  than it would otherwise have been.  I think that had				false

		972						LN		36		19		false		          19  there been at that time a clear understanding that				false

		973						LN		36		20		false		          20  PacifiCorp was not going to perform within the				false

		974						LN		36		21		false		          21  timeline that was provided, that in fact we could				false

		975						LN		36		22		false		          22  have gone to a later date to accommodate the				false

		976						LN		36		23		false		          23  PacifiCorp timing.  I think, in fact, the pricing				false

		977						LN		36		24		false		          24  would have been higher.				false

		978						LN		36		25		false		          25             So -- so that's -- and that's consistent				false

		979						PG		37		0		false		page 37				false

		980						LN		37		1		false		           1  with the pricing that was received.  We got pricing				false

		981						LN		37		2		false		           2  for a 2018 project, we got pricing for 2019.  2019				false

		982						LN		37		3		false		           3  pricing was higher, and that's consistent with the				false

		983						LN		37		4		false		           4  IRP.  Which leads me to the conclusions, if we are to				false

		984						LN		37		5		false		           5  make conclusions, then in fact, this would have been				false

		985						LN		37		6		false		           6  an economic benefit to ratepayers to take a later				false

		986						LN		37		7		false		           7  date versus the original date.				false

		987						LN		37		8		false		           8             And -- and judging this process based on				false

		988						LN		37		9		false		           9  current timelines that have been imposed and created				false

		989						LN		37		10		false		          10  by PacifiCorp's lack of -- lack of performance is				false

		990						LN		37		11		false		          11  a -- is a mismatch with what is originally and most				false

		991						LN		37		12		false		          12  importantly a process whereby we are -- we are given				false

		992						LN		37		13		false		          13  pricing based on the timing and the -- and the				false

		993						LN		37		14		false		          14  conditions at the outset of a project.				false

		994						LN		37		15		false		          15       Q.    And economic harm can result not only when				false

		995						LN		37		16		false		          16  prices when higher but also if prices are lower than				false

		996						LN		37		17		false		          17  they should be, correct?				false

		997						LN		37		18		false		          18             Because if -- if you lock in something --				false

		998						LN		37		19		false		          19  if you lock in a contract that is lowering prices,				false

		999						LN		37		20		false		          20  for example, then economically it might not make				false

		1000						LN		37		21		false		          21  sense because, you know, for 15 years those prices				false

		1001						LN		37		22		false		          22  are locked.  And given the length of the contract,				false

		1002						LN		37		23		false		          23  the point is that the pricing should be accurate, not				false

		1003						LN		37		24		false		          24  lower, not higher, but accurate.				false

		1004						LN		37		25		false		          25       A.    So I think the discussion about economic				false

		1005						PG		38		0		false		page 38				false

		1006						LN		38		1		false		           1  harm for higher -- or for lower prices, in the				false

		1007						LN		38		2		false		           2  context of rate base, is -- doesn't tie to my				false

		1008						LN		38		3		false		           3  experience in -- in mathematics and economics.  The				false

		1009						LN		38		4		false		           4  lower the price, the more the rate base that the				false

		1010						LN		38		5		false		           5  consumer benefits.				false

		1011						LN		38		6		false		           6             Whether or not we as a company are able to				false

		1012						LN		38		7		false		           7  deliver at that price is our responsibility.  The				false

		1013						LN		38		8		false		           8  tariff doesn't speak to that.  The tariff speaks to				false

		1014						LN		38		9		false		           9  pricing and timing and the process whereby the				false

		1015						LN		38		10		false		          10  company and we as a developer are -- are tied				false

		1016						LN		38		11		false		          11  together in a process to deliver a product at a given				false

		1017						LN		38		12		false		          12  price.  And that price, if it is lower for -- for the				false

		1018						LN		38		13		false		          13  consumer, that's ideal, and that's something that we				false

		1019						LN		38		14		false		          14  strive for as a company.				false

		1020						LN		38		15		false		          15             MS. HOGLE:  I have no further questions.				false

		1021						LN		38		16		false		          16  Thank you.				false

		1022						LN		38		17		false		          17             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.				false

		1023						LN		38		18		false		          18             Mr. Jetter.				false

		1024						LN		38		19		false		          19                        EXAMINATION				false

		1025						LN		38		20		false		          20  BY MR. JETTER:				false

		1026						LN		38		21		false		          21       Q.    Good morning.  I do have a few questions.				false

		1027						LN		38		22		false		          22             I would just like to sort of clarify a				false

		1028						LN		38		23		false		          23  little bit with something that you had stated in your				false

		1029						LN		38		24		false		          24  cross-examination and I believe also today in your				false

		1030						LN		38		25		false		          25  direct testimony.				false

		1031						PG		39		0		false		page 39				false

		1032						LN		39		1		false		           1             Is it accurate to -- to kind of rephrase				false

		1033						LN		39		2		false		           2  what you said a few minutes ago, that your basis for				false

		1034						LN		39		3		false		           3  understanding that a later interconnection date would				false

		1035						LN		39		4		false		           4  potentially have a higher price was due to a				false

		1036						LN		39		5		false		           5  repricing that changed the on-line date early in the				false

		1037						LN		39		6		false		           6  project and that gave you a slightly higher price?				false

		1038						LN		39		7		false		           7       A.    No, it's not due to the repricing.  So we				false

		1039						LN		39		8		false		           8  originally submitted for both 2018 and 2019 prices,				false

		1040						LN		39		9		false		           9  and on the repricing pushed -- pushed our 2018 back				false

		1041						LN		39		10		false		          10  to 2019.				false

		1042						LN		39		11		false		          11             To the point of with respect to economics,				false

		1043						LN		39		12		false		          12  we determined the economics were -- were not				false

		1044						LN		39		13		false		          13  favorable, were not -- not attractive, for the 2018				false

		1045						LN		39		14		false		          14  time frame.  We also determined at that time that				false

		1046						LN		39		15		false		          15  that 2018 was not -- was not a workable time frame				false

		1047						LN		39		16		false		          16  within the process that -- that is allowed here.				false

		1048						LN		39		17		false		          17             But those -- those prices came -- came out				false

		1049						LN		39		18		false		          18  showing -- showing, in fact, a rise in price to 2019,				false

		1050						LN		39		19		false		          19  which, in fact, does tie to the IRP and -- and would				false

		1051						LN		39		20		false		          20  be expected in -- in the aurora modeling that takes				false

		1052						LN		39		21		false		          21  place behind this.				false

		1053						LN		39		22		false		          22       Q.    Okay.  So are you aware of any direct				false

		1054						LN		39		23		false		          23  connection between the IRP process and avoided-cost				false

		1055						LN		39		24		false		          24  pricing?				false

		1056						LN		39		25		false		          25       A.    So we're -- we're -- all we know is that				false

		1057						PG		40		0		false		page 40				false

		1058						LN		40		1		false		           1  this -- this utilizes aurora in it's -- I think				false

		1059						LN		40		2		false		           2  that's my understanding that the aurora pricing				false

		1060						LN		40		3		false		           3  modeling tools are used to reach the avoided costs				false

		1061						LN		40		4		false		           4  here.				false

		1062						LN		40		5		false		           5             The inputs and information are -- are the				false

		1063						LN		40		6		false		           6  same inputs and information, or should be the same				false

		1064						LN		40		7		false		           7  inputs and information, used in the IRP process.				false

		1065						LN		40		8		false		           8  They're both -- they're both represented to the state				false

		1066						LN		40		9		false		           9  and to all -- all stakeholders that are involved				false

		1067						LN		40		10		false		          10  in -- in looking at the pricing of energy and in the				false

		1068						LN		40		11		false		          11  long-term equation for the utility and for those that				false

		1069						LN		40		12		false		          12  participate with the utility.				false

		1070						LN		40		13		false		          13       Q.    Would it be surprising for you to learn,				false

		1071						LN		40		14		false		          14  or would you, subject to check, that IRP pricing				false

		1072						LN		40		15		false		          15  forecasts have consistently been higher than QF				false
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		1272						LN		48		7		false		           7  Your Honor.				false
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		1311						LN		49		20		false		          20  do you swear to tell the truth?				false

		1312						LN		49		21		false		          21             THE WITNESS:  You got it.				false

		1313						LN		49		22		false		          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Do you swear to				false

		1314						LN		49		23		false		          23  tell the truth, sir?				false

		1315						LN		49		24		false		          24             THE WITNESS:  I do.				false

		1316						LN		49		25		false		          25             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.				false

		1317						PG		50		0		false		page 50				false

		1318						LN		50		1		false		           1                        EXAMINATION				false

		1319						LN		50		2		false		           2  BY MS. HOGLE:				false

		1320						LN		50		3		false		           3       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Tourangeau.  Once again,				false

		1321						LN		50		4		false		           4  maybe for the reporter benefit, can you state and				false

		1322						LN		50		5		false		           5  spell your name for the record.				false

		1323						LN		50		6		false		           6       A.    Yes.  Mark Tourangeau,				false

		1324						LN		50		7		false		           7  T-O-U-R-A-N-G-E-A-U.				false

		1325						LN		50		8		false		           8       Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what				false

		1326						LN		50		9		false		           9  capacity?				false

		1327						LN		50		10		false		          10       A.    I'm employed by Rocky Mountain Power as a				false

		1328						LN		50		11		false		          11  director of commercial services, where I oversee our				false

		1329						LN		50		12		false		          12  negotiations and relationships with our large				false

		1330						LN		50		13		false		          13  industrial customers that we have special contracts				false

		1331						LN		50		14		false		          14  with.  I also work with customers who are looking to				false

		1332						LN		50		15		false		          15  purchase renewables through our green tariffs.  And				false

		1333						LN		50		16		false		          16  then I also oversee our qualifying-facility process				false

		1334						LN		50		17		false		          17  under PERPA for the Rocky Mountain Power territory.				false

		1335						LN		50		18		false		          18       Q.    And is this the first time that you have				false

		1336						LN		50		19		false		          19  testified in the State of Utah?				false

		1337						LN		50		20		false		          20       A.    It is.				false

		1338						LN		50		21		false		          21       Q.    So given that, can you please provide a				false

		1339						LN		50		22		false		          22  brief background of your service.				false

		1340						LN		50		23		false		          23       A.    Certainly.  So I have over 20 years of				false

		1341						LN		50		24		false		          24  experience in the energy industry.  Previous to Rocky				false

		1342						LN		50		25		false		          25  Mountain Power, I joined Rocky Mountain Power just				false

		1343						PG		51		0		false		page 51				false

		1344						LN		51		1		false		           1  about a year ago.  Previous to that I worked for				false

		1345						LN		51		2		false		           2  eight years for NextEra Energy out of Florida, which				false

		1346						LN		51		3		false		           3  is the largest renewable zone in North America.  I				false

		1347						LN		51		4		false		           4  also worked for Morgan Stanley Commodities and for				false

		1348						LN		51		5		false		           5  Duke Energy.				false

		1349						LN		51		6		false		           6       Q.    Thank you.				false

		1350						LN		51		7		false		           7             And are you familiar with the complaint				false

		1351						LN		51		8		false		           8  that was filed by Clenera on September 22nd, 2017?				false

		1352						LN		51		9		false		           9       A.    I am.				false

		1353						LN		51		10		false		          10       Q.    Are you familiar with Rocky Mountain				false

		1354						LN		51		11		false		          11  Power's response to that complaint October 24th,				false

		1355						LN		51		12		false		          12  2017?				false

		1356						LN		51		13		false		          13       A.    Yes.				false

		1357						LN		51		14		false		          14       Q.    Did you assist in the preparation of that				false

		1358						LN		51		15		false		          15  response?				false

		1359						LN		51		16		false		          16       A.    I did, yes.				false

		1360						LN		51		17		false		          17       Q.    And so you're comfortable adopting that				false

		1361						LN		51		18		false		          18  response as your own testimony today?				false

		1362						LN		51		19		false		          19       A.    Yes, I am.				false

		1363						LN		51		20		false		          20       Q.    And responding to the questions about that				false

		1364						LN		51		21		false		          21  response?				false

		1365						LN		51		22		false		          22       A.    Correct.				false

		1366						LN		51		23		false		          23       Q.    Okay.				false

		1367						LN		51		24		false		          24             MR. BARKLEY:  Could we just -- could we				false

		1368						LN		51		25		false		          25  clarify the date on that?  Was it 24 or 23?				false

		1369						PG		52		0		false		page 52				false

		1370						LN		52		1		false		           1             MS. HOGLE:  I believe that was				false

		1371						LN		52		2		false		           2  October 23rd, 2017.				false

		1372						LN		52		3		false		           3             THE WITNESS:  That's the date I have.				false

		1373						LN		52		4		false		           4             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you.				false

		1374						LN		52		5		false		           5       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Do you have any changes				false

		1375						LN		52		6		false		           6  that you would like to make to that response?				false

		1376						LN		52		7		false		           7       A.    No, I do not.				false

		1377						LN		52		8		false		           8             MS. HOGLE:  If it pleases the Commission				false

		1378						LN		52		9		false		           9  at this time, I would like to enter into the record				false

		1379						LN		52		10		false		          10  as Mr. Tourangeau's testimony the Company's response				false

		1380						LN		52		11		false		          11  filed October 23rd, 2017.				false

		1381						LN		52		12		false		          12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Hearing no				false

		1382						LN		52		13		false		          13  objection, it's admitted.				false

		1383						LN		52		14		false		          14             MS. HOGLE:  And I would like that to be				false

		1384						LN		52		15		false		          15  marked Rocky Mountain Power Exhibit 1.				false

		1385						LN		52		16		false		          16               (Whereupon, Rocky Mountain Power				false

		1386						LN		52		17		false		          17               Exhibit 1 was marked for				false

		1387						LN		52		18		false		          18               identification.)				false

		1388						LN		52		19		false		          19       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Tourangeau, are you				false

		1389						LN		52		20		false		          20  also familiar with the reply that was filed by				false

		1390						LN		52		21		false		          21  Clenera October 24th, 2017?				false

		1391						LN		52		22		false		          22       A.    Yes, I am.				false

		1392						LN		52		23		false		          23       Q.    Did you prepare a summary of your response				false

		1393						LN		52		24		false		          24  to the complaint and the reply to the Company's				false

		1394						LN		52		25		false		          25  response that you would like to share today?				false

		1395						PG		53		0		false		page 53				false

		1396						LN		53		1		false		           1       A.    I did, yes.				false

		1397						LN		53		2		false		           2       Q.    Please proceed.				false

		1398						LN		53		3		false		           3       A.    Thank you.  I really just want to make				false

		1399						LN		53		4		false		           4  three points.  The first one is our tariff and				false

		1400						LN		53		5		false		           5  procedures in Schedule 38 are very clear, that the				false

		1401						LN		53		6		false		           6  interconnection process and the PPA indicative				false

		1402						LN		53		7		false		           7  pricing and negotiation process are two very separate				false

		1403						LN		53		8		false		           8  processes.  It's mentioned a couple times in				false

		1404						LN		53		9		false		           9  Schedule 38.				false

		1405						LN		53		10		false		          10             Schedule 38 also provides a directive to				false

		1406						LN		53		11		false		          11  QF developers that they should start the				false

		1407						LN		53		12		false		          12  interconnection process as soon as possible because				false

		1408						LN		53		13		false		          13  it can be a lengthy and time consuming process.  And				false

		1409						LN		53		14		false		          14  PacifiCorp Transmission Services is the part of the				false

		1410						LN		53		15		false		          15  company that runs that.  PacifiCorp Merchant, of				false

		1411						LN		53		16		false		          16  which I'm apart, is running the PPA contracting				false

		1412						LN		53		17		false		          17  process.  We, in fact, cannot have communication with				false

		1413						LN		53		18		false		          18  the core transmission services due to fair code of				false

		1414						LN		53		19		false		          19  conduct rules, unless we're granted a waiver provided				false

		1415						LN		53		20		false		          20  by the QF developer.				false

		1416						LN		53		21		false		          21             In any case, those processes are very				false

		1417						LN		53		22		false		          22  different, very separate, and the tariff is very				false

		1418						LN		53		23		false		          23  clear that our customer or our developer is				false

		1419						LN		53		24		false		          24  developing the QF, should initiate that				false

		1420						LN		53		25		false		          25  interconnection process as soon as possible and well				false

		1421						PG		54		0		false		page 54				false

		1422						LN		54		1		false		           1  before the PPA negotiation process, in which this				false

		1423						LN		54		2		false		           2  situation that really didn't happen.  They were				false

		1424						LN		54		3		false		           3  really done contemporaneously or, actually, after the				false

		1425						LN		54		4		false		           4  interconnection specifications were corrected by				false

		1426						LN		54		5		false		           5  Clenera for Faraday and Goshen, it happened after				false

		1427						LN		54		6		false		           6  they had requested indicative pricing.				false

		1428						LN		54		7		false		           7             So that is the first point.				false

		1429						LN		54		8		false		           8             My second point is, you know, due to the				false

		1430						LN		54		9		false		           9  tariff, we are unable to start negotiation on a PPA				false

		1431						LN		54		10		false		          10  until we have a series of information, series of				false

		1432						LN		54		11		false		          11  facts, from the QF developer, including, as				false

		1433						LN		54		12		false		          12  Schedule 38 says, their status on their				false

		1434						LN		54		13		false		          13  interconnection process.  We take that to mean that				false

		1435						LN		54		14		false		          14  they need to establish an interconnection date				false

		1436						LN		54		15		false		          15  through a feasibility and system impact study done				false

		1437						LN		54		16		false		          16  with the support of Transmission Services to be able				false

		1438						LN		54		17		false		          17  to prove out that they can interconnect to our system				false

		1439						LN		54		18		false		          18  at or about the same time that they anticipate				false

		1440						LN		54		19		false		          19  bringing the project to commercial operations.				false

		1441						LN		54		20		false		          20             In Clenera's case -- Clenera, excuse me,				false

		1442						LN		54		21		false		          21  we are of a mind that given the challenges of taking				false

		1443						LN		54		22		false		          22  1120 QF megawatts and integrating those onto our				false

		1444						LN		54		23		false		          23  system using the approved methodology that PacifiCorp				false

		1445						LN		54		24		false		          24  Transmission Services has under our OATT to study				false

		1446						LN		54		25		false		          25  that, we cannot in good faith under Schedule 38				false

		1447						PG		55		0		false		page 55				false

		1448						LN		55		1		false		           1  negotiate a PPA with them or keep them in our pricing				false

		1449						LN		55		2		false		           2  queue until those studies are completed and they can				false

		1450						LN		55		3		false		           3  prove that their stated TOD date coincides with their				false

		1451						LN		55		4		false		           4  actual interconnection date under those studies.				false

		1452						LN		55		5		false		           5             The third point is more just goes towards				false

		1453						LN		55		6		false		           6  equity overall with respect to all of our customers				false

		1454						LN		55		7		false		           7  and stakeholders.  And, you know, counsel mentioned				false

		1455						LN		55		8		false		           8  it in terms of making sure that the pricing is				false

		1456						LN		55		9		false		           9  representative of the COD date when the QF facility				false

		1457						LN		55		10		false		          10  is going to come on-line.				false

		1458						LN		55		11		false		          11             I am totally indifferent as to the level				false

		1459						LN		55		12		false		          12  of that pricing.  It just needs to be right in terms				false

		1460						LN		55		13		false		          13  of when that pricing starts, when our indicative				false

		1461						LN		55		14		false		          14  pricing starts, has to be associated with the date				false

		1462						LN		55		15		false		          15  that that site goes commercial.  Otherwise, there's a				false

		1463						LN		55		16		false		          16  total mismatch there and it is not fair to our				false

		1464						LN		55		17		false		          17  customers, in that the avoided cost pricing is not				false

		1465						LN		55		18		false		          18  representative of when the site will actually become				false

		1466						LN		55		19		false		          19  commercial and operate for the 15 years it's under				false

		1467						LN		55		20		false		          20  contract.  It's not fair to other developers who are				false

		1468						LN		55		21		false		          21  held to this standard, and it's not fair to the --				false

		1469						LN		55		22		false		          22  all of our other stakeholders as well.				false

		1470						LN		55		23		false		          23             So we strive to main equity from that				false

		1471						LN		55		24		false		          24  perspective, and we feel that the action we have				false

		1472						LN		55		25		false		          25  taken, which were very deliberative, we took a lot of				false

		1473						PG		56		0		false		page 56				false

		1474						LN		56		1		false		           1  time, and I'm first to admit that, and it could have				false

		1475						LN		56		2		false		           2  gone more quickly in terms of our response.  But we				false

		1476						LN		56		3		false		           3  had a very deliberative process after the				false

		1477						LN		56		4		false		           4  conversations with the DPU, which unfortunately they				false

		1478						LN		56		5		false		           5  don't recall it was done in a general sense, it				false

		1479						LN		56		6		false		           6  wasn't done with respect to the Clenera situation				false

		1480						LN		56		7		false		           7  specifically.				false

		1481						LN		56		8		false		           8             Our representative Kyle Moore				false

		1482						LN		56		9		false		           9  distinctively remembers having the conversations, and				false

		1483						LN		56		10		false		          10  unfortunately the representative from the Commission				false

		1484						LN		56		11		false		          11  and Consumer Services don't.				false

		1485						LN		56		12		false		          12             But given that feedback and then a very				false

		1486						LN		56		13		false		          13  in-depth analysis that we did over the next few				false

		1487						LN		56		14		false		          14  weeks, we feel justified in following our process and				false

		1488						LN		56		15		false		          15  upon notice of Schedule 38 and taking the actions of				false

		1489						LN		56		16		false		          16  the tariff.				false

		1490						LN		56		17		false		          17             MS. HOGLE:  I don't have any further				false

		1491						LN		56		18		false		          18  questions.  Thank you.				false

		1492						LN		56		19		false		          19       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Or do you have any final				false

		1493						LN		56		20		false		          20  comments, Mr. Tourangeau?				false

		1494						LN		56		21		false		          21       A.    Yeah.  I mean, I just -- I struggle				false

		1495						LN		56		22		false		          22  sometimes when we talk about, you know, the				false

		1496						LN		56		23		false		          23  economics.  And I don't think we're here to debate				false

		1497						LN		56		24		false		          24  the economics of the QF facility and whether it's				false

		1498						LN		56		25		false		          25  good or bad for ratepayers.  We could have that				false

		1499						PG		57		0		false		page 57				false

		1500						LN		57		1		false		           1  debate and it could last for hours and hours.				false

		1501						LN		57		2		false		           2             These -- this is unprecedented for us to				false

		1502						LN		57		3		false		           3  have 14 different QF facilities of 80 megawatts each.				false

		1503						LN		57		4		false		           4  Basically it's one solar development coming onto our				false

		1504						LN		57		5		false		           5  system in one location.  The impacts on the				false

		1505						LN		57		6		false		           6  transmission system are large, and I think our				false

		1506						LN		57		7		false		           7  representative from Pat (phonetic) Transmission will				false

		1507						LN		57		8		false		           8  speak to that.				false

		1508						LN		57		9		false		           9             But the impacts are great.  And so you				false

		1509						LN		57		10		false		          10  can't really talk about the economic impact just in				false

		1510						LN		57		11		false		          11  terms of rates because there are broad economic				false

		1511						LN		57		12		false		          12  impacts across the entire states that we serve				false

		1512						LN		57		13		false		          13  associated with it.				false

		1513						LN		57		14		false		          14             So we want to make sure we're have been				false

		1514						LN		57		15		false		          15  deliberative, very fair with respect to this huge				false

		1515						LN		57		16		false		          16  project that is coming on-line as 14 separate 80				false

		1516						LN		57		17		false		          17  megawatt QF facilities that I'm sure are probably a				false

		1517						LN		57		18		false		          18  mile apart.  And we want to make sure that we are				false

		1518						LN		57		19		false		          19  following our procedures to a T, because this size of				false

		1519						LN		57		20		false		          20  project will have massive implications for our				false

		1520						LN		57		21		false		          21  customers for fairness and for our system.  So we				false

		1521						LN		57		22		false		          22  want to make sure that we're being thoughtful for all				false

		1522						LN		57		23		false		          23  of our customers and stakeholders.				false

		1523						LN		57		24		false		          24             MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Tourangeau is available				false

		1524						LN		57		25		false		          25  for questions.  Thank you.				false

		1525						PG		58		0		false		page 58				false

		1526						LN		58		1		false		           1             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Barkley.				false

		1527						LN		58		2		false		           2             MR. BARKLEY:  I do have some questions,				false

		1528						LN		58		3		false		           3  Your Honor.				false

		1529						LN		58		4		false		           4                        EXAMINATION				false

		1530						LN		58		5		false		           5  BY MR. BARKLEY:				false

		1531						LN		58		6		false		           6       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Tourangeau.				false

		1532						LN		58		7		false		           7       A.    Good morning, sir.				false

		1533						LN		58		8		false		           8       Q.    Is it your testimony that Rocky Mountain				false

		1534						LN		58		9		false		           9  Power has historically required a completed facility				false

		1535						LN		58		10		false		          10  study before tendering a form of PPA and beginning				false

		1536						LN		58		11		false		          11  negotiations?				false

		1537						LN		58		12		false		          12       A.    My understanding is that we have to have				false

		1538						LN		58		13		false		          13  proof that a facilities study has been done that				false

		1539						LN		58		14		false		          14  proves that the interconnection can be made at or				false

		1540						LN		58		15		false		          15  around the stated C.O.D.  Now, I've been here for a				false

		1541						LN		58		16		false		          16  year, so I'm not sure if that is always what we				false

		1542						LN		58		17		false		          17  followed in the past.  But based on our read of the				false

		1543						LN		58		18		false		          18  tariff, that's what we're looking at.				false

		1544						LN		58		19		false		          19       Q.    Is it your understanding that the tariff				false

		1545						LN		58		20		false		          20  requires demonstration that an interconnection study				false

		1546						LN		58		21		false		          21  has been completed before you can -- before you can				false

		1547						LN		58		22		false		          22  provide the form of PPA?				false

		1548						LN		58		23		false		          23       A.    And let me pull up the tariff here real				false

		1549						LN		58		24		false		          24  quickly so I can speak to that.				false

		1550						LN		58		25		false		          25             The tariff says there's evidence that any				false

		1551						PG		59		0		false		page 59				false

		1552						LN		59		1		false		           1  necessary interconnection studies that are underway				false

		1553						LN		59		2		false		           2  and that the necessary interconnection arrangements				false

		1554						LN		59		3		false		           3  can timely be completed in accordance with Part 2				false

		1555						LN		59		4		false		           4  sufficient for the projects to reach amortization by				false

		1556						LN		59		5		false		           5  the proposed on-line date.  Our interpretation of				false

		1557						LN		59		6		false		           6  that is that until the study is done, there is no way				false

		1558						LN		59		7		false		           7  for us to have determined, based on this core				false

		1559						LN		59		8		false		           8  transmission services analysis, whether it can meet				false

		1560						LN		59		9		false		           9  it's proposed service date or not.				false

		1561						LN		59		10		false		          10       Q.    Specifically, which study are you speaking				false

		1562						LN		59		11		false		          11  about?  Are you speaking of the feasibility study,				false
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		1571						LN		59		20		false		          20             MS. HOGLE:  Objection, asked and answered.				false

		1572						LN		59		21		false		          21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Overruled.  I				false
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		1579						LN		60		2		false		           2  the second points you made was a point of equity, and				false
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		1625						LN		61		22		false		          22  correct?				false
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		2065						LN		78		20		false		          20       A.    It's more likely to be an issue based on				false

		2066						LN		78		21		false		          21  all factors, not just the number.  Again, we see				false

		2067						LN		78		22		false		          22  people remove themselves from the queue for various				false

		2068						LN		78		23		false		          23  reasons.  I think a consistent reason is with these				false

		2069						LN		78		24		false		          24  larger projects, the cost to integrate them to the				false

		2070						LN		78		25		false		          25  system is sometimes very large, and I would assume				false

		2071						PG		79		0		false		page 79				false

		2072						LN		79		1		false		           1  that that then drives their economics the wrong way				false

		2073						LN		79		2		false		           2  and they remove themselves from the queue.				false

		2074						LN		79		3		false		           3             So I would say it's probably more a				false

		2075						LN		79		4		false		           4  function -- it's not just a function of number, it's				false

		2076						LN		79		5		false		           5  a function of number and size and location.				false

		2077						LN		79		6		false		           6       Q.    But to be clear, if there are three				false

		2078						LN		79		7		false		           7  requests in the queue and I'm No. 3, there are only				false

		2079						LN		79		8		false		           8  two people ahead of me who might change their minds				false

		2080						LN		79		9		false		           9  and affect my timing, correct?				false

		2081						LN		79		10		false		          10       A.    No.  It's not just that there's two people				false

		2082						LN		79		11		false		          11  ahead of you, it's how many are ahead of you that may				false

		2083						LN		79		12		false		          12  or do remove themselves from the queue that then have				false

		2084						LN		79		13		false		          13  an impact on you.  And so that project could be in				false

		2085						LN		79		14		false		          14  Southern Utah, Northern Utah, Idaho.  If it has an				false

		2086						LN		79		15		false		          15  impact on those queue positions below it, then those				false

		2087						LN		79		16		false		          16  queue positions have to be restudied to evaluate the				false

		2088						LN		79		17		false		          17  impacts and the upgrades associated with that removed				false

		2089						LN		79		18		false		          18  project, and those get applied down into the queue.				false

		2090						LN		79		19		false		          19       Q.    Maybe my question wasn't clear, because				false

		2091						LN		79		20		false		          20  I'm not sure your answer was inconsistent with what I				false

		2092						LN		79		21		false		          21  was suggesting.  So let me try again.				false

		2093						LN		79		22		false		          22             If there are only three applicants in the				false

		2094						LN		79		23		false		          23  queue and I'm last, I'm No. 3, there are two				false

		2095						LN		79		24		false		          24  applicants in front of me, and if either of those two				false

		2096						LN		79		25		false		          25  applicants decides to withdraw from the queue or				false

		2097						PG		80		0		false		page 80				false

		2098						LN		80		1		false		           1  change the parameters of their application, that				false

		2099						LN		80		2		false		           2  could affect me, right?				false

		2100						LN		80		3		false		           3       A.    Yes.  In theory if there were only three				false

		2101						LN		80		4		false		           4  customers in the queue in the same general location				false

		2102						LN		80		5		false		           5  or in a location that would impact you, if they				false

		2103						LN		80		6		false		           6  remove themselves, yes.				false

		2104						LN		80		7		false		           7       Q.    Okay.  And if there are 40 applications in				false

		2105						LN		80		8		false		           8  the queue, and again, I have the misfortune of being				false

		2106						LN		80		9		false		           9  last, I'm No. 40, there are 39 applications in the				false

		2107						LN		80		10		false		          10  queue ahead of me, any one of which could change,				false

		2108						LN		80		11		false		          11  either withdraw from the queue or change its				false

		2109						LN		80		12		false		          12  parameters, and require a restudy that would affect				false

		2110						LN		80		13		false		          13  me, right?				false

		2111						LN		80		14		false		          14       A.    That is possible, yes.				false

		2112						LN		80		15		false		          15       Q.    And is it reasonable to suggest that if				false

		2113						LN		80		16		false		          16  there are 40 applications in the queue, it's more				false

		2114						LN		80		17		false		          17  likely that some of them are in the same area or				false

		2115						LN		80		18		false		          18  region as I am and some of them may be on the same				false

		2116						LN		80		19		false		          19  transmission lines I am?				false

		2117						LN		80		20		false		          20       A.    It's possible.				false

		2118						LN		80		21		false		          21       Q.    Is it your position today that the Rocky				false

		2119						LN		80		22		false		          22  Mountain Power tariffs and/or the PacifiCorp tariffs				false

		2120						LN		80		23		false		          23  do not allow for a cluster study of the sort that was				false

		2121						LN		80		24		false		          24  described by Mr. Ellsworth?				false

		2122						LN		80		25		false		          25       A.    No.  A cluster study or sequential studies				false

		2123						PG		81		0		false		page 81				false

		2124						LN		81		1		false		           1  are both allowed in the Open Access Transmission				false

		2125						LN		81		2		false		           2  Tariff.				false

		2126						LN		81		3		false		           3       Q.    One last topic, Mr. Fritz.				false

		2127						LN		81		4		false		           4             In the company's October 23rd response				false

		2128						LN		81		5		false		           5  there was a reference made to Docket No. 17-35-13, in				false

		2129						LN		81		6		false		           6  which PacifiCorp Transmission had experienced an				false

		2130						LN		81		7		false		           7  unprecedented surge in interconnection applications.				false

		2131						LN		81		8		false		           8             Are you familiar with that reference?				false

		2132						LN		81		9		false		           9       A.    Yes.				false

		2133						LN		81		10		false		          10       Q.    It is correct, isn't it, that in that				false

		2134						LN		81		11		false		          11  docket PacifiCorp cited its workload as support for a				false

		2135						LN		81		12		false		          12  request to extend deadlines?				false

		2136						LN		81		13		false		          13       A.    Yes.				false

		2137						LN		81		14		false		          14             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you.  I have no				false

		2138						LN		81		15		false		          15  further questions.				false

		2139						LN		81		16		false		          16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Jetter?				false

		2140						LN		81		17		false		          17             MR. JETTER:  I do have a few questions.				false

		2141						LN		81		18		false		          18  Good morning.				false

		2142						LN		81		19		false		          19             THE WITNESS:  Good morning.				false

		2143						LN		81		20		false		          20                        EXAMINATION				false

		2144						LN		81		21		false		          21  BY MR. JETTER:				false

		2145						LN		81		22		false		          22       Q.    I guess let's start out with, when -- when				false

		2146						LN		81		23		false		          23  did the Pac Trans unit realize that it was seeing a				false

		2147						LN		81		24		false		          24  sufficient volume of applications coming in that it				false

		2148						LN		81		25		false		          25  was no longer able to keep to the 45-day turnaround				false

		2149						PG		82		0		false		page 82				false

		2150						LN		82		1		false		           1  on those?				false

		2151						LN		82		2		false		           2       A.    I don't have exact dates in front of me,				false

		2152						LN		82		3		false		           3  but it would have been in, I believe, late 2015,				false

		2153						LN		82		4		false		           4  early 2016.				false

		2154						LN		82		5		false		           5       Q.    And do you notify QF applications				false

		2155						LN		82		6		false		           6  immediately upon their application to you for a				false

		2156						LN		82		7		false		           7  interconnection study that this is the case?				false

		2157						LN		82		8		false		           8       A.    No.  Not immediately.				false

		2158						LN		82		9		false		           9       Q.    At what point in the process do you				false

		2159						LN		82		10		false		          10  typically notify them?				false

		2160						LN		82		11		false		          11       A.    When we get an application in, there's				false

		2161						LN		82		12		false		          12  many steps we go through.  But when we get a deemed				false

		2162						LN		82		13		false		          13  complete application, then we hold a scoping meeting.				false

		2163						LN		82		14		false		          14  When we have the scoping meeting, that's where we				false

		2164						LN		82		15		false		          15  would provide information on the study process.				false

		2165						LN		82		16		false		          16       Q.    Okay.  And so would it be fair to say that				false

		2166						LN		82		17		false		          17  there's really no way for a QF to know what the				false

		2167						LN		82		18		false		          18  timeline would be before they get to that point?				false

		2168						LN		82		19		false		          19       A.    Again, I would have to go back and look				false

		2169						LN		82		20		false		          20  and see what information we have on OASIS.  I'm				false

		2170						LN		82		21		false		          21  trying to remember if the dates are included there or				false

		2171						LN		82		22		false		          22  not.  But that could be a way for them to see that.				false

		2172						LN		82		23		false		          23       Q.    Okay.  In this case do you know when that				false

		2173						LN		82		24		false		          24  scoping meeting happened?				false

		2174						LN		82		25		false		          25       A.    The scoping meeting was January 3rd, 2017.				false

		2175						PG		83		0		false		page 83				false

		2176						LN		83		1		false		           1       Q.    Okay.  And do you know how soon after that				false

		2177						LN		83		2		false		           2  you had informed the applicant for these QF's that				false

		2178						LN		83		3		false		           3  that study would be delayed?				false

		2179						LN		83		4		false		           4       A.    That would have been 3-14, 2017.				false

		2180						LN		83		5		false		           5       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.				false

		2181						LN		83		6		false		           6             Since the influx of these QF applications				false

		2182						LN		83		7		false		           7  in 2015, has the staff that do the calculations and				false

		2183						LN		83		8		false		           8  studies on this increase at Pac Trans?				false

		2184						LN		83		9		false		           9       A.    First I would like to clarify that it's				false

		2185						LN		83		10		false		          10  not just an increase in QF's.  We don't treat the QF				false

		2186						LN		83		11		false		          11  request any different than we do a PERC				false

		2187						LN		83		12		false		          12  jurisdictional request.  They enter the same queue				false

		2188						LN		83		13		false		          13  and they're studied in the same manner.				false

		2189						LN		83		14		false		          14             We have added a consultant to help with				false

		2190						LN		83		15		false		          15  the studies during this timeframe.				false

		2191						LN		83		16		false		          16       Q.    Okay.  And when you say a consultant, is				false

		2192						LN		83		17		false		          17  that a consulting firm or is that an individual				false

		2193						LN		83		18		false		          18  person?				false

		2194						LN		83		19		false		          19       A.    It's a consulting firm.				false

		2195						LN		83		20		false		          20       Q.    Okay.  Has that significantly reduced the				false

		2196						LN		83		21		false		          21  time to turn around these applications?				false

		2197						LN		83		22		false		          22       A.    Initially, yes, it did.  With the				false

		2198						LN		83		23		false		          23  additional influx with the size, it hasn't gone as				false

		2199						LN		83		24		false		          24  fast.  When we first brought them in, we were dealing				false

		2200						LN		83		25		false		          25  more with small generation.  And so it's -- I would				false

		2201						PG		84		0		false		page 84				false

		2202						LN		84		1		false		           1  say it's helped, but it's slowed down a little bit.				false

		2203						LN		84		2		false		           2       Q.    Okay.  And is it -- is it accurate to say				false

		2204						LN		84		3		false		           3  that a new application today, if we hypothetically				false

		2205						LN		84		4		false		           4  created an 80-megawatt new QF at the bottom of the				false

		2206						LN		84		5		false		           5  queue in the same location in Southern Utah, that				false

		2207						LN		84		6		false		           6  they would be reasonable to expect a one-year-plus				false

		2208						LN		84		7		false		           7  timeframe?				false

		2209						LN		84		8		false		           8       A.    Yes.				false

		2210						LN		84		9		false		           9       Q.    Are you doing anything actively now to				false

		2211						LN		84		10		false		          10  reduce those times?				false

		2212						LN		84		11		false		          11       A.    Not beyond what we have done.  We have				false

		2213						LN		84		12		false		          12  looked at options.  We have not found an option.				false

		2214						LN		84		13		false		          13       Q.    I guess maybe to follow-up on that, could				false

		2215						LN		84		14		false		          14  you briefly describe what options you have				false

		2216						LN		84		15		false		          15  considered?				false

		2217						LN		84		16		false		          16       A.    We have looked at options of breaking the				false

		2218						LN		84		17		false		          17  system up.  In other words, looking at studies				false

		2219						LN		84		18		false		          18  associated with Southern Utah, Eastern Wyoming.  What				false

		2220						LN		84		19		false		          19  we have found is that with the increase in the				false

		2221						LN		84		20		false		          20  megawatt size that that doesn't work.  We have looked				false

		2222						LN		84		21		false		          21  to see if there's additional contractors out there				false

		2223						LN		84		22		false		          22  that could help.  And we have looked at adding				false

		2224						LN		84		23		false		          23  resources, although we've only looked at that.  We				false

		2225						LN		84		24		false		          24  haven't done any real analysis or decided to do it.				false

		2226						LN		84		25		false		          25       Q.    And in terms of these studies, if you were				false

		2227						PG		85		0		false		page 85				false

		2228						LN		85		1		false		           1  to increase your staff doing the studies, would that				false

		2229						LN		85		2		false		           2  speed up the process?				false

		2230						LN		85		3		false		           3       A.    No.				false

		2231						LN		85		4		false		           4       Q.    And why is that?				false

		2232						LN		85		5		false		           5       A.    Because we use the sequential method.  So				false

		2233						LN		85		6		false		           6  the higher-queued project has to be studied first.				false

		2234						LN		85		7		false		           7  And so throwing bodies at the queue doesn't				false

		2235						LN		85		8		false		           8  necessarily mean that you speed the process up.				false

		2236						LN		85		9		false		           9       Q.    So in that sequential study, is it				false

		2237						LN		85		10		false		          10  computer calculation time?  What is taking so long				false

		2238						LN		85		11		false		          11  that increasing adding another team of other analysts				false

		2239						LN		85		12		false		          12  would not speed that up?				false

		2240						LN		85		13		false		          13       A.    Generally it's the complexity of the				false

		2241						LN		85		14		false		          14  analysis.  And so when we see this, you know,				false

		2242						LN		85		15		false		          15  increase in size and megawatts in the requests, it				false

		2243						LN		85		16		false		          16  involves a larger footprint of the transmission				false

		2244						LN		85		17		false		          17  system that has to be analyzed.				false

		2245						LN		85		18		false		          18             And so with the power-flow analysis, what				false

		2246						LN		85		19		false		          19  we're really trying to do is at the end of the day				false

		2247						LN		85		20		false		          20  balance generation with load.  So as your generation				false

		2248						LN		85		21		false		          21  increases beyond what your load increases, then it				false

		2249						LN		85		22		false		          22  becomes more and more complex.  It takes more time to				false

		2250						LN		85		23		false		          23  do the study.				false

		2251						LN		85		24		false		          24             We use a term in the power-flow analysis				false

		2252						LN		85		25		false		          25  that we say the analysis has to solve.  And that				false

		2253						PG		86		0		false		page 86				false

		2254						LN		86		1		false		           1  means that we have figured out what additions need to				false

		2255						LN		86		2		false		           2  be made, what are the impacts, what are the solutions				false

		2256						LN		86		3		false		           3  to those impacts, that we maintain a safe, reliable				false

		2257						LN		86		4		false		           4  system for all customers.				false

		2258						LN		86		5		false		           5       Q.    And in so doing that you're using, I				false

		2259						LN		86		6		false		           6  assume, a model of your current grid of transmission				false

		2260						LN		86		7		false		           7  lines --				false

		2261						LN		86		8		false		           8       A.    Yes.				false

		2262						LN		86		9		false		           9       Q.    -- in the distribution system; is that				false

		2263						LN		86		10		false		          10  right?				false

		2264						LN		86		11		false		          11       A.    Yes.				false

		2265						LN		86		12		false		          12       Q.    And the calculations done on the power				false

		2266						LN		86		13		false		          13  flow across any given line, are those generated				false

		2267						LN		86		14		false		          14  through a computer model?  Are you doing some type of				false

		2268						LN		86		15		false		          15  a manual input calculation?				false

		2269						LN		86		16		false		          16       A.    It's a computer model, but there's				false

		2270						LN		86		17		false		          17  human -- a lot of human interface when it starts				false

		2271						LN		86		18		false		          18  coming to the time of the model didn't solve, now how				false

		2272						LN		86		19		false		          19  do we fix it so it does solve.  So that requires, you				false

		2273						LN		86		20		false		          20  know, a pretty good knowledge of our system to be				false

		2274						LN		86		21		false		          21  able to do that.				false

		2275						LN		86		22		false		          22             And what I mean by that is, if it doesn't				false

		2276						LN		86		23		false		          23  solve, then what the engineering planner does is				false

		2277						LN		86		24		false		          24  says, Okay, what if -- what if we install X, and that				false

		2278						LN		86		25		false		          25  could be a new transformer.  It could be a finish				false

		2279						PG		87		0		false		page 87				false

		2280						LN		87		1		false		           1  shifter.  It could be a new transmission line.  And				false

		2281						LN		87		2		false		           2  does that solve the case.  And, of course, when they				false

		2282						LN		87		3		false		           3  do that, then that has more impacts on the rest of				false

		2283						LN		87		4		false		           4  the system, so they have to look at it again.				false

		2284						LN		87		5		false		           5       Q.    And you just do one test solution at a				false

		2285						LN		87		6		false		           6  time to see if it works and then go on to the next				false

		2286						LN		87		7		false		           7  one?				false

		2287						LN		87		8		false		           8       A.    Yes.  I believe so, although I'm not a				false

		2288						LN		87		9		false		           9  planner.				false

		2289						LN		87		10		false		          10       Q.    And I guess ultimately my question is, you				false

		2290						LN		87		11		false		          11  know, as a regulator from the State of Utah what				false

		2291						LN		87		12		false		          12  we're seeing is potentially putting customers at risk				false

		2292						LN		87		13		false		          13  of delaying good projects or potentially causing good				false

		2293						LN		87		14		false		          14  projects to be terminated simply by a delay in the				false

		2294						LN		87		15		false		          15  calculations or the analysis from Pac Trans, and				false

		2295						LN		87		16		false		          16  frankly that's kind of why we're here today.				false

		2296						LN		87		17		false		          17             Is it -- is it accurate to say that your				false

		2297						LN		87		18		false		          18  testimony is that there's nothing you can do to speed				false

		2298						LN		87		19		false		          19  this up?				false

		2299						LN		87		20		false		          20       A.    No.  We continue to look for ways to speed				false

		2300						LN		87		21		false		          21  the process up.  And that does include, you know, the				false

		2301						LN		87		22		false		          22  possibility of moving to a cluster-type study.  But				false

		2302						LN		87		23		false		          23  these are things that, sorry to say, can't happen				false

		2303						LN		87		24		false		          24  overnight.				false

		2304						LN		87		25		false		          25       Q.    Okay.				false

		2305						PG		88		0		false		page 88				false

		2306						LN		88		1		false		           1             MR. JETTER:  I think that's all of my				false

		2307						LN		88		2		false		           2  questions.  Thank you.				false

		2308						LN		88		3		false		           3             THE WITNESS:  Thank you.				false

		2309						LN		88		4		false		           4             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have a				false

		2310						LN		88		5		false		           5  couple.  Do you want to wait or go ahead and do				false

		2311						LN		88		6		false		           6  yours?				false

		2312						LN		88		7		false		           7             MS. HOGLE:  I apologize.  I will leave				false

		2313						LN		88		8		false		           8  that up to you, whatever you want me to do.  If you				false

		2314						LN		88		9		false		           9  want me to go before or after.				false

		2315						LN		88		10		false		          10             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Go ahead.				false

		2316						LN		88		11		false		          11             MS. HOGLE:  Okay, thank you.				false

		2317						LN		88		12		false		          12                        EXAMINATION				false

		2318						LN		88		13		false		          13  BY MS. HOGLE:				false

		2319						LN		88		14		false		          14       Q.    Mr. Fritz, to your knowledge, does the				false

		2320						LN		88		15		false		          15  OATT allow for reasonable delays in the processing of				false

		2321						LN		88		16		false		          16  interconnection application requests to accommodate				false

		2322						LN		88		17		false		          17  spikes, such as spikes in the requests, such as the				false

		2323						LN		88		18		false		          18  surge and the spike that PacifiCorp transmission is				false

		2324						LN		88		19		false		          19  experiencing and has been experiencing for over a				false

		2325						LN		88		20		false		          20  year now?				false

		2326						LN		88		21		false		          21       A.    Yes.				false

		2327						LN		88		22		false		          22       Q.    You were also asked earlier about the				false

		2328						LN		88		23		false		          23  cluster process and whether that is allowed under				false

		2329						LN		88		24		false		          24  PacifiCorp's OATT.  Do you recall that question?				false

		2330						LN		88		25		false		          25       A.    Yes, I do.				false

		2331						PG		89		0		false		page 89				false

		2332						LN		89		1		false		           1       Q.    Is it your understanding whether this				false

		2333						LN		89		2		false		           2  hearing is to debate our process?  Or is it to find				false

		2334						LN		89		3		false		           3  out whether PacifiCorp is following its Schedule 38				false

		2335						LN		89		4		false		           4  in order to run through the applications pursuant to				false

		2336						LN		89		5		false		           5  Schedule 38?				false

		2337						LN		89		6		false		           6       A.    It's my understanding that this hearing is				false

		2338						LN		89		7		false		           7  about how PacifiCorp is following Schedule 38.				false

		2339						LN		89		8		false		           8       Q.    Could one of the reasons or a factor that				false

		2340						LN		89		9		false		           9  is driving the surge in the applications of				false

		2341						LN		89		10		false		          10  interconnection requests be the upcoming expirations				false

		2342						LN		89		11		false		          11  of the PTC's, is that a factor, perhaps, that is				false

		2343						LN		89		12		false		          12  driving the significant surge that PacifiCorp				false

		2344						LN		89		13		false		          13  Transmission is seeing with its interconnection				false

		2345						LN		89		14		false		          14  requests?				false

		2346						LN		89		15		false		          15       A.    Yes.  Actually, that's a phenomena that we				false

		2347						LN		89		16		false		          16  see every year that we get close to, you know, that				false

		2348						LN		89		17		false		          17  date.  And it has happened in various times in past				false

		2349						LN		89		18		false		          18  history.  And when that -- you know, we start getting				false

		2350						LN		89		19		false		          19  close to that date, we see an uptick.				false

		2351						LN		89		20		false		          20       Q.    Does PacifiCorp Transmission have control				false

		2352						LN		89		21		false		          21  over the number and the size of interconnection				false

		2353						LN		89		22		false		          22  requests it receives?				false

		2354						LN		89		23		false		          23       A.    No.				false

		2355						LN		89		24		false		          24       Q.    You were also asked about whether you				false

		2356						LN		89		25		false		          25  understood that as regulators these delays that are				false

		2357						PG		90		0		false		page 90				false

		2358						LN		90		1		false		           1  caused by the significant number and the volume of				false

		2359						LN		90		2		false		           2  requests that PacifiCorp Transmission is getting				false

		2360						LN		90		3		false		           3  could potentially be harmful to customers.				false

		2361						LN		90		4		false		           4             Is it your understanding that as a				false

		2362						LN		90		5		false		           5  regulator also running through these applications				false

		2363						LN		90		6		false		           6  without the sequential process that is used by				false

		2364						LN		90		7		false		           7  PacifiCorp and without following Schedule 38 could				false

		2365						LN		90		8		false		           8  also potentially be harmful to customers?				false

		2366						LN		90		9		false		           9       A.    Yes.  By not following our process, if we				false

		2367						LN		90		10		false		          10  were to pull a customer out of that process and study				false

		2368						LN		90		11		false		          11  them outside the process, then that would harm				false

		2369						LN		90		12		false		          12  everybody with a higher-queued project.  Or I should				false

		2370						LN		90		13		false		          13  say has the potential to.				false

		2371						LN		90		14		false		          14       Q.    Is Clenera the -- to your knowledge, the				false

		2372						LN		90		15		false		          15  only QF that is experiencing these conditions in the				false

		2373						LN		90		16		false		          16  current environment of ever increasing requests as a				false

		2374						LN		90		17		false		          17  result of the PTC's expirations?				false

		2375						LN		90		18		false		          18       A.    No.  I would say that that's -- that's an				false

		2376						LN		90		19		false		          19  issue with every applicant in the queue.  It's not				false

		2377						LN		90		20		false		          20  specific to QF's or for jurisdictional, it's the				false

		2378						LN		90		21		false		          21  timeline in the queue today, and it impacts everybody				false

		2379						LN		90		22		false		          22  in the queue.				false

		2380						LN		90		23		false		          23             MS. HOGLE:  I have no further questions,				false

		2381						LN		90		24		false		          24  thank you.				false

		2382						LN		90		25		false		          25             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, can I be				false

		2383						PG		91		0		false		page 91				false

		2384						LN		91		1		false		           1  permitted just a couple quick follow-ups to that?				false

		2385						LN		91		2		false		           2             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Of course.				false

		2386						LN		91		3		false		           3                        EXAMINATION				false

		2387						LN		91		4		false		           4  BY MR. BARKLEY:				false

		2388						LN		91		5		false		           5       Q.    I want to talk specifically about your				false

		2389						LN		91		6		false		           6  statement that utility, by which I assume you mean				false

		2390						LN		91		7		false		           7  Pac Tran, has no control over the number of				false

		2391						LN		91		8		false		           8  applications.				false

		2392						LN		91		9		false		           9             In looking at your chart, what was the				false

		2393						LN		91		10		false		          10  date, by the way, of this data?				false

		2394						LN		91		11		false		          11       A.    Yesterday.				false

		2395						LN		91		12		false		          12       Q.    Yesterday.  Okay.				false

		2396						LN		91		13		false		          13             Has Rocky Mountain Power recently issued				false

		2397						LN		91		14		false		          14  an RFP for proposed projects?				false

		2398						LN		91		15		false		          15       A.    Yes.  I believe they have actually issued				false

		2399						LN		91		16		false		          16  two.				false

		2400						LN		91		17		false		          17       Q.    Okay.  And so that is an invitation for				false

		2401						LN		91		18		false		          18  people to propose new projects that will have to be				false

		2402						LN		91		19		false		          19  studied, correct?				false

		2403						LN		91		20		false		          20       A.    I'm not privy to the details of the RFP.				false

		2404						LN		91		21		false		          21  But I believe it's my understanding that a developer				false

		2405						LN		91		22		false		          22  has to be in the queue before they can submit a				false

		2406						LN		91		23		false		          23  project in the RFP.				false

		2407						LN		91		24		false		          24       Q.    So if I want to submit -- if I want to				false

		2408						LN		91		25		false		          25  respond to the RFP, I've got to get in the queue				false

		2409						PG		92		0		false		page 92				false

		2410						LN		92		1		false		           1  before I can do so?				false

		2411						LN		92		2		false		           2       A.    I believe that's correct, although maybe				false

		2412						LN		92		3		false		           3  Mark has a different take on that.				false

		2413						LN		92		4		false		           4       Q.    You also said that it was your				false

		2414						LN		92		5		false		           5  understanding that the OATT allows for reasonable				false

		2415						LN		92		6		false		           6  delays due to spikes in applications.  Are you able				false

		2416						LN		92		7		false		           7  here today to point us to the language in that OATT				false

		2417						LN		92		8		false		           8  or that general area where we would find that?				false

		2418						LN		92		9		false		           9       A.    You pointed it out earlier when you quoted				false

		2419						LN		92		10		false		          10  the 45 days.  It says, reasonable effort.				false

		2420						LN		92		11		false		          11       Q.    Okay.  Perfect.				false

		2421						LN		92		12		false		          12             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you.  That's all I				false

		2422						LN		92		13		false		          13  have.				false

		2423						LN		92		14		false		          14             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.  And				false

		2424						LN		92		15		false		          15  just a couple questions from me, Mr. Fritz.				false

		2425						LN		92		16		false		          16             I believe you testified earlier that your				false

		2426						LN		92		17		false		          17  understanding is that the OATT allows Pac Trans				false

		2427						LN		92		18		false		          18  discretion as to whether to employ what we have				false

		2428						LN		92		19		false		          19  referred to today as a serial method or a cluster				false

		2429						LN		92		20		false		          20  method; is that right?				false

		2430						LN		92		21		false		          21             THE WITNESS:  Correct.				false

		2431						LN		92		22		false		          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Whichever				false

		2432						LN		92		23		false		          23  option Pac Trans selects, whether cluster or serial,				false

		2433						LN		92		24		false		          24  does the OATT require to apply that -- require Pac				false

		2434						LN		92		25		false		          25  Trans to apply that method to all applicants?				false

		2435						PG		93		0		false		page 93				false

		2436						LN		93		1		false		           1       A.    I would say that the tariff is not clear				false

		2437						LN		93		2		false		           2  on that.  The tariff allows you to use either				false

		2438						LN		93		3		false		           3  process.  I don't believe it's clear on exactly how				false

		2439						LN		93		4		false		           4  you apply the process and if you can split it up.				false

		2440						LN		93		5		false		           5       Q.    So you don't know the answer to the				false

		2441						LN		93		6		false		           6  question as to whether if this Commission issued an				false

		2442						LN		93		7		false		           7  order finding that Pac Trans ought to use the cluster				false

		2443						LN		93		8		false		           8  method, that Pac Trans would be in violation of its				false

		2444						LN		93		9		false		           9  OATT if it did employ that method in FERC				false

		2445						LN		93		10		false		          10  jurisdictional applications?				false

		2446						LN		93		11		false		          11       A.    I don't think I have an answer to that.				false

		2447						LN		93		12		false		          12  We're allowed to use cluster studies, per the tariff.				false

		2448						LN		93		13		false		          13  So I don't think I can answer that if we were				false

		2449						LN		93		14		false		          14  directed.				false

		2450						LN		93		15		false		          15             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  No, that's				false

		2451						LN		93		16		false		          16  fine.  I don't know is a perfectly acceptable answer.				false

		2452						LN		93		17		false		          17  I'm just wondering.				false

		2453						LN		93		18		false		          18             Have you testified in other administrative				false

		2454						LN		93		19		false		          19  proceedings, whether before a state commission or				false

		2455						LN		93		20		false		          20  before FERC that related to Pac Trans's processing of				false

		2456						LN		93		21		false		          21  interconnection applications or the studies related				false

		2457						LN		93		22		false		          22  to them, and specifically the timeliness of that				false

		2458						LN		93		23		false		          23  processing?				false

		2459						LN		93		24		false		          24             THE WITNESS:  No.				false

		2460						LN		93		25		false		          25             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have nothing				false

		2461						PG		94		0		false		page 94				false

		2462						LN		94		1		false		           1  else.  Thank you.				false

		2463						LN		94		2		false		           2             Ms. Hogle.				false

		2464						LN		94		3		false		           3             MS. HOGLE:  The Company rests its case.				false

		2465						LN		94		4		false		           4  Thank you.				false

		2466						LN		94		5		false		           5             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.				false

		2467						LN		94		6		false		           6             It has been -- well, I was going to point				false

		2468						LN		94		7		false		           7  out it's been a little over two hours and if the				false

		2469						LN		94		8		false		           8  parties might desire a break.  But it looked as				false

		2470						LN		94		9		false		           9  though Mr. Barkley wanted to say something.				false

		2471						LN		94		10		false		          10             MR. BARKLEY:  I wanted to be sure that				false

		2472						LN		94		11		false		          11  whoever gets my certificate of good standing gets it,				false

		2473						LN		94		12		false		          12  it's looks really pretty.  But other than that, we're				false

		2474						LN		94		13		false		          13  fine.				false

		2475						LN		94		14		false		          14             RESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I assume				false

		2476						LN		94		15		false		          15  Mr. Jetter wants to put on some evidence; is that				false

		2477						LN		94		16		false		          16  right?				false

		2478						LN		94		17		false		          17             MR. JETTER:  Yes.				false

		2479						LN		94		18		false		          18             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Would the				false

		2480						LN		94		19		false		          19  parties like to take a break or press on?				false

		2481						LN		94		20		false		          20             MR. BARKLEY:  I'm fine with pressing on.				false

		2482						LN		94		21		false		          21             MR. JETTER:  I need a break.				false

		2483						LN		94		22		false		          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  We're going to				false

		2484						LN		94		23		false		          23  request for a break.  We'll be back at 11:20, 10				false

		2485						LN		94		24		false		          24  minutes.  We're in recess.  Thank you.				false

		2486						LN		94		25		false		          25               (Whereupon, a recess was taken at				false

		2487						PG		95		0		false		page 95				false

		2488						LN		95		1		false		           1               11:07�a.m. to 11:21�a.m.)				false

		2489						LN		95		2		false		           2             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Let's go back				false

		2490						LN		95		3		false		           3  on the record, please.				false

		2491						LN		95		4		false		           4             Mr. Jetter.				false

		2492						LN		95		5		false		           5             MR. JETTER:  Thank you.  The Division				false

		2493						LN		95		6		false		           6  would like to call Charles Peterson.				false

		2494						LN		95		7		false		           7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Peterson,				false

		2495						LN		95		8		false		           8  do you swear to tell the truth?				false

		2496						LN		95		9		false		           9             THE WITNESS:  Yes.				false

		2497						LN		95		10		false		          10             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.				false

		2498						LN		95		11		false		          11                        EXAMINATION				false

		2499						LN		95		12		false		          12  BY MR. JETTER:				false

		2500						LN		95		13		false		          13       Q.    Mr. Peterson, would you please state your				false

		2501						LN		95		14		false		          14  name and occupation for the record.				false

		2502						LN		95		15		false		          15       A.    Charles E. Peterson.  Spelled with an				false

		2503						LN		95		16		false		          16  S-O-N.				false

		2504						LN		95		17		false		          17       Q.    Thank you.				false

		2505						LN		95		18		false		          18       A.    And my occupation, I'm sorry.  I'm a				false

		2506						LN		95		19		false		          19  utility technical consultant with the Division of				false

		2507						LN		95		20		false		          20  Public Utilities.				false

		2508						LN		95		21		false		          21       Q.    Thank you.				false

		2509						LN		95		22		false		          22             And in the course of your employment, did				false

		2510						LN		95		23		false		          23  you have the opportunity to review the filings in				false

		2511						LN		95		24		false		          24  this docket?				false

		2512						LN		95		25		false		          25       A.    Yes.				false

		2513						PG		96		0		false		page 96				false

		2514						LN		96		1		false		           1       Q.    And did you create and cause to be filed				false

		2515						LN		96		2		false		           2  with the Commission an action request response dated				false

		2516						LN		96		3		false		           3  October 23rd, 2017?				false

		2517						LN		96		4		false		           4       A.    Yes.				false

		2518						LN		96		5		false		           5       Q.    Do you have any corrections or changes				false

		2519						LN		96		6		false		           6  that you would like to make to anything you have put				false

		2520						LN		96		7		false		           7  in that?				false

		2521						LN		96		8		false		           8       A.    None that I'm aware of.				false

		2522						LN		96		9		false		           9       Q.    And rather than going through all of that				false

		2523						LN		96		10		false		          10  today, would you be -- would you adopt that as your				false

		2524						LN		96		11		false		          11  testimony?				false

		2525						LN		96		12		false		          12       A.    Yes.				false

		2526						LN		96		13		false		          13       Q.    Thank you.				false

		2527						LN		96		14		false		          14             MR. JETTER:  I guess I would like to move				false

		2528						LN		96		15		false		          15  at this point to enter the action request response of				false

		2529						LN		96		16		false		          16  October 23rd, 2017, into the record.				false

		2530						LN		96		17		false		          17             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  It's admitted.				false

		2531						LN		96		18		false		          18             MR. JETTER:  Thank you.				false

		2532						LN		96		19		false		          19       Q.    BY MR. JETTER:  Just a couple of brief				false

		2533						LN		96		20		false		          20  maybe follow-up questions from things that have been				false

		2534						LN		96		21		false		          21  discussed this morning.  Would you tell me your				false

		2535						LN		96		22		false		          22  thoughts on the use of the -- I'm not remembering the				false

		2536						LN		96		23		false		          23  correct term.  The group-study method rather than				false

		2537						LN		96		24		false		          24  sequential method.				false

		2538						LN		96		25		false		          25             Do you think that -- to be more specific,				false

		2539						PG		97		0		false		page 97				false

		2540						LN		97		1		false		           1  do you think a wholesale switch to that type of				false

		2541						LN		97		2		false		           2  method would be possibly more appropriate after a				false

		2542						LN		97		3		false		           3  broader docket to evaluate whether that's the				false

		2543						LN		97		4		false		           4  appropriate method for the Commission to order?				false

		2544						LN		97		5		false		           5       A.    I think in a regulatory process that would				false

		2545						LN		97		6		false		           6  be the proper procedure, to have a separate docket				false

		2546						LN		97		7		false		           7  that would study the pros and cons of each method and				false

		2547						LN		97		8		false		           8  allow different parties to weigh in from an				false

		2548						LN		97		9		false		           9  engineering standpoint or technical standpoint, as				false

		2549						LN		97		10		false		          10  opposed to someone like me, an economist, to opine				false

		2550						LN		97		11		false		          11  about.				false

		2551						LN		97		12		false		          12       Q.    Thank you.				false

		2552						LN		97		13		false		          13             MR. JETTER:  I have no further questions				false

		2553						LN		97		14		false		          14  with that.  Mr. Peterson is available for cross from				false
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           1                  P R O C E E D I N G S



           2



           3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Going on the



           4  record, please.



           5             Good morning.  This is the time and place



           6  noticed for a hearing in the formal complaint under



           7  Schedule 38 of Clenera, LLC, on behalf 1.21 Gigawatt,



           8  LLC, against Rocky Mountain Power.  It's Docket



           9  No. 17-035-52.



          10             My name is Michael Hammer and I am the



          11  Commission's designated presiding officer.  Let's go



          12  ahead and take appearances, please.  We'll begin with



          13  Rocky Mountain Power.



          14             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.  Good morning.  My name



          15  is Yvonne Hogel.  Can you hear me?



          16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I can.



          17             THE CLERK:  You know what, Yvonne, we're



          18  having issues with that mic.



          19             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.  Is that better?



          20             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Much.



          21             MS. HOGLE:  Good morning.  I'm Yvonne



          22  Hogle, and I'm here on behalf of Rocky Mountain



          23  Power.  With me here today are Mr. Mark Tourangeau,



          24  who is the director of Commercial Services.  And



          25  Mr. Brian Fritz, who's the director of engineering.
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           1             On the phone I believe we have Mr. Rick



           2  Bail, who is president of -- excuse me, vice



           3  president of transmission, and Mr. Kris Bremer, who



           4  is manager of Generation Interconnection.  Thank you.



           5             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  And the



           6  Complainant.



           7             MS. HOGLE:  Jim Barkley, Baker Botts,



           8  representing Clenera Energy.  I have with me Jason



           9  Ellsworth and Justin Shively from the company.



          10             I want to let you know that I am licensed



          11  in Texas, not in Utah, but have with me the



          12  certificates of good standing that are required to



          13  allow me to be present today and represent my client.



          14             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you,



          15  Mr. Barkley.



          16             MR. JETTER:  Good morning, I'm Justin



          17  Jetter with the Utah Attorney General's Office, and



          18  I'm here today representing the Utah Division of



          19  Public Utilities.  And with me at counsel table is



          20  Charles Peterson with the Division.



          21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Are there any



          22  preliminary matters before we begin?



          23             MS. HOGLE:  Just one question.



          24  Mr. Barkley, do you also have the admission pro hac



          25  vice from the State of Utah to be here?
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           1             MR. BARKLEY:  The new rules do not require



           2  the admission of pro hac vice for out-of-state



           3  attorneys; they simply require that you present the



           4  Commission with a certificate of good standing from



           5  the State Bar.



           6             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.  Thank you.



           7             MR. BARKLEY:  It is a new rule.  It's not



           8  even codified yet.  It became effective, I believe,



           9  in October.



          10             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.



          11             MR. BARKLEY:  You're welcome.



          12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  With that we'll



          13  go ahead and proceed.



          14             Mr. Barkley, are you prepared to call a



          15  witness?



          16             MR. BARKLEY:  We are, Your Honor.  We



          17  would be begin by calling Mr. Dustin Shively.



          18             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  And does



          19  counsel have any preferences whether witnesses take



          20  the stand?  With this many it might be easier.



          21             MR. BARKLEY:  I would be delighted for him



          22  to take the stand.  Actually, I think it's probably



          23  the simplest.



          24             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Okay.  Please,



          25  Mr. Shively.
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           1             Mr. Shively, do you swear to tell the



           2  truth?



           3             THE WITNESS:  Yes.



           4             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.  Go



           5  ahead, Mr. Barkley.



           6                        EXAMINATION



           7  BY MR. BARKLEY:



           8       Q.    Mr. Shively, by whom are you employed?



           9       A.    Is this on?  Clenera, LLC.



          10       Q.    Okay.  And what are your job



          11  responsibilities and your job title at Clenera?



          12       A.    I am director of engineering, and I'm



          13  responsible for all of the technical oversight for



          14  our projects in development, construction, and



          15  operations.



          16       Q.    Okay.  And could you describe for the



          17  Commission the projects that are at issue in this



          18  case?



          19       A.    The projects that are at issue in this



          20  case are 1480 megawatt AC project that is located in



          21  Utah County, solar PV projects.



          22       Q.    And do the two -- do the two sets of



          23  projects have names that are commonly used?



          24       A.    Yes.  The Faraday -- there's a group of



          25  seven called the Faraday projects, and the other
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           1  group are called the Goshen Valley projects.



           2       Q.    And when was the -- I would just like to



           3  walk through with you the timeline of events in the



           4  case.



           5             When was the first request from Clenera to



           6  PacifiCorp for indicative pricing for the Faraday



           7  projects?



           8       A.    The first request for the Faraday projects



           9  for indicative pricing was November 2nd, 2016.



          10       Q.    And when was the first request for



          11  indicative pricing for the Goshen projects?



          12       A.    November 15th, 2016.



          13       Q.    Were there any subsequent changes to those



          14  requests?



          15       A.    Yes.  We later -- in December we had -- we



          16  had a larger batch of projects in the Faraday



          17  projects that originally went in for pricing and we



          18  withdrew seven of those because we had different



          19  on-line dates, and we decided to not proceed with



          20  those projects.  And on the Goshen Valley projects we



          21  later changed the point of interconnection.  The site



          22  remained the same, but there's multiple lines across



          23  the property.  So we swapped from one line to the



          24  other line and changed the points of interconnection.



          25       Q.    Did the changes that you made in December
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           1  of 2016 affect the deadline for the indicative



           2  pricing on the Faraday projects?



           3       A.    Yes.  Those -- the original -- when we



           4  removed seven projects from the list, the other seven



           5  then were repriced, or sort of -- they maintained the



           6  queue position in the pricing queue, but the pricing



           7  was recalculated.



           8       Q.    Did it affect the indicative pricing



           9  request for the Goshen projects?



          10       A.    No, those ones were still under the same



          11  procedure.



          12       Q.    When did you first receive indicative



          13  pricing for the Goshen projects?



          14       A.    The first -- and I believe we received the



          15  first Goshen Valley pricing on December 22nd, 2016.



          16       Q.    And when did you receive the first



          17  indicative pricing for the Faraday projects?



          18       A.    January 17th, 2017.



          19       Q.    Were those the final indicative prices for



          20  both the Faraday and the Goshen projects?



          21       A.    For Faraday, yes.  For Goshen, no.



          22  Because that change in the point of interconnection,



          23  we received new pricing for Goshen later in 2017.



          24       Q.    When did you make that change to the



          25  interconnection point for Goshen?
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           1       A.    February 1st, 2017.



           2       Q.    And how did that affect the timing on new



           3  indicative pricing for Goshen?



           4       A.    That reset the 30-day clock for PacifiCorp



           5  to provide the pricing.



           6       Q.    And did PacifiCorp indicate to you when



           7  you were likely to receive that indicative pricing?



           8       A.    They did.  Just a correction.  After



           9  the -- or clarification, after the change in



          10  interconnection?



          11       Q.    I'm sorry, after the change in



          12  interconnect, yes.



          13       A.    That would be delivered to us in -- I mean



          14  within the 30-day period in early March.



          15       Q.    When did you receive the revised



          16  indicative pricing for Goshen?



          17       A.    On March 16th.



          18       Q.    Have you had an opportunity to review the



          19  October 23rd response and motion to dismiss that was



          20  filed by PacifiCorp?



          21       A.    Yes.



          22       Q.    And have you had a chance to review the



          23  October 23rd response that was filed by the



          24  Department of Public Utilities?



          25       A.    Yes.
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           1       Q.    In the response filed -- or the response



           2  from the Department of Public Utilities on Page 3,



           3  there is a discussion of some of these dates involved



           4  with indicative pricing.



           5             Do you find the dates in that discussion



           6  to be accurate?



           7       A.    Yes.  A lot of the discrepancies, as far



           8  as we're talking one day here or a few days there,



           9  has to do with the fact of when the request was made



          10  or when it was deemed complete.  But by and large,



          11  yeah, all of the dates are consistent with our



          12  timeline.  Just a few differences here or there on



          13  when e-mails were, you know, exchanged, considering



          14  when the request was made or when it was deemed



          15  complete, those kind of things.



          16       Q.    Has Clenera made a request for form PPAs?



          17       A.    Yes.



          18       Q.    And when was the request for a form PPA



          19  prepared for Faraday?



          20       A.    On March 13th of this year.



          21       Q.    And when was a request made for a form PPS



          22  for Goshen?



          23       A.    On May 12th of this year.



          24       Q.    And is it your understanding that both of



          25  those were made within the applicable deadlines?
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           1       A.    Correct, yes.



           2       Q.    Did you receive any confirmation from



           3  PacifiCorp as to the completeness of the PPA request



           4  for Faraday?



           5       A.    Yes.  It was communicated from PacifiCorp



           6  that our request was complete.



           7       Q.    Okay.  Have you received a similar



           8  confirmation regarding your request for a PPA for



           9  Goshen?



          10       A.    I would have to confirm because right



          11  around that time is when the conversation was



          12  continuing on Faraday.  For Goshen, the confirmation



          13  sort of got lumped into the discussion on Faraday.



          14       Q.    Okay.  And when you say the conversation



          15  on Faraday was continuing, what are you referring to?



          16       A.    I'm referring to whether or not we needed



          17  to provide a completed interconnection study to



          18  receive a draft PPA.



          19       Q.    And did PacifiCorp indicate to you that



          20  you needed a completed interconnection study in order



          21  to get the form PPA for Faraday?



          22       A.    PacifiCorp communicated to us that we



          23  needed a draft interconnection study through



          24  communicating with them, but not in the tariff was



          25  that communicated.
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           1       Q.    When did they first communicate that to



           2  you?



           3       A.    That was April of this year.  April 18th



           4  is the note I have when that was first communicated



           5  that we would need a completed interconnection study



           6  to receive a draft PPA.



           7       Q.    And again, does your understanding of the



           8  dates on which requests were made for form PPAs match



           9  the discussion of those dates in the response that



          10  was filed by DPU on October 23rd?



          11       A.    Yes.  More or less the dates for when we



          12  requested PPAs are consistent, you know, minus any



          13  day-here-or-day-there difference.



          14       Q.    Has Clenera requested an interconnection



          15  study for Faraday?



          16       A.    Yes.



          17       Q.    Have you requested an interconnection



          18  study for the Goshen projects?



          19       A.    Yes.



          20       Q.    When did you request those interconnection



          21  studies?



          22       A.    The initial interconnection requests, or



          23  the BNA interconnection requests, were November 29th



          24  of 2016.



          25       Q.    And have you received any communication

�

                                                                     15







           1  from PacifiCorp deeming those requests complete?



           2       A.    Yes.  Their requests were deemed complete.



           3  We exchanged -- you know, there was, of course, some



           4  back and forth on the technical aspects of the



           5  project.  We had a scoping meeting, which is the



           6  preliminary call before feasibility study agreement.



           7  We proceeded with the feasibility study agreement and



           8  executed it.



           9       Q.    And when were the feasibility study



          10  agreements executed?



          11       A.    On February 15th of this year.



          12       Q.    And was that for both Faraday and for



          13  Goshen?



          14       A.    Yes, for both.



          15       Q.    How long have you -- have you yet received



          16  an interconnection feasibility study from the



          17  utility?



          18       A.    We have not received a feasibility study



          19  yet.



          20       Q.    What is your understanding of the usual



          21  timing for an interconnection feasibility study?



          22       A.    The usual timing is about a month.  The



          23  FERC guidelines in the large generating



          24  interconnection procedures is 45 days.



          25       Q.    Do you recall what the utility's tariff
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           1  says will be the timeline?



           2       A.    The tariff says it's a 45-day feasibility



           3  study.



           4             MR. BARKLEY:  And I have no further



           5  questions for Mr. Shively, Your Honor.



           6             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



           7  We'll begin with Ms. Hogle on cross.



           8             MS. HOGLE:  It depends.  I would like to



           9  know if Mr. Ellsworth will be available as a witness?



          10             MR. BARKLEY:  Mr. Ellsworth will also be



          11  available as a witness.



          12             MS. HOGLE:  I had intended to cross



          13  Mr. Ellsworth, given that his name is on the



          14  pleadings that were filed in the case.  I don't know



          15  if that would be okay with you, or if we can ask your



          16  current witness.



          17             MR. BARKLEY:  And I really am not trying



          18  to be a obstructionist.  If there are questions about



          19  dates, Mr. Shively is probably the better witness.



          20  I'm happy to tell you now that Mr. Ellsworth -- that



          21  the testimony that I will elicit from Mr. Ellsworth



          22  is really going to involve timing of QF status, the



          23  relief that's requested by the Company, and the basis



          24  for that belief.



          25             So to the extent that the questions
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           1  involve those subjects, Mr. Ellsworth is absolutely



           2  the most appropriate of the two witnesses.  To the



           3  extent it involves dates and timelines, Mr. Shively



           4  is probably the better of the two, although



           5  Mr. Ellsworth is familiar with much of that



           6  information as well.



           7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  If Mr. Shively



           8  plans to stay around, I would be happy to allow



           9  Ms. Hogle to call him when the Company puts on its



          10  witnesses, if he'll be present.



          11             MR. BARKLEY:  And that's fine with us,



          12  Your Honor.  I am happy to proceed however you would



          13  like.  That was sort of to give you some background



          14  on how at least we view the two witnesses and their



          15  subject matter.



          16             MS. HOGLE:  Sure.  I guess I'm hesitating



          17  a little bit because typically the witness on the



          18  stand would adopt any pleadings that were filed by a



          19  party.  And so I'm not sure if Mr. Ellsworth --



          20  Mr. Ellsworth or Mr. Shively is adopting the



          21  pleadings that were filed and signed by --



          22             MR. BARKLEY:  We'll have Mr. Ellsworth



          23  adopt them.



          24             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Then I will



          25  wait for cross-examination.
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           1             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



           2             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.



           3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Jetter.



           4             MR. JETTER:  And I have no questions.



           5  Thank you.



           6             THE WITNESS:  Sorry.



           7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you,



           8  Mr. Shively.



           9             Mr. Barkley.



          10             MR. BARKLEY:  And with that we'll call



          11  Mr. Ellsworth.



          12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



          13             Mr. Ellsworth, do you swear to tell the



          14  truth?



          15             THE WITNESS:  Yes.



          16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



          17                        EXAMINATION



          18  BY MR. BARKLEY:



          19       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, can you state your full



          20  name?



          21       A.    Jason Ellsworth.



          22       Q.    And by whom are you employed?



          23       A.    Clenera, LLC.



          24       Q.    What is your title at Clenera?



          25       A.    I am president and CEO.
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           1       Q.    And what are your responsibilities there?



           2       A.    I am responsible for the overall



           3  operations of the company.  The direction, in fact,



           4  involved in day to day.



           5       Q.    Have you been involved in the preparation



           6  of the pleadings that have been filed in this case by



           7  Clenera?



           8       A.    I have, yes.



           9       Q.    Are you in a position to adopt those as



          10  your own testimony?



          11       A.    Yes, I am.



          12       Q.    Have you had a chance to review



          13  PacifiCorp's filings as well?



          14       A.    Yes, I have.



          15       Q.    And how do you respond to the criticism in



          16  those claims that Clenera has not filed its Form 556



          17  to obtain QF status?



          18       A.    It is typical for us and other developers



          19  to file a 556 at a point that is closer to the actual



          20  commercial operation date of the project.  In fact,



          21  we completed a project in Southern Utah with



          22  PacifiCorp recently where the 556 was filed just



          23  shortly before our commercial operation date.



          24             The reason for that is the 556 identifies



          25  certain structural ownership elements of the project
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           1  that may not be finalized and fully determined until



           2  late in the billing cycle.



           3       Q.    Is it your understanding of utilities



           4  tariffs that Clenera would be required to have



           5  obtained that QF status at this stage of the



           6  interconnection process?



           7       A.    No, that's not our understanding, and it's



           8  also not typical of tariffs generally in the world



           9  that we participate in in this utility scale solar



          10  world.



          11       Q.    Do you have -- are you familiar with what



          12  the Rocky Mountain Power tariff does in fact require



          13  with regard to QF status?



          14       A.    Yes.  Yes, I am.



          15       Q.    And what is that?



          16       A.    So the requirement, as I understand it, is



          17  that we -- we show that we are eligible, that we are



          18  eligible as a QF.



          19             In fact, the interesting component of a



          20  556 is that it's a self certification anyway.  So



          21  it's not something that we look to for their judgment



          22  or rules.  Rather, we self certify at the time and



          23  place that's best necessary.



          24       Q.    How do you respond to PacifiCorp's claim



          25  that the delay in processing Clenera's

�

                                                                     21







           1  interconnection requests was justified by an increase



           2  in interconnection requests across the PacifiCorp



           3  system?



           4       A.    I'm surprised by the assertion.  It is not



           5  consistent with the data that we have reviewed that



           6  is publicly available on the PacifiCorp Oasis system,



           7  their realtime system.



           8             After seeing their assertion that that was



           9  a limitation on their side, we pulled up, at the time



          10  of their motion to dismiss, the actual data on Oasis



          11  and see that, in fact, there has been a relatively



          12  consistent drop in the number of applications since



          13  2013 here in Utah to a very small number.  Relative



          14  to other utilities, there's a very small number of



          15  applications that are being processed and handled by



          16  PacifiCorp for Utah.



          17             For PacifiCorp in total, because I think



          18  they handle these applications, not on a



          19  state-by-state basis but across their systems, the



          20  applications rose in 2015 but been relatively



          21  consistent thereafter, with a kind of small bump from



          22  '15 to '16, but have been relatively consistent



          23  thereafter.



          24       Q.    Did you present data on the volume of



          25  interconnection requests in your October 24th
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           1  response to PacifiCorp's motion to dismiss?



           2       A.    We did.  We presented that data.  We



           3  thought it was important to answer the assertion that



           4  that was a cause for the delay, with the data that is



           5  available on-line and direct from the company.  And



           6  that data does indeed show that there has not been a



           7  significant climb in applications.



           8             Back in '15 to '16, there was about a



           9  30 percent increase, and that -- and we have -- we



          10  have struggled to see where -- how that ties to a



          11  delay in terms of the study process, which is



          12  scheduled for 45 days, to go from 45 days to the



          13  approximate year right now that is anticipated by



          14  PacifiCorp.



          15       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, what relief does Clenera



          16  seek in this proceeding?



          17       A.    So we are -- we are seeking for relief



          18  under the tariff as it relates to the deadlines.  The



          19  tariff allows for an extension in the case of the



          20  company delays.  And we are looking at these company



          21  delays and requesting that we receive a day-per-day



          22  extension on developer deadlines associated with the



          23  tariff as it relates to the company's delays.



          24             Right now the delays are -- we're



          25  approaching a total of a year on a 45-day project, or
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           1  a 45-day study, and we -- based on the existing -- on



           2  our previous experience expect that those delays



           3  may -- may exceed that as it relates to further



           4  activities with the company.



           5       Q.    What are the specific deadlines for which



           6  the company is seeking relief?



           7       A.    So specifically to call out two deadlines



           8  that are important to us, is the first -- first



           9  deadline in which we already have a PPA executed



          10  between developer and the company within the six



          11  months following the receipt of indicative pricing.



          12  In addition to that we are -- we are looking for



          13  overall extension and delay as it relates to our



          14  on-line date.



          15             As the -- as Your Honor may be aware, the



          16  tariff calls for a 30-month limitation in terms of



          17  when we file for pricing, we must indicate that our



          18  on-line dates are to be within 30 months of the



          19  timeline allowed for a PPA.



          20             So -- so at the time of our -- our filing



          21  for the pricing, we could not -- we could date these



          22  projects no later than the end of 2019.  That



          23  timeline limitation has made it very difficult as we



          24  have seen and have now seen a year of our processing



          25  time disappear.
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           1             So that's 365 days on the first study



           2  versus what is in the tariff, which is 45 days,



           3  making it very difficult for us to perform in that



           4  timeline.  Therefore, we're asking for an extension,



           5  an overall extension, to those -- to those dates as



           6  well, to those on-line dates.



           7       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, you're familiar with the



           8  Department of Public Utilities response that was



           9  filed on October 23rd, yes?



          10       A.    I am, yes.



          11       Q.    And you have seen the concerns that they



          12  express regarding the extension of the operation



          13  date?



          14       A.    Yes.



          15       Q.    Would you address those concerns?



          16       A.    Yeah, I think the -- overall the -- if you



          17  review the -- I think the overall concern was -- was



          18  pricing and relevance of pricing if those dates are



          19  extended.  The -- the challenge is -- is trying to



          20  draw -- I think the challenge that's been highlighted



          21  is whether or not those prices are -- are relevant in



          22  an extended situation.



          23             The reality for us, and based on the



          24  numbers that we have received and our review of the



          25  IRP, is the forecast for PacifiCorp is rising prices
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           1  over time.  So the further extension -- the further



           2  extension of -- of our timelines, had we been given



           3  time to -- greater than the 30 months, in light of



           4  the time that the PacifiCorp takes on their sites,



           5  those -- those prices on those PPAs would have been



           6  higher.  Right now those prices are, in fact, at a



           7  very competitive level.



           8             We believe that, in fact, we -- we are in



           9  a position to hold to those, despite the ups and



          10  downs in the markets and the difficulties in



          11  delivering, but have spent a great deal of time and



          12  energy as a company at the conclusion of other



          13  opportunities that we could have pursued, to pursue



          14  these projects for the benefit of ratepayers.



          15             We believe that the avoided cost



          16  calculations are an accurate way of identifying what



          17  the impact is to the ratepayers, and that these



          18  projects are, in fact, beneficial to ratepayers.



          19             I think that PacifiCorp can identify -- or



          20  I'm not sure what's appropriate in this -- this



          21  environment to identify these prices, but they're



          22  very, very competitive prices and in the context of



          23  energy in general, not just solar.



          24       Q.    How does the timing of PacifiCorp's



          25  handling of these interconnection requests compare to
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           1  the handling of interconnection requests that you



           2  have seen in other projects done with PacifiCorp and



           3  other utilities?



           4       A.    So our experience with PacifiCorp is



           5  limited.  We have one -- we have project that is



           6  operating, 80 megawatts, the size of one of these



           7  typical projects, in -- in Southern Utah.  And then



           8  have run a number -- quite a number of other projects



           9  through the process here with PacifiCorp, identifying



          10  across their system where -- where there was



          11  opportunity, where there was interconnection



          12  capacity, and where it made sense from a



          13  load-proximity basis to deliver -- to deliver power.



          14             We in that process have -- have identified



          15  what appears to be, I think historically, a process



          16  that's been -- that's been relatively responsive, but



          17  of late one that is -- is significantly delayed



          18  without a necessary commensurate sort of set of



          19  applications to justify that.



          20             With that said, our review with them on



          21  the reasons for those delays has resulted in



          22  explanations that this is -- they are pursuing a



          23  serial process, which means as -- as they review each



          24  project, one drops out, they have to -- they have to



          25  go back and review all of the projects again.  That

�

                                                                     27







           1  is the most inefficient and slowest of all the



           2  processes that we deal with in the utility scale



           3  world.



           4             What is typical in the case where there



           5  are a significant number of applications, is that



           6  those applications will be handled in a cluster



           7  process and studied together, and then -- and then



           8  there is -- there is often in that case an ability to



           9  deliver -- in fact, typically an ability to deliver



          10  in roughly the 45-day timeline.



          11             Whereas, here on the PacifiCorp side,



          12  the -- some decision, the decision has been made to



          13  pursue -- continue to pursue a serial process, and



          14  that -- that serial process has resulted in delays



          15  beyond anything that we have experienced elsewhere



          16  across the United States.



          17             We -- we also see that in general the



          18  number of applications that PacifiCorp has seen is a



          19  very -- it's de minimis, as compared to the number of



          20  applications other utilities have seen in California



          21  and elsewhere.  And those -- those processes in other



          22  applications have continued to operate within a



          23  reasonable range of that 45-day period, whereas here



          24  with PacifiCorp it's not -- it's not a minor



          25  extension from 45 days to a few -- you know, maybe
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           1  60 days, it's 45 -- it's going to 365 days.  And



           2  that's been an unusual experience for us and one that



           3  we think is markedly different from the market in the



           4  rest of the industry.



           5             MR. BARKLEY:  I have nothing further for



           6  Mr. Ellsworth, Your Honor.



           7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



           8             Ms. Hogle?



           9             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.  I guess I'll



          10  start.



          11                        EXAMINATION



          12  BY MS. HOGLE:



          13       Q.    I guess I'll start with what you just



          14  mentioned as being the typical process that you're



          15  used to.



          16             Can you provide the basis for that



          17  testimony?



          18       A.    Yes.  So we have -- we -- we as a company



          19  and individuals have been in the development space



          20  and working with interconnection and projects for the



          21  better part of a decade, and in that process have



          22  made hundreds, and if not thousands, of



          23  interconnection applications and worked through that



          24  process with various utilities, mostly in the west



          25  but also in the southeastern United States.
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           1             So with that I would say the number of



           2  utilities that we have worked with exceeds -- exceeds



           3  40.  And so the sample size is relatively large, both



           4  in terms of applications and running through that



           5  process, as well as -- as actual utilities that we



           6  have interfaced with.



           7       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.



           8             I want to take you to the reply that you



           9  filed on behalf of Clenera.  Do -- do you have it



          10  with you?



          11       A.    I don't have it in front of me, no.



          12       Q.    Okay.  So if I were to ask you questions



          13  in that reply, would you -- could I jog your memory



          14  for you to be able to respond to my questions?



          15       A.    I'll do the best I can.



          16       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.



          17             MR. BARKLEY:  Ms. Hogle, are we referring



          18  to the October 24 reply?



          19             MS. HOGLE:  We are.  We are referring to



          20  Clenera's reply to Rocky Mountain Power's response.



          21       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  So in the first page of



          22  that reply, I believe you stated, given that you



          23  signed the pleading, "PacifiCorp gives no reason for



          24  their last-minute change in position."  And I believe



          25  that you were talking about the extension that we're
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           1  talking about here.  Is that correct?



           2       A.    Yes.  In fact, I think the -- the reply is



           3  in the context of PacifiCorp originally was very



           4  clear about supporting our -- our effort to extend.



           5  In fact, noting that they had made a decision



           6  internally to extend.  And due to delay -- their own



           7  delay as the company, that was the subject of



           8  conversations with -- with Kyle Moore at PacifiCorp.



           9             Later on Kyle Moore came back and



          10  indicated that on discussion with the Department of



          11  Public Utilities and the -- and the consumer



          12  services, that -- that they -- they were advised that



          13  they could not do that, and that the company,



          14  therefore, had taken -- had -- had determined that



          15  that was not -- not possible.  But had it been, they



          16  were still in support of, and -- and yet they were



          17  unable to -- unable to proceed because of limitations



          18  with these other agencies.



          19             So when I said that the company had



          20  changed their position, that is -- so the motion to



          21  dismiss was -- was a very different tact than them



          22  supporting our effort to -- to make an extension.  In



          23  fact, in that motion to dismiss, they referenced



          24  another docket that was filed before the Commission



          25  with sPower, in fact, where they -- they cited these

�

                                                                     31







           1  very -- these very delays as delays which were



           2  recently these kind of delays, of delays for which it



           3  was a reason for them to extend the process, extend



           4  the deadlines.



           5             So taking that different tact with us and



           6  opposing that, I -- I view that as without



           7  explanation and without -- without -- without context



           8  in terms of the communication.



           9       Q.    Thank you.



          10             I'm also going to reference your complaint



          11  that you also signed.  And in that complaint, on the



          12  last page you state, ". . .approximately two weeks



          13  after the meeting and discussion of PacifiCorp's



          14  proposed solution, Developer received the following



          15  communication from PacifiCorp."  And I quote, "after



          16  further review and discussions with the staff of both



          17  the Division of Public Utilities and the Office of



          18  Consumer Services, the position of Rocky Mountain



          19  Power is that delays caused by PacifiCorp



          20  Transmission are not contemplated as RMP delays and



          21  should not extend the timeline in the Schedule 38



          22  tariff."



          23             Isn't that a reason that you stated in



          24  your complaint?



          25       A.    So that's consistent with -- with the
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           1  facts I just -- I just referred to, in that



           2  PacifiCorp had turned to the DPU and consumer



           3  services and -- and indicated that their -- their --



           4  their lack of support for this and their opposition



           5  it was -- was a cause for them as a company to



           6  change -- change directions.



           7             And -- and so the -- that is -- that's



           8  consistent in terms of the direction, inconsistent in



           9  terms of the sentiment that was expressed by



          10  PacifiCorp.



          11       Q.    And so given that PacifiCorp and you



          12  yourself quoted the A reason, or a change in



          13  position, that is not consistent, is it, with what



          14  you said in your reply when you said, PacifiCorp



          15  gives no reason for their last-minute change?



          16       A.    When I -- when I noted their last-minute



          17  change, I wasn't -- I wasn't noting that -- that they



          18  were -- that they were looking to different reasons.



          19  I was noting that PacifiCorp was changing their



          20  sentiment, in fact saying that their -- their



          21  perspective was that this was not something that they



          22  had supported at all, which in fact was not true.



          23             From -- from the beginning PacifiCorp was



          24  in support of an extension.  Their history has been



          25  to support extensions in the case that delays were
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           1  caused by the company.  And so this -- the -- the



           2  sentiment had changed.



           3       Q.    Okay.  But unlike or contrary to what you



           4  said in the reply that PacifiCorp gave no reason for



           5  this last-minute change on the sentiment of the



           6  extension, in fact in the -- in your complaint you



           7  actually quoted PacifiCorp's reason.  So there was a



           8  reason that you yourself quoted in your complaint.



           9  And so that would be inconsistent with your reply



          10  that there was no reason, correct?



          11       A.    I disagree.  I think you're speaking to



          12  rational for the reasons for making a decision.  I'm



          13  speaking to the sentiment behind the decision.



          14       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.



          15             Going back to the reply that you filed and



          16  your claim that PacifiCorp's behavior in this matter



          17  results in economic harm to stakeholders.  Do you --



          18  do you recall that?



          19       A.    Yes.  Yes.



          20       Q.    Are you aware of the approved term for a



          21  power-purchase agreement in Utah?



          22       A.    I am very aware of the approved terms for



          23  a power-purchase agreement in Utah.



          24       Q.    And -- and what is that?



          25       A.    Right now for projects of this size, it's
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           1  15 years.



           2       Q.    Okay.  Are you aware of the fact that



           3  PacifiCorp passes through its energy costs to its



           4  customers in the State of Utah?



           5       A.    Yes.  I'm aware that this is -- this --



           6  this is rate based.



           7       Q.    And that's 100 percent?  Are you aware of



           8  that subject?  Would you agree that it's 100 percent



           9  passed through, meaning customers ultimately pay for



          10  the avoided-cost pricing that are provided?



          11       A.    Correct.  I'm aware that avoided cost



          12  is -- is supported by customers.



          13       Q.    Okay.  And so Clenera is seeking a



          14  power-purchase agreement for a term of 15 years; is



          15  that right?



          16       A.    That is correct.



          17       Q.    And isn't it true that the commercial



          18  operation date has an impact on avoided-cost pricing?



          19       A.    It does.  As that explained the commercial



          20  date, the further that it's pushed out is



          21  typically -- is typically the higher.  So it does



          22  have -- it does have an impact on pricing.



          23       Q.    And so if PacifiCorp doesn't know whether



          24  Clenera can meet that commercial operation date, the



          25  avoided-cost pricing may not be accurate, correct?
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           1       A.    If the -- it is correct that if the -- if



           2  the timing changes, the pricing calculation would be



           3  different at the point of calculating that pricing,



           4  yes.



           5       Q.    And so isn't it reasonable for the company



           6  to require that information prior to that



           7  information, meaning the commercial-operation date,



           8  prior to providing a power-purchase agreement with



           9  avoided-cost pricing that would be locked in for



          10  15 years?



          11       A.    It's entirely reasonable.  In fact, it's



          12  something -- it's a similar process that's pursued in



          13  many other utilities.  Those -- those timelines are



          14  important to both the utility and the developer.



          15       Q.    And so whether the prices are high or low



          16  is really not relevant, it's -- what's relevant is



          17  that they be accurate; would you agree with that?



          18       A.    I think that the -- when you're talking



          19  pricing and timing, both are very important and both



          20  parties need to be able to rely on timing.  Timing is



          21  critical to these -- these projects?



          22             So, in fact, we are entirely subject to



          23  and reliant on the timing that's provided in the



          24  tariff, on the timing by way of commitments that are



          25  made by PacifiCorp.
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           1             So as the company -- as the -- as the



           2  company delays, we -- we have -- we have no other



           3  recourse than under the tariff to look for



           4  extensions.



           5             But, yes, the timing -- timing is



           6  important.



           7       Q.    And the pricing?  The accuracy of the



           8  pricing is important, correct?



           9       A.    Pricing and timing are tied, absolutely.



          10       Q.    Okay.  All right.



          11             And so if the company locks in a PPA with



          12  a QF for 15 years and the pricing is not accurate,



          13  that would be an economic harm to its customers,



          14  wouldn't it?



          15       A.    I think you just made an intellectual leap



          16  between accuracy and economic harm.  Economic harm



          17  would presume that the pricing were, in fact, higher



          18  than it would otherwise have been.  I think that had



          19  there been at that time a clear understanding that



          20  PacifiCorp was not going to perform within the



          21  timeline that was provided, that in fact we could



          22  have gone to a later date to accommodate the



          23  PacifiCorp timing.  I think, in fact, the pricing



          24  would have been higher.



          25             So -- so that's -- and that's consistent
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           1  with the pricing that was received.  We got pricing



           2  for a 2018 project, we got pricing for 2019.  2019



           3  pricing was higher, and that's consistent with the



           4  IRP.  Which leads me to the conclusions, if we are to



           5  make conclusions, then in fact, this would have been



           6  an economic benefit to ratepayers to take a later



           7  date versus the original date.



           8             And -- and judging this process based on



           9  current timelines that have been imposed and created



          10  by PacifiCorp's lack of -- lack of performance is



          11  a -- is a mismatch with what is originally and most



          12  importantly a process whereby we are -- we are given



          13  pricing based on the timing and the -- and the



          14  conditions at the outset of a project.



          15       Q.    And economic harm can result not only when



          16  prices when higher but also if prices are lower than



          17  they should be, correct?



          18             Because if -- if you lock in something --



          19  if you lock in a contract that is lowering prices,



          20  for example, then economically it might not make



          21  sense because, you know, for 15 years those prices



          22  are locked.  And given the length of the contract,



          23  the point is that the pricing should be accurate, not



          24  lower, not higher, but accurate.



          25       A.    So I think the discussion about economic
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           1  harm for higher -- or for lower prices, in the



           2  context of rate base, is -- doesn't tie to my



           3  experience in -- in mathematics and economics.  The



           4  lower the price, the more the rate base that the



           5  consumer benefits.



           6             Whether or not we as a company are able to



           7  deliver at that price is our responsibility.  The



           8  tariff doesn't speak to that.  The tariff speaks to



           9  pricing and timing and the process whereby the



          10  company and we as a developer are -- are tied



          11  together in a process to deliver a product at a given



          12  price.  And that price, if it is lower for -- for the



          13  consumer, that's ideal, and that's something that we



          14  strive for as a company.



          15             MS. HOGLE:  I have no further questions.



          16  Thank you.



          17             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



          18             Mr. Jetter.



          19                        EXAMINATION



          20  BY MR. JETTER:



          21       Q.    Good morning.  I do have a few questions.



          22             I would just like to sort of clarify a



          23  little bit with something that you had stated in your



          24  cross-examination and I believe also today in your



          25  direct testimony.
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           1             Is it accurate to -- to kind of rephrase



           2  what you said a few minutes ago, that your basis for



           3  understanding that a later interconnection date would



           4  potentially have a higher price was due to a



           5  repricing that changed the on-line date early in the



           6  project and that gave you a slightly higher price?



           7       A.    No, it's not due to the repricing.  So we



           8  originally submitted for both 2018 and 2019 prices,



           9  and on the repricing pushed -- pushed our 2018 back



          10  to 2019.



          11             To the point of with respect to economics,



          12  we determined the economics were -- were not



          13  favorable, were not -- not attractive, for the 2018



          14  time frame.  We also determined at that time that



          15  that 2018 was not -- was not a workable time frame



          16  within the process that -- that is allowed here.



          17             But those -- those prices came -- came out



          18  showing -- showing, in fact, a rise in price to 2019,



          19  which, in fact, does tie to the IRP and -- and would



          20  be expected in -- in the aurora modeling that takes



          21  place behind this.



          22       Q.    Okay.  So are you aware of any direct



          23  connection between the IRP process and avoided-cost



          24  pricing?



          25       A.    So we're -- we're -- all we know is that
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           1  this -- this utilizes aurora in it's -- I think



           2  that's my understanding that the aurora pricing



           3  modeling tools are used to reach the avoided costs



           4  here.



           5             The inputs and information are -- are the



           6  same inputs and information, or should be the same



           7  inputs and information, used in the IRP process.



           8  They're both -- they're both represented to the state



           9  and to all -- all stakeholders that are involved



          10  in -- in looking at the pricing of energy and in the



          11  long-term equation for the utility and for those that



          12  participate with the utility.



          13       Q.    Would it be surprising for you to learn,



          14  or would you, subject to check, that IRP pricing



          15  forecasts have consistently been higher than QF



          16  pricing contracts?



          17       A.    It would be -- no, it's not surprising, in



          18  terms of the -- the quantum, correct, that that is --



          19  I think that is correct.



          20       Q.    Okay.  And I assume in your capacity in



          21  your employment that you follow wholesale market



          22  prices during solar hours?



          23       A.    We do, yes.



          24       Q.    And what would you describe the trend of



          25  those over the past five years?
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           1       A.    So the wholesale pricing is -- well, in



           2  what market?



           3       Q.    Any of the western hubs that are



           4  interconnected into that system, of course.



           5       A.    So the western hubs are -- we could spend



           6  a lot of time talking about the western hubs and



           7  what's been happening in pricing.  But it's --



           8       Q.    Just use kind of a Palo Verde.



           9       A.    Yeah.  So Palo Verde and others have been



          10  impacted by very low natural gas rates.  Those



          11  natural gas rates have hovered near -- have dropped



          12  to historic lows.  But that -- and that follows some



          13  cyclical patterns associated with -- associated with



          14  gas, also advances in technology and other things on



          15  the gas side.



          16             The other impact that's been a push type,



          17  so say Palo Verde, on the renewable side where we and



          18  others have been successful at driving -- driving



          19  costs down and continuing to drive costs down.



          20             So generating depends on the time of the



          21  day, but certain times of the day are actually quite



          22  expensive for power, and others are -- are not, based



          23  on the generation mix of any given utility.



          24       Q.    And so following up on that, would you --



          25  would it be accurate to say over the past five years,
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           1  for example, the prices during those hours have been



           2  trending down?



           3       A.    During the last five years, yes.



           4       Q.    Okay.  And would it be fair to say that a



           5  one-year extension or comparison that you received



           6  during your indicative-pricing request comparison may



           7  not be an accurate reflection in other changes in



           8  on-line dates, like the consecutive year pushing this



           9  out?



          10       A.    I think that the reality is that all



          11  future pricing is based on forecasting at the time,



          12  and forecasting based on what limited information one



          13  might have.



          14             As I understand it, PacifiCorp, like many



          15  of us, has -- has affiliates that also participate



          16  in -- with -- with avoided cost, and that avoided



          17  cost is said in a similar process, using -- you know,



          18  locking in on rates based on forecast, based on



          19  avoided cost, and a profile that uses the best



          20  information that PacifiCorp and others have -- the



          21  Commission and others have in setting those rates.



          22       Q.    Okay.  And so just to kind of tie this



          23  down a little bit.  You don't know, do you, whether



          24  extending the on-line date would have resulted in a



          25  higher or lower price for another year, for example?

�

                                                                     43







           1       A.    So had we -- had we at the time that we



           2  filed been able to insert a later date than the



           3  30-month limitation provides, we having not done it



           4  and not having been able to do it, we don't have



           5  specific information about it.  All we can say is



           6  that the underlying information and the profile for



           7  those -- those projects in fact shows an increase.



           8             And I will -- I'll revise my statement



           9  slightly and say that under -- under PacifiCorp's



          10  tariff, we can take a -- and PacifiCorp allows us to



          11  take an average price, weighted price, over that



          12  period of time or -- or a variable price based on



          13  their forecast.  Those variable prices showed prices



          14  increasing over time.



          15             So, in fact, in a much more detailed way



          16  we can see a profile coming out of that pricing,



          17  whether it was 2018 or 2019 that showed a consistent



          18  increase in pricing over time.  And even today we see



          19  that in the pricing that has been provided by



          20  PacifiCorp.



          21             So -- so I would say that definitively we



          22  can say that if -- if that same data were used,



          23  absolutely we would have had a higher price for --



          24  for a later date.  Did we -- did we actually get a



          25  later date with -- with another price?  No, because
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           1  it's not allowed in the process.  And it wasn't



           2  anticipated it would be needed.



           3       Q.    Okay.  Just to clarify, you said you can't



           4  definitively say or that you can definitively say



           5  that it would have been higher?



           6       A.    No, I can say that it would have been



           7  higher based on the information that was provided to



           8  us, yes.



           9       Q.    Okay.  So they provided information for



          10  the value of the 16th year?



          11       A.    So they did provide information for the



          12  value of -- they did not provide information for the



          13  value of the 16th year, but they had the trajectory



          14  for the full 15 years.



          15       Q.    Okay.  So you're saying that you can



          16  definitely confirm today what would have been in the



          17  16th year?



          18       A.    I have not, no.



          19       Q.    Thank you.



          20             MR. JETTER:  Those all the questions that



          21  I have.



          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Any recross?



          23             MR. BARKLEY:  Just a couple, Your Honor.



          24  ///



          25  ///
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           1                        EXAMINATION



           2  BY MR. BARKLEY:



           3       Q.    Mr. Ellsworth, there was some discussion



           4  earlier regarding a reference in PacifiCorp's motion



           5  to dismiss to another docket.  I'm looking at Page 3



           6  of that motion to dismiss, where PacifiCorp says, "As



           7  the Company previously stated in Docket



           8  No. 17-035-13, PacifiCorp Transmission has



           9  experienced an unprecedented surge in interconnection



          10  applications, primarily from developers in Utah and



          11  Wyoming."



          12             Is that the docket to which you were



          13  referring?  I ask that just to see if that's the



          14  right docket number reference.



          15       A.    Yes, that's correct.  That's the correct



          16  docket.



          17       Q.    There was also some discussion about



          18  whether or not PacifiCorp had given a reason for



          19  their change in position.  Do you remember that back



          20  and forth?



          21       A.    That's -- that's right.



          22       Q.    Okay.  When PacifiCorp informed you that



          23  they were changing their position based on meetings



          24  with the Department of Public Utilities and the



          25  Office of Consumer Services, what actions did you
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           1  take in follow-up to that?



           2       A.    So we -- we asked for contact information



           3  as it related to those agencies and -- and so that we



           4  could follow up and confirm.  It took us multiple



           5  contacts and then a follow-up in-person meeting



           6  before PacifiCorp provided us that contact



           7  information.



           8             We then with that contact information in



           9  hand reached out to and made direct contact with both



          10  agencies.  The first consumer services said that, in



          11  fact, they did not -- to paraphrase, did not have



          12  anything to do with this and -- and were not -- would



          13  not be involved in or have an opinion associated with



          14  this process.



          15             And then on our contact with the



          16  Department of Public Utilities, they indicated they



          17  did not recall ever having this conversation with



          18  PacifiCorp, but, in fact, had been a part of this



          19  recent docket that was referenced by PacifiCorp in



          20  their response -- I'm sorry, in their -- their motion



          21  and -- and had been successful in extending dates,



          22  and that they would generally be -- be supportive if



          23  there was a similar fact part pattern from the



          24  standpoint of delays by the company.



          25       Q.    Other than the concern expressed in DPU's
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           1  response regarding the on-line date, has either DPU



           2  or the Office of Consumer Services expressed to you



           3  any concern with your request of extension, for



           4  example, the six-month deadline for executing a PPA



           5  following indicative pricing?



           6       A.    No, they have not.  And I think on the



           7  note of extension, and I think we understand the



           8  concern on timeline and pricing.  Not knowing what



           9  the 16th year pricing would be, we as a company would



          10  be very open to -- to an update on that 16th year,



          11  whatever that 16th year update would be, but



          12  otherwise holding to the pricing that -- and



          13  methodology for the remaining -- remaining years that



          14  were provided to us.



          15       Q.    So based on your follow-up actions, your



          16  follow-up conversations, with DPU and the Office of



          17  Consumer Services, did you conclude that PacifiCorp



          18  had provided any compelling rational for its change



          19  in position?



          20       A.    No.  In terms of the compelling rational,



          21  we concluded that, in fact, neither of these agencies



          22  showed any sign of having any meaningful dialogue



          23  with PacifiCorp, and it was surprising to us that



          24  that was used as the rational for a change in



          25  position, when neither agency really could -- had
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           1  enough -- enough of a dialogue to even recall having



           2  had the dialogue, one.  And, two, one -- one of the



           3  agencies was totally disengaged, not involved, and



           4  had little concern for this, and the other agency was



           5  supportive of our -- our effort to extend.



           6             MR. BARKLEY:  I have no further questions,



           7  Your Honor.



           8             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



           9             And just one follow-up from me.  And this



          10  is really a legal question, so I'll invite your



          11  counsel to answer if he deems it appropriate.



          12             But you have referenced a couple of times



          13  this 45-day expectation of a turnaround time with



          14  respect to the feasibility study.  Of course,



          15  Schedule 38 references the OATT.  I didn't see a



          16  portion of the OATT quoted so I went and read it, and



          17  I think what you're referring to is in Section 41.3.



          18  Can you confirm if that's the case?



          19             MR. BARKLEY:  I believe that's right.  If



          20  you'll give me just a moment, I do have it.



          21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Sure.



          22             MR. BARKLEY:  Yes, Your Honor, I'm on



          23  Page 143 of the Open Access Transmission Tariff for a



          24  Collective Transmission Tariff Volume No. 11 for



          25  PacifiCorp.  And it is Section 41.3, which says
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           1  Transmission provider shall use reasonable efforts to



           2  complete the interconnection feasibility study no



           3  later than 45 calendar days after transmission



           4  provider receives a fully executed interconnection



           5  feasibility study agreement.



           6             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



           7  That's helpful.



           8             You're excused, Mr. Ellsworth.



           9             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, that's all we



          10  have.



          11             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Okay.



          12             Ms. Hogle.



          13             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.  The Company calls



          14  Mr. Mark Tourangeau.



          15             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  And before I



          16  swear you in, would you mind spelling your last name?



          17             THE WITNESS:  Certainly.  Last name is



          18  T-O-U-R-A-N-G-E-A-U.



          19             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Tourangeau,



          20  do you swear to tell the truth?



          21             THE WITNESS:  You got it.



          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Do you swear to



          23  tell the truth, sir?



          24             THE WITNESS:  I do.



          25             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.
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           1                        EXAMINATION



           2  BY MS. HOGLE:



           3       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Tourangeau.  Once again,



           4  maybe for the reporter benefit, can you state and



           5  spell your name for the record.



           6       A.    Yes.  Mark Tourangeau,



           7  T-O-U-R-A-N-G-E-A-U.



           8       Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what



           9  capacity?



          10       A.    I'm employed by Rocky Mountain Power as a



          11  director of commercial services, where I oversee our



          12  negotiations and relationships with our large



          13  industrial customers that we have special contracts



          14  with.  I also work with customers who are looking to



          15  purchase renewables through our green tariffs.  And



          16  then I also oversee our qualifying-facility process



          17  under PERPA for the Rocky Mountain Power territory.



          18       Q.    And is this the first time that you have



          19  testified in the State of Utah?



          20       A.    It is.



          21       Q.    So given that, can you please provide a



          22  brief background of your service.



          23       A.    Certainly.  So I have over 20 years of



          24  experience in the energy industry.  Previous to Rocky



          25  Mountain Power, I joined Rocky Mountain Power just
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           1  about a year ago.  Previous to that I worked for



           2  eight years for NextEra Energy out of Florida, which



           3  is the largest renewable zone in North America.  I



           4  also worked for Morgan Stanley Commodities and for



           5  Duke Energy.



           6       Q.    Thank you.



           7             And are you familiar with the complaint



           8  that was filed by Clenera on September 22nd, 2017?



           9       A.    I am.



          10       Q.    Are you familiar with Rocky Mountain



          11  Power's response to that complaint October 24th,



          12  2017?



          13       A.    Yes.



          14       Q.    Did you assist in the preparation of that



          15  response?



          16       A.    I did, yes.



          17       Q.    And so you're comfortable adopting that



          18  response as your own testimony today?



          19       A.    Yes, I am.



          20       Q.    And responding to the questions about that



          21  response?



          22       A.    Correct.



          23       Q.    Okay.



          24             MR. BARKLEY:  Could we just -- could we



          25  clarify the date on that?  Was it 24 or 23?
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           1             MS. HOGLE:  I believe that was



           2  October 23rd, 2017.



           3             THE WITNESS:  That's the date I have.



           4             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you.



           5       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Do you have any changes



           6  that you would like to make to that response?



           7       A.    No, I do not.



           8             MS. HOGLE:  If it pleases the Commission



           9  at this time, I would like to enter into the record



          10  as Mr. Tourangeau's testimony the Company's response



          11  filed October 23rd, 2017.



          12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Hearing no



          13  objection, it's admitted.



          14             MS. HOGLE:  And I would like that to be



          15  marked Rocky Mountain Power Exhibit 1.



          16               (Whereupon, Rocky Mountain Power



          17               Exhibit 1 was marked for



          18               identification.)



          19       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Tourangeau, are you



          20  also familiar with the reply that was filed by



          21  Clenera October 24th, 2017?



          22       A.    Yes, I am.



          23       Q.    Did you prepare a summary of your response



          24  to the complaint and the reply to the Company's



          25  response that you would like to share today?
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           1       A.    I did, yes.



           2       Q.    Please proceed.



           3       A.    Thank you.  I really just want to make



           4  three points.  The first one is our tariff and



           5  procedures in Schedule 38 are very clear, that the



           6  interconnection process and the PPA indicative



           7  pricing and negotiation process are two very separate



           8  processes.  It's mentioned a couple times in



           9  Schedule 38.



          10             Schedule 38 also provides a directive to



          11  QF developers that they should start the



          12  interconnection process as soon as possible because



          13  it can be a lengthy and time consuming process.  And



          14  PacifiCorp Transmission Services is the part of the



          15  company that runs that.  PacifiCorp Merchant, of



          16  which I'm apart, is running the PPA contracting



          17  process.  We, in fact, cannot have communication with



          18  the core transmission services due to fair code of



          19  conduct rules, unless we're granted a waiver provided



          20  by the QF developer.



          21             In any case, those processes are very



          22  different, very separate, and the tariff is very



          23  clear that our customer or our developer is



          24  developing the QF, should initiate that



          25  interconnection process as soon as possible and well
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           1  before the PPA negotiation process, in which this



           2  situation that really didn't happen.  They were



           3  really done contemporaneously or, actually, after the



           4  interconnection specifications were corrected by



           5  Clenera for Faraday and Goshen, it happened after



           6  they had requested indicative pricing.



           7             So that is the first point.



           8             My second point is, you know, due to the



           9  tariff, we are unable to start negotiation on a PPA



          10  until we have a series of information, series of



          11  facts, from the QF developer, including, as



          12  Schedule 38 says, their status on their



          13  interconnection process.  We take that to mean that



          14  they need to establish an interconnection date



          15  through a feasibility and system impact study done



          16  with the support of Transmission Services to be able



          17  to prove out that they can interconnect to our system



          18  at or about the same time that they anticipate



          19  bringing the project to commercial operations.



          20             In Clenera's case -- Clenera, excuse me,



          21  we are of a mind that given the challenges of taking



          22  1120 QF megawatts and integrating those onto our



          23  system using the approved methodology that PacifiCorp



          24  Transmission Services has under our OATT to study



          25  that, we cannot in good faith under Schedule 38
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           1  negotiate a PPA with them or keep them in our pricing



           2  queue until those studies are completed and they can



           3  prove that their stated TOD date coincides with their



           4  actual interconnection date under those studies.



           5             The third point is more just goes towards



           6  equity overall with respect to all of our customers



           7  and stakeholders.  And, you know, counsel mentioned



           8  it in terms of making sure that the pricing is



           9  representative of the COD date when the QF facility



          10  is going to come on-line.



          11             I am totally indifferent as to the level



          12  of that pricing.  It just needs to be right in terms



          13  of when that pricing starts, when our indicative



          14  pricing starts, has to be associated with the date



          15  that that site goes commercial.  Otherwise, there's a



          16  total mismatch there and it is not fair to our



          17  customers, in that the avoided cost pricing is not



          18  representative of when the site will actually become



          19  commercial and operate for the 15 years it's under



          20  contract.  It's not fair to other developers who are



          21  held to this standard, and it's not fair to the --



          22  all of our other stakeholders as well.



          23             So we strive to main equity from that



          24  perspective, and we feel that the action we have



          25  taken, which were very deliberative, we took a lot of
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           1  time, and I'm first to admit that, and it could have



           2  gone more quickly in terms of our response.  But we



           3  had a very deliberative process after the



           4  conversations with the DPU, which unfortunately they



           5  don't recall it was done in a general sense, it



           6  wasn't done with respect to the Clenera situation



           7  specifically.



           8             Our representative Kyle Moore



           9  distinctively remembers having the conversations, and



          10  unfortunately the representative from the Commission



          11  and Consumer Services don't.



          12             But given that feedback and then a very



          13  in-depth analysis that we did over the next few



          14  weeks, we feel justified in following our process and



          15  upon notice of Schedule 38 and taking the actions of



          16  the tariff.



          17             MS. HOGLE:  I don't have any further



          18  questions.  Thank you.



          19       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Or do you have any final



          20  comments, Mr. Tourangeau?



          21       A.    Yeah.  I mean, I just -- I struggle



          22  sometimes when we talk about, you know, the



          23  economics.  And I don't think we're here to debate



          24  the economics of the QF facility and whether it's



          25  good or bad for ratepayers.  We could have that
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           1  debate and it could last for hours and hours.



           2             These -- this is unprecedented for us to



           3  have 14 different QF facilities of 80 megawatts each.



           4  Basically it's one solar development coming onto our



           5  system in one location.  The impacts on the



           6  transmission system are large, and I think our



           7  representative from Pat (phonetic) Transmission will



           8  speak to that.



           9             But the impacts are great.  And so you



          10  can't really talk about the economic impact just in



          11  terms of rates because there are broad economic



          12  impacts across the entire states that we serve



          13  associated with it.



          14             So we want to make sure we're have been



          15  deliberative, very fair with respect to this huge



          16  project that is coming on-line as 14 separate 80



          17  megawatt QF facilities that I'm sure are probably a



          18  mile apart.  And we want to make sure that we are



          19  following our procedures to a T, because this size of



          20  project will have massive implications for our



          21  customers for fairness and for our system.  So we



          22  want to make sure that we're being thoughtful for all



          23  of our customers and stakeholders.



          24             MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Tourangeau is available



          25  for questions.  Thank you.
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           1             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Barkley.



           2             MR. BARKLEY:  I do have some questions,



           3  Your Honor.



           4                        EXAMINATION



           5  BY MR. BARKLEY:



           6       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Tourangeau.



           7       A.    Good morning, sir.



           8       Q.    Is it your testimony that Rocky Mountain



           9  Power has historically required a completed facility



          10  study before tendering a form of PPA and beginning



          11  negotiations?



          12       A.    My understanding is that we have to have



          13  proof that a facilities study has been done that



          14  proves that the interconnection can be made at or



          15  around the stated C.O.D.  Now, I've been here for a



          16  year, so I'm not sure if that is always what we



          17  followed in the past.  But based on our read of the



          18  tariff, that's what we're looking at.



          19       Q.    Is it your understanding that the tariff



          20  requires demonstration that an interconnection study



          21  has been completed before you can -- before you can



          22  provide the form of PPA?



          23       A.    And let me pull up the tariff here real



          24  quickly so I can speak to that.



          25             The tariff says there's evidence that any
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           1  necessary interconnection studies that are underway



           2  and that the necessary interconnection arrangements



           3  can timely be completed in accordance with Part 2



           4  sufficient for the projects to reach amortization by



           5  the proposed on-line date.  Our interpretation of



           6  that is that until the study is done, there is no way



           7  for us to have determined, based on this core



           8  transmission services analysis, whether it can meet



           9  it's proposed service date or not.



          10       Q.    Specifically, which study are you speaking



          11  about?  Are you speaking of the feasibility study,



          12  the impact study, or the final study?



          13       A.    Typically the feasibility -- typically the



          14  feasibility study.



          15       Q.    Okay.  And is it your testimony, then,



          16  that it has been the historical practice of Rocky



          17  Mountain Power to require a completed feasibility



          18  study before it will tender a form of PPA for



          19  negotiation?



          20             MS. HOGLE:  Objection, asked and answered.



          21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Overruled.  I



          22  think he reformulated the question.



          23             You can answer, sir.



          24             THE WITNESS:  I'm not able to answer for



          25  certain historically whether that's been required.
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           1       Q.    BY MR. BARKLEY:  Okay.  I believe one of



           2  the second points you made was a point of equity, and



           3  you spoke about fairness to other developers.



           4             You do understand, Mr. Tourangeau, don't



           5  you, that all developers are depending upon the



           6  process that's laid out in the company's tariffs in



           7  making their investment decision on these very



           8  expensive projects?



           9       A.    Yes.



          10       Q.    And do you believe that it is the



          11  company's obligation to adhere to that process?



          12       A.    I do, yes.



          13       Q.    And you understand that the process that



          14  is laid out in PacifiCorp's open access transmission



          15  tariff calls for reasonable efforts to get a



          16  feasibility study done within 45 days, correct?



          17             MS. HOGLE:  Excuse me, objection.  Or



          18  maybe not just a clarification.  I wonder if that



          19  question is not better answered by Mr. Fritz, who



          20  will be on the stand shortly.



          21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I'll defer to



          22  Mr. Barkley whether you want to reassert the



          23  question.



          24             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, I would like to



          25  Mr. Tourangeau to answer that because he did opine

�

                                                                     61







           1  about fairness to developers and developers



           2  reasonable expectations.



           3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  If you know the



           4  answer to the question, Mr. Tourangeau, you may



           5  answer.



           6             THE WITNESS:  Please restate the question.



           7       Q.    BY MR. BARKLEY:  Sure.  Is it your



           8  understanding that the company's OATT, Open Access



           9  Transmission Tariff, requires that the company use



          10  reasonable efforts to complete a facility study



          11  within 45 days?



          12       A.    I'm not familiar with the specific term.



          13  I believe you read it.  So --



          14       Q.    Are you familiar with the depth -- with



          15  the timelines with the remaining two studies, the



          16  system impact study and the final study?



          17       A.    I am not because I don't work in



          18  PacifiCorp Transmissions Services.



          19       Q.    You mentioned at one point the company had



          20  a very deliberative process.  To be clear, the



          21  company is still in that very deliberative process,



          22  correct?



          23       A.    We have made our decision and communicated



          24  it through our response.



          25       Q.    When you say your decision, when you
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           1  refer -- maybe I didn't understand your testimony.



           2             When you refer to the deliberative



           3  process, were you referring to the interconnection



           4  study process?



           5       A.    No, not at all.  I was referring to the



           6  situation at hand here where we were analyzing our



           7  decision as to whether or not to continue keeping the



           8  clean air projects in the pricing queue or not.  That



           9  is a process I'm referring to that we were



          10  deliberating on over time and came to our decision,



          11  which we then communicated to Clenera.



          12             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, I have no



          13  further questions.



          14             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



          15             Mr. Jetter.



          16             MR. JETTER:  I do have just a few brief



          17  questions.



          18                        EXAMINATION



          19  BY MR. JETTER:



          20       Q.    So I'm going to pick one of the timelines



          21  out of Schedule 38 here.  So I'm looking at sub --



          22  it's Roman numeral I B 4, indicative pricing.



          23             And it says, Within 30 days following the



          24  dated QF project was added to the QF pricing queue



          25  under Section I B 3, the company shall provide the QF
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           1  developer with indicative pricing, et cetera.



           2             Would it be reasonable for the company in



           3  that case if the timeline was 30 days to come back a



           4  year later?



           5       A.    No, it would not.



           6             MR. JETTER:  Okay.  That's my only



           7  question.  Thank you.



           8             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Trudeau --



           9  did I get your name correct?



          10             THE WITNESS:  Tourangeau.



          11             PRESIDING OFFER HAMMER:  I apologize for



          12  that.



          13             THE WITNESS:  That's okay.



          14             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I just have one



          15  question.  I'm going to read a couple of sentences



          16  from the Complainant's initial complaint, and I



          17  wonder if you could lend any context to them.



          18             It states, On March 13th, 2017, developer



          19  made a timely request for a proposed PPA.  On



          20  March 21sts, 2017, the Company responded, quote, we



          21  have reviewed your request for a proposed PPA, and we



          22  find it to be complete, end quote.  Nevertheless,



          23  nearly a month later on the April 18, 2017, the



          24  Company requested an additional update on the



          25  interconnection studies, asserting it needed to have
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           1  the study results prior to issuing a proposed PPA.



           2  And I'll end there.



           3             Are those statements true?



           4             THE WITNESS:  That is accurate.



           5             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Can you explain



           6  why the Company represented that the application was



           7  complete or that it had all the required information



           8  it needed and later changed its position?



           9             THE WITNESS:  I think that may have just



          10  been a case of not having gotten -- looking at it



          11  again and looking at the response with respect to the



          12  interconnection study, the feasibility study, and not



          13  seeing there and responding that we need to see that



          14  as well.



          15             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have nothing



          16  else.  Thank you, sir.



          17             THE WITNESS:  Thank you.  Thank you, Your



          18  Honor.



          19             MS. HOGLE:  Your Honor, I wonder if I can



          20  ask a couple clarifying questions, because I think



          21  it's a little bit unclear now based on what he's



          22  testified about, okay?



          23             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have no



          24  objection.



          25             MS. HOGLE:  Okay.
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           1                        EXAMINATION



           2  BY MS. HOGLE:



           3       Q.    Mr. Tourangeau, can you testify when the



           4  first time it was that Clenera sought indicative



           5  pricing or reached out to the commercial unit of



           6  PacifiCorp?



           7       A.    I believe they sought indicative pricing



           8  in November, and I believe Mr. Shively spoke about



           9  that.  And then there was a change to the



          10  interconnection point.  And so that kind of restarted



          11  the process.



          12             So on December 14th of 2016, they



          13  requested indicative pricing for the Faraday 780



          14  megawatt Farady projects.  And then on February 1st



          15  of 2017 they sought the indicative pricing for the



          16  780 megawatt Goshen Valley projects.



          17       Q.    Is it your understanding that Clenera



          18  sought indicative pricing before reaching out to



          19  PacifiCorp Transmission regarding the transmission



          20  queue and the transmission services for this project?



          21       A.    My understanding of the timeline for the



          22  transmission services, you know, starting in late



          23  November, they requested -- or they applied for a



          24  queue number, and then later on in early January they



          25  changed that from just a generally large generation
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           1  interconnect agreement request to a specific



           2  qualifying facility request, which would require a



           3  network resource application.



           4       Q.    Do you have Schedule 38 in front of you?



           5       A.    I do, yes.



           6       Q.    Can you please turn to Paragraph 3 in the



           7  first page?



           8       A.    I'm there.



           9       Q.    Can you read for me, beginning the



          10  generation interconnection process, all the way to



          11  the end?



          12       A.    The generation interconnection process are



          13  a critical and lengthy process that typically must be



          14  well underway before a power purchase agreement



          15  should be requested.  QF developers are strongly



          16  encouraged to gain a clear understanding of the



          17  transmission interconnection process and associated



          18  costs and timelines before requesting indicative



          19  pricing or a power-purchase agreement under this



          20  schedule.  The interconnection process is described



          21  in Section 2 dot B of this.



          22       Q.    Is it your understanding that Clenera



          23  followed this directive?



          24       A.    I think you could question whether they



          25  followed that directive.
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           1             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.  I have no further



           2  questions.



           3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I'll allow



           4  Mr. Barkley to ask some follow-up questions that he



           5  may have.



           6             MR. BARKLEY:  I have no further questions,



           7  Your Honor.



           8             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



           9             Mr. Jetter, any follow-up?



          10             MR. JETTER:  No, I don't have any



          11  follow-up.  Thank you.



          12             THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.



          13             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.  You



          14  are excused.



          15             Ms. Hogle.



          16             MS. HOGLE:  I'm going to call Mr. Brian



          17  Fritz.



          18             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Fritz, do



          19  you swear to tell the truth?



          20             THE WITNESS:  Yes.



          21             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



          22                        EXAMINATION



          23  BY MS. HOGLE:



          24       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Fritz.



          25       A.    Good morning.
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           1       Q.    Can you please and spell your name for the



           2  record?



           3       A.    Brian Fritz, F-R-I-T-Z.



           4       Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what



           5  capacity?



           6       A.    PacifiCorp as director of Transmission



           7  Services and Transmission Development.



           8       Q.    And is this the first time that you have



           9  testified in Utah?



          10       A.    Yes.



          11       Q.    Given that, can you please provide a brief



          12  background of your experience?



          13       A.    Sure.  I currently have over 30 years



          14  experience in the energy industry, with Portland



          15  General Electric, Enron, and PacifiCorp.  My current



          16  responsibilities in PacifiCorp include general



          17  oversight of the generation interconnection process.



          18       Q.    Are you familiar with the complaint that



          19  was filed by Clenera?



          20       A.    Yes.



          21       Q.    Are you familiar with Rocky Mountain



          22  Power's response to that complaint filed



          23  October 23rd, 2017?



          24       A.    Yes.



          25       Q.    Are you familiar with the issues related
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           1  to the transmission queue that arose in that



           2  complaint?



           3       A.    Yes.



           4       Q.    So you're comfortable responding to



           5  questions related to those issues here today?



           6       A.    Yes.



           7       Q.    Are you also familiar with a reply to the



           8  Company's response filed by Clenera October 24th,



           9  2017?



          10       A.    Yes.



          11       Q.    Are you prepared to respond to some of the



          12  allegations made in that reply?



          13       A.    Yes.



          14       Q.    Do you have any exhibits that support your



          15  response to Clenera's reply today?



          16       A.    Yes.



          17             MS. HOGLE:  Your Honor, may I approach to



          18  provide an exhibit that Rocky Mountain Power would



          19  like marked as Rocky Mountain Power Exhibit 2 to the



          20  bench and the parties at this time before I continue



          21  my direct examination?



          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Of course.



          23             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.



          24  / / /



          25  / / /
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           1               (Whereupon, Rocky Mountain Power



           2               Exhibit 2 was marked for



           3               identification.)



           4       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Fritz, can you briefly



           5  describe what I just passed out as Rocky Mountain



           6  Power Exhibit 2?



           7       A.    Yes.  What this shows in the top graph is



           8  requests that have come into the interconnection



           9  queue by size.  Well, what you can see is between



          10  2015 and '17, we have seen a large increase of the



          11  projects that have been requested in the queue.  The



          12  bottom graph shows specific to Utah the same



          13  information.  Again, you can see a very large uptick



          14  in 2016.



          15       Q.    And, Mr. Fritz, just to describe it a



          16  little more, how do you compare this graph with what



          17  Clenera included in its graphs in its reply to the



          18  Company's response?



          19       A.    What they provided was just the number of



          20  requests, which is just part of the story.  What we



          21  have here is an additional piece of the story, which



          22  has a big impact on the interconnection queue study



          23  process.



          24       Q.    Thank you.



          25             MS. HOGLE:  Would it please the Commission
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           1  at this time, we would that RMP Exhibit 2 be entered



           2  into the record and admitted into evidence.



           3             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Any objection?



           4             MR. BARKLEY:  No objection, Your Honor.



           5             MR. JETTER:  No objection.



           6             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  It's admitted.



           7             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.



           8       Q.    BY MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Fritz, did you prepare



           9  a summary of Rocky Mountain Power's response to the



          10  interconnection queue issues that you would like to



          11  address at this time?



          12       A.    Yes, I did.



          13       Q.    Please proceed.



          14       A.    Today I'll address the interconnection



          15  study process and how the influx of large number of



          16  higher megawatt projects in 2016 and '17 have



          17  increased the complexity of the process and the time



          18  to complete the studies.  I'll also address the



          19  limited value of bringing on third-party analysts to



          20  complete studies.



          21             As have been stated today, PacifiCorp



          22  follows the FERC open transmission tariff.  The FERC



          23  regulatory commission, they govern the



          24  interconnection process, including studies on a



          25  nondiscriminatory basis.
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           1             For QF interconnections in Utah, the



           2  company's Schedule 38 states that we follow the



           3  tariff.



           4             We do -- as I said today, we do follow the



           5  sequential order study process, which is allowed



           6  under the tariff, with higher queued requests studied



           7  first.  This allows the company to determine the



           8  system impacts for each generator and associated



           9  mitigation, if any.  And that's required to ensure



          10  that we safely and reliably interconnect each



          11  generator, and it's necessary to properly identify



          12  the project that is triggering any system



          13  improvements and to incorporate those improvements



          14  into the study results for that project and any lower



          15  queued projects.



          16             Contrary to Clenera's claim, the time



          17  required to study generator interconnections is not



          18  simply a function of how many are in the queue.



          19  That's a small piece of it.



          20             One of the important factors include the



          21  size, where the interconnections are proposed, if



          22  they're on transmission or distribution, and the



          23  activity in the higher queued projects.  And what I



          24  mean by that is if projects at higher queue are



          25  removed from the queue.
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           1             So what we see in Exhibit 2 is it



           2  demonstrates that in recent years we have seen a



           3  large increase in the size of the projects.  Had they



           4  been on the transmission system and not the



           5  distribution system, as is Clenera's request, there's



           6  a significant difference between studying a project



           7  such as a 3-megawatt project on distribution, versus



           8  a thousand fifty megawatt project such as Clenera's



           9  on the transmission system.



          10             And these factors will increase the



          11  complexity of the study and the timeline required to



          12  do those things.



          13             Another complexity is in the process,



          14  since we use a sequential process, if a higher queued



          15  project removes from the queue, we're required to



          16  then go back and restudy lower-queued projects to



          17  look at the impacts that were identified with the



          18  higher queued and how -- and do they apply to the



          19  lower-queued projects.  And then we would apply those



          20  to the lower-queued projects.



          21             So right now the Company is experiencing



          22  an unprecedented spike in interconnection requests of



          23  large megawatts.  You can see -- again you can see



          24  the spike in Exhibit 2.  We currently have more



          25  megawatts in our interconnection queue than we have
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           1  existing generation today.  And it is approximately a



           2  200 percent increase in excess of current PacifiCorp



           3  east network load.



           4             As an example, this single thousand fifty



           5  megawatt project that Clenera is proposing, equals



           6  approximately one-tenth of PacifiCorp's existing



           7  generation fleet.



           8             The interconnection study process is --



           9  uses a complex powerful model to determine impacts to



          10  the system and upgrades required to maintain



          11  reliability of the system.  As proposed generation



          12  increases at a pace faster than load, which we are



          13  currently experiencing, the analysis becomes



          14  increasingly complex.



          15             With a request of this size, a thousand



          16  fifty megawatts connected at the same point, the



          17  impacts are likely to be identified across a very



          18  wide footprint of PacifiCorp's transmission system.



          19  This also increases the complexity.



          20             The value of independent third-party



          21  interconnection study is limited at best.  An



          22  independent party only has access to publicly



          23  available information, and not all interconnection



          24  studies are public.  There's also information about



          25  PacifiCorp's transmission system that is not publicly
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           1  available.



           2             Therefore, the independent third-party



           3  analyst does not have sufficient information to



           4  complete an appropriate interconnection study.



           5  Simply focusing on one project does not provide the



           6  information required and could jeopardy reliability



           7  of the system.



           8             So in summary, the process schedules



           9  impacted by the size, location, its proposed



          10  interconnect to transmission or distribution, and the



          11  action of those projects that are higher in the



          12  queue.



          13             The use of third-party analysis does not



          14  provide the full picture and cannot be used



          15  effectively picking one request to the queue and



          16  performing an analysis without the full information



          17  of all higher-queued projects.



          18       Q.    Mr. Fritz, just one -- maybe one or two



          19  questions.



          20             Is PacifiCorp Transmission processing



          21  interconnection request applications as quickly as



          22  possible, given the sequential process it uses and



          23  the complexity of the process, including as well the



          24  number and the size of the projects that are seeking



          25  requests?
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           1       A.    Yes.  We're using all reasonable efforts,



           2  as is stated in the tariff, to complete these studies



           3  in a timely manner.



           4       Q.    Thank you.



           5             MS. HOGLE:  Mr. Fritz is available for



           6  questions.



           7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Barkley?



           8             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.



           9                        EXAMINATION



          10  BY MR. BARKLEY:



          11       Q.    Good morning, Mr. Fritz.



          12       A.    Good morning.



          13       Q.    Is it the historic practice -- excuse me.



          14  Is it the historic practice of Rocky Mountain Power



          15  or PacifiCorp to require a completed feasibility



          16  study before tendering a form of PPA for negotiation?



          17       A.    I can't answer that.  I am not part of the



          18  marketing function.  I don't deal with PPAs.  What I



          19  can say and what I heard earlier is that is the case.



          20       Q.    You are not personally able to provide us



          21  today an example of an instance in which either Rocky



          22  Mountain Power or PacifiCorp has required a completed



          23  feasibility study before tendering a PPA; is that



          24  correct?



          25       A.    That is correct.
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           1       Q.    Regarding the chart that you supplied,



           2  what was the source of the data for this chart?



           3       A.    It's the data that is in our



           4  interconnection queue.



           5       Q.    Is that data from your OASIS system?



           6       A.    I would have to go look at OASIS and see



           7  if we actually provide the megawatt information in



           8  the queue -- the queue information that we provide.



           9       Q.    If that's not provided, would that likely



          10  be because of confidentiality concerns?



          11       A.    Yes.



          12       Q.    Would you expect this information to be



          13  otherwise consistent with the data that's in the



          14  OASIS system?



          15       A.    Yes, if it's provided.



          16       Q.    I believe you stated that you were



          17  familiar with the October 23rd response that was



          18  filed by PacifiCorp, correct?



          19       A.    Correct.



          20       Q.    Is it your recollection that in discussing



          21  the work load facing PacifiCorp that that



          22  October 23rd response focused on the number of



          23  interconnection requests or on the magnitude of those



          24  requests?



          25       A.    Reading the document, it focused on the

�

                                                                     78







           1  number, which as I've stated, really doesn't provide



           2  the whole picture.



           3       Q.    Now, one of the difficulties that you



           4  discussed was the difficulty of having to deal with



           5  changes ahead of an applicant in the queue?



           6       A.    Yes.



           7       Q.    Did I word that well enough for you to



           8  understand?



           9       A.    Yes.  You're talking about a higher queued



          10  project that would remove itself or get removed from



          11  the queue.



          12       Q.    And that's a significant problem?



          13       A.    It's a consistent problem.  We recently



          14  have seen two very large projects removed from the



          15  queue in Southern Utah, which will have impact on the



          16  other projects in the queue.



          17       Q.    Is that more likely to be a problem when



          18  there are two applicants or when there are 20



          19  applicants?



          20       A.    It's more likely to be an issue based on



          21  all factors, not just the number.  Again, we see



          22  people remove themselves from the queue for various



          23  reasons.  I think a consistent reason is with these



          24  larger projects, the cost to integrate them to the



          25  system is sometimes very large, and I would assume
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           1  that that then drives their economics the wrong way



           2  and they remove themselves from the queue.



           3             So I would say it's probably more a



           4  function -- it's not just a function of number, it's



           5  a function of number and size and location.



           6       Q.    But to be clear, if there are three



           7  requests in the queue and I'm No. 3, there are only



           8  two people ahead of me who might change their minds



           9  and affect my timing, correct?



          10       A.    No.  It's not just that there's two people



          11  ahead of you, it's how many are ahead of you that may



          12  or do remove themselves from the queue that then have



          13  an impact on you.  And so that project could be in



          14  Southern Utah, Northern Utah, Idaho.  If it has an



          15  impact on those queue positions below it, then those



          16  queue positions have to be restudied to evaluate the



          17  impacts and the upgrades associated with that removed



          18  project, and those get applied down into the queue.



          19       Q.    Maybe my question wasn't clear, because



          20  I'm not sure your answer was inconsistent with what I



          21  was suggesting.  So let me try again.



          22             If there are only three applicants in the



          23  queue and I'm last, I'm No. 3, there are two



          24  applicants in front of me, and if either of those two



          25  applicants decides to withdraw from the queue or

�

                                                                     80







           1  change the parameters of their application, that



           2  could affect me, right?



           3       A.    Yes.  In theory if there were only three



           4  customers in the queue in the same general location



           5  or in a location that would impact you, if they



           6  remove themselves, yes.



           7       Q.    Okay.  And if there are 40 applications in



           8  the queue, and again, I have the misfortune of being



           9  last, I'm No. 40, there are 39 applications in the



          10  queue ahead of me, any one of which could change,



          11  either withdraw from the queue or change its



          12  parameters, and require a restudy that would affect



          13  me, right?



          14       A.    That is possible, yes.



          15       Q.    And is it reasonable to suggest that if



          16  there are 40 applications in the queue, it's more



          17  likely that some of them are in the same area or



          18  region as I am and some of them may be on the same



          19  transmission lines I am?



          20       A.    It's possible.



          21       Q.    Is it your position today that the Rocky



          22  Mountain Power tariffs and/or the PacifiCorp tariffs



          23  do not allow for a cluster study of the sort that was



          24  described by Mr. Ellsworth?



          25       A.    No.  A cluster study or sequential studies
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           1  are both allowed in the Open Access Transmission



           2  Tariff.



           3       Q.    One last topic, Mr. Fritz.



           4             In the company's October 23rd response



           5  there was a reference made to Docket No. 17-35-13, in



           6  which PacifiCorp Transmission had experienced an



           7  unprecedented surge in interconnection applications.



           8             Are you familiar with that reference?



           9       A.    Yes.



          10       Q.    It is correct, isn't it, that in that



          11  docket PacifiCorp cited its workload as support for a



          12  request to extend deadlines?



          13       A.    Yes.



          14             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you.  I have no



          15  further questions.



          16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Jetter?



          17             MR. JETTER:  I do have a few questions.



          18  Good morning.



          19             THE WITNESS:  Good morning.



          20                        EXAMINATION



          21  BY MR. JETTER:



          22       Q.    I guess let's start out with, when -- when



          23  did the Pac Trans unit realize that it was seeing a



          24  sufficient volume of applications coming in that it



          25  was no longer able to keep to the 45-day turnaround
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           1  on those?



           2       A.    I don't have exact dates in front of me,



           3  but it would have been in, I believe, late 2015,



           4  early 2016.



           5       Q.    And do you notify QF applications



           6  immediately upon their application to you for a



           7  interconnection study that this is the case?



           8       A.    No.  Not immediately.



           9       Q.    At what point in the process do you



          10  typically notify them?



          11       A.    When we get an application in, there's



          12  many steps we go through.  But when we get a deemed



          13  complete application, then we hold a scoping meeting.



          14  When we have the scoping meeting, that's where we



          15  would provide information on the study process.



          16       Q.    Okay.  And so would it be fair to say that



          17  there's really no way for a QF to know what the



          18  timeline would be before they get to that point?



          19       A.    Again, I would have to go back and look



          20  and see what information we have on OASIS.  I'm



          21  trying to remember if the dates are included there or



          22  not.  But that could be a way for them to see that.



          23       Q.    Okay.  In this case do you know when that



          24  scoping meeting happened?



          25       A.    The scoping meeting was January 3rd, 2017.
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           1       Q.    Okay.  And do you know how soon after that



           2  you had informed the applicant for these QF's that



           3  that study would be delayed?



           4       A.    That would have been 3-14, 2017.



           5       Q.    Okay.  Thank you.



           6             Since the influx of these QF applications



           7  in 2015, has the staff that do the calculations and



           8  studies on this increase at Pac Trans?



           9       A.    First I would like to clarify that it's



          10  not just an increase in QF's.  We don't treat the QF



          11  request any different than we do a PERC



          12  jurisdictional request.  They enter the same queue



          13  and they're studied in the same manner.



          14             We have added a consultant to help with



          15  the studies during this timeframe.



          16       Q.    Okay.  And when you say a consultant, is



          17  that a consulting firm or is that an individual



          18  person?



          19       A.    It's a consulting firm.



          20       Q.    Okay.  Has that significantly reduced the



          21  time to turn around these applications?



          22       A.    Initially, yes, it did.  With the



          23  additional influx with the size, it hasn't gone as



          24  fast.  When we first brought them in, we were dealing



          25  more with small generation.  And so it's -- I would
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           1  say it's helped, but it's slowed down a little bit.



           2       Q.    Okay.  And is it -- is it accurate to say



           3  that a new application today, if we hypothetically



           4  created an 80-megawatt new QF at the bottom of the



           5  queue in the same location in Southern Utah, that



           6  they would be reasonable to expect a one-year-plus



           7  timeframe?



           8       A.    Yes.



           9       Q.    Are you doing anything actively now to



          10  reduce those times?



          11       A.    Not beyond what we have done.  We have



          12  looked at options.  We have not found an option.



          13       Q.    I guess maybe to follow-up on that, could



          14  you briefly describe what options you have



          15  considered?



          16       A.    We have looked at options of breaking the



          17  system up.  In other words, looking at studies



          18  associated with Southern Utah, Eastern Wyoming.  What



          19  we have found is that with the increase in the



          20  megawatt size that that doesn't work.  We have looked



          21  to see if there's additional contractors out there



          22  that could help.  And we have looked at adding



          23  resources, although we've only looked at that.  We



          24  haven't done any real analysis or decided to do it.



          25       Q.    And in terms of these studies, if you were
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           1  to increase your staff doing the studies, would that



           2  speed up the process?



           3       A.    No.



           4       Q.    And why is that?



           5       A.    Because we use the sequential method.  So



           6  the higher-queued project has to be studied first.



           7  And so throwing bodies at the queue doesn't



           8  necessarily mean that you speed the process up.



           9       Q.    So in that sequential study, is it



          10  computer calculation time?  What is taking so long



          11  that increasing adding another team of other analysts



          12  would not speed that up?



          13       A.    Generally it's the complexity of the



          14  analysis.  And so when we see this, you know,



          15  increase in size and megawatts in the requests, it



          16  involves a larger footprint of the transmission



          17  system that has to be analyzed.



          18             And so with the power-flow analysis, what



          19  we're really trying to do is at the end of the day



          20  balance generation with load.  So as your generation



          21  increases beyond what your load increases, then it



          22  becomes more and more complex.  It takes more time to



          23  do the study.



          24             We use a term in the power-flow analysis



          25  that we say the analysis has to solve.  And that
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           1  means that we have figured out what additions need to



           2  be made, what are the impacts, what are the solutions



           3  to those impacts, that we maintain a safe, reliable



           4  system for all customers.



           5       Q.    And in so doing that you're using, I



           6  assume, a model of your current grid of transmission



           7  lines --



           8       A.    Yes.



           9       Q.    -- in the distribution system; is that



          10  right?



          11       A.    Yes.



          12       Q.    And the calculations done on the power



          13  flow across any given line, are those generated



          14  through a computer model?  Are you doing some type of



          15  a manual input calculation?



          16       A.    It's a computer model, but there's



          17  human -- a lot of human interface when it starts



          18  coming to the time of the model didn't solve, now how



          19  do we fix it so it does solve.  So that requires, you



          20  know, a pretty good knowledge of our system to be



          21  able to do that.



          22             And what I mean by that is, if it doesn't



          23  solve, then what the engineering planner does is



          24  says, Okay, what if -- what if we install X, and that



          25  could be a new transformer.  It could be a finish
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           1  shifter.  It could be a new transmission line.  And



           2  does that solve the case.  And, of course, when they



           3  do that, then that has more impacts on the rest of



           4  the system, so they have to look at it again.



           5       Q.    And you just do one test solution at a



           6  time to see if it works and then go on to the next



           7  one?



           8       A.    Yes.  I believe so, although I'm not a



           9  planner.



          10       Q.    And I guess ultimately my question is, you



          11  know, as a regulator from the State of Utah what



          12  we're seeing is potentially putting customers at risk



          13  of delaying good projects or potentially causing good



          14  projects to be terminated simply by a delay in the



          15  calculations or the analysis from Pac Trans, and



          16  frankly that's kind of why we're here today.



          17             Is it -- is it accurate to say that your



          18  testimony is that there's nothing you can do to speed



          19  this up?



          20       A.    No.  We continue to look for ways to speed



          21  the process up.  And that does include, you know, the



          22  possibility of moving to a cluster-type study.  But



          23  these are things that, sorry to say, can't happen



          24  overnight.



          25       Q.    Okay.
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           1             MR. JETTER:  I think that's all of my



           2  questions.  Thank you.



           3             THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



           4             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have a



           5  couple.  Do you want to wait or go ahead and do



           6  yours?



           7             MS. HOGLE:  I apologize.  I will leave



           8  that up to you, whatever you want me to do.  If you



           9  want me to go before or after.



          10             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Go ahead.



          11             MS. HOGLE:  Okay, thank you.



          12                        EXAMINATION



          13  BY MS. HOGLE:



          14       Q.    Mr. Fritz, to your knowledge, does the



          15  OATT allow for reasonable delays in the processing of



          16  interconnection application requests to accommodate



          17  spikes, such as spikes in the requests, such as the



          18  surge and the spike that PacifiCorp transmission is



          19  experiencing and has been experiencing for over a



          20  year now?



          21       A.    Yes.



          22       Q.    You were also asked earlier about the



          23  cluster process and whether that is allowed under



          24  PacifiCorp's OATT.  Do you recall that question?



          25       A.    Yes, I do.
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           1       Q.    Is it your understanding whether this



           2  hearing is to debate our process?  Or is it to find



           3  out whether PacifiCorp is following its Schedule 38



           4  in order to run through the applications pursuant to



           5  Schedule 38?



           6       A.    It's my understanding that this hearing is



           7  about how PacifiCorp is following Schedule 38.



           8       Q.    Could one of the reasons or a factor that



           9  is driving the surge in the applications of



          10  interconnection requests be the upcoming expirations



          11  of the PTC's, is that a factor, perhaps, that is



          12  driving the significant surge that PacifiCorp



          13  Transmission is seeing with its interconnection



          14  requests?



          15       A.    Yes.  Actually, that's a phenomena that we



          16  see every year that we get close to, you know, that



          17  date.  And it has happened in various times in past



          18  history.  And when that -- you know, we start getting



          19  close to that date, we see an uptick.



          20       Q.    Does PacifiCorp Transmission have control



          21  over the number and the size of interconnection



          22  requests it receives?



          23       A.    No.



          24       Q.    You were also asked about whether you



          25  understood that as regulators these delays that are
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           1  caused by the significant number and the volume of



           2  requests that PacifiCorp Transmission is getting



           3  could potentially be harmful to customers.



           4             Is it your understanding that as a



           5  regulator also running through these applications



           6  without the sequential process that is used by



           7  PacifiCorp and without following Schedule 38 could



           8  also potentially be harmful to customers?



           9       A.    Yes.  By not following our process, if we



          10  were to pull a customer out of that process and study



          11  them outside the process, then that would harm



          12  everybody with a higher-queued project.  Or I should



          13  say has the potential to.



          14       Q.    Is Clenera the -- to your knowledge, the



          15  only QF that is experiencing these conditions in the



          16  current environment of ever increasing requests as a



          17  result of the PTC's expirations?



          18       A.    No.  I would say that that's -- that's an



          19  issue with every applicant in the queue.  It's not



          20  specific to QF's or for jurisdictional, it's the



          21  timeline in the queue today, and it impacts everybody



          22  in the queue.



          23             MS. HOGLE:  I have no further questions,



          24  thank you.



          25             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, can I be
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           1  permitted just a couple quick follow-ups to that?



           2             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Of course.



           3                        EXAMINATION



           4  BY MR. BARKLEY:



           5       Q.    I want to talk specifically about your



           6  statement that utility, by which I assume you mean



           7  Pac Tran, has no control over the number of



           8  applications.



           9             In looking at your chart, what was the



          10  date, by the way, of this data?



          11       A.    Yesterday.



          12       Q.    Yesterday.  Okay.



          13             Has Rocky Mountain Power recently issued



          14  an RFP for proposed projects?



          15       A.    Yes.  I believe they have actually issued



          16  two.



          17       Q.    Okay.  And so that is an invitation for



          18  people to propose new projects that will have to be



          19  studied, correct?



          20       A.    I'm not privy to the details of the RFP.



          21  But I believe it's my understanding that a developer



          22  has to be in the queue before they can submit a



          23  project in the RFP.



          24       Q.    So if I want to submit -- if I want to



          25  respond to the RFP, I've got to get in the queue
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           1  before I can do so?



           2       A.    I believe that's correct, although maybe



           3  Mark has a different take on that.



           4       Q.    You also said that it was your



           5  understanding that the OATT allows for reasonable



           6  delays due to spikes in applications.  Are you able



           7  here today to point us to the language in that OATT



           8  or that general area where we would find that?



           9       A.    You pointed it out earlier when you quoted



          10  the 45 days.  It says, reasonable effort.



          11       Q.    Okay.  Perfect.



          12             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you.  That's all I



          13  have.



          14             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.  And



          15  just a couple questions from me, Mr. Fritz.



          16             I believe you testified earlier that your



          17  understanding is that the OATT allows Pac Trans



          18  discretion as to whether to employ what we have



          19  referred to today as a serial method or a cluster



          20  method; is that right?



          21             THE WITNESS:  Correct.



          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Whichever



          23  option Pac Trans selects, whether cluster or serial,



          24  does the OATT require to apply that -- require Pac



          25  Trans to apply that method to all applicants?
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           1       A.    I would say that the tariff is not clear



           2  on that.  The tariff allows you to use either



           3  process.  I don't believe it's clear on exactly how



           4  you apply the process and if you can split it up.



           5       Q.    So you don't know the answer to the



           6  question as to whether if this Commission issued an



           7  order finding that Pac Trans ought to use the cluster



           8  method, that Pac Trans would be in violation of its



           9  OATT if it did employ that method in FERC



          10  jurisdictional applications?



          11       A.    I don't think I have an answer to that.



          12  We're allowed to use cluster studies, per the tariff.



          13  So I don't think I can answer that if we were



          14  directed.



          15             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  No, that's



          16  fine.  I don't know is a perfectly acceptable answer.



          17  I'm just wondering.



          18             Have you testified in other administrative



          19  proceedings, whether before a state commission or



          20  before FERC that related to Pac Trans's processing of



          21  interconnection applications or the studies related



          22  to them, and specifically the timeliness of that



          23  processing?



          24             THE WITNESS:  No.



          25             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I have nothing
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           1  else.  Thank you.



           2             Ms. Hogle.



           3             MS. HOGLE:  The Company rests its case.



           4  Thank you.



           5             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



           6             It has been -- well, I was going to point



           7  out it's been a little over two hours and if the



           8  parties might desire a break.  But it looked as



           9  though Mr. Barkley wanted to say something.



          10             MR. BARKLEY:  I wanted to be sure that



          11  whoever gets my certificate of good standing gets it,



          12  it's looks really pretty.  But other than that, we're



          13  fine.



          14             RESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I assume



          15  Mr. Jetter wants to put on some evidence; is that



          16  right?



          17             MR. JETTER:  Yes.



          18             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Would the



          19  parties like to take a break or press on?



          20             MR. BARKLEY:  I'm fine with pressing on.



          21             MR. JETTER:  I need a break.



          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  We're going to



          23  request for a break.  We'll be back at 11:20, 10



          24  minutes.  We're in recess.  Thank you.



          25               (Whereupon, a recess was taken at
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           1               11:07 a.m. to 11:21 a.m.)



           2             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Let's go back



           3  on the record, please.



           4             Mr. Jetter.



           5             MR. JETTER:  Thank you.  The Division



           6  would like to call Charles Peterson.



           7             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Peterson,



           8  do you swear to tell the truth?



           9             THE WITNESS:  Yes.



          10             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you.



          11                        EXAMINATION



          12  BY MR. JETTER:



          13       Q.    Mr. Peterson, would you please state your



          14  name and occupation for the record.



          15       A.    Charles E. Peterson.  Spelled with an



          16  S-O-N.



          17       Q.    Thank you.



          18       A.    And my occupation, I'm sorry.  I'm a



          19  utility technical consultant with the Division of



          20  Public Utilities.



          21       Q.    Thank you.



          22             And in the course of your employment, did



          23  you have the opportunity to review the filings in



          24  this docket?



          25       A.    Yes.
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           1       Q.    And did you create and cause to be filed



           2  with the Commission an action request response dated



           3  October 23rd, 2017?



           4       A.    Yes.



           5       Q.    Do you have any corrections or changes



           6  that you would like to make to anything you have put



           7  in that?



           8       A.    None that I'm aware of.



           9       Q.    And rather than going through all of that



          10  today, would you be -- would you adopt that as your



          11  testimony?



          12       A.    Yes.



          13       Q.    Thank you.



          14             MR. JETTER:  I guess I would like to move



          15  at this point to enter the action request response of



          16  October 23rd, 2017, into the record.



          17             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  It's admitted.



          18             MR. JETTER:  Thank you.



          19       Q.    BY MR. JETTER:  Just a couple of brief



          20  maybe follow-up questions from things that have been



          21  discussed this morning.  Would you tell me your



          22  thoughts on the use of the -- I'm not remembering the



          23  correct term.  The group-study method rather than



          24  sequential method.



          25             Do you think that -- to be more specific,
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           1  do you think a wholesale switch to that type of



           2  method would be possibly more appropriate after a



           3  broader docket to evaluate whether that's the



           4  appropriate method for the Commission to order?



           5       A.    I think in a regulatory process that would



           6  be the proper procedure, to have a separate docket



           7  that would study the pros and cons of each method and



           8  allow different parties to weigh in from an



           9  engineering standpoint or technical standpoint, as



          10  opposed to someone like me, an economist, to opine



          11  about.



          12       Q.    Thank you.



          13             MR. JETTER:  I have no further questions



          14  with that.  Mr. Peterson is available for cross from



          15  the parties or the Commission.



          16             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Mr. Barkley?



          17             MR. BARKLEY:  I have no questions.  Thank



          18  you, Mr. Peterson.



          19             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Ms. Hogle?



          20             MS. HOGLE:  I have no questions.  Thank



          21  you.



          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I suppose -- I



          23  just have one.



          24             If you could summarize the Division's



          25  recommendation as to what the Commission ought to do
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           1  with respect to any ordering issues in this



           2  proceeding, that would be helpful.



           3             THE WITNESS:  Well, I think the Division's



           4  position is outlined in the memorandum or action



           5  request response that we supplied.



           6             But basically the Division believes that



           7  delays in the timeline created by the company, which



           8  would also include Pac Tran, are a basis for



           9  extending or suspending the timeline in a given



          10  case-by-case situation.  It appears to me that



          11  Clenera was operating under the assumption that



          12  PacifiCorp was going to be able to function at or



          13  near its tariff timelines when it began the process.



          14  By the end of March it appears -- it appears that by



          15  the end of March Clenera clearly understood that --



          16  March of 2017, to be more clear -- the Company was



          17  not going to be able to process its interconnection



          18  requests for almost another year.



          19             The Division leaves open the question



          20  whether the Company is acting reasonably in



          21  processing its interconnection request.  But we know



          22  that this has become a problem and was part of the



          23  subject of a previous docket before the Commission.



          24             So the Division thinks it's reasonable,



          25  believes it's reasonable, and recommends that the
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           1  Commission give essentially a day-by-day extension



           2  until such time as the Company provides an



           3  interconnection study to Clenera, at which time the



           4  clock could be restarted.



           5             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Perhaps I



           6  should have been more specific.



           7             Does the Division also concur that the



           8  Commission should grant that day-per-day extension



           9  with respect to the commercial operation date?



          10             THE WITNESS:  No.  The Division does not



          11  go that far.



          12             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  All right.  I



          13  have nothing else.  Thank you, Mr. Peterson.



          14             THE WITNESS:  Thank you.



          15             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  If any counsel



          16  wishes to make any closing statement or argument, I'm



          17  happy to hear it.



          18             MR. BARKLEY:  Your Honor, if I could take



          19  care of one housekeeping matter?



          20             I should probably offer Clenera's



          21  Complaint as Exhibit 1 and their October 24th



          22  response to the motion to dismiss as Exhibit 2.



          23             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Hearing no



          24  objection, they're admitted.



          25             Are you interested in making a closing
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           1  statement or argument?



           2             MR. BARKLEY:  I'll make a very brief one,



           3  Your Honor.  And thank you the opportunity.



           4             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  I'm sorry,



           5  Mr. Peterson, you can take a seat.



           6             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Peterson.



           7             Clenera's position is they should not only



           8  be expected to be familiar with the utilities,



           9  procedures, and processes as they are laid out in the



          10  company's tariffs, but they should also be able to



          11  rely upon them.  The Company is way outside the



          12  deadlines that are stated in those tariffs, and an



          13  initial step, which was to take 45 days, is currently



          14  taking, by anybody's reckoning, over 200, and we are



          15  still months away from the projected target for that



          16  initial step.  There are two steps after that



          17  traditionally take 90 days, adding another 180 to



          18  that.



          19             And the Company's feedback to Clenera on



          20  the adequacy of the information provided has been



          21  inconsistent.  As I think you noted, there have been



          22  times that they had been told everything that they



          23  needed to do, only to be told subsequently that,



          24  well, it turns out that's not really not enough, we



          25  need something else.
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           1             Certainly the Company is allowed delay,



           2  but it is required to make reasonable efforts.  And I



           3  think as we listened to the testimony today, it's



           4  pretty clear that there have not been reasonable



           5  efforts.



           6             In fact, the testimony today from company



           7  witnesses was that they can anticipate spikes any



           8  time the PTC is up for renewal.  So this was, by



           9  their testimony, something they could have



          10  anticipated.  The testimony was that they have no



          11  control over applications, but in fact, they issue --



          12  they and their affiliates issue RFP's that do, in



          13  fact, have an impact on the level of applications,



          14  and they should have some insight to when and how



          15  that's going to happen.



          16             And, lastly, I just say that the extension



          17  of the operational date deadline is critical.  There



          18  is a limit on how far out an applicant is allowed to



          19  push that deadline or that operational date in their



          20  initial application.  And given that limitation at



          21  the outside, if the Company is allowed to delay its



          22  studies this long, they have the -- they have the



          23  ability to effectively kill a project.  And



          24  developers should not be in a position where they're



          25  caught in that pincher.
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           1             But they need to request PPAs early enough



           2  that they can get through the negotiation and get it



           3  executed in time to then meet their operation date,



           4  because if the operation date comes more than three



           5  months too early, they could be kicked out of the



           6  queue and lose their pricing.



           7             On the other hand, if they're subject to



           8  these kind of delays, they get pinched in the other



           9  direction.  So they're put in something of an



          10  untenable position.



          11             I think, as Mr. Ellsworth indicated, I



          12  think the Company would be open to some sort of



          13  modification, if it involves redoing the study for



          14  year 2016.  I think, frankly, if it involved



          15  shortening the term of the PPA by -- by a year in



          16  order to account for those delays, those are all



          17  things that they would be open to and that would



          18  leave consumers, frankly, in no worse position than



          19  they would have been in, but preserves the investment



          20  decisions that were reasonably made by Clenera.



          21             Thank you, Your Honor, for your time.



          22             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Thank you, sir.



          23             Ms. Hogle.



          24             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you, Your Honor.



          25             Rocky Mountain Power, PacifiCorp, its goal
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           1  is not to kill any projects.  It has nothing against



           2  Clenera's QF's.  However, I do think that the



           3  evidence today has shown, contrary to what has been



           4  testified by Clenera and its witnesses, that Rocky



           5  Mountain Power is facing an unprecedented --



           6  unprecedented number of interconnection requests.



           7  One of the factors that is driving that is the PTC



           8  expiration, upcoming expiration.



           9             Unfortunately, the decision of Clenera to



          10  reach out to PacifiCorp merchant, or our commercial



          11  unit, to seek indicative pricing before going to



          12  PacifiCorp's transmission unit to familiarize itself



          13  and educate itself about the transmission queue and



          14  transmission process at that time, I think is the



          15  reason why we are here.



          16             I think a couple of key points that need



          17  to be made again here, and that is that the QF



          18  pricing queue is managed by PacifiCorp's commercial



          19  unit merchant.  It's independent and separate from



          20  the interconnection transmission queue and service



          21  maintained by PacifiCorp's transmission unit in



          22  accordance with the OATT, which has been generally



          23  adopted by this Commission.



          24             The interconnection queue-in process and



          25  critical and lengthy and should be well underway
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           1  before seeking indicative pricing and the power



           2  purchase agreement with PacifiCorp's commercial unit.



           3  That is one of the very first things that is included



           4  in Schedule 38, Paragraph 3, under the preface



           5  section.  Developers are strongly encouraged to gain



           6  a clear understanding of that process before reaching



           7  out to PacifiCorp's commercial unit for indicative



           8  pricing.  That did not happen in this case.



           9             This is particularly important in the



          10  situation that we're in currently with the



          11  significant surge in applications that we have been



          12  seeing, Your Honor.  Again, the company has nothing



          13  against Clenera.



          14             If the Commission, in its discretion,



          15  believes that extenuating circumstances exist for it



          16  to allow Clenera to stay in the queue, PacifiCorp is



          17  ready to accept that.  However, we also want to



          18  remind the Commission and for it be to be mindful



          19  that there are situations that this is not a unique



          20  situation.  This -- this situation is similar for



          21  QF's.  Other QF's are facing similar situations.



          22             And so whatever decision it makes in this



          23  particular case, although would not apply to other



          24  QF's, it certainly informs the company and the way



          25  that it handles future QF's.
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           1             And the decision that the Commission makes



           2  will affect its customers, will affect PacifiCorp's



           3  customers, retail customers in particular.



           4             There was also some discussion about the



           5  cluster process, using the cluster process, as



           6  opposed to the current process that PacifiCorp has



           7  been using.  And I believe that Your even Honor asked



           8  a question regarding that.



           9             I guess in closing, PacifiCorp I would



          10  submit to you that that is not a decision that can be



          11  made independent in a vacuum from the processes that



          12  are used by PacifiCorp.  I believe that's even going



          13  into FERC jurisdictional law.  That has to be



          14  studied.  It will impact the reliability of the



          15  system.



          16             PacifiCorp has been using its current



          17  method for a long time, and something of that, a



          18  decision to use the cluster method, requires that



          19  issue to be taken, in PacifiCorp's mind or



          20  PacifiCorp's position, that that is something that



          21  needs to be taken up in a broader scale and studied



          22  so that there are no unintended consequences.



          23             Thank you.



          24             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  Of course.



          25             I'll iterate to clarify and perhaps
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           1  alleviate any anxiety.  My question wasn't intended



           2  to suggest that this would be an appropriate



           3  proceeding in which to make such an order.  I'm



           4  wondering if even basing a finding in this case that



           5  assumes such an order would be appropriate in the



           6  future would -- would be a legitimate basis for a



           7  finding in this case.



           8             In other words, we have heard testimony



           9  that the cluster method would be more efficient, but



          10  if that's not an option for this Commission to order



          11  at any time in the future, then it's difficult for me



          12  to understand how it would be relevant to consider in



          13  this case.



          14             Mr. Jetter.



          15             MR. JETTER:  Thank you.  I'll keep our



          16  comments brief.



          17             I wanted to clarify a few things that --



          18  particularly about the Division's position on the



          19  delay of the on-line commercial on-line date.



          20             The Division has fairly consistently



          21  throughout the history of the QF process, and we've



          22  gone through a number of dockets to hopefully fix



          23  some problems in the pricing, and we've been often



          24  concerned about scale pricing and on-line dates that



          25  are far off into the future would result in putting
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           1  customers at risk in those scenarios.



           2             In this case the Division is not



           3  recommending a day-per-day extension of the



           4  commercial on-line date, but I wanted to clarify that



           5  the Division is not opposed to some deviation of the



           6  commercial on-line date.  I think, at least at this



           7  point, we're not sure how much additional time or if



           8  additional time is actually necessary, depending on



           9  how the next set of studies go and how this project



          10  goes through the PPA negotiation process and what



          11  comes forth after this.



          12             And so I suppose our recommendation might



          13  be something along the lines of that we wouldn't



          14  oppose an extension or the possibility of an



          15  extension to be determined.  What we would be



          16  concerned about is the potential for a day-per-day



          17  extension that ends up extending that commercial



          18  on-line date six months past where it needed to be to



          19  have the completed project done and on-line.  And so



          20  ultimately our goal would be if these go forward that



          21  we match the commercial on-line date as nearly as



          22  practically possible with the dates that the



          23  avoided-cost calculation were performed.



          24             I hope that gives a little bit of clarity



          25  to where our opinions or our recommendations would be
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           1  on that.



           2             And I think we have covered most of the



           3  other comments from the Division and the comments by



           4  Mr. Peterson.  So I think that would wrap up my



           5  closing statement.



           6             PRESIDING OFFICER HAMMER:  All right.  I



           7  thank the parties for their participation.  Happy



           8  holidays.



           9             MR. BARKLEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.



          10             MS. HOGLE:  Thank you.



          11               (Whereupon, Clenera Exhibits 1



          12               and 2 were marked for



          13               identification.)



          14               (Thereupon, the proceedings



          15               concluded at 11:44 a.m.)
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